

# Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People

Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Hospitals 2009

100 

© Commonwealth of Australia 2009 ISBN: 978-0-9806298-1-1

This work is copyright. It may be reproduced in whole or part for study or training purposes subject to the inclusion of an acknowledgment of the source. Reproduction for purposes other than those indicated above requires the written permission of the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC).

ACSQHC was established in January 2006 by the Australian health ministers to lead and coordinate improvements in safety and quality in Australian health care.

Copies of this document and further information on the work of ACSOHC can be found at http://www.safetyandquality.gov.au or obtained from the Office of the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care: +61 2 9263 3633 mail@safetyandquality.gov.au. Other resources available from http://www.safetyandquality.gov.au: • Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Community Care 2009

- Guidebook for Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Australian Community Care 2009
- Guidebook for Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Australian Hospitals 2009
- Guidebook for Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Australian Residential Aged Care Facilities 2009
- Implementation Guide for Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Hospitals and Residential Aged Care Facilities 2009

- Fact sheets
   Falls facts for patients and carers
   Falls facts for doctors
   Falls facts for nurses
   Falls facts for nurses
   Falls facts for support staff (cleaners, food services and transport staff)
   Falls facts for health managers

# Statement from the chief executive



Australians today enjoy a longer life expectancy than previous generations, but for some this is disrupted by falls. As we age, our sure-footedness declines and, at the same time, our bones become increasingly brittle. The comment that 'he fell and broke his hip' is heard all too often — in fact, almost one in three older Australians will suffer a fall each year. Such falls can have extremely serious consequences, including significant disability and even death.

Falls are one of the largest causes of harm in care. Preventing falls and minimising their harmful effects are critical. During care episodes, older people are usually going through a period of intercurrent illness, with the resultant frailty and the uncertainty that brings. They are at their most vulnerable, often in unfamiliar settings, and accordingly attention has been paid to acquiring evidence about what can be done to minimise the occurrence of falls and their harmful effects, and to use these data in the national Falls Guidelines.

These new guidelines consider the evidence and recommend actions in the three main care settings: the community, hospitals and residential aged care facilities. Each of three separate volumes addresses one of these care settings, providing guidance on managing the various risk factors that make older Australians in care vulnerable to falling.

The Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care is charged with leading and coordinating improvements in the safety and quality of health care for all Australians. These new guidelines are an important part of that work.

The ongoing commitment of staff in community, hospital and residential aged care settings is critical in falls prevention. I commend these guidelines to you.

Chris. Baggoley

**Professor Chris Baggoley** Chief Executive Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care August 2009



# Contents

			Page
St	ateme	nt from the chief executive	iii
Ac	ronyn	ns and abbreviations	xiii
Pr	eface		xv
Ac	know	ledgments	xvii
Su	ımmar	y of recommendations and good practice points	xix
Pa	rt A	Introduction	1
1	Back	ground	3
	1.1	About the guidelines	3
	1.2	Scope of the guidelines	4
		1.2.1 Targeting older Australians	4
		1.2.2 Specific to Australian hospitals	4
		1.2.3 Relevant to all hospital staff	4
	1.3	Terminology	4
		1.3.1 Definition of a fall	4
		1.3.2 Definition of an injurious fall	4
		1.3.3 Definition of assessment and risk assessment	4
		1.3.4 Definition of interventions	5
		1.3.5 Definition of evidence	5
	1.4	Development of the guidelines	6
		1.4.1 Expert advisory group	6
		1.4.2 Review methods	6
		1.4.3 Levels of evidence	7
	1.5	Consultation	8
	1.6	Governance of the Australian falls	
		prevention project for hospitals and residential aged care facilities	g
	17	How to use the quidelines	8
	1.7	171 Overview	8
		172 How the guidelines are presented	10
2	Falls	and falls injuries in Australia	13
-	21	Incidence of falls	13
	2.1	Fall rates in older neonle	13
	2.2	Impact of falls	13
	2.5	Cost of falls	14
	2. <del>1</del> 2.5	Economic considerations in falls	17
	2.5	prevention programs	14
	2.6	Characteristics of falls	14
	2.7	Risk factors for falling	15
3	Invo	lying older people in falls prevention	17
		2	
Pa	rt B	Standard falls prevention strategies	19
4	Falls	prevention interventions	21
	4.1	Background and evidence	22
		4.1.1 Evidence from trials	22
	4.2	Choosing falls prevention interventions	23
	4.3	Discharge planning	24

			Page
	4.3.1	Discharge planning from the	0.5
	4.0.0	emergency department	25
	4.3.2		26
4.4	Specia		27
	4.4.1	Cognitive impairment	27
	4.4.2	Rural and remote settings	27
	4.4.3	linguistically diverse groups	27
4.5	Econo	mic evaluation	27
Falls	risk sc	reening and assessment	29
5.1	Backg	round and evidence	30
	5.1.1	Falls risk screening	30
	5.1.2	Falls risk assessment	31
5.2	Princip	ples of care	32
	5.2.1	Falls risk screening	32
	5.2.2	Falls risk assessment	33
5.3	Specia	al considerations	37
	5.3.1	Cognitive impairment	37
	5.3.2	Rural and remote settings	37
	5.2.3	Indigenous and culturally and	
		linguistically diverse groups	37
art C	Mana	agement strategies for	
artC	comn	non falls risk factors	39
Bala	nce and	d mobility limitations	41
6.1	Backg	round and evidence	42
	6.1.1	Identifying the risk factors for falls	42
	6.1.2	Exercise as part of a multifactorial	
		intervention	42
	6.1.3	Discharge planning and exercise	43
6.2	Princip	ples of care	44
	6.2.1	Assessing balance, mobility and strength	44
6.3	Specia	al considerations	47
	6.3.1	Cognitive impairment	47
	<u> </u>	Rural and remote settings	47
	6.3.2	······································	.,
	6.3.2 6.3.3	Indigenous and culturally and	47
6.4	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation	47
6.4 Cogr	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation npairment	47 47 49
6.4 <b>Cog</b> r 7.1	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo nitive in Backg	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation npairment round and evidence	47 47 <b>4</b> 9 50
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo nitive in Backg 7.1.1	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation npairment round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated	47 47 <b>49</b> 50
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo nitive in Backg 7.1.1	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation npairment round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk	47 47 <b>49</b> 50
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo hitive in Backg 7.1.1 7.1.2	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation npairment round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk Cognitive impairment and falls prevention	47 47 <b>49</b> 50 50 50
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo hitive in Backg 7.1.1 7.1.2 Princi	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation <b>npairment</b> round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk Cognitive impairment and falls prevention oles of care	47 47 49 50 50 51 51
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1 7.2	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo nitive in Backg 7.1.1 7.1.2 Princip 7.2.1	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation <b>npairment</b> round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk Cognitive impairment and falls prevention oles of care Assessing cognitive impairment	47 47 49 50 50 51 51 51
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1 7.2	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo hitive in Backg 7.1.1 7.1.2 Princi 7.2.1 7.2.2	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation <b>npairment</b> round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk Cognitive impairment and falls prevention oles of care Assessing cognitive impairment Providing interventions	47 47 49 50 50 51 51 51 51
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1 7.2	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo hitive in Backg 7.1.1 7.1.2 Princip 7.2.1 7.2.2 Specia	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation <b>npairment</b> round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk Cognitive impairment and falls prevention oles of care Assessing cognitive impairment Providing interventions al considerations	47 47 49 50 50 51 51 51 51 52 54
6.4 <b>Cogr</b> 7.1 7.2 7.3	6.3.2 6.3.3 Econo hitive in Backg 7.1.1 7.1.2 Princip 7.2.1 7.2.2 Specia 7.3.1	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups mic evaluation <b>npairment</b> round and evidence Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk Cognitive impairment and falls prevention oles of care Assessing cognitive impairment Providing interventions al considerations Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups	47 47 49 50 50 51 51 51 51 52 54

				Page
8	Conti	nence		55
	8.1	Backgi	round and evidence	56
		8.1.1	Incontinence associated with	
			increased falls risk	56
		8.1.2	Incontinence and falls intervention	57
	8.2	Princip	bles of care	58
		8.2.1	Screening continence	58
		8.2.2	Strategies for promoting continence	59
	8.3	Specia	l considerations	60
		8.3.1	Cognitive impairment	60
		8.3.2	Rural and remote settings	60
		8.3.3	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups	60
	8.4	Econo	mic evaluation	60
9	Feet	and fo	otwear	61
	9.1	Backgi	round and evidence	61
		9.1.1	Footwear associated with increased falls risk	62
		9.1.2	Foot problems and increased falls risk	64
	9.2	Princip	oles of care	64
		9.2.1	Assessing feet and footwear	64
		9.2.2	Improving foot condition and footwear	65
	9.3	Specia	l considerations	66
		9.3.1	Cognitive impairment	66
		9.3.2	Rural and remote settings	66
		9.3.3	Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups	66
	9.4	Econo	mic evaluation	66
10	Synce	ope		67
	10.1	Backgi	round and evidence	68
		10.1.1	Vasovagal syncope	68
		10.1.2	Orthostatic hypotension (postural hypotension)	68
		10.1.3	Carotid sinus hypersensitivity	69
		10.1.4	Cardiac arrhythmias	69
	10.2	Princip	oles of care	69
	10.3	Specia	l considerations	70
		10.3.1	Cognitive impairment	70
	10.4	Econo	mic evaluation	70
11	Dizziı	ness an	d vertigo	71
	11.1	Backgi	round and evidence	72
		11.1.1	Vestibular disorders associated with an increased risk of falling	72
	11.2	Princip	ples of care	73
		11.2.1	Assessing vestibular function	73
		11.2.2	Choosing interventions to reduce	-
			symptoms of dizziness	73
	11.3	Specia	l considerations	75
	11.4	Econo	mic evaluation	75

			Page
12	Medi	cations	77
	12.1	Background and evidence	78
		12.1.1 Medication use and increased falls risk	78
		12.1.2 Evidence for interventions	78
	12.2	Principles of care	79
		12.2.1 Assessing medications	79
		12.2.2 Providing in-hospital interventions	79
		12.2.3 Providing post-hospital interventions	80
	12.3	Special considerations	80
		12.3.1 Cognitive impairment	80
		12.3.2 Rural and remote settings	80
	12.4	Economic evaluation	80
13	Visio	n	83
	13.1	Background and evidence	84
		13.1.1 Visual functions associated with increased fall risk	84
		13.1.2 Eye diseases associated with	0.5
	10.0		00
	13.2	12.2.1. Servening vision	86
		12.2.2 Providing interventions	00
		12.2.2 Discharge planning	07
	12.2	Special considerations	00
	13.5	12.2.1. Cognitive imperment	09
		12.2.2. Purel and remote settings	09
		12.2.2. Indigenous and culturally and	09
		linguistically diverse groups	89
		13.3.4 Patients with limited mobility	89
	13.4	Economic evaluation	89
14	Envir	onmental considerations	91
	14.1	Background and evidence	92
	14.2	Principles of care	92
		14.2.1 Targeting environment interventions	92
		14.2.2 Designing multifactorial interventions that include environmental modifications	92
		14.2.3 Incorporating capital works planning and design	93
		14.2.4 Providing storage and equipment	93
		14.2.5 Conducting environmental reviews	93
		14.2.6 Orientating new residents	93
		14.2.7 Review and monitoring	93
	14.3	Special considerations	94
		14.3.1 Cognitive impairment	94
		14.3.2 Rural and remote settings	94
		14.3.3 Nonambulatory patients	94
	14.4	Economic evaluation	94

			Page
5	Indivi	dual surveillance and observation	97
	15.1	Background and evidence	98
	15.2	Principles of care	98
		15.2.1 Flagging	98
		15.2.2 Colours for stickers and bedside notices	99
		15.2.3 Sitter programs	99
		15.2.4 Response systems	99
		15.2.5 Review and monitoring	100
	15.3	Special considerations	100
		15.3.1 Cognitive impairment	100
		15.3.2 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups	100
	15.4	Economic evaluation	101
6	Restra	aints	103
	16.1	Background and evidence	104
	16.2	Principles of care	104
		16.2.1 Assessing the need for restraints and considering alternatives	104
		16.2.2 Using restraints	105
		16.2.3 Review and monitoring	105
	16.3	Special considerations	106
		16.3.1 Cognitive impairment	106
	16.4	Economic evaluation	106
Pa	rt D	Minimising injuries from falls	109
7	Hip p	rotectors	111
	17.1	Background and evidence	112
		17.1.1 Studies on hip protector use	112
		17.1.2 Types of hip protectors	112
		17.1.3 How hip protectors work	113
		17.1.4 Adherence with use of hip protectors	113
	17.2	Principles of care	114
		17.2.1 Assessing the use of hip protectors	114
		17.2.2 Using hip protectors at night	114
		17.2.3 Cost of hip protectors	114
		17.2.4 Training in hip protector use	114
		17.2.5 Review and monitoring	115
	17.3	Special considerations	115
		17.3.1 Cognitive impairment	115
		17.3.2 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups	115
		17.3.3 Climate	115
	17.4	Economic evaluation	115

1

		rage
8 Vitar	nin D and calcium supplementation	117
18.1	Background and evidence	118
	18.1.1 Vitamin D supplementation (with or without calcium) in the community setting	118
	18.1.2 Vitamin D combined with calcium supplementation in the RACF setting	119
	18.1.3 Vitamin D supplementation alone in RACF settings	119
	18.1.4 Vitamin D, sunlight and winter in the community setting	119
	18.1.5 Toxicity and dose	120
18.2	Principles of care	120
	18.2.1 Assess vitamin D adequacy	120
	18.2.2 Ensure minimum sun exposure to prevent vitamin D deficiency	120
	18.2.3 Consider vitamin D and calcium supplementation	120
	18.2.4 Encourage patients to include foods high in calcium in their diet	120
	18.2.5 Discourage patients from consuming foods that prevent calcium absorption	121
18.3	Special considerations	121
	18.3.1 Cognitive impairment	121
	18.3.2 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups	121
18.4	Economic evaluation	121
9 Oste	oporosis management	123
19.1	Background and evidence	124
	19.1.1 Falls and fractures	124
	19.1.2 Diagnosing osteoporosis	124
	19.1.3 Evidence for interventions	125
19.2	Principles of care	126
	19.2.1 Review and monitoring	126
19.3	Special considerations	127
	19.3.1 Cognitive impairment	127
19.4	Economic evaluation	127
art E	Responding to falls	131
0 Post-	-fall management	133
20.1	Background	134
20.2	Responding to falls	134
	20.2.1 Post-fall follow-up	135
20.3	Analysing the fall	135
20.4	Reporting and recording falls	136
	20.4.1 Minimum dataset for reporting and recording falls	136
20.5	Comprehensive assessment following a fall	137

		Page
Appendices		139
Appendix 1	Contributors to the guidelines	141
Appendix 2	Falls risk screening and assessment tools	145
Appendix 3	Safe shoe checklist <sup>247</sup>	159
Appendix 4	Environmental checklist45	161
Appendix 5	Equipment safety checklist <sup>361</sup>	165
Appendix 6	Checklist of issues to consider before using hip protectors <sup>318</sup>	167
Appendix 7	Hip protector care plan <sup>247</sup>	169
Appendix 8	Hip protector observation record <sup>247</sup>	171
Appendix 9	Hip protector education plan <sup>302</sup>	173
Appendix 10	Food and fluid intake chart	175
Appendix 11	Food guidelines for calcium intake for preventing falls in older people <sup>339</sup>	177
Appendix 12	Post-fall assessment and management	179
Glossary		181
References		183

# Tables

Table 1.1	National Health and Medical Research Council levels of evidence	7
Table 2.1	Risk factors for falling – hospitals <sup>2</sup>	15
Table 5.1	Screening tools	32
Table 5.2	Risk screening tools for the	
	emergency department setting	33
Table 5.3	Risk assessment tools	34
Table 5.4	Specific risk factor assessments	35
Table 6.1	Clinical assessments for measuring balance,	
	mobility and strength	44
Table 7.1	Tools for assessing cognitive status	51
Table 13.1	Characteristics of eye-screening tests	86
Table 19.1	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme details for	
	osteoporosis drugs	127

# Figures

Figure 1.1	Using the guidelines to prevent falls in Australia	9
Figure 9.1	The theoretical optimal 'safe' shoe, and 'unsafe' shoe	63
Figure 13.1	Normal vision	85
Figure 13.2	Visual changes resulting from cataracts	85
Figure 13.3	Visual changes resulting from glaucoma	85
Figure 13.4	Visual changes resulting from macular degeneration	85



# Acronyms and abbreviations

AMTS	Abbreviated Mental Test Score
AST	Alternate Step Test
BPPV	benign paroxysmal positional vertigo
CAM	Confusion Assessment Method
DXA	dual energy X-ray absorptiometry
FESI	Falls Efficacy Scale International
FR	functional reach
FRAT	Falls Risk Assessment Tool
FRHOP	Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
JBI-PACES	Joanna Briggs Institute Practical Application of Clinical Evidence System
LYS	life years saved
MET	Melbourne Edge Test
MMSE	Mini Mental State Examination
NARI	National Ageing Research Institute
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
OAB	overactive bladder
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
PEDro	Physiotherapy Evidence Database
PJC-FRAT	Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool
POMA	Performance-Oriented Mobility Assessment Tool
PPA	Physiological Profile Assessment
ProFaNE	Prevention of Falls Network Europe
PROFET	Prevention of Falls in the Elderly Trial
PSA	Pharmaceutical Society of Australia
QALY	quality-adjusted life years
RACF	residential aged care facility
RCT	randomised controlled trial
RDI	recommended daily intake
RUDAS	Rowland Universal Dementia Scale

SERM	selective oestrogen receptor modulator
SHPA	Society for Hospital Pharmacists
SMW	Six-Metre Walk Test
STRATIFY	St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients
STS	Sit-to-Stand Test
TBI	traumatic brain injury
TUG	Timed Up-and-Go Test
VA	visual acuity
VR	vestibular rehabilitation

# Preface

Falls are a significant cause of harm to older people. The rate, intensity and cost of falls identify them as a national safety and quality issue. The Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC) is charged with leading and coordinating improvements in the safety and quality of health care nationally, and has consequently produced these guidelines on preventing falls and harm from falls in older people.

Health care services are provided in a range of settings. Therefore, ACSQHC has developed three separate falls prevention guidelines that address the three main care settings: the community, hospitals and residential aged care facilities. Although there are common elements across the three guidelines, some information and recommendations are specific to each setting. Collectively, the guidelines are referred to as the Falls Guidelines.

This document, *Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Hospitals 2009*, aims to reduce the number of falls and the harm caused by falls experienced by older people in hospital care.

The guidelines and support materials are suitable for hospitals that:

- do not have a falls prevention program or plan in place
- have recently initiated a falls prevention program or plan
- have a successful falls prevention program or plan in place.

Older people themselves are at the centre of the guidelines. Their participation, to the full extent of their desire and ability, encourages shared responsibility in health care, promotes quality care, and focuses on accountability.

The guidelines are written to promote patient-centred independence and rehabilitation. Hospital care in any form involves some risk for many older people. The guidelines do not promote an entirely risk-averse approach to the health care of older people. Some falls are preventable; some are not preventable. However, an excessively custodial and risk-averse approach designed to avoid complaints or litigation from older people and their carers may infringe on a person's autonomy and limit rehabilitation.

Wherever possible, these guidelines are based on research evidence and are written to supplement the clinical knowledge, competence and experience applied by health professionals. However, as with all guidelines and the principles of evidence-based practice, their application is intended to be in the context of the professional judgment, clinical knowledge, competence and experience of health professionals. The guidelines also acknowledge that the clinical judgment of informed professionals is best practice in the absence of good-quality published evidence. Some flexibility may therefore be required to adapt these guidelines to specific settings, to local circumstances, and to older people's needs, circumstances and wishes.

The following additional materials have been prepared to accompany the guidelines:

- Guidebook for Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Australian Hospitals 2009
- Falls Guidelines fact sheets
- Falls Guidelines poster.

These guidelines are the result of a review and rewrite of the first edition of the guidelines, *Preventing Falls and Harm from Falls in Older People – Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Hospitals and Residential Aged Care Facilities 2005*,<sup>1</sup> which were developed by the former Australian Council for Safety and Quality in Health Care.

## Key messages of the guidelines

- Many falls can be prevented.
- Fall and injury prevention need to be addressed at both point of care and from a multidisciplinary perspective.
- Managing many of the risk factors for falls (eg delirium or balance problems) will have wider benefits beyond falls prevention.
- Engaging older people is an integral part of preventing falls and minimising harm from falls.
- Best practice in fall and injury prevention includes implementing standard falls prevention strategies, identifying fall risk and implementing targeted individualised strategies that are resourced adequately, and monitored and reviewed regularly.
- The consequences of falls resulting in minor or no injury are often neglected, but factors such as fear of falling and reduced activity level can profoundly affect function and quality of life, and increase the risk of seriously harmful falls.
- The most effective approach to falls prevention is likely to be one that includes all staff in health care facilities engaged in a multifactorial falls prevention program.
- At a strategic level, there will be a time lag between investment in a falls prevention program and improvements in outcome measures.

# Acknowledgments

The Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC) acknowledges the authors, reviewers and editors who undertook the work of reviewing, restructuring and writing the guidelines.

ACSQHC acknowledges the significant contribution of the Falls Guidelines Review Expert Advisory Group for their time and expertise in the development of the Falls Guidelines.

ACSQHC also acknowledges the contribution of many health professionals who participated in focus groups, and provided comment and other support to the project. In particular, the National Injury Prevention Working Group, a network of jurisdictional policy staff, played a significant role in communicating the review to their networks and providing advice.

The guidelines build on earlier work by the former Australian Council for Safety and Quality in Health Care and by Queensland Health.

The contributions of the national and international external quality reviewers and the Office of the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care are also acknowledged.

ACSQHC funded the preparation of these guidelines. Members of the Falls Guidelines Review Expert Advisory Group have no financial conflict of interest in the recommendations of the guidelines.

A full list of authors, reviewers and contributors is provided in Appendix 1.

ACSQHC gratefully acknowledges the kind permission of St Vincent's and Mater Health Sydney to reproduce many of the images in the guidelines.

# Falls Guidelines Review Expert Advisory Group

#### Chair

Associate Professor Stephen Lord – Principal Research Fellow, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute, The University of New South Wales

#### Members

Associate Professor Jacqueline Close – Senior Staff Specialist, Prince of Wales Hospital and Clinical School, The University of New South Wales. Senior Research Fellow, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute, The University of New South Wales

Ms Mandy Harden – CNC Aged Care Education/Community Aged Care Services, Hunter New England Area Health Services, NSW Health

Professor Keith Hill – Professor of Allied Health, LaTrobe University/Northern Health,

Senior Researcher, Preventive and Public Health Division, National Ageing Research Institute

Dr Kirsten Howard – Senior Lecturer, Health Economics, School of Public Health, The University of Sydney

Ms Lorraine Lovitt – Leader, New South Wales Falls Prevention Program, Clinical Excellence Commission

Ms Rozelle Williams – Director of Nursing/Site Manager, Rice Village, Geelong, Victoria, Mercy Health and Aged Care

#### Project manager

Mr Graham Bedford - Policy Team Manager, ACSQHC

#### External quality reviewers

Associate Professor Ngaire Kerse – Associate Professor, General Practice and Primary Health Care, School of Population Health, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, The University of Auckland, New Zealand

Professor David Oliver – Physician and Clinical Director, Royal Berkshire Hospital, Reading, United Kingdom

Professor of Medicine for Older People, School of Population and Health Science, City University, London, United Kingdom

Associate Professor Clare Robertson – Research Associate Professor, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Dunedin School of Medicine, University of Otago, New Zealand

#### Technical writing and editing

Ms Meg Heaslop - Biotext Pty Ltd, Brisbane

Dr Janet Salisbury - Biotext Pty Ltd, Canberra

# Summary of recommendations and good practice points

This section contains a summary of the guidelines' recommendations and good practice points. These are also presented at the start of each chapter, with accompanying references and explanations.

# Part B Standard falls prevention strategies

Chapter 4 Falls prevention interventions



#### Recommendations

Intervention

- A multifactorial approach to preventing falls should be part of routine care for all older people in hospitals. (Level I)<sup>31,36</sup>
- Develop and implement a targeted and individualised falls prevention plan of care based on the findings of a falls screen or assessment. (Level II)<sup>37-39</sup>
- As part of discharge planning, organise an occupational therapy home visit for people with a history of falls, to establish safety at home. (Level II)<sup>40</sup>
- Patients considered to be at higher risk of falling should be referred to an occupational therapist and physiotherapist for needs and training specific to the home environment and equipment, to maximise safety and continuity from hospital to home. (Level I)<sup>41</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Interventions should systematically address the risk factors identified, either during the admission or, if this is not possible, through discharge planning and referral to community services.
- Screen patients for falls risk and functional ability, and ensure that referrals for follow-up falls prevention interventions are in place.
- Managing many of the risk factors for falls (eg delirium or balance problems) will have wider benefits beyond falls prevention.

# Chapter 5 Falls risk screening and assessment



#### Recommendations

Screening and assessment

- Document the patient's history of recent falls, or use a validated screening tool to identify people with risk factors for falls in hospital.
- Use falls risk screening and assessment tools that have good predictive accuracy, and have been evaluated and validated across different hospital settings.
- As part of a multifactorial program for patients with increased falls risk in hospital, conduct a systematic and comprehensive multidisciplinary falls risk assessment to inform the development of an individualised plan of care to prevent falls.
- When falls risk screens and assessments are introduced, they need to be supported by education for staff and intermittent reviews to ensure appropriate and consistent use.



# Good practice points

#### Falls risk screening

- Screening tools are particularly beneficial because they can form part of routine clinical management and inform further assessment and care for all patients even though clinical judgment is as effective as using a screening tool in acute care.
- All older people who are admitted to hospital should be screened for their falls risk, and this screening should be done as soon as practicable after they are admitted.
- The emergency department represents a good opportunity to screen patients for their falls risk.
- A falls risk screen should be undertaken when a change in health or functional status is evident, or when the patient's environment changes.

#### Falls risk assessment

- A falls risk assessment should be done for those patients who exceed the threshold of the falls risk screen tool, who are admitted for falls, or who are from a setting in which most people are considered to have a high risk of falls (eg a stroke rehabilitation unit).
- For patients who have fallen more than once, undertake a full falls risk assessment for each fall (approximately 50% of falls are in patients who have already fallen).
- Interventions delivered as a result of the assessment provide benefit, rather than the assessment itself; therefore, it is essential that interventions systematically address the risk factors identified.

# Part C Management strategies for common falls risk factors

## Chapter 6 Balance and mobility limitations



#### Recommendation

#### Intervention

• Use a multifactorial falls prevention program that includes exercise and assessment of the need for walking aids to prevent falls in subacute hospital settings. (Level II)<sup>39</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Refer patients with ongoing balance and mobility problems to a post-hospital falls prevention exercise program when they leave hospital. This should include liaison with the patient's general practitioner.
- To assess balance, mobility and strength, use an assessment tool to:
  - quantify the extent of balance and mobility limitations and muscle weaknesses
  - guide exercise prescription
  - measure improvements in balance, mobility and strength
  - assess whether patients have a high risk of falling.

# Chapter 7 Cognitive impairment



#### Recommendations

Assessment

• Older people with cognitive impairment should have their risk factors for falls assessed.

Intervention

• Identified falls risk factors should be addressed as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, and injury minimisation strategies (such as using hip protectors or vitamin D and calcium supplementation) should be considered. (Level II)<sup>37-39</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Patients presenting to a hospital with an acute change in cognitive function should be assessed for delirium and the underlying cause of this change.
- Patients with gradual onset, progressive cognitive impairment should undergo detailed assessment to determine diagnosis and, where possible, reversible causes of the cognitive decline.
- Patients with delirium should receive evidence based interventions to manage the delirium (eg follow the Australian guidelines, *Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Delirium in Older People*).<sup>+</sup>
- If a patient with cognitive impairment does fall, reassess their cognitive status, including presence of delirium (eg using the Confusion Assessment Method tool).
- Where possible and appropriate, involve family and carers in decisions about which implementations to use, and how to use them, for patients with cognitive impairment. (Family and carers know the patient and may be able to suggest ways to support them.)
- Interventions shown to work in cognitively intact populations should not be withheld from cognitively impaired populations; however, interventions for people with cognitive impairment may need to be modified and supervised, as appropriate.

# Chapter 8 Continence



#### Recommendations

Intervention

- Ward urinalysis should form part of a routine assessment for older people with a risk of falling. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>
- As part of multifactorial intervention, toileting protocols and practices should be in place for patients at risk of falling. (Level III-2)<sup>43,133</sup>
- Managing problems with urinary tract function is effective as part of a multifactorial approach to care. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>



Good practice point

• Incontinence can be screened in hospital as part of a validated falls risk screen assessment, such as the St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY) or the Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool (PJC-FRAT).



#### Assessment

• In addition to using standard falls risk assessments, screen patients for ill-fitting or inappropriate footwear upon admission to hospital.

#### Intervention

- Include an assessment of footwear and foot problems as part of an individualised, multifactorial intervention for preventing falls in older people in hospital. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>
- Hospital staff should educate patients and provide information about footwear features that may reduce the risk of falls. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Safe footwear characteristics include:
  - soles: shoes with thinner, firmer soles appear to improve foot position sense;
     a tread sole may further prevent slips on slippery surfaces
  - heels: a low, square heel improves stability
- collar: shoes with a supporting collar improve stability.
- As part of discharge planning, refer patients to a podiatrist, if needed.

# Chapter 10 Syncope



#### Recommendations

#### Assessment

• Patients who report unexplained falls or episodes of collapse should be assessed for the underlying cause.

#### Intervention

- Patients with unexplained falls or episodes of collapse who are diagnosed with the cardioinhibitory form of carotid sinus hypersensitivity should be treated by inserting a dual-chamber cardiac pacemaker. (Level II)<sup>189</sup>
- Assessment and management of postural hypotension and review of medications, including medications associated with presyncope and syncope, should form part of a multifactorial assessment and management plan for falls prevention in hospitalised older people (this can also be part of discharge planning). (Level I)<sup>31</sup>

# Chapter 11 Dizziness and vertigo



#### Recommendations

Assessment

- Vestibular dysfunction as a cause of dizziness, vertigo and imbalance needs to be identified in the hospital setting. A history of vertigo or a sensation of spinning is highly characteristic of vestibular pathology.
- Use the Dix-Hallpike test to diagnose benign paroxysmal positional vertigo, which is the most common cause of vertigo in older people and can be identified in the hospital setting. This is the only cause of vertigo that can be treated easily.

Note: there is no evidence from randomised controlled trials that treating vestibular disorders will reduce the rate of falls.

#### Good practice points

- Use the Epley manoeuvre to manage benign paroxysmal positional vertigo.
- Use vestibular rehabilitation to treat dizziness and balance problems, where indicated.
  Screen patients complaining of dizziness for gait and balance problems, as well as for
- postural hypotension. (Patients who complain of 'dizziness' may have presyncope, postural dysequilibrium, or gait or balance disorders.)
- All manoeuvres should only be done by an experienced person.

# Chapter 12 Medications



#### Recommendations

Intervention

- Older people admitted to hospital should have their medications (prescribed and nonprescribed) reviewed and modified appropriately (and particularly in cases of multiple drug use) as a component of a multifactorial approach to reducing the risk of falls in a hospital setting. (Level I)<sup>31</sup>
- As part of a multifactorial intervention, patients on psychoactive medication should have their medication reviewed and, where possible, discontinued gradually to minimise side effects and to reduce their risk of falling. (Level II-\*)<sup>37,235</sup>





#### Assessment

- Use hospitalisation as an opportunity to screen systematically for visual problems that can have an effect both in the hospital setting and after discharge.
- For a rough estimate of the patient's visual function, assess their ability to read a standard eye chart (eg a Snellen chart) or to recognise an everyday object (eg pen, key, watch) from a distance of two metres.

#### Intervention

- As part of a multidisciplinary intervention for reducing falls in hospitals, provide adequate lighting, contrast and other environmental factors to help maximise visual clues; for example, prevent falls by using luminous commode seats, luminous toilet signs and night sensor lights. (Level III-3)<sup>43</sup>
- Where a previously undiagnosed visual problem is identified, refer the patient to an optometrist, orthoptist or ophthalmologist for further evaluation (this also forms part of discharge planning). (Level II)<sup>37</sup>
- When correcting other visual impairment (eg prescription of new glasses), explain to the patient and their carers that extra care is needed while the patient becomes used to the new visual information. (Level II-\*)<sup>249</sup>
- Advise patients with a history of falls or an increased risk of falls to avoid bifocals or multifocals and to use single-lens distance glasses when walking especially when negotiating steps or walking in unfamiliar surroundings. (Level III-2-\*)<sup>250</sup>
- As part of good discharge planning, make sure that older people with cataracts have cataract surgery as soon as practicable. (Level II-\*)<sup>251,252</sup>

Note: there have not been enough studies to form strong, evidence based recommendations about correcting visual impairment to prevent falls in any setting (community, hospital, residential aged care facility), particularly when used as single interventions. However, considerable research has linked falls with visual impairment in the community setting, and these results may also apply to the hospital setting.



#### Good practice points

- If a patient uses spectacles, make sure that they wear them, and that they are clean (use a soft, clean cloth), unscratched and fitted correctly. If the patient has a pair of glasses for reading and a pair for distance, make sure they are labelled accordingly, and that they wear distance glasses when mobilising.
- Encourage patients with impaired vision to seek help when moving away from their immediate bed surrounds.



Assessment

• Regular environmental reviews are advisable; procedures should be in place to document environmental causes of falls; and staff should be educated in environmental risk factors for falls in hospitals.

#### Intervention

- Environmental modifications should be included as part of a multifactorial intervention. (Level II)<sup>37,38</sup>
- As part of a multifactorial intervention, falls can be reduced by using luminous toilet signs and night sensor lights. (Level III-3)<sup>43</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Make sure that the patient's personal belongings and equipment are easy and safe for them to access.
- Check all aspects of the environment and modify as necessary to reduce the risk of falls (eg furniture, lighting, floor surfaces, clutter and spills, and mobilisation aids).
- Conduct environmental reviews regularly (consider combining them with occupational health and safety reviews).

# Chapter 15 Individual surveillance and observation



#### Recommendations

#### Intervention

- Include individual observation and surveillance as components of a multifactorial falls prevention program, but take care not to infringe on people's privacy. (Level III-2)<sup>43</sup>
- Falls risk alert cards and symbols can be used to flag high-risk patients as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, as long as they are followed up with appropriate interventions. (Level II)<sup>39</sup>
- Consider using a volunteer sitter program for patients who have a high risk of falling, and define the volunteer roles clearly. (Level IV)<sup>42,64</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Most falls in hospitals are unwitnessed. Therefore, the key to reducing falls is to raise awareness among staff of the patient's individual risk factors, and reasons why improved surveillance may reduce the risk of falling.
- If appropriate, hospital staff should discuss with carers, family or friends the patient's risk of falling and their need for close monitoring.
- Family members or carers can be given an information brochure to use in discussions with the patient about falls in hospitals.
- Encourage family members or carers to spend time sitting with the patient, particularly in waking hours, and encourage them to notify staff if the patient requires assistance.
- A range of alarm systems and alert devices are available, including motion sensors, video surveillance and pressure sensors. They should be tested for suitability before purchase, and appropriate training and response mechanisms should be offered to staff. Alternatively, find another hospital that already has an effective alarm system, see what their program includes, and try their system.
- Patients who have a high risk of falling should be checked regularly.
- A staff member should stay with patients with cognitive impairment and a high risk of falls while the patient is in the bathroom.



#### Assessment

• Causes of agitation, wandering and other behaviours should be investigated, and reversible causes of these behaviours (eq delirium) should be treated, before restraint use is considered.

Note: there is no evidence that physical restraints reduce the incidence of falls or serious injuries in older people.<sup>290-293</sup> However, there is evidence that they can cause death, injury or infringement of autonomy.<sup>294,295</sup> Therefore, restraints should be considered the last option for patients who are at risk of falling.<sup>296</sup>



#### Good practice points

- The focus of caring for patients with behavioural issues should be on responding to the patient's behaviour and understanding its cause, rather than attempting to control it.
- All alternatives to restraint should be considered and trialled for patients with cognitive impairment, including delirium.
- If all alternatives are exhausted, the rationale for using restraints must be documented and an anticipated duration agreed on by the health care team.
- If drugs are used specifically to restrain a patient, the minimal dose should be used and the patient should be reviewed and monitored to ensure their safety. Importantly, chemical restraint must not be a substitute for quality care.
- Follow hospital protocol if physical restraints must be used.
- Any restraint use should not only be agreed on by the health team, but also discussed with family or carers.

# Part D Minimising injuries from falls

# Chapter 17 Hip protectors



#### Recommendations

#### Assessment

- When assessing a patient's need for hip protectors in hospital, staff should consider the patient's recent falls history, age, mobility and steadiness of gait, disability status, and whether they have osteoporosis or a low body mass index.
- Assessing the patient's cognition and independence in daily living skills (eg dexterity in dressing) may also help determine whether the patient will be able to use hip protectors.

#### Intervention

- Hip protectors must be worn correctly for any protective effect, and the hospital should introduce education and training for staff in the correct application of hip protectors. (Level II-\*)<sup>302</sup>
- When using hip protectors as part of a falls prevention strategy, hospital staff should check regularly that the patient is wearing their protectors, and ensure that the hip protectors are comfortable and the patient can put them on easily. (Level I-\*)<sup>303</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Although there is no evidence of the effectiveness of hip protectors in the hospital setting, their use can be considered in individual cases where the patient is able to tolerate wearing them, and has a high risk of injurious falls.
- If hip protectors are to be used, they must be fitted correctly and worn at all times.
- The use of hip protectors in hospitals is challenging but feasible in subacute wards. In hospital wards where patients are acutely ill (acute wards), effective use of hip protectors has not been shown to be possible.
- Hip protectors are a personal garment and should not be shared between patients.

# Chapter 18 Vitamin D and calcium supplementation



#### Recommendations

#### Assessment

• To screen for possible vitamin D deficiency, dieticians, nutritionists or health professionals can collect information on the patient's eating habits, food preferences, meal patterns, food intake and sunlight exposure. Alternatively, a blood sample can be taken.

#### Intervention

 Vitamin D and calcium supplementation should be recommended as an intervention strategy to prevent falls in older people. Benefits from supplementation are most likely to be seen in patients who have vitamin D insufficiency (25(OH)D of <50 nmol/L) or deficiency (25(OH)D of <25 nmol/L), comply with the medication, and respond biochemically to supplementation. (Level I-\*)<sup>31</sup>

Note: it is unlikely that benefits from vitamin D and calcium supplementation will be seen in hospital (particularly in acute care or short stays), but there is evidence both from the community and residential aged care settings to support dietary supplementation, particularly in people who are deficient in vitamin D.



#### Good practice points

- Hospitalisation of an older person provides an opportunity for comprehensive health care assessment and intervention. There is no direct evidence to suggest that calcium and vitamin D supplementation will prevent falls in hospital; however, because most older people will return home or to their residential aged care facility, hospitalisation should be viewed as an opportunity to identify and address falls risk factors, including adequacy of calcium and vitamin D. This information should be included in discharge recommendations.
- As part of discharge planning, any introduction of vitamin D and calcium supplementation should be conveyed to the person's general practitioner or health practitioner.



#### Assessment

• Patients with a history of recurrent falls should be considered for a bone health check. Also, patients who sustain a minimal-trauma fracture should be assessed for their risk of falls.

#### Intervention

- People with diagnosed osteoporosis or a history of low-trauma fracture should be offered treatment for which there is evidence of benefit. (Level I)<sup>283</sup>
- Hospitals should establish protocols to increase the rate of osteoporosis treatment in patients who have sustained their first osteoporotic fracture. (Level IV)<sup>340</sup>



#### Good practice points

- The health care team should consider strategies for minimising unnecessary bedrest (to maintain bone mineral density), protecting bones, improving environmental safety and vitamin D prescription, and this information should be included in discharge recommendations.
- When using osteoporosis treatments, patients should be co-prescribed vitamin D with calcium.

# Part E Responding to falls

## Chapter 20 Post-fall management



#### Good practice points

- Hospital staff should report and document all falls.
- It is advisable to ask a patient whether they remember the sensation of falling or whether they think that they blacked out, because many patients who have syncope are unsure whether they blacked out.
- Staff should follow the hospital protocol or guidelines for managing patients immediately after a fall.
- After the immediate follow-up of a fall, determine how and why a fall may have occurred, and implement actions to reduce the risk of another fall.
- Analysing falls is one of the key ways to prevent future falls. Organisational learning from this analysis can be used to inform practice and policies, and to prevent future falls.
   A post-fall analysis should lead to an interdisciplinary care plan to reduce the risk of future falls and injuries, and address any identified comorbidities or falls risk factors.
- An in-depth analysis of the fall (eg a root-cause analysis) is required if there has been a serious injury following a fall, or if a death has resulted from a fall.





# Part A Introduction



# 1 Background

# 1.1 About the guidelines

These guidelines aim to improve the safety and quality of care for older people. They are designed for health professionals providing care in Australian hospital settings and offer a nationally consistent approach to preventing falls based on best practice recommendations. The development of these guidelines was funded and managed by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC).

The guidelines advocate autonomy, independence, enablement and rehabilitation in the context of acceptable risk of falling. A degree of risk is inevitable in promoting autonomy in older people.

Any fall needs to be considered in the context of the care provided relative to best practice for the individual within the specific environment. Some falls may continue to occur even when best practice is followed. In such cases, there remains a need for vigilant monitoring, review of the care plan, and implementation of actions to minimise injury risk.

# 1.2 Scope of the guidelines

# 1.2.1 Targeting older Australians

Falls can occur at all ages, but the frequency and severity of falls-related injury increases with age.<sup>2</sup> These guidelines have been developed with older people – defined as people aged 65 years and over – in mind. When considering Indigenous Australians, *older people* commonly refers to people aged over 50 years.<sup>3</sup> These guidelines may also apply to younger people at increased risk of falling, such as those with a history of falls, neurological conditions, cognitive problems, depression, visual impairment or other medical conditions leading to an alteration in functional ability.<sup>4</sup>

# 1.2.2 Specific to Australian hospitals

These guidelines have been developed for Australian hospitals, including emergency departments, the acute and subacute care settings, and specialised units. Separate guidelines have been developed for the community and residential aged care settings.

# 1.2.3 Relevant to all hospital staff

All hospital staff have a role to play in preventing falls in older people. These guidelines have been developed for all those who either deliver or are responsible for the care of older people. This includes support services as well as clinical, management and corporate staff.

# 1.3 Terminology

# 1.3.1 Definition of a fall

For a nationally consistent approach to falls prevention within Australian facilities, it is important that a standard definition of a fall be used. For the purpose of these guidelines, the following definition applies:

A fall is an event which results in a person coming to rest inadvertently on the ground or floor or other lower level.<sup>5</sup>

To date, no national data definition for a fall exists in the National Health Data Dictionary (run by the Australian Government's Australian Institute of Health and Welfare).<sup>+</sup>

# 1.3.2 Definition of an injurious fall

These guidelines use the Prevention of Falls Network Europe (ProFaNE) definition of an *injurious fall*. The ProFaNE definition considers that the only injuries that could be confirmed accurately using existing data sources are peripheral fractures – defined as any fracture of the limb girdles or of the limbs. Head, maxillo-facial, abdominal, soft tissue and other injuries are not included in the recommendation for a core dataset.<sup>†</sup>

However, other definitions of an injurious fall include traumatic brain injuries (TBIs) as a falls-related injury, particularly as falls are the leading cause of TBIs in Australia (representing 42% of TBI-related hospitalisations in 2004-05).<sup>6</sup>

# 1.3.3 Definition of assessment and risk assessment

In these guidelines, *assessment* is defined as an objective evaluation of the older person's functional level by their ability to perform certain tasks and activities of daily living (eg dressing, feeding, grooming, mobilising).

*Falls risk assessment* is a detailed and systematic process used to identify a person's risk factors of falling. It is used to help identify which interventions to implement. Falls risk assessment tools should be validated prospectively in more than one group or study (see Chapter 5 for more detail).

<sup>+</sup> http://meteor.aihw.gov.au/content/index.phtml/itemId/367274

<sup>+</sup> http://www.profane.eu.org

# 1.3.4 Definition of interventions

An *intervention* is a therapeutic procedure or treatment strategy designed to cure, alleviate or improve a certain condition. Interventions can be in the form of medication, surgery, early detection (screening), dietary supplements, education, or minimisation of risk factors.

In falls prevention, interventions can be:

- targeted at single risk factors single interventions
- targeted at multiple risk factors
  - *multiple interventions* where everyone receives the same, fixed combination of interventions
  - multifactorial interventions where people receive multiple interventions, but the combination
    of these interventions is tailored to the individual, based on an individual assessment.

This classification of interventions targeting multiple risk factors is based on the classification of interventions used by the Cochrane Collaboration (which is based on the ProFaNE classification<sup>†</sup>).

In general, trials have shown that interventions that target multiple risk factors (that is, both multiple and multifactorial interventions) are more effective than single interventions for preventing falls and associated injuries for older people who are in hospital for relatively long periods.<sup>7</sup> The effectiveness of single interventions in this setting is not known. Similarly, it is not known whether interventions are effective for people with relatively short (ie fewer than 14 days) hospital stays.<sup>7</sup> Part C contains more information about the types of interventions that are available in the hospital setting.

# 1.3.5 Definition of evidence

These guidelines use a definition of *evidence* based on Health-evidence.ca – a Canadian online resource funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and run by McMaster University. It defines evidence as:

Knowledge from a variety of sources, including qualitative and quantitative research, program evaluations, client values and preferences, and professional experience.<sup>+</sup>

Furthermore, these guidelines were developed using the principles of *evidence based practice*, which is the process of integrating clinical expertise, and patient preferences and values, with the results from clinical trials and systematic reviews of the medical literature. This approach also involves avoiding interventions that are shown to be less effective or harmful.

See Section 1.4 for more details on the development of the guidelines using an evidence based approach.

<sup>+</sup> http://www.profane.eu.org

<sup>+</sup> http://health-evidence.ca/

# 1.4 Development of the guidelines

## 1.4.1 Expert advisory group

To guide and provide advice to the project, a multidisciplinary expert panel (the Falls Guidelines Review Expert Advisory Group) was established in 2008. The panel included specialists in the areas of falls prevention research, measurement and monitoring, quality improvement, change management and policy, as well as health care professions from fields including geriatric medicine, allied health and nursing. Whenever necessary, the expert panel accessed resources outside its membership. An additional external quality reviewer was appointed to review the guidelines from an Australian perspective.

Furthermore, an internationally renowned, independent quality reviewer (with expertise in the hospital setting) reviewed these guidelines.

# 1.4.2 Review methods

The guidelines were developed drawing on the following sources:

- the previous version of the guidelines
- a search of the most recent literature for each risk factor or intervention
- the most recent Cochrane review of falls prevention interventions in the hospital setting
- feedback from health professionals and policy staff implementing the previous guidelines
- clinical advice from the expert advisory group
- guidance from external expert reviewers
- guidance from international external expert reviewers
- guidance from specialist groups (such as the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Australian Association of Gerontology, and Continence Foundation Australia).

The review methods used were nonsystematic, because a systematic review of each aspect of falls prevention, for each setting (community, hospital and residential aged care facility) was beyond the capacity and timeframe of this update of the guidelines.

Due to these constraints, it was not possible to follow the National Health and Medical Research Council's (NHMRC's) detailed requirements for developing and grading clinical practice guidelines.<sup>8</sup> In particular, search terms and details of study inclusion and exclusion criteria were not recorded; data extraction tables were not compiled for included studies; quality appraisal criteria were not systematically applied; and the body of evidence was not graded in the way set out by the NHMRC.

However, the expert group was mindful of the need for a thorough review of the evidence supporting each recommendation. The methods used to review assessment and intervention recommendations are described briefly below.

#### Assessment

Assessment recommendations were based on information supplied by the clinical experts, supplemented by general literature reviews, where relevant. The text of each section describes the supporting information and provides a rationale for each recommendation. As NHMRC methods for reviewing diagnostic questions have not been followed, no attempt has been made to apply levels of evidence or to grade these recommendations.

#### Interventions

Rapid literature searches were carried out with the aim of identifying the highest quality information for each intervention (systematic reviews – particularly Cochrane reviews as well as, meta-analyses, and randomised controlled trials). This is in line with recommended methods for evidence based practice, where answers are needed quickly to clinical questions based on rapid identification of the best quality literature.<sup>9</sup> The information retrieved in this way was checked and supplemented by information from the extensive personal research databases of the clinical experts. Each chapter was reviewed by an external expert reviewer, before whole-of-guidelines review by an expert for each setting.
#### **Economic evaluation**

A systematic review of published economic evaluations was undertaken. Literature searches were carried out in Medline (1950 to end July 2008), CINAHL (1982 to end July 2008), and EMBASE (1980 to end July 2008). MeSH terms (Economics/; or Economics, Medical/; or Economics, Hospital/; or Technology Assessment, Biomedical/; or Models, economic/) and text words for economic evaluations (cost-effectiveness, cost utility, cost benefit, economic evaluation) were combined with MeSH and text words relating to falls or to hip protectors. Reference lists of relevant studies and reviews were also searched, and Australian researchers were contacted.

The search identified 388 abstracts. All abstracts were reviewed, and excluded if they did not appear to be economic evaluations of either falls prevention interventions or hip protectors. Studies that included relevant data or information were retrieved, and their full-text versions were analysed and examined for study eligibility. Across all interventions, a total of 27 papers were identified that considered the costs or economic benefits of falls prevention interventions or hip protectors. The methods, results and limitations of these papers are discussed in the relevant intervention sections.

#### 1.4.3 Levels of evidence

The NHMRC's six-point rating system for intervention research was used to classify each paper according to the strength of evidence that can be derived given the specific methods used in the paper. Table 1.1 lists the six levels of evidence.

Level	Description
I	Evidence obtained from a systematic review of all relevant randomised controlled trials
II	Evidence obtained from at least one properly designed randomised controlled trial
-1	Evidence obtained from well-designed pseudo-randomised controlled trials (alternate allocation or some other method)
-2	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with concurrent controls and allocation not randomised (cohort studies), case-control studies, or interrupted time series with a control group
III-3	Evidence obtained from comparative studies with historical control, two or more single-arm studies, or interrupted time series without a parallel control group
IV	Evidence obtained from case series, either post-test, or pretest and post-test

#### Table 1.1 National Health and Medical Research Council levels of evidence

### NHMRC = National Health and Medical Research Council Source: NHMRC<sup>10</sup>

It is possible to have methodologically sound (Level I) evidence about an area of practice that is clinically irrelevant or has such a small effect that it is of little practical importance. These issues were not formally reviewed during this update of the guidelines (see above), but relevant issues are described in the text of each section and were taken into account by the expert group in developing the recommendations.

A particular problem in assessing evidence for falls prevention is that research studies of an intervention have often been carried out in a different setting (eg in a residential aged care setting but not in a hospital setting). In these guidelines, the highest level of evidence for an intervention is reported regardless of the setting; however, when the research setting is not a hospital, an \* is added to the level (eg Level I-\*). This shows that caution is needed when applying economic implications for that recommendation to the hospital setting.

The guidelines will be reviewed in 2014.

#### 1.5 Consultation

The consultation process involved a call for submissions, an online survey, multiple nationwide workshops (in all state and territory capitals and a number of regional centres), teleconferences, and targeted interviews with key stakeholders. An extensive range of useful, high-quality responses to these processes assisted in the development of the guidelines (and subsequent implementation process), as well as to identify other areas of action.

In addition, specialist groups provided invaluable feedback on previous guidelines and draft versions of these guidelines. They included the National Injury Prevention Working Group, the Australian Association of Gerontology, the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners and the Continence Foundation of Australia.

Development of the 2005 guidelines was underpinned by an extensive consultative process, from which these guidelines benefit.

## **1.6** Governance of the Australian falls prevention project for hospitals and residential aged care facilities

The Falls Guidelines development project was directed by ACSQHC in conjunction with its Inter-Jurisdictional, Private Hospital Sector and Primary Care Committees. It was managed by the Office of the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care on the advice of the Falls Guidelines Review Expert Advisory Group, which recommended the final guidelines for endorsement to ACSQHC.

#### 1.7 How to use the guidelines

#### 1.7.1 Overview

Figure 1.1 provides a step-by-step overview of how to use the guidelines to prevent falls and falls injuries in older people in Australian hospitals, in the context of consumer involvement. It is split into two linked sections:

- The bold arrows in the outer circle represent the strategic level. This is a 15-step approach in three sections
  - plan a falls and falls injury prevention program
  - implement a falls and falls injuries prevention program
  - evaluate a falls and falls injuries prevention program.
- The inner circle represents interventions that can be applied at the point of care (that is, the site of patient care). A best practice approach of individualised assessment followed by targeted, individualised interventions is presented in Parts B to D of the guidelines (Standard falls prevention strategies, Management strategies for common falls risk factors and Minimising injuries from falls).



#### Plan

#### Plan for implementation

SLEP I. IUCILITY LEARNS	ams	Identify	Step 1:
-------------------------	-----	----------	---------

- Step 2: Identify, consult, analyse and engage key stakeholders
- Step 3: Assess organisational readiness
- Step 4: Analyse falls

Plan for evaluation

Step 5: Establish a baseline

Plan for quality improvement

Step 6: Review current clinical practice

#### Implement

- Step 7: Decide on implementation approaches
- Step 8: Determine process for implementation
- Step 9: Conduct trial
- Step 10: Learn from trial
- Step 11: Proceed to widespread implementation for improvement
- Step 12: Sustain implementation

#### Evaluate

- Step 13: Measure process
- Step 14: Measure outcomes
- Step 15: Report and respond to results

### Figure 1.1 Using the guidelines to prevent falls in Australia

#### 1.7.2 How the guidelines are presented

The guidelines are presented in five parts:

- Part A Introduction
- Part B Standard falls prevention strategies
- single and multiple falls prevention interventions
- falls risk screening and assessment
- Part C Management strategies for common falls risk factors
   strategies for managing common risk factors
  - 11 specific assessments and interventions
- Part D Minimising injuries from falls
  - hip protectors
  - vitamin D and calcium supplementation
  - osteoporosis management
- Part E Responding to falls.

For ease of reference, Parts C and D consider each falls risk factor and assessment or intervention in separate chapters. However, these interventions are generally most successful when used in combination. Interventions and assessments to minimise falls risk factors are discussed first (Part C), followed by interventions to minimise harm from falls (Part D). This does not imply importance of one chapter over another.

Health care professionals and carers should consider the advantages and risks of using injury-prevention strategies, as outlined in Part D, to give older people in the hospital setting extra protection from falls and related injury. These strategies can be used after a fall or applied systematically to the population at risk.

Chapters on intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors in Parts C and D begin with a set of evidence based recommendations (assessment or intervention, or both, as appropriate). The supporting information for these recommendations is presented in the remainder of the chapter, which is organised into:

- background information contains an overview of the risk factor or intervention, and a summary of the relevant literature on clinical trials
- principles of care explains how to implement the intervention of interest
- special considerations provides information relevant to specific groups (eg Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups, rural and remote populations, people with cognitive impairment)
- economic evaluation summarises the relevant literature on health economics.

The guidelines contain text boxes for important information, as outlined below.



Evidence based recommendations

- Evidence based recommendations are presented in boxes at the start of each section, accompanied by references. They were selected based on the best evidence and accepted by the project's expert advisory group and external quality reviewers.
  - Where possible, separate recommendations for assessment and interventions are given. Assessment recommendations have been developed by the expert group based on current practice and a review of the literature discussed in the text of each section.
  - Intervention recommendations are based on a review of the research on the use of the intervention. Each recommendation is accompanied by a reference to the highest quality study upon which it is based, as well as a level of evidence (see Section 1.4.3 for an explanation of levels of evidence).

Recommendations based on evidence nearer the I end of the scale should be implemented, whereas recommendations based on evidence nearer the IV end of the scale should be considered for implementation on a case-by-case basis, taking into account the individual circumstances of the patient.



#### Good practice points

Good practice points have been developed for practice where there have not been any studies; for example, where there are no studies assessing a particular intervention, or where there are no studies specific to a particular setting. In these cases, good practice is based on clinical experience or expert consensus.



#### Point of interest

These boxes indicate points of interest. Most points of interest were revealed by the Australia-wide consultation process or from grey literature (conference proceedings, etc).



#### Case study

These boxes indicate case studies. The case studies provide information on likely scenarios, which are used as illustrative examples.

Boxes containing additional information, such as useful websites, organisations or resources, are also provided. References are listed at the end of the guidelines.



## 2 Falls and falls injuries in Australia

The following is a brief summary of the background information derived from the literature in relation to falls in hospitals. Specific literature related to risk factors for falling is outlined in the relevant sections.

#### 2.1 Incidence of falls

Falls-related injury is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in older Australians, with more than 80% of injury-related hospital admissions in people aged 65 years and over due to falls and falls-related injuries.<sup>11</sup> Fall rates are greater for older people.<sup>11</sup> Fall rates of 4–12 per 1000 bed days have been described in this age group.<sup>12</sup> Incident rates vary between wards and departments in hospitals. In the subacute or rehabilitation hospital setting, more than 40% of patients with specific clinical problems, such as stroke, experience one or more falls during their admission.<sup>2</sup> Injuries result from approximately 30% of such falls in hospital.<sup>13</sup>

Australian data on falls in hospitals do not distinguish between injuries that occur before and after admission. If a patient is admitted to hospital for one reason and falls while in hospital care, it is not recorded as a separate event.<sup>14</sup>

#### 2.2 Fall rates in older people

Injuries requiring hospitalisation increase with age (beginning at 65 years old), and falls are the biggest reason for these injuries.<sup>14</sup> Falls are the single biggest reason for injury-related admission to hospital and presentations to the emergency department in people over 65 years.<sup>14</sup> Every year, approximately 30% of Australians over 65 years old fall, with 10% of these falls leading to injury.<sup>15</sup> Approximately 8% of falls-related overnight admissions do not go home, as opposed to 4.5% of other admissions.<sup>16</sup>

An increase in falling as people age is associated with decreased muscle tone, strength and fitness as a result of physical inactivity. Certain medications can contribute to an increased risk of falling. Alcohol consumption can also lead to more falls, particularly if the alcohol interacts with certain medications.<sup>14</sup> Impaired vision also contributes to falls.<sup>14</sup>

Falls are also associated with an increased incidence of death in older people, particularly people older than 80 years. In 2002, the death rate from falls ranged from 18 deaths per 100000 people (aged 65-84 years) to 81 deaths per 100000 people (aged 85 years and older, in all settings – not specific to the hospital setting).<sup>17</sup> Age-standardised fall injury cases (leading to hospitalisation) increased to 2415 injuries per 100000 people (in 2005–06) from 2295 injuries per 100000 people (in 2003–04).<sup>18</sup>

The potential for falls increases once older people enter health care facilities. Even with high rates of falls, there may still be under-reporting of events.<sup>19</sup>

#### 2.3 Impact of falls

The hip and thigh are the most commonly injured areas requiring hospitalisation in both men and women sustaining falls.<sup>18</sup> Femur fractures from falls have decreased since 1999–2000<sup>18</sup> by 1.3% per year for men and 2.2% for women. Head injuries are also common, more so for men, and indicate that injury prevention mechanisms for the head should be considered, as well as for hips and thighs.<sup>18</sup>

Hip fractures are one of the most common reasons for hospital admission (in relation to injury), and most (91%) hip fractures are caused by falls.<sup>14</sup> Hip fractures impose heavily on the Australian community due to increased death and morbidity, decreased independence, increased burden on family members and carers, increased costs due to rehabilitation, and increased admission into residential aged care facilities.<sup>14</sup>

Falls also result in wrist fractures; when people fall, they put their arms out to break the fall.<sup>14</sup>

Falls may lead to complications, including a fear of falling or a loss of confidence in walking, a longer stay in hospital or other facility, additional diagnostic procedures or surgery, and potential litigation.<sup>2</sup> Additionally, falls may result in caregiver stress, and fear of litigation for clinical and administrative staff.<sup>2</sup>

#### 2.4 Cost of falls

In addition to injuries, falls are costly to the individual – in terms of function and quality of life<sup>2</sup> – and also to the community. Research across all settings shows that, in the face of an ageing population, if nothing more is done to prevent falls by 2051:<sup>20</sup>

- the total estimated health cost attributable to falls-related injury will increase almost threefold from A\$498.2 million per year in 2001 to A\$1375 million per year in 2051
- in hospitals, 886 000 additional bed days per year, or the equivalent of 2500 additional beds, will be permanently allocated to treating falls-related injuries.

To maintain the current health costs, there will need to be a 66% reduction in the incidence of falls-related hospitalisations by 2051.<sup>20</sup>

#### 2.5 Economic considerations in falls prevention programs

In health care, resources are limited — there are insufficient resources to provide all programs to all people. Therefore, health care providers and funders need to choose programs to ensure they are getting good value for money. This means that it is no longer enough to demonstrate that an intervention is effective — it should also be a good use of scarce health care resources. Individual and organisational components of programs for preventing falls should be selected by weighing up the costs and the benefits (health outcomes). Health care providers must decide how they can facilitate improvements in health outcomes with finite resources, choosing the most effective intervention they can afford.

Economic evaluation of falls prevention programs is an important element of the overall decision-making process when comparing different options for falls prevention. An economic evaluation (often called a cost-effectiveness analysis) compares both costs and health outcomes of alternative health care programs. Health outcomes from a falls prevention intervention can be counted in 'natural units', such as falls prevented, fractures prevented, deaths prevented, and survival – often expressed as 'life years saved' (LYS) or as multidimensional health outcomes, which include both survival and quality of life in a single composite measure (such as a 'quality-adjusted life years' – QALYS).

The cost effectiveness of a new program is assessed by comparing the costs and health outcomes of the new program with the costs and health outcomes of an alternative program (often current clinical practice or usual care) by calculating an 'incremental cost-effectiveness ratio' (ICER). The ICER represents the extra cost for each additional unit of health outcome, and is a measure of value for money. Programs with lower ICERs offer better value for money (they are more cost effective) than programs with higher ICERs.

#### 2.6 Characteristics of falls

The literature contains numerous studies reporting on the epidemiology of falls. These include the characteristics and circumstances of older people who fall, such as the time and place of the fall and resultant injury.<sup>18,21</sup>

Falls are associated with a number of factors, such as environmental obstacles, dementia, delirium, incontinence and medications. Although not proven through controlled trials, the relationship between time of fall and level of staffing suggests that most falls in hospitals occur in daylight hours when staffing levels are at their highest but when there is the greatest level of concurrent work demands.<sup>22</sup>

A snapshot of studies that have reported fall data<sup>22-24</sup> has revealed the following consistent information: the bedside is the most common place for falls to occur, and the bathroom is frequently mentioned; a high percentage of falls are associated with elimination and toileting; falls occur across all age groups, but there is an increasing prevalence of falls in older people; and a high percentage of falls are unwitnessed.<sup>25-27</sup>

The pattern of falls depends on setting and case mix. More mobile patients (for instance, in rehabilitation or mental health settings) are more likely to fall when walking than from a bed or chair. This may, in turn, influence the emphasis of interventions.

#### 2.7 Risk factors for falling

There are a number of risk factors for falling among older people in hospital settings, and a person's risk of falling increases as their number of risk factors accumulates.<sup>28</sup>

Risk factors may be divided into intrinsic risk factors (factors that relate to a person's behaviour or condition) and extrinsic risk factors (factors that relate to a person's environment or their interaction with the environment). Table 2.1 summarises the intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors for falling in hospital.

#### Table 2.1 Risk factors for falling – hospitals<sup>2</sup>

Intrinsic risk factors	Extrinsic risk factors
Previous fall	Hospitalisation for 19 days or more
Postural instability, muscle weakness	Environmental risk factors (most falls in hospital occur around the bedside and in the bedroom)
Cognitive impairment, delirium, disturbed behaviour	Time of day (falls occur most commonly at times when observational capacity is low $-$ ie shower and meal times, and outside visiting hours)
Urinary frequency, incontinence	
Postural hypotension	
Medications (eg psychoactive medications)	
Visual impairment	

Some risk factors (eg confusion, unsafe gait and antidepressant medications) are associated with an increased risk of multiple falls in the hospital setting.<sup>2,29</sup> Patients whose medical condition impacts directly on one or more falls risk factors, such as stroke, have high fall rates in the hospital setting.<sup>2,30</sup>

A best practice approach for preventing falls in hospitals includes four key components: first, the implementation of standard falls prevention strategies; second, the identification of falls risk; third, the implementation of interventions targeting these risks to prevent falls; and finally, the prevention of injury to those people who do fall. Previous programs in the hospital setting have only been successful in reducing falls when multiple interventions are included. Implementation of one part does not seem enough to improve outcomes. To be most effective, falls prevention should be targeted at both point of care and strategic levels.

While the body of knowledge regarding the risks of falls and how to reduce these risks is continually growing, one key message prevails: multifactorial, multidisciplinary approaches are best in the hospital setting.<sup>31</sup> Implicit in this multifactorial approach is the engagement of the patient and their carer(s) (where appropriate) as the centre of any falls prevention program.

Falls after hospital discharge have been reported as occurring in 15% of older people within a month of discharge, with 11% of these resulting in serious injury.<sup>32</sup> Although the scope of these guidelines is specifically the prevention of falls in hospitals, best practice would also ensure that falls prevention strategies continue after discharge. By working in an integrated manner, the needs of the patient across the broader spectrum of service delivery is more likely to be achieved. This may be demonstrated by reduced levels of readmission, improved quality of life and levels of functional independence, and enhanced population health outcomes; however, comprehensive studies of post-discharge intervention evaluating quality of life and population outcomes are lacking.



## 3 Involving older people in falls prevention

Consumer participation in health is central to high-quality and accountable health services. It also encourages shared responsibility in health care. Consumers can help facilitate change in health care practices.

Health care professionals should consider the following things to encourage patients to participate in falls prevention:

- Make sure the falls prevention message is presented within the context of people staying independent for longer.<sup>33</sup>
- Be aware that the term 'falls prevention' could be unfamiliar and the concept difficult to understand for many patients in this older age group.<sup>33</sup>
- Provide relevant and usable information to allow patients and their carers to take part in discussions and decisions about preventing falls<sup>34</sup> (see the fact sheets on preventing falls).
- Find out what changes a patient is willing to make to prevent falls, so that appropriate and acceptable recommendations can be made.<sup>34</sup>
- Offer information in languages other than English, where appropriate;<sup>34</sup> however, do not assume literacy in the patient's native language.
- Explore the potential barriers that prevent patients from taking action to prevent falls (such as low self-efficacy and fear of falling) and support patients to overcome these barriers.<sup>34</sup>
- Develop falls prevention programs that are flexible enough to accommodate the patient's needs, circumstances and interests.<sup>34</sup>
- Place falls prevention posters in the ward in common areas used by patients and family members.
- Ask family members to assist in falls prevention strategies.
- Ensure that strategies to promote the continued involvement of patients are included in discharge planning (also called 'post-hospital care planning') and recommendations.
- Trial a range of interventions with the patient.35



## Part B Standard falls prevention strategies



# Part B Standard falls prevention strategies

## 4 Falls prevention interventions



#### Recommendations

#### Intervention

- A multifactorial approach to preventing falls should be part of routine care for all older people in hospitals. (Level I)<sup>31,36</sup>
- Develop and implement a targeted and individualised falls prevention plan of care based on the findings of a falls screen or assessment. (Level II)<sup>37-39</sup>
- As part of discharge planning, organise an occupational therapy home visit for people with a history of falls, to establish safety at home. (Level II)<sup>40</sup>
- Patients considered to be at higher risk of falling should be referred to an occupational therapist and physiotherapist for needs and training specific to the home environment and equipment, to maximise safety and continuity from hospital to home. (Level I)<sup>41</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Interventions should systematically address the risk factors identified, either during the admission or, if this is not possible, through discharge planning and referral to community services.
- Screen patients for falls risk and functional ability, and ensure that referrals for follow-up falls prevention interventions are in place.
- Managing many of the risk factors for falls (eg delirium or balance problems) will have wider benefits beyond falls prevention.

#### 4.1 Background and evidence

In these guidelines, the term *standard falls prevention interventions* refers to routine care. This section outlines evidence, recommended actions and resources to address specific falls risk factors and interventions. These interventions have been components of multifactorial programs that have proven successful in the hospital setting. Because falls are multifactorial and complex in nature, interventions should be implemented in combination rather than in isolation.<sup>7</sup> Evidence from hospitals, residential aged care facilities and community settings has indicated the clear benefit of multifactorial approaches to falls prevention.<sup>2</sup>

Where possible, these guidelines suggest how strategies could be implemented, by whom and at what point in time. However, given the unique features of each hospital, and of wards and units within hospitals, the health care team will need to make local decisions on how to best integrate falls prevention actions into a patient's plan for daily care. Each patient has a unique set of falls risk factors and personal preferences, and requires an individualised plan of action to minimise falls and harm from falls.

To prevent falls, a range of standard precautionary strategies should be put into place for all older people in hospitals. This approach is based on good aged care practice and the assumption that all older people in hospitals are at risk of falling, with their level of risk requiring further assessment.

After standard falls prevention strategies are in place and after the assessment process is undertaken, those factors identified as contributing to a patient's risk of falling can be addressed in an individualised plan for daily care focused on preventing falls. Patients with multiple risk factors have a higher rate of falls than those with fewer falls risk factors.<sup>4</sup> See Chapter 5 for information on risk screening and assessment.

#### 4.1.1 Evidence from trials

A Cochrane review showed that trials in hospitals targeting multiple risk factors appeared to be effective in reducing the risk of falls for patients with long lengths of stay.<sup>31</sup> The multifactorial interventions included different combinations of supervised exercise and balance training, education, medication review, vitamin D with calcium supplementation, environmental review, walking aids and hip protectors.

Another randomised controlled trial used a screening tool in each patient's notes to prompt recommendations for four basic interventions by referring to allied health staff.<sup>39</sup> This multifactorial intervention, which was done in an Australian population, reduced the incidence of falls in the subacute hospital setting.

A third randomised controlled trial successfully incorporated staff education; multidisciplinary care planning; investigation, screening and treatment of delirium and pain; and other interventions in a systemised way to prevent inpatient falls and injuries in patients admitted for femoral neck fractures.<sup>38</sup>

A meta-analysis of interventions supports a multifactorial approach for reducing falls in hospitals.<sup>36</sup> The studies included in this meta-analysis were successful in reducing falls, and all had mean hospital stays ranging from 18 to 38 days.

However, since this meta-analysis, a study of acute wards (median length of stay of seven days) applied interventions similar to those in other randomised controlled trials using dedicated multidisciplinary research staff over a three-month period.<sup>42</sup> It was the largest study to date, and was done on an Australian population. The rates of falls in this study were not reduced. This may have been because:<sup>42</sup>

- the intervention was too short or not sufficiently intense
- the use of external staff meant that regular hospital staff did not change their practice to maintain the interventions out of hours
- some interventions (eg exercise programs) most likely required longer than a seven-day period to improve outcomes
- the population of an acute care ward may differ significantly from the rehabilitation wards in the prevalence of cognitively impaired or acutely unwell patients who may require additional interventions and supervision.

The success of falls prevention interventions may be affected by what interventions are already in place, by the level of organisational reinforcement or support, and by the duration of the intervention (interventions that last for only a few months may not be long enough to change the organisational culture). Many multifactorial programs to prevent falls in acute hospital wards have been evaluated in before-after studies. Most, but not all, of these studies found that falls were reduced in the intervention period.<sup>36</sup> Although the design of before-after studies is not as rigorous as randomised controlled trials (particularly because before-after studies cannot control for changes that may have occurred over time, unrelated to the interventions), they can provide complementary information about effective approaches to falls prevention. For example, an Australian study used a before-after design to evaluate a multifactorial falls prevention approach phased in over three months.<sup>43</sup> This intervention involved data gathering, risk screening with appropriate interventions, work practice changes, environmental and equipment changes, and staff education. Over a two-year period, the number of falls decreased by 19% per 1000 occupied bed days (P = 0.001), and the number of falls resulting in serious injuries decreased by 77% per 1000 occupied bed days (P < 0.001). Staff adherence to completing the falls risk assessment tool increased from 42% to 70%, and 60% of staff indicated they had changed their work practices to prevent falls.

Overall, these findings indicate that a multidisciplinary, multifactorial approach to falls prevention can be successful in hospital settings; however, in more acute wards, there is perhaps a necessity for more intensive long-term interventions, with an increased focus on cognitive impairment and a whole-system approach to ward-based falls prevention (with associated work practice change) led by ward staff.<sup>43</sup>

#### 4.2 Choosing falls prevention interventions

As mentioned above, successful interventions in hospitals use a combination of falls prevention interventions that should be delivered together as part of a multifactorial program. Using any one intervention on its own is unlikely to reduce the number of falls.

All staff members (including support, clinical, administrative and managerial staff), as well as the patient and their carers (where appropriate), have a role to play in falls prevention, as outlined below.

The following standard falls prevention interventions have been used as interventions in successful in-hospital trials and should be included in routine practice:

- Screen or assess all older people in hospitals for risk of falling, using a validated tool.<sup>39</sup>
- Identify high-risk patients by using falls risk alert cards above beds.<sup>39</sup>
- Ensure that patients have their usual spectacles and visual aids to hand. Refer the patient to an optician, orthoptist or ophthalmologist for undiagnosed visual problems.<sup>37</sup>
- Review medications. In particular, identify high-risk medications, such as sedatives, antidepressants, antipsychotics and centrally acting pain relief, and ask the medical team or pharmacists to review the need for these medications.<sup>37</sup>
- Measure postural blood pressure as part of a medical review to identify patients with a significant drop in blood pressure. Investigate the cause, and provide slow and careful transfers with assistance for these people.<sup>37</sup>
- Organise routine screening urinalysis to identify urinary tract infections, with medical review if positive.<sup>37,38</sup>
- Organise routine physiotherapy review for patients with mobility difficulties, including transfers<sup>37-39</sup>
  - communicate to staff and the patient the limits of the patient's mobility status<sup>4</sup> using written, verbal and visual communication
  - put walking aids on the side of the bed that the patient prefers to get up from<sup>44</sup> and, where possible, assign a bed that allows them to get up from their preferred side
  - supervise or help the patient if required<sup>45,46</sup>
  - make sure that, while mobilising, the patient wears fitted, nonslip footwear<sup>45,46</sup> (discourage the patient from moving about in socks, surgical stockings or slippers)
  - encourage the patient to participate in functional activities and exercise (minimise prolonged bedrest and encourage incidental activity)<sup>46,47</sup>
  - in rehabilitation settings, organise physiotherapist-led exercise sessions to improve balance (eg tai chi and functional activities that are progressive and tailored to individual needs).<sup>39</sup>

- Educate and discuss (with regular review) falls risks and falls prevention strategies with all staff, patients and their carers.<sup>38,39,46,48</sup>
- Record falls prevention education of staff, patients and their carers.<sup>48</sup> Document screening, assessment and interventions.
- Establish a plan of care to maintain bowel and bladder function.46
- Instruct patients who are being discharged or transferring between facilities about their medication time and dose; side effects; and interactions with food, other medications and supplements.<sup>46</sup> Make sure that unnecessary medications are not prescribed and that information about medications is shared accurately with all relevant medical practitioners.
- Make the environment safe<sup>37</sup> by ensuring that
  - the bed is at the appropriate height for the patient (in most cases, it should be at a height that allows the patient's feet to be flat on the floor, with their hips, knees and ankles at 90-degree angles when sitting on the bed), and the wheels or brakes are locked when the bed is not being moved<sup>45,46,48</sup>
     the room is kept free from clutter or spills<sup>48</sup>
  - adequate lighting is supplied, based on the patient's needs (particularly at night)<sup>46,48</sup>
  - the patient knows where their personal possessions are and that they can access them safely (including telephone, call light, bedside table, water, eyeglasses, mobility aid, urinal)<sup>4,45,46,48</sup>
  - floor surfaces are clean and dry, and 'wet floor' signs are used when appropriate.  $^{\rm 46}$
- Orientate the patient to the bed area, room, ward or unit facilities and tell them how they can obtain help when they need it.<sup>4,46,48</sup> Some patients need repeated orientation because of cognitive impairment; they also might need appropriate signage in suitable script and language to reinforce messages.
- Instruct and check that patients understand how to use assistive devices (eg walking frames) before they are prescribed.<sup>46</sup>
- Have a policy in place to minimise the use of restraints and bedside rails,<sup>37,46</sup> or to ensure that they are used appropriately and only when alternatives have been exhausted, and where their use is likely to prevent injury. In addition, the policy for restraint use should ensure that the risk of injury and falls is balanced against the potential problems of using restraints.<sup>49</sup>
- Consider vitamin D supplementation with calcium as a routine management strategy in older patients who are able to walk, or if a patient lives in a residential aged care facility. If a patient has a low-trauma fracture, consider osteoporosis management.<sup>38</sup>
- Place high-risk patients within view of, and close to, the nursing station.<sup>37</sup>
- Consider hip protectors<sup>39</sup> and alarm devices (eg bed or chair alarms) for patients at high risk of falling (see Chapter 15 on individual surveillance and observation for more information).

#### 4.3 Discharge planning

Interventions to reduce the risk of falls and harm from falls should be included in discharge planning (also called 'post-hospital care planning') for those patients who have been identified as having an increased risk of falls and fall injury during the hospital admission.

Patients may present to acute services with a range of risk factors, and may leave with some or all of these risk factors (eg poor vision). Other risk factors may be acquired as part of the events of the admission; for example, gait changes or dizziness. Falls risk is increased for one month after discharge from hospital.

Some risk factors for falls (eg certain medications) can be managed during an admission. However, some falls risk factors (eg muscle weakness) require longer term interventions. An exercise program can be started during admission, but needs to continue for some weeks after discharge to achieve optimal muscle strength.

Discharge planning should therefore start early during admission (or during pre-admission, if admission is planned). It should involve appropriate members of the multidisciplinary care team, and include referral to appropriate primary health provider(s) and community services. Communication with the individual and carer(s) will help to ensure that the benefits and rationale of discharge planning are understood, and that plans are followed.

#### 4.3.1 Discharge planning from the emergency department

Identifying falls and risk factors for falls injuries is crucial while the patient is in the emergency department. The emergency department also provides an ideal opportunity for developing plans to minimise these risk factors through discharge planning processes.<sup>50,51</sup>

Approximately 43% of older people presenting to an emergency department after a fall are not admitted to hospital.<sup>52</sup> An observational study from the United Kingdom found that older people have an increased risk of subsequent hospitalisation and even death,<sup>53</sup> and 6% will return to the emergency department after another fall within 24 hours.<sup>54</sup> One-fifth of the older people who present with minor injuries and who are not admitted to hospital are at risk of ongoing functional decline for up to three months after discharge.<sup>55</sup> There is evidence that an older person will have an elevated risk of further falls if they have experienced a fall and were unable to get up independently, and have a history of previous falls.<sup>56</sup> In addition, older people presenting to the emergency department with other issues may also be unsteady and at risk of future falls and fall injury.

A randomised controlled trial from the United Kingdom investigated a structured, interdisciplinary falls assessment for emergency department patients. The assessment (which included a medical and occupational therapy assessment, and referral to appropriate services) was associated with a significant reduction in risk of further falls in the intervention group compared with usual care.<sup>57</sup> Table 5.2 (in Section 5.2.1) lists the details of the PROFET – the assessment tool recommended in this study. A study of a similar intervention demonstrated a 36% reduction in falls during follow-up.<sup>58</sup>

Position Statement 14 – *The Management of Older Patients in the Emergency Department* – of the Australian and New Zealand Society for Geriatric Medicine<sup>59</sup> encourages the completion of a validated screening tool to reduce re-presentation to the emergency department, or poor outcomes after discharge. The position statement recommends the emergency department as an appropriate place to screen and initiate referrals for ongoing management.<sup>59</sup> A useful falls-specific screening tool for this setting is the FROP-Com screen (for details, see Table 5.2 in Section 5.2.1).<sup>60</sup>

In its work with the Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People (FRHOP), the National Ageing Research Institute (NARI) developed the following five key recommendations for preventing falls in the emergency department setting:<sup>54</sup>

- All emergency departments should have a policy that outlines procedures for screening, management and referral of older people presenting to the emergency department as a result of a fall.
- All emergency department staff should have an opportunity for orientation training and ongoing education that includes falls prevention policy and procedures, and research evidence to support these.
- An evidence based screening procedure that identifies older people who present to the emergency department and have a risk of future falls should be implemented independently, or within an overall falls risk screen.
- All older people with an elevated falls risk should have modifiable falls risk factors addressed.
- All older people with a high falls risk identified during screening should have a comprehensive falls risk assessment conducted by a trained practitioner using a validated tool.

NARI also identified the following four best practice points for falls prevention in the emergency department:<sup>61</sup>

- The patient's primary health provider should be informed of the risk screening result and subsequent referrals.
- The emergency department should identify a clear referral pathway for patients who have a high risk of falls or have modifiable falls risk factors.
- Emergency department staff should communicate clearly to patients and their carer(s) about the potential benefit and rationale for referrals and interventions for reducing falls risk.
- Emergency departments should review the completion of falls risk screening and referral as part of their routine audit of medical records.

#### 4.3.2 Falls clinics

Falls clinics are conducted by a multidisciplinary team with skills in falls assessment and management for patients who have fallen.<sup>62</sup> Limited numbers of falls clinics are available, and a referral is usually required. Falls clinics are usually conducted as a part of an outpatient service. The team usually develops an intervention strategy for the patient, as well as advice, education and training for the patient, their carer and other members of the health care team. Falls clinics can also refer the patient to mainstream services for ongoing management.

Falls clinics should not be the first intervention for a patient who has fallen, or who is at risk of falling.

Multifactorial case study

#### - decreasing the number of risk factors can reduce the risk of falling<sup>4</sup>

Mrs R is a 79-year-old woman who was transferred by ambulance to hospital from her residential aged care facility (RACF) after fracturing her left inferior pubic ramus (pelvis). This injury was the result of a fall onto the floor while she was rushing to the toilet.

The orthopaedic team admitted Mrs R from the emergency department. Because the fracture was stable, they decided that she would be allowed to walk and weight bear as pain permitted. From the outset, nursing staff implemented standard strategies for falls prevention and, because Mrs R was admitted as the result of a fall, staff completed a falls risk assessment rather than a less detailed falls risk screen.

Information from the falls risk assessment and the accompanying transfer letter from Mrs R's RACF revealed that she had multiple risk factors for falling, including that she:

- was older than 65 years
- had fallen three times in the previous year
- was taking five different medications, including a sleeping tablet and diuretic
- on last attempt (a month ago), was only able to complete the Timed Up and Go test (TUG) in 19 seconds with her wheelie walker; the mean time for healthy 71–79-year-olds is 15 seconds<sup>63</sup>
- was frequently incontinent of urine at night and regularly rushed to the toilet
- had a Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) score of 22/30 before falling and was frequently agitated (a score of less than 24 indicates cognitive impairment)
- had left foot pain as the result of severe hallux valgus
- wore bifocal glasses for all activities, despite having a second pair of distance glasses for walking
- did not like to venture outdoors and received no direct sunlight.

In addition to the standard strategies and in response to the risk assessment, the hospital staff implemented targeted, individualised interventions to reduce Mrs R's risk of falling. These interventions included a medication review and advice on the importance of getting enough sunlight for vitamin D by the medical officer; advice from the occupational therapist about wearing well-fitting shoes with nonslip soles; and some simple exercises for strengthening core body muscles for better balance, demonstrated by the physiotherapist. As a result of these multifactorial interventions:

- the possibility of medication interactions and adverse medicine events was minimised
- Mrs R had a more restful sleep due to physical exertion throughout the day
- Mrs R's urinary incontinence was better managed
- Mrs R experienced fewer episodes of agitation
- Mrs R had less pain in her left foot from her bunion
- Mrs R was able to clearly see the floor in front of her while walking
- the condition of Mrs R's muscles and bones was optimised.

The health care teams at both the hospital and the RACF were all made aware of changes to Mrs R's care through chart entries, case conferences and appropriate discharge correspondence. Mrs R and her family were made aware of the changes to her care through a scheduled meeting with the health care team.

#### 4.4 Special considerations

#### 4.4.1 Cognitive impairment

The national consultation process that informed the first edition of these guidelines indicated that falls and cognitive impairment are key concerns of patients and health care workers alike. Consequently, cognitive impairment continues to have a dedicated chapter (Chapter 7), as well as being included as a special consideration within each section.

Cognitive impairment (including agitation, delirium and dementia) is a major risk factor for falls; however, patients who have cognitive impairment can benefit from falls interventions.

For older patients suffering from delirium or cognitive impairment, where it is unsafe for them to mobilise or transfer without help, individual observation and surveillance must be increased, and help with transfers must be provided as required. Ideally, one-on-one supervision should be applied for those patients with a mobility impairment for which they lack insight (eg cognitive impairment), and who impulsively attempt to exit their bed or chair without assistance. There is evidence for the benefits of this approach from nonrandomised controlled trials.<sup>64</sup>

Bed exit alarms have not been assessed adequately in appropriate trials, but they are increasingly being used for similar patients, to alert nursing staff when a high-risk patient attempts to leave their bed or chair. More research is required to see whether these devices are effective in reducing falls rates in hospitals.

#### 4.4.2 Rural and remote settings

A common problem in rural and remote settings is a shortage of some health professionals. Where this is the case, options to support available expertise include telephoning and videoconferencing with experts or facilities with advanced programs in other areas or regions. In instances where this approach is used, local staff should:

- ensure they have standard strategies in place before calling for support from external specialist staff
- carry out necessary screening, assessments and identification of appropriate interventions so that the basic assessments and interventions are in place by the time they are linked with the external support.

#### 4.4.3 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

The risk of falls may be greater if people from Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups cannot read signs or understand information given by staff<sup>2</sup> or be assessed adequately due to language difficulties.

There is some evidence that falls prevention strategies may work differently among culturally and linguistically diverse groups (eg due to cultural differences in exercise preferences and dietary intake of calcium from dairy products).<sup>65</sup>

General points to consider when conveying falls prevention messages to Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups include:

- the importance of interpreters
- the use of communication and translation boards
- seeking and using written information in the appropriate language and cultural context
- learning some basic words from the person's first language.

#### 4.5 Economic evaluation

An economic evaluation compares the costs and health outcomes of a falls prevention program with the costs and health outcomes of an alternative (often current clinical practice or usual care). Results of economic evaluations of specific falls prevention interventions are presented in the relevant intervention chapters.



# Part B Standard falls prevention strategies

## 5 Falls risk screening and assessment



#### Recommendations

#### Screening and assessment

- Document the patient's history of recent falls or use a validated screening tool to identify people with risk factors for falls in hospital.
- Use falls risk screening and assessment tools that have good predictive accuracy, and have been evaluated and validated across different hospital settings.
- As part of a multifactorial program for patients with increased falls risk in hospital, conduct a systematic and comprehensive multidisciplinary falls risk assessment to inform the development of an individualised plan of care to prevent falls.
- When falls risk screens and assessments are introduced, they need to be supported with education for staff and intermittent reviews to ensure appropriate and consistent use.



#### Good practice points

#### Falls risk screening

- Screening tools are particularly beneficial because they can form part of routine clinical management and inform further assessment and care for all patients even though clinical judgment is as effective as using a screening tool in acute care.
- All older people who are admitted to hospital should be screened for their falls risk, and this screening should be done as soon as practicable after they are admitted.
- The emergency department represents a good opportunity to screen patients for their falls risk.
- A falls risk screen should be undertaken when a change in health or functional status is evident, or when the patient's environment changes.

#### Falls risk assessment

- A falls risk assessment should be done for those patients who exceed the threshold of the falls risk screen tool, who are admitted for falls, or who are from a setting in which most people are considered to have a high risk of falls (eg a stroke rehabilitation unit).
- For patients who have fallen more than once, undertake a full falls risk assessment for each fall (approximately 50% of falls are in patients who have already fallen).
- Interventions delivered as a result of the assessment provide benefit, rather than the assessment itself; therefore, it is essential that interventions systematically address the risk factors identified.

#### 5.1 Background and evidence

The terms *falls risk screening* and *falls risk assessment* are sometimes used interchangeably, but there are some clear differences and, in these guidelines, they are considered separate but related processes. Screening is a process that primarily aims to identify people at increased risk. In the hospital setting, a falls risk screen can be used to identify patients who require a high level of supervision and more detailed falls risk assessment.<sup>66</sup> Falls risk assessments aim to identify factors that increase falls risk, and that may be amenable to intervention. Even where risk factors for falling cannot be reversed, there are usually other things that can be done to minimise the risk of falling or to prevent injury if an increased risk is identified.

Many falls risk screening and assessment tools have been developed for use in hospitals. However, only some of these have been evaluated for reliability and predictive validity in prospective studies and have a reasonable sensitivity and specificity. That is, they have acceptably high accuracy in predicting fallers who do fall in the follow-up period, and high accuracy for predicting nonfallers who do not fall in the follow-up period. Most have also only been validated in one hospital – usually the hospital where the tool was developed. While this provides some useful information, risk screening and assessment tools have reduced validity (eg predictive accuracy of fallers and nonfallers) when used outside the original research setting.<sup>67</sup> From a research perspective, further testing is needed of risk assessment tools in a variety of clinical settings to establish their validity and reliability for general use.<sup>68</sup>

Screening and assessment are not stand-alone actions in falls prevention. They need to be linked to an action plan to address any modifiable falls risk factors they identify. Even where risk factors for falling cannot be reversed, alternative strategies can be implemented to minimise the risk of falling or to prevent injury.

#### 5.1.1 Falls risk screening

Falls risk screening is a brief process of estimating a person's risk of falling, classifying people as being at either low risk or increased risk. Falls risk screening usually involves reviewing only a few items. Although it is not designed as a comprehensive assessment, positive screening on certain screen items can also provide information about intervention strategies.

The purpose of screening is to identify those patients with increased falls risk who need to have increased supervision or a detailed falls risk assessment. In some hospital settings, such as a geriatric assessment unit in an acute hospital, or a stroke rehabilitation unit in a subacute hospital, most patients would be considered to have an increased risk of falling. Therefore, the falls risk screening process may be of limited value. In these high-risk areas, it may be beneficial to skip the screening process and implement a full falls risk assessment on all patients.

A number of falls risk screening tools are reported in the literature. One of the most researched tools is the **St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY)**. The original study reporting the tool showed that it had good accuracy for classifying falls risk in the acute and subacute rehabilitation settings.<sup>69</sup> The tool contains five clinical factors associated with falling, and uses a simple scoring system (see Table 5.1 and Appendix A2.1).

More recent studies evaluating the STRATIFY tool in other hospitals have reported lower prediction accuracy.<sup>67,68,70-73</sup> One cohort study modified the original STRATIFY tool by constructing a weighted risk score based on the components of the STRATIFY tool (see Table 5.1 and Appendix A2.2).<sup>74</sup> The screening accuracy of the modified STRATIFY tool for falls risk showed 91% sensitivity and 60% specificity.<sup>74</sup> A systematic review of eight studies investigating the STRATIFY tool (four of these studies were included in a meta-analysis) concluded that its prediction accuracy – in particular, the sensitivity and negative predictive values – limits the utility of this tool.<sup>75</sup> Nonetheless, the STRATIFY tool remains the most widely researched and widely used falls risk screening tool for the hospital setting.

A systematic review and meta-analysis that assessed falls risk screening tools showed that using clinical judgment to classify a patient as high risk for falls is at least as good as using a screening tool in acute care.<sup>70,76</sup> One potential benefit of a screening tool, if used appropriately, is that it will form part of routine clinical management, which should inform further assessment and care for all patients. This is in contrast to clinical judgment, which depends on an individual nurse's consideration of falls risk in the context of a range of other medical problems, rather than an assessment of the falls risk in isolation. Documenting a history of recent falls is also a good screening question for identifying people at higher risk of falls during their stay in the hospital.<sup>67,71</sup> When a falls risk screen is introduced, it needs to be supported with education for staff and intermittent reviews to ensure that it is used appropriately and consistently.

Many hospitals use nonvalidated tools that they have developed themselves. Using such tools may be detrimental (eg by wasting staff time to complete a tool that does not work).

#### 5.1.2 Falls risk assessment

Falls risk assessment is a more detailed process than screening and is used to identify underlying risk factors for falling. Some falls risk assessments also classify people into low and high falls risk groups. Four randomised trials included specific falls risk assessments as part a multifactorial falls prevention intervention in the hospital setting. Falls were reduced in three of these trials,<sup>37-39</sup> and were unchanged in one.<sup>42</sup>

Falls risk assessment tools vary in the number of risk factors they include, and how each risk factor is assessed. Many assessment tools use a dichotomous classification (present or absent) for each risk factor; for example, the Prevention of Falls in the Elderly Trial (PROFET) tool, which contains screening and assessment components (see Table 5.2 and Appendix A2.8). Others include a graded categorisation (nil, mild, moderate, high risk) for each risk factor; for example, the Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People tool (FRHOP; see Table 5.3 and Appendix A2.5.).<sup>77</sup> Other tools use a detailed assessment tool for each risk factor; for example, the Peninsula Health Falls Risk Assessment Tool (FRAT) (cognitive status) uses the Hodkinson Abbreviated Mental Test Score (AMTS).

One systematic review identified the following risk factors as the most important among hospital patients:<sup>71</sup>

- gait instability
- lower-limb weakness
- urinary incontinence or frequency, or need for assisted toileting
- previous falls
- agitation, confusion or impaired judgment
- prescription of 'culprit' drugs (particularly centrally acting sedative hypnotics).

Factors such as low bone mineral density, low body mass index and fragile skin also increase the risk of injury if a fall occurs.

The authors of the systematic review concluded that none of the existing falls assessment tools could be recommended for implementation across all hospital settings. Instead, they suggest that better, validated falls risk assessment tools are needed in hospital settings, or a different approach is needed for identifying common, modifiable risk factors in all patients and ensuring an appropriate post-fall assessment for people who do fall in hospital.<sup>71</sup>

#### 5.2 Principles of care

#### 5.2.1 Falls risk screening

Falls risk screening can be done by a member of the multidisciplinary health care team who understands the process, and can administer the tool, interpret the results, and make referrals where indicated. Falls risk screening should occur as soon as practicable after every older person is admitted to hospital. A person's risk of falling can change quickly; therefore, screening for falls risk should be done when changes are noted in a person's health or functional status, and also when their environment changes.

Table 5.1 summarises validated falls risk screening tools for the hospital setting. Where publicly available, copies of the screening tools reported here are provided in Appendix 2. Other validated screening tools for the hospital setting are the Downton index and Morse scale.<sup>78,79</sup>

#### Table 5.1 Screening tools

St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY) <sup>69</sup>				
Description	The tool contains five clinical factors associated with falling, and a simple scoring system.			
Time needed	1–2 minutes			
Criterion	Positive score on $\ge$ 2 out of 5 items indicates increased risk of falls and need for a detailed risk assessment.			
Ontario Modified STRATIFY <sup>74</sup>				
Description	The tool contains six clinical factors associated with falling (falls history, mental status, vision, toileting, transfer between chair and bed, and mobility score). Management strategies are provided, according to the participant's overall score.			
Time needed	1–2 minutes			
Criterion	A score of 0–5 = low risk A score of 6–16 = medium risk A score of 17–30 = high risk			

The screen should be used to guide more detailed assessment and subsequent targeted interventions. The outcomes of the screen should be documented, reported to other health care staff, and discussed with the patient and their carer(s) (where appropriate). When the threshold score of a screening tool is:

- exceeded, a falls risk assessment should be done as soon as practicable
- *not exceeded*, the patient is considered to be at low risk of falling, and standard falls prevention strategies apply.

If any item on a multiple risk factor screen is identified as being 'at risk', interventions should be considered for that risk factor — even if the patient has a low falls risk score overall. For example, if a patient has an overall score of 1 on the STRATIFY tool (consisting of a score of 1 for transfer limitations and 0 for other screening items), an intervention to address their mobility impairment should be considered.

#### Screening risk in the emergency department

The emergency department provides a useful opportunity to screen older people for their risk of falling, and to refer them for assessment. Risk screening tools have been devised for use in the emergency department for measuring falls risk factors and identifying older people at increased risk of falling after they return home. Two are recommended in Table 5.2. See also Section 4.3 for more information on assessing falls risk in the emergency department.

#### Table 5.2 Risk screening tools for the emergency department setting

FROP-Com screening tool60			
Description	A three-item screening tool, developed based on research using the FROP-Com assessment tool in a sample of older people presenting to an emergency department after a fall. The three items are steadiness during walking and turning, history of falls in the past 12 months, and the need for assistance with activities of daily living before the presenting fall.		
Time needed	1–2 minutes		
Criterion	A score of 4 or more indicates high risk.		
Prevention of Falls in the Elderly Trial (PROFET)56			
Description	The first four questions of the PROFET trial include falls history, medical history, social circumstances and a physical examination.		
Time needed	1–2 minutes		
Criterion	No criterion for high falls risk. Individual risk factors identified are addressed according to guidelines.		

#### 5.2.2 Falls risk assessment

To develop an individualised plan for daily care focused on preventing falls, the factors contributing to a patient's increased risk of falling need to be identified systematically and comprehensively.<sup>37,38</sup>

A falls risk assessment should be done for those patients who exceed the threshold of the falls risk screen tool, who are admitted for falls, or who are from a setting in which most people are considered to have a high risk of falls (eg a stroke rehabilitation unit).

A falls risk assessment should be done as soon as possible after the patient is admitted into a high-risk setting, or as soon as possible if a falls risk screen exceeds the threshold. Additionally, a falls risk assessment may need to be repeated:

- when the patient's environment is changed
- when the patient's health or functional status changes
- after a fall
- when the patient is to be discharged.

When a falls risk assessment is introduced, it needs to be supported by education for staff and intermittent reviews to ensure it is used appropriately and consistently. Where publicly available, copies of assessment tools are provided in Appendix 2.

Due to the multifactorial nature of falls, it is preferable that different members of the multidisciplinary health care team (rather than a single member) assess the falls risk. However, if the multidisciplinary health care team is involved in the assessment process, responsibility for ensuring its timely completion should be allocated to one staff member. If a multidisciplinary approach is not possible, nursing staff may be primarily responsible, bringing in medical and other health care professionals where needed. For example, in acute hospitals, a multidisciplinary assessment is unlikely to be the best choice, because not all patients are seen (or could be seen) for an assessment by an allied health professional within one to two days of admission.

#### Point of interest

In its work with the Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People (FRHOP), the National Ageing Research Institute (NARI) found a number of limitations when different health care professionals are performing elements of an assessment, compared with a single-discipline assessment.<sup>66</sup> These limitations include:

- delays in filling in parts of the assessment
- confusion over who is coordinating the assessment
- confusion over who is ensuring the interventions are implemented.

Establishing clear protocols for using falls risk assessment tools (ie which staff member(s) completes them, when they are completed, and how referrals and management options are initiated); a clear process for integrating components of the risk assessment; and effective communication strategies to all staff about the process, level of risk and interventions being recommended for each patient are needed to overcome these limitations.<sup>66</sup>

Several falls risk assessment tools have been developed for use in the hospital setting. Given that a number of falls risk assessment tools have been validated for use in this setting, it is preferable that a validated tool be used, rather than developing a new tool. However, the health care team should be careful when adapting existing tools to their particular location, because this limits the applicability of any previous validation studies.

In any falls risk assessment, both intrinsic and extrinsic risk factors related to a person's health, functional status and environment need to be considered. Most tools focus on intrinsic falls risk factors only, so a separate environmental assessment may be indicated to identify extrinsic falls risk factors (see Chapter 14). The recommended risk assessment tools that are included as appendices in these guidelines were chosen based on their applicability to Australian hospitals (see Table 5.3).

#### Table 5.3 Risk assessment tools

## In the acute hospital settingCare plan assessment iters37DescriptionTwelve items are incorporated into the daily care plan, including intrinsic<br/>risk factors (medications, vision, blood pressure, mobility, etc), as well<br/>as environmental risk factors (safe environment, appropriate bed height,<br/>nurse call bell accessible, etc).Time neededApproximately 5–10 minutesCriterionNo criterion for high falls risk. Individual risk factors identified are addressed<br/>according to guidelines.

#### In the subacute or rehabilitation setting

#### Peninsula Health Falls Risk Assessment Tool (FRAT)80

Description	The FRAT has three sections: Part 1 $-$ falls risk status, Part 2 $-$ risk factor checklist, and Part 3 $-$ action plan. The complete tool (including the instructions for use) is a full falls risk assessment tool. However, Part 1 can be used as a falls risk screen.
Time needed	Approximately 15–20 minutes
Criterion	A score of $\geq$ 12 indicates an increased risk of falls.

In the	subacute	or rehal	bilitation	setting

Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People (FRHOP)77			
Description	The FRHOP is a comprehensive risk assessment tool that includes a broad range of falls risk factors, most of which are graded from nil (0) to high (3) risk. The tool has accompanying strategies that can be used to develop an action list. It also has additional actions for minimising overall risk.		
Time needed	Approximately 20 minutes		
Criterion	An overall score of 23 or more, or more than four items rated as high risk, indicates an increased risk of falls.		
Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool (PJC-FRAT) <sup>76</sup>			
Description	The PJC-FRAT is a multidisciplinary falls risk assessment tool (medical, nursing, physiotherapy and occupational therapy staff assessment components), which was used as the basis for developing intervention programs in a randomised controlled trial in the subacute hospital setting that successfully reduced patient or resident falls. Four main interventions are linked to the assessment: falls risk alert card, additional exercise, falls prevention education, and hip protectors.		
Time needed	Approximately 15 minutes		
Criterion	No criterion for high falls risk. Individual risk factors identified are addressed according to guidelines.		

So far, there is no consensus on which falls risk factors should be included in a falls risk assessment tool. Three reviews have been published on falls risk assessment, which identified several risk factors as being more prevalent in fallers than in nonfallers.<sup>71,81,82</sup> Therefore, more specific assessments may be indicated for some risk factors (see Table 5.4). A description of the appropriate assessment tools can be found in the respective chapters, as indicated in the table.

Characteristic or feature	Functional measure	Assessment	Description
Impaired balance or mobility	Impaired balance Reduced mobility Muscle weakness	Functional reach Mobility interaction fall chart, Six-Metre Walk Test, Timed Up and Go Test Sit-to-Stand Test	Chapter 6
Cognitive impairment	Dementia or delirium	Folstein Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE), Rowland Universal Dementia Scale (RUDAS), Confusion Assessment Method (CAM)	Chapter 7
Incontinence	Urinary and fecal	Questionnaires, assessment, physical examination	Chapter 8
Feet and footwear	Footwear analysis Foot problems (ie bunions, corns) and deformities	Safe shoe checklist Podiatrist assessment	Chapter 9 and Appendix 3

#### Table 5.4 Specific risk factor assessments

Characteristic or feature	Functional measure	Assessment	Description
Syncope	Postural hypotension	Lying and standing blood pressure measurements	Chapter 10
	Carotid sinus hypersensitivity	Carotid sinus massage by a medical specialist	
Dizziness	Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo	Dix-Hallpike test	Chapter 11
Medications	Benzodiazepines Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and tricyclic antidepressants	Medication review Medication review	Chapter 12
	Antiepileptic drugs and drugs that lower blood pressure	Medication review	
	Some cardiovascular medications	Medication review	
Vision	Visual acuity	Snellen eye chart	Chapter 13
Environment	Impaired mobility, visual impairment	General environmental checklist	Chapter 14 and Appendix 4
Individual surveillance and observation	Impaired mobility, high falls risk	Flagging, sitter programs, response systems, review and monitoring	Chapter 15
Restraints	Delirium, short-term elevated falls risk	Restraint policy	Chapter 16

Effective falls prevention programs have combined risk assessment with interventions. Interventions delivered as a result of the assessment, rather than the assessment itself, provide benefit; therefore, it is essential that interventions to address the identified risks are applied systematically.

The outcomes of the falls risk assessment, together with the recommended strategies to address identified risk factors, need to be documented, reported to other health care staff, and discussed with the patient and, where applicable, with their carer(s).

#### Case study

Mrs S presented to her local hospital after a fall with substantial bruising and a possible broken hip. X-ray revealed no fracture; however, she was admitted because severe pain limited her walking so that she could take only a few hobbling steps. Falls risk screening using the St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY) indicated a high risk of falling, with a score of four. (Mrs S had had three falls in the past 12 months, and had impaired vision, nocturia and urinary frequency, and difficulty with transfers and mobility.) Once Mrs S was given pain relief, her pain settled, and her mobility improved over three days. The nurse performed a detailed falls risk assessment using the Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People (FRHOP), and a referral and management program was implemented (mostly linked to Mrs S's discharge planning, because she was discharged home two days later). This included an assessment by the ward physiotherapist, who gave Mrs S a balance and strengthening exercise program to do at home. Mrs S was also referred to:

- a community physiotherapist for ongoing management of her resolving hip pain and balance problems
- an ophthalmologist, who identified cataracts and booked Mrs S into cataract surgery
- an occupational therapist, who ran a home environment assessment and recommended multiple home modifications
- a continence specialist to manage her continence problems.

Six months later, Mrs S's family was pleased to note that Mrs S had resumed all her previous activities, and had experienced no further falls.

#### 5.3 Special considerations

#### 5.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Identifying the presence of cognitive impairment should form part of the falls risk assessment process. However, the falls prevention interventions that are chosen, based on the assessment, may need to be modified to make sure they are suitable for the individual, and often the carer or family members will also play an important role in implementing falls prevention actions,<sup>83</sup> particularly in preparation for discharge and after return home.

Two hospital-based randomised controlled trials that evaluated screening or assessment as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program included participants with cognitive impairment, as well as those without.<sup>37,39</sup> The trials found that the intervention reduced falls across the full sample.

Another randomised controlled trial assessed a multifactorial falls prevention program in people after surgery for hip fracture.<sup>38</sup> The trial found a significant reduction in falls in a subgroup analysis of those participants with dementia.

#### 5.3.2 Rural and remote settings

Falls risk factor assessments can usually be performed by any trained member of the health care team. With medical, nursing and health professional shortages in some rural and remote settings, flexibility and up-skilling of team members may be required for successful assessment and interventions to be implemented.

#### 5.3.3 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

To adequately assess the falls risk of patients from Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups, the health care team should consider assessing the patient in their primary language and in a culturally appropriate manner. This may require using a translation and interpretation service.



## Part C Management strategies for common falls risk factors



## 6 Balance and mobility limitations





#### Recommendation

Intervention

• Use a multifactorial falls prevention program that includes exercise and assessment of the need for walking aids to prevent falls in subacute hospital settings. (Level II)<sup>39</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Refer patients with ongoing balance and mobility problems to a post-hospital falls prevention exercise program when they leave hospital. This should include liaison with the patient's general practitioner.
- To assess balance, mobility and strength, use an assessment tool to:
  - quantify the extent of balance and mobility limitations and muscle weaknesses
- guide exercise prescription
- measure improvements in balance, mobility and strength
- assess whether patients have a high risk of falling.

#### 6.1 Background and evidence

Balance is a highly complex skill in which the body's centre of mass is controlled within the limits of stability. This requires integration of accurate sensory information (such as vision and proprioception) and a well-functioning musculoskeletal system (not affected adversely by muscle weakness, pain or contracture) to execute appropriate movements. Different combinations of muscle actions are required to maintain balance (ie prevent falling) during the wide range of everyday mobility tasks (eg standing, reaching, walking, climbing stairs). Increasing age, inactivity, disease processes and muscle weakness can impair balance.<sup>84</sup>

Many patients receive exercise and other rehabilitation strategies as part of usual in-hospital care. Therefore, the effect of in-hospital interventions to address balance and mobility impairments is difficult to measure.

People who have been in hospital often have a particularly high risk of falling once they return home. For example, studies have found that one in seven patients fell within one month of returning home<sup>85</sup> and that three in four patients with stroke fell within six months of leaving hospital.<sup>30</sup> This shows the importance of discharge planning (also known as post-hospital care).

#### 6.1.1 Identifying the risk factors for falls

Balance and mobility are often poorer when a person is in hospital, compared with their usual level of mobility. This may be due to the effects of medications (including anaesthetics), acute events (eg stroke or a hip fracture) and acute illnesses (eg infections). Balance and mobility may further deteriorate during a hospital stay if the patient is less active than usual due to their medical condition, or due to the hospital environment, which discourages mobility. Therefore, as part of a mobility assessment, it is important to establish whether a patient's level of mobility in hospital is usual for them.

Assessment of balance or mobility as a single factor appears not to be the best way to predict falls in hospital patients, even in inpatient rehabilitation settings.<sup>86</sup> Rather, multiple risk factors for falls in hospitals have been identified. The most common of these are cognitive impairment or agitation, use of psychoactive medications, gait instability, urinary incontinence or frequency, and falls history.<sup>71</sup>

#### 6.1.2 Exercise as part of a multifactorial intervention

Mobility in hospital patients with particular conditions can be improved with exercise programs delivered as part of usual rehabilitation care. Systematic reviews have found better outcomes in patients with stroke<sup>87</sup> or hip fracture<sup>88</sup> who undergo inpatient rehabilitation.

The effects on fall rates of in-hospital interventions that involve exercise alone are not known.<sup>31</sup> There have been two trials of additional exercise as a single intervention with falls as an outcome.<sup>89,90</sup> These trials gave some indication that additional exercise could reduce falls in rehabilitation settings; however, the trials were too small for firm conclusions to be drawn.<sup>31</sup>
#### Subacute hospital settings

In subacute hospital settings with lengths of stay of at least three weeks, three randomised controlled trials showed that intervention programs that include interventions to improve balance and mobility can prevent falls. The pooled results from these three trials indicated a 36% reduction in the number of falls (rate ratio=0.64, 95%Cl 0.51 to 0.81) and a reduction in fallers of similar size that was not statistically significant (risk ratio=0.61, 95%Cl 0.33 to 1.13). This pooled result should be viewed with caution due to the differences between study settings and populations. The details of the three studies are as follows:

- Exercise, education, falls risk alert cards and hip protectors in addition to usual care
- This combination of interventions reduced fall rates by 30% (rate ratio=0.70, 95%Cl 0.55 to 0.90).
   The risk of being a faller was reduced by 22%, but this was not statistically significant (relative risk=0.78, 95%Cl 0.56 to 1.06). Effects were more evident after 45 days of intervention.<sup>39</sup>
- Rehabilitation wards instead of orthopaedic wards for care after a hip fracture
- A 62% lower fall rate (incident rate ratio=0.38, 95%Cl 0.20 to 0.76) was found in patients who were cared for in a rehabilitation ward rather than an orthopaedic ward after a hip fracture.<sup>38</sup> The rehabilitation ward used a team approach that included a greater focus on systematic assessment and intervention to prevent falls and other postoperative complications, more occupational therapy staff, and a greater focus on functional daily task training with ward staff. The ratio of physiotherapy staff to patients was similar in the two wards.
- A risk factor assessment and referral by nursing staff as part of usual care
  - A 30% greater reduction in falls (rate ratio=0.79, 95%Cl 0.65 to 0.95) was found in an intervention ward where a multifactorial intervention was conducted by nursing staff. Patients who had difficulties with mobility were referred to a physiotherapist.<sup>37</sup>

Systematic reviews have also found that rehabilitation programs that include exercise can improve mobility, which is likely to decrease the risk of future falls in patients who have had a stroke<sup>87</sup> or a hip fracture.<sup>88</sup>

#### Acute aged care and short-stay subacute settings

Acute aged care and short-stay subacute settings have an average stay of one week. Systematic reviews have shown that, among older medical inpatients, extra exercise programs can lead to an average one-day reduction in length of hospital stay, a greater chance of returning home,<sup>91</sup> and better functional outcomes.<sup>92</sup>

However, a more recent cluster randomised trial (not included in the two systematic reviews above) found that, when delivered in addition to usual care, multifactorial programs that include exercise did not prevent falls (incidence rate ratio=0.96, 95%Cl 0.72 to 1.28<sup>42</sup>). This was despite providing an additional 25 hours a week of nursing and physiotherapist time.

There are many challenges to conducting randomised trials of hospital falls prevention programs in short-stay wards. The need to randomise by cluster means that many participants are required for such trials. Widespread adoption of falls prevention programs is also needed, which would make it difficult to have control wards.<sup>13</sup>

# 6.1.3 Discharge planning and exercise

A systematic review showed that well-designed exercise programs can prevent falls in older people who live in the community.<sup>93</sup> Therefore, it makes sense that when people leave hospital, referrals should be made for ongoing exercise programs. However, no trials have directly evaluated the effect on falls of such a strategy.

# 6.2 Principles of care

#### 6.2.1 Assessing balance, mobility and strength

A number of different approaches can be used to assess balance, mobility and strength in older hospital patients. Some of the clinical assessments that may be of use are outlined in Table 6.1. The choice of tool will depend on the time and equipment available.

There is an expanding field of research devoted to evaluating different properties of tools for measuring balance, mobility and strength. These tools are evaluated according to their reliability (whether the tool is consistent when used by different people at different times), validity (whether the tool measures what it aims to measure) and responsiveness to change (how much change is required before it is certain that the change reflects improved performance rather than measurement variability, and how well the tool can detect meaningful changes). Several studies have evaluated these aspects of tools for use in the older population and rehabilitation<sup>94</sup> and in older medical inpatients.<sup>95</sup> Some preliminary work has developed methods for evaluating balance assessment tools in falls prevention programs.<sup>96</sup>

#### Table 6.1 Clinical assessments for measuring balance, mobility and strength

#### Postural sway and leaning balance tests<sup>97</sup> As part of the Physiological Profile Assessment (PPA), sway is measured using Description a swaymeter that measures displacements of the body at waist level. During standing balance tests, the person has to stand as still as possible for 30 seconds, with the eyes open and closed, once on the floor and once on a piece of medium-density foam rubber (15 cm thick). During leaning balance tests, the person has to lean forward and backward as far as possible, or follow a track. Time needed 5-10 minutes Criterion Computer software program compares individual's performance to normative database compiled from population studies. Rating 75% accuracy for predicting falls over a 12-month period in community and institutional settings; reliability within clinically expected range (R = 0.5-0.7).<sup>97</sup> Functional reach (FR)98 FR is a measure of balance and is the difference between a person's arm length Description and maximal forward reach, using a fixed base of support. FR is a simple and easy-to-use clinical measure that has predictive validity in identifying recurrent falls. Time needed 1-2 minutes Criterion ≤6 inches: fourfold risk ≤10 inches: twofold risk 76% sensitivity; 34% specificity<sup>91</sup> Rating Alternate Step Test (AST)99 Description The AST is a measure of lateral stability. It involves the time taken to complete eight steps, alternating between left and right foot, as fast as possible, onto a step 19 cm high and 40 cm deep. Time needed 1-2 minutes Criterion 10 seconds Rating 69% sensitivity; 56% specificity

woonity		
Six-Metre Walk	Test (SMW) <sup>100</sup>	
Description	The SMW measures a person's gait speed in seconds along a corridor (over a distance of six metres) at their normal walking speed.	
Time needed	1–2 minutes	
Criterion	6 seconds	
Rating	50% sensitivity; 68% specificity <sup>100</sup>	
Timed Up and Go Test (TUG) <sup>100</sup>		
Description	The TUG measures the time taken for a person to rise from a chair, walk three metres at normal pace and with their usual assistive device, turn, return to the chair and sit down.	
Time needed	1–2 minutes <sup>86</sup>	
Criterion	15 seconds	
Rating	76% sensitivity; 34% specificity <sup>63</sup>	
Strength		
Sit-to-Stand Test (STS) <sup>86,99</sup>		
Description	The STS is a measure of lower limb strength and is the time needed to perform five consecutive chair stands from a seated position.	
Time needed	1–2 minutes	
Criterion	12 seconds	
Rating	66% sensitivity; 55% specificity <sup>100</sup>	
Spring balance97		
Description	As part of the PPA, the strength of three leg muscle groups (knee flexors and extensors and ankle dorsiflexors) is measured while participants are seated. In each test, there are three trials, and the greatest force is recorded.	
Time needed	5 minutes	
Criterion	Computer software program compares individual's performance to normative database compiled from population studies.	
Rating	75% accuracy for predicting falls over a 12-month period in community and institutional settings; reliability coefficients within expected range (0.5–0.7). <sup>97</sup>	

Composite scales		
Berg Balance Scale <sup>101</sup>		
Description	The Berg Balance Scale is a 14-item scale designed to measure balance of the older person in a clinical setting, with a maximum total score of 56 points. <sup>+</sup>	
Time needed	15–20 minutes	
Criterion	$\leq$ 20 = high risk of falls $\leq$ 40 = moderate risk of falls (potential ceiling effect with less frail people)	
Rating	High test-retest reliability ( $R = 0.97$ ); low sensitivity — an 8-point change is needed to reveal genuine changes in function.	
Tinetti Performance-Oriented Mobility Assessment Tool (POMA) <sup>102</sup>		
Description	The POMA measures a person's gait and balance. The POMA-T (total) score consists of two subscales: POMA-G (gait) and POMA-B (balance).	
	It is scored on the person's ability to perform specific tasks, with a maximum total score of 28 points.	
Time needed	10–15 minutes	
Criterion	A score of $<19 =$ high risk of falls	
	A score of <24 = moderate risk of falls	
Rating	High test-retest reliability for POMA-T and POMA-B ( $R = 0.74-0.93$ ); lower test-retest reliability for POMA-G ( $R = 0.72-0.89$ ). POMA-T sensitivity (62.%) and specificity (66.1%) indicate poor accuracy in falls prediction.	
Confidence and falls efficacy scale		
Falls Efficacy Scale International (FESI) <sup>103</sup>		
Description	The FESI provides information on level of concern on a four-point scale $(1 = not at all concerned to 4 = very concerned)$ across 16 activities of daily living (eg cleaning the house, simple shopping, walking on uneven surfaces).	
Time needed	5 minutes	
Criterion	A score of $\leq 22 = 100$ to moderate level of concern	

	A score of $\geq 23$ = high level of concern
Rating	High test-retest reliability $(R = 0.96)^{103}$

In addition to structured training programs, hospital staff should provide the patient with opportunities to be as active as possible throughout the day. For example, the patient's bedrest should be minimised during the day, and the patient should be encouraged to be mobile by increasing the amount of incidental activity (eg walking to the toilet with appropriate supervision).<sup>30,104</sup>



#### Case study

Mrs B is 83 years old and was admitted to hospital with a urinary tract infection. She was confused and unable to walk on her own as she normally did. Nursing staff ensured that Mrs B did not walk unsupervised, that frequently used items were within easy reach, and that family members visited to provide additional supervision. As part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, the physiotherapist assessed Mrs B and provided daily balance and mobility training, which improved her function and mobility so that she was independent with a walking stick before she was discharged. The physiotherapist also referred Mrs B to a community-based balance and strength program after she left hospital.

+ http://www.chcr.brown.edu/geriatric\_assessment\_tool\_kit.pdf

# 6.3 Special considerations

#### 6.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Risk factors for falls (eg gait and balance problems) are more prevalent in older people with cognitive impairment than in people without cognitive impairment.<sup>105</sup> People with cognitive impairment should therefore have their falls risk investigated as comprehensively as those without cognitive impairment.

Interventions shown to work in cognitively intact populations should not be withheld from cognitively impaired populations, unless there is a problem with ability to follow or comply with instructions (see Chapter 7 on cognitive impairment). Simplifying instructions, and using picture boards and demonstrations, are strategies that may improve the quality of exercise for patients with cognitive impairment. Family members, carers and other volunteers may be able to help in supervising and motivating patients who are following exercise programs.

## 6.3.2 Rural and remote settings

Ideally, exercise interventions for older people in hospitals would be prescribed by a physiotherapist after individualised assessment. However, in rural and remote settings, this may need to be done by other staff, with appropriate guidance from a physiotherapist to ensure that programs are challenging, yet safe.

## 6.3.3 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

When developing exercise programs for Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups, hospital staff should ensure they are informed about requirements specific to that cultural group that may affect the intervention. For example, some cultural groups require single-sex exercise classes. Staff should consider using interpreters and other communication strategies, as necessary.

# 6.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were identified that specifically considered interventions based on exercise or physical activity in the hospital setting. Some community interventions have been found to be effective and cost effective; however, it is unclear whether the results are applicable to the hospital setting given that these interventions are mainly home-based exercise programs (see Chapter 6 in the community guidelines for more information).



#### Additional information

The Physiotherapy Evidence Database (PEDro) provides information from randomised controlled trials, systematic reviews and evidence based guidelines in physiotherapy: http://www.pedro.fhs.usyd.edu.au

The following organisations, manuals, exercise programs and resources are available:

• Otago Exercise Programme. This program is aimed at preventing falls in older people who live in the community, but it is also relevant for the aged care setting. The manual can be purchased online:

http://www.acc.co.nz/preventing-injuries/at-home/older-people/information-for-older-people/ Pl00030

- Hill KD, Miller K, Denisenko S, Clements T and Batchelor F (2005). Manual for Clinical Outcome Measurement in Adult Neurological Physiotherapy, 3rd edition, APA Neurology Special Group (Vic). Available from the Australian Physiotherapy Association for A\$30 for students, A\$60 for group members and A\$75 for others: http://www.physiotherapy.asn.au
- Chartered Society of Physiotherapy (United Kingdom) outcome measures online database: http://www.csp.org.uk/



# 7 Cognitive impairment



# Recommendations

Assessment

• Older people with cognitive impairment should have their risk factors for falls assessed.

#### Intervention

• Identified falls risk factors should be addressed as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, and injury minimisation strategies (such as using hip protectors or vitamin D and calcium supplementation) should be considered. (Level II)<sup>37-39</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Patients presenting to a hospital with an acute change in cognitive function should be assessed for delirium and the underlying cause of this change.
- Patients with gradual onset, progressive cognitive impairment should undergo detailed assessment to determine diagnosis and, where possible, reversible causes of the cognitive decline.
- Patients with delirium should receive evidence based interventions to manage the delirium (eg follow the Australian guidelines, *Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Delirium in Older People*).<sup>+</sup>
- If a patient with cognitive impairment does fall, reassess their cognitive status, including presence of delirium (eg using the Confusion Assessment Method tool).
- Where possible and appropriate, involve family and carers in decisions about which implementations to use, and how to use them, for patients with cognitive impairment. (Family and carers know the patient and may be able to suggest ways to support them.)
- Interventions shown to work in cognitively intact populations should not be withheld from cognitively impaired populations; however, interventions for people with cognitive impairment may need to be modified and supervised, as appropriate.

+ http://www.health.vic.gov.au/acute-agedcare/delirium-cpg.pdf

# 7.1 Background and evidence

Cognitive impairment is common among hospital patients. Although cognitive impairment is most commonly associated with increasing age, it is a complex problem that may exist in all age groups due to acquired brain injury, mental health conditions and other pre-existing conditions. Cognitive impairment implies a deficit in one or more cognitive domains, such as memory, visuospatial skills or executive function.

Dementia and delirium are the two most common forms of cognitive impairment in older people:

- Dementia is a syndrome of progressive decline in more than one cognitive domain; it affects the person's ability to function. Dementia has a gradual onset, usually involves a progressive decline in a range of cognitive abilities (such as memory, orientation, learning, judgment and comprehension), and is often accompanied by changes in personality and behaviour.<sup>106</sup>
- *Delirium* is a syndrome characterised by the rapid onset of variable and fluctuating changes in mental status. Delirium is common in hospitalised patients; most estimates of prevalence of delirium range from 15% to 56% of older inpatients.<sup>107</sup> The risk of developing delirium associated with certain kinds of surgery is especially high (eg 43%-61% of people having orthopaedic surgery for hip fractures<sup>108</sup> and approximately 30% of people who have had heart surgery<sup>109</sup>). Delirium usually develops over hours or days and has a fluctuating course that can involve changes in a range of cognitive abilities, such as attention and concentration, orientation, mood, perceptions, psychomotor activity and the sleep-wake cycle.<sup>107</sup>

Distinguishing between dementia and delirium can be difficult, and they can coexist in many older people. Older people with existing cognitive impairment are more likely to develop a delirium from an acute event.<sup>107</sup> Informants are often used to gain an insight into timing, chronicity and severity to differentiate dementia and delirium.

## 7.1.1 Cognitive impairment associated with increased falls risk

Older people with cognitive impairment have an increased risk of falls.<sup>110</sup> The presence of confusion or disorientation has been independently associated with falls<sup>110-114</sup> and fracture<sup>115</sup> in hospital patients. Dementia has also been associated with falls in hospitals.

Risk factors for falls are more prevalent in older people with cognitive impairment than in cognitively intact people. For example, impairments of gait and balance are more severe,<sup>105</sup> psychoactive medications are more commonly prescribed,<sup>116,117</sup> and orthostatic hypotension is more prevalent.<sup>118</sup>

Cognitive impairment may increase risk of falling by directly influencing the patient's ability to understand and manage environmental hazards, through a tendency to increased wandering,<sup>119</sup> and through altered gait patterns and impaired postural stability.<sup>120</sup> Examples of the different behaviours that contribute to increased falls risk in people with cognitive impairment include agitation, wandering, reduced awareness of environmental hazards, impaired ability to solve problems and impulsiveness.<sup>121,122</sup> Any changes in the environment can increase confusion and agitation, and may also increase risk of falls – for example, transfers between home and hospital, or between hospital and home or a residential aged care facility, or even just transfers within or between rooms within a hospital.

Some types of cognitive impairment are associated more strongly with falls than others. For example:

- delirium is associated with acute medical illness, metabolic disturbance, drugs and sepsis,<sup>107</sup> which may lead to poor balance, postural hypotension and muscle weakness
- some forms of dementia (eg Lewy body disease or vascular dementia) may be associated with gait
  instability and a higher incidence of orthostatic hypotension.<sup>123</sup>

# 7.1.2 Cognitive impairment and falls prevention

Three successful hospital-based randomised controlled trials (RCTs) to prevent falls have included people with cognitive impairment. Although there is limited evidence to support any specific strategy to prevent falls in cognitively impaired older people, older people with cognitive impairment and dementia can comply with falls prevention programs.<sup>37-39</sup>

Delirium is almost always due to a treatable underlying cause and should be addressed as soon as possible. Patients with pre-existing dementia are more susceptible to delirium from events such as constipation, urinary tract infections, chest infections and pain.<sup>107</sup> Patients are also more likely to develop delirium if they have visual or auditory impairment, are older, are malnourished, are physically restrained, have a urinary catheter in place or take more than three medications.<sup>107</sup>

# 7.2 Principles of care

# 7.2.1 Assessing cognitive impairment

Although there is no specific evidence for falls prevention interventions for older people with cognitive impairment, the following strategies reflect best practice:

- Repeatedly and regularly check for the presence of delirium, and treat medical conditions that may contribute to an alteration in cognitive status. Rapid diagnosis and treatment of a delirium and its underlying cause (eg infection, dehydration, constipation, pain) are crucial.<sup>124</sup>
- Older patients with a progressive decline in cognition should undergo detailed assessment to determine diagnosis and, where possible, treat reversible causes of the cognitive decline.<sup>106</sup>
- Older patients with cognitive impairment should have falls risk factors assessed, as discussed in other chapters, and should be offered interventions to modify risk.<sup>36</sup> Some interventions need the patient to be able to follow instructions or comply with a program (eg exercise). Where there is doubt about a person's ability to follow instructions safely, the health care team should conduct an individualised assessment and develop a falls prevention plan using the information from the assessment.

Many tools can be used to assess cognitive status; some are summarised in Table 7.1.

#### Table 7.1 Tools for assessing cognitive status

Folstein Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) <sup>125</sup>		
Description	The MMSE is a widely used method for assessing cognitive mental status. It is an 11-question measure that tests five areas of cognitive function: orientation, registration, attention and calculation, recall, and language. The maximum score is 30.	
Time needed	5–10 minutes	
Criterion	A score ≤23 indicates mild cognitive impairment. A score ≤18 indicates severe cognitive impairment.	
Rowland Universal Dementia Scale (RUDAS) <sup>126,127</sup>		
Description	The RUDAS is a simple method for detecting cognitive impairment. RUDAS is valid across cultures, portable and administered easily by primary health care clinicians. The test uses six items to assess multiple cognitive domains, including memory, praxis, language, judgment, drawing and body orientation.	
Time needed	10 minutes	
Criterion	Cut-point of 23 (maximum score of 30)	
Rating	89% sensitivity; 98% specificity	

Confusion Assessment Method (CAM) <sup>128</sup>		
Description	CAM is a comprehensive assessment instrument that screens for clinical features of delirium.	
	It comprises four features, which are determined by the patient, nurse and family interview:	
	<ul> <li>an onset of mental status changes or a fluctuating course</li> <li>inattention</li> <li>disorganised thinking</li> <li>an altered level of consciousness (ie other than alert).</li> </ul>	
Time needed	5 minutes	
Criterion	Patient is diagnosed as delirious if they have both the first two features, and either the third or fourth features.	
Rating	94% sensitivity; 90% specificity <sup>129</sup>	

# 7.2.2 Providing interventions

Identified falls risk factors should be addressed as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, and injury minimisation strategies (such as using hip protectors or vitamin D and calcium supplementation) could be instituted. One RCT specifically investigated the effect of a multifactorial program in patients with a hip fracture and found that a team applying comprehensive geriatric assessment and rehabilitation, including prevention, detection and treatment of falls risk factors, can successfully prevent inpatient falls and injuries, even in patients with dementia.<sup>38</sup> Three other studies (two RCTs and a lower quality observational study) included people with cognitive impairment, among other patients, and found an overall reduction in falls.

The results were as follows:

- An RCT showed that a targeted falls prevention program in addition to usual care including the use of a falls risk alert card with an information brochure, an exercise program, an education program and hip protectors reduced the incidence of falls in the subacute hospital setting.<sup>39</sup>
- A second RCT showed that the use of a core care plan, targeting reduction of risk factors in older patients, was associated with a reduction in the relative risk of recorded falls.<sup>37</sup>
- An observational study of a multiple-intervention falls prevention program in an aged care hospital setting involving risk screening with appropriate interventions, work practice changes, environmental and equipment changes, and staff education significantly reduced the number of falls and serious falls-related injuries.<sup>43</sup>

The following falls prevention strategies are of particular relevance to older patients with cognitive impairment:

- Address reversible causes of acute or progressive cognitive decline.<sup>83</sup>
- Review previously prescribed medications for conditions that the patient no longer has (eg antidepressants, antipsychotics, antihypertensives, antianginals).<sup>83</sup>
- Treat orthostatic hypotension (which is common in patients with dementia).<sup>83</sup>
- Use physical training programs to improve gait, balance, mobility and flexibility.83
- Modify the environment to reduce slips and trips, such as lowering beds.83
- Avoid the use of restraints or immobilising equipment (including indwelling catheters).<sup>36</sup>
- Provide more frequent observation, supervision and assistance to ensure that older patients with delirium or dementia who are not capable of standing and walking safely receive help with all transfers.<sup>83</sup>
- Use fall-alarm devices to alert staff that patients are attempting to mobilise.<sup>36</sup>

The symptoms of cognitive impairment and delirium should be managed by addressing agitation, wandering and impulsive behaviour (behaviour management) as follows:<sup>107,130</sup>

- Identify causes of agitation, wandering and impulsive behaviour, and reduce or eliminate them.
- Avoid the risk of dehydration by having fluids available and within a patient's reach, or by offering fluids regularly.
- Avoid extremes of sensory input (eg too much or too little light, too much or too little noise).
- Promote exercise and activity programs; more intensive activity programs may need to be offered in the late afternoon or early evening to redirect agitated behaviours (eg pacing may be redirected into walking or dancing; noises may be redirected into singing or music playing).
- Promote companionship, if appropriate.
- Establish orientation programs using environmental cues and supports (including having personal or familiar items available). Repeat orientation and safety instructions regularly, keeping instructions simple and consistent.
- Encourage sleep without the use of medication, and promote and support uninterrupted sleep patterns by reducing noise and minimising disturbance.
- Encourage patients to participate in activities to avoid excessive daytime napping.
- Ensure personal needs are met on a regular basis.
- When communicating with cognitively impaired people, try to instil feelings of trust, confidence and respect (thereby minimising the chance of provoking an aggressive response). This can be achieved by approaching the person slowly, calmly and from the front; respecting personal space; addressing the person by name and introducing yourself; using eye contact; and speaking clearly and simply. Gentle touch and gestures, as well as auditory, pictorial and visual cues used appropriately, may also help with communication. It is important that the patient understands what is being said; this can be helped by using repetition and paraphrasing, and allowing time for them to process the information.

\*

Point of interest: strategies for maintaining hydration in older people

- Older people with cognitive impairment may become dehydrated easily, which can lead to delirium. An Australian study used strategies developed by the Joanna Briggs Institute Practical Application of Clinical Evidence System (JBI-PACES)<sup>131</sup> to maintain oral hydration in residents of residential aged care facilities.<sup>132</sup> Although adherence was problematic, the following strategies recommended by the JBI-PACES may be beneficial:
- Drinks (cordial, juice and water, but not caffeinated drinks) were offered by staff every 1.5 hours (as well as morning tea, afternoon tea and supper rounds).
- Residents with cognitive impairment were either helped or prompted to drink.
- An accessible water fountain was set up with a supply of cups.
- Jugs of water were placed on all tables, with cups.
- Drinks were always given with medication.
- Icy poles, jellies and ice-cream were offered throughout the day as snacks and enjoyable treats.
- Fruit with a high water content (eg grapes, peeled mandarins) was placed on kitchen tables for easy access and picking.
- Light broths were given with meals.
- Happy hour was introduced twice a week, with nonalcoholic wines, mocktails, soft drinks and nibbles.
- Warm milk drinks were given to help people settle at night.

These strategies may also be applicable for older people with cognitive impairment in hospital.

#### Case study

Mr T is an independent, cognitively intact 79-year-old man living with his wife in the community. He was admitted to hospital with respiratory distress and a history of partial blindness and diabetes. Following his admission, Mr T's condition deteriorated, and he became acutely confused secondary to a respiratory tract infection. He pulled out his intravenous line through which he was receiving antibiotics. During the phase of significant agitation, the staff on the ward organised a roster with Mr T's wife and family so that a family member was able to sit with him. As his delirium began to settle, the need for constant one-on-one supervision decreased, but the staff did use a seat alarm device to alert them if Mr T tried to get up without the needed supervision. After active treatment of the infection, Mr T's delirium resolved and the alarm mat was removed.

# 7.3 Special considerations

#### 7.3.1 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

The Folstein Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) is the most widely used screening tool for dementia in Australia; however, it has significant limitations in multicultural and poorly educated populations. The Rowland Universal Dementia Scale (RUDAS) is designed to overcome these impediments. It performs at least as well as the MMSE, but with the added advantage of being simpler to use in a multicultural population.<sup>126,127</sup>

A study funded by the National Health and Medical Research Council investigated the validity of a new assessment of cognitive function developed specifically for Indigenous Australians. It is called the Kimberley Indigenous Cognitive Assessment.<sup>+</sup>

# 7.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were found that examined the cost effectiveness of a program related to identifying and managing cognitive impairment in the hospital setting.



Additional information

- A range of resources are available from the following associations and websites:
- Living with Dementia A Guide for Veterans and their Families: http://www.dva.gov.au/aboutDVA/publications/health/dementia/Pages/index.aspx
- Alzheimer's Australia, which can provide further information, counselling and support for people with dementia, their families and carers: http://www.alzheimers.org.au/

+ Further details can be found at http://www.nari.unimelb.edu.au/research/dementia.htm.

# 8 Continence



#### Recommendations

#### Intervention

- Ward urinalysis should form part of a routine assessment for older people with a risk of falling. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>
- As part of multifactorial intervention, toileting protocols and practices should be in place for patients at risk of falling. (Level III-2)<sup>43,133</sup>
- Managing problems with urinary tract function is effective as part of a multifactorial approach to care. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>



#### Good practice point

• Incontinence can be screened in hospital as part of a validated falls risk screen assessment, such as the St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY) or the Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool (PJC-FRAT).

# 8.1 Background and evidence

People with urinary incontinence are at increased risk of hospital admission.<sup>134</sup> The relationship between incontinence and falls is likely confounded by impairments of mobility and cognition, suggesting that multiple interventions are necessary to prevent falls. Although evidence from observational studies shows an association between incontinence and falls, there is no direct evidence that incontinence interventions affect the rate of falls.<sup>135</sup>

There are also few data on the prevalence of incontinence in the Australian hospital setting. However, in a sample of 627 patients in acute care in the United Kingdom, 20.7% were incontinent of urine, 4.2% were incontinent of feces, and 9.2% were doubly incontinent.<sup>136</sup> Although urinary incontinence might be seen as a modifiable risk factor, there is little evidence that continence-promotion strategies are included within falls prevention strategies.

Incontinence of any kind is viewed with embarrassment by many sufferers.<sup>134</sup> Therefore, it is important for health care practitioners to ask openly about incontinence symptoms. Symptoms of incontinence can be assessed in the hospital setting using validated assessment tools. The St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY)<sup>114</sup> and the Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool (PJC-FRAT) are two validated falls risk assessment tools that include questions about bladder and bowel control. PJC-FRAT is a multidisciplinary falls risk screening and intervention deployment instrument.<sup>39</sup>

## 8.1.1 Incontinence associated with increased falls risk

Urinary and fecal incontinence affect both men and women but are not routinely considered part of the normal ageing process. About two-thirds of hospital patients in geriatric wards experience urinary incontinence.<sup>136</sup> Episodes of incontinence are often transitory and may be related to acute illness. Transient incontinence is present in 50% of older hospital patients.<sup>137</sup>

Incontinence,<sup>19,112</sup> urinary frequency<sup>69</sup> and assisted toileting<sup>112,114</sup> have been identified as risk factors for falls in the hospital. People will often make extraordinary efforts to avoid an incontinent episode, including placing themselves at increased risk of falling.

Different types of bladder and bowel symptoms include the following:

- Stress incontinence is leaking urine associated with rises in abdominal pressure during physical activity.<sup>104</sup>
   Although this is a common symptom in younger women, institutionalised elderly women are more
   likely to have mixed symptoms of stress incontinence and symptoms of overactive bladder (OAB).<sup>138</sup>
   A systematic review of studies related to urinary incontinence and falls revealed no association between
   falls and stress incontinence.<sup>139</sup>
- Overactive bladder syndrome is defined as 'urgency with or without urge incontinence, usually with frequency and nocturia'.<sup>140</sup> A systematic review of studies related to urinary incontinence and falls revealed a significant association between falls and urge-incontinence symptoms of OAB.<sup>139</sup>
- *Urgency* is defined as 'the sudden compelling desire to void, which is difficult to defer'.<sup>140</sup> The symptom of urgency may be suffered without any concomitant loss of urine.<sup>141</sup>
- Urge (urinary) incontinence is involuntary urine leakage accompanied or immediately preceded by urgency.<sup>104</sup> Research suggests that it increases the risk of a person falling and fracturing bones.<sup>142</sup> This is presumably because urge incontinence (as opposed to stress incontinence) is associated with frequent rushed trips to the toilet to avoid incontinent episodes. Additionally, performing a secondary task, such as walking and concentrating on getting to the toilet, may compromise walking stability.<sup>141</sup> Urinary incontinence is significantly associated with self report of constipation in older Australian women who live in the community.<sup>143</sup>
- *Frequency* is defined as the complaint by the patient who considers that they void too often during the day.<sup>140</sup>
- Nocturia is defined as being woken at night by the desire to void.<sup>104</sup> It is commonly reported and significantly associated with falls in ambulatory older people who live in the community.<sup>144</sup> Nocturia can be particularly problematic when lighting is poor or when the patient is not fully awake. Nocturia is one of the most common causes of poor sleep and carries a high risk of falling and fractures in older people.<sup>145</sup>
- *Constipation* is a common problem in older people and is related to decreased mobility, reduced fluid intake and the use of a number of high-risk medications. As a consequence, and in relation to falls, constipation may cause delirium and agitation, which may in turn cause falls. Straining during defecation may also shunt blood away from the cerebral circulation, leading to dizziness or syncope (temporary loss of consciousness) due to the vasovagal phenomenon.<sup>146</sup>

Relieving constipation improves lower urinary tract symptoms, including urinary incontinence.<sup>146</sup>

- Diarrhoea may cause agitation as well as metabolic disturbance, which may in turn cause falls.
- Urinary dysfunction caused by benign prostatic hyperplasia (noncancerous enlargement of the prostate) is common in older men. It affects 50% of men at 60 years and 90% of men over 85 years of age.
   Symptoms include urinary frequency, nocturia, urgency, poor stream, hesitancy, straining to void, and a sensation of incomplete bladder emptying and post-void dribbling.<sup>147</sup>
- *Bladder dysfunction* is common in older women as a result of deficiencies in the pelvic floor muscles and connective tissue supporting the urethra and the urethral sphincter mechanism.<sup>148</sup> A decline in oestrogen levels after menopause can lead to atrophic changes affecting the vagina and urethra, and also increases a woman's susceptibility to urinary tract infections. Symptoms include urinary frequency, stress incontinence and urge incontinence.<sup>138</sup>

# \*

#### Definitions

Refer to Abrams et al (2002) for a comprehensive list of definitions of the symptoms, signs, urodynamics, observations and conditions associated with lower urinary tract dysfunction and urodynamics studies, for use in all age groups.<sup>104</sup> Also, refer to Abrams (2003) for further explanations of recommended terminology.<sup>140</sup>

Numerous falls in hospitals occur when older people go to or return from the toilet, but causal factors associated with falls in older people with and without cognitive impairment are many and various.<sup>149</sup> The close associations reported between incontinence, dementia, depression, falls and level of mobility suggest that these conditions, which are so common in geriatric patients, may have shared risk factors rather than causal connections.<sup>150</sup>

Other mechanisms by which urinary and fecal incontinence can increase falls risk include the following:

- An incontinence episode increases the risk of a slip on the soiled or wet floor surface.<sup>135</sup>
- Urinary incontinence has been identified as a significant risk factor for falls in people who cannot stand unaided.<sup>139</sup>
- The patients most at risk of falling are those who need to use an assistive device for walking and are incontinent at night, with most of the falls occurring in the early hours of the morning.<sup>140</sup>
- Urinary tract infections can cause delirium, drowsiness, hypotension, pain, urinary frequency and urinary urgency.
- Medications used to treat incontinence (eg anticholinergics or alpha-blockers) can themselves cause postural hypotension and falls; anticholinergics can also cause delirium.
- Drugs such as diuretics used predominantly to manage heart failure can potentially increase the risk of falls through increased urinary frequency or hypovolaemia (low blood volume).
- Deteriorating vision is a common condition in the elderly and is strongly associated with falls;<sup>112</sup> it may also increase the likelihood of falls that are associated with getting out of bed at night and nocturia.

#### 8.1.2 Incontinence and falls intervention

The combination of short length of stay and chronic conditions suffered by many patients means that incontinence is not always identified by hospital staff as a falls risk factor. Patients are often reluctant to discuss issues around urinary and fecal continence. Health care practitioners should be encouraged to enquire routinely about continence, rather than rely on the patient to mention it during a consultation. Many patients will not offer the information without prompting. One study showed that frequent nursing rounds, also including offering toilet assistance, can reduce the frequency of patients' use of call lights, increase their satisfaction with care, and prevent falls.<sup>151</sup>

Pelvic floor muscle training is the most commonly recommended and most effective intervention for women with stress incontinence. A randomised controlled trial showed that well-designed falls prevention interventions aimed at patients with relatively short hospital stays were ineffective.<sup>137</sup> However, other continence promotion interventions that were aimed at staff training, changes to work practices, and environmental and equipment changes (rather than individual patient interventions) had positive outcomes.<sup>43,149</sup> The strategies for promoting continence outlined below have not been part of rigorously conducted, successful, multifactorial falls prevention programs. However, appropriate management is good gerontological practice that may translate into a lower risk of falling.

A Cochrane systematic review showed that pelvic floor muscle training can be used to treat women with mixed incontinence, and less commonly for urge incontinence.<sup>141</sup> However, limitations of the data make it difficult to judge whether pelvic floor muscle training was better or worse than other treatments in managing OAB symptoms.<sup>141</sup> There is evidence from a systematic review to support conservative management of fecal incontinence.<sup>152</sup>

Toileting-assistance programs are an important and practical approach to maintaining continence for many patients, and may also reduce the risk of falls.<sup>104</sup> The three types of toileting-assistance programs (timed voiding, habit retraining, prompted voiding) are discussed in Section 8.2. Cochrane systematic reviews on these interventions found limited evidence for their effectiveness; further investigation is needed.<sup>143,144,153</sup>

Several successful in-hospital falls prevention programs included strategies to promote continence as part of a multifactorial intervention program. Fonda et al (2006) reviewed toileting protocols and practices as part of their effective multifactorial falls prevention program in an aged care hospital setting.<sup>43</sup> Bakarich et al (1997) found that patients in an acute hospital setting who were toileted regularly had fewer falls than patients who were not toileted frequently.<sup>133</sup> Finally, Healey et al (2004) included assessment and management of urinary tract problems as part of their successful intervention for preventing falls.<sup>37</sup> Urinary and fecal incontinence in older hospitalised patients is associated with higher frequency of discharge to an aged care facility rather than discharge home.<sup>154</sup>

# 8.2 Principles of care

#### 8.2.1 Screening continence

The STRATIFY tool identifies continence status by asking 'Are there any alterations in urination (ie frequency, urgency, incontinence, nocturia)?'<sup>69</sup>

The PJC-FRAT tool identifies continence status by asking whether the patient is in need of especially frequent toileting (day and night).<sup>39</sup>

The cause of incontinence should be established through a thorough assessment. Patients may have more than one type of urinary incontinence, which can make assessment findings difficult to interpret.<sup>155</sup> Patients should be screened for urinary tract infections using ward urinalysis.<sup>37</sup> Otherwise, the following strategies can be used to assess the patient's continence status:

- Obtain a continence history from the patient. This might include a bladder chart (a frequency/volume chart) or a continence diary, which could be used to record a minimum of two days to help with assessment and diagnosis. Sometimes a bowel assessment is required, and the patient's normal bowel habits and any significant change must be determined, because constipation can considerably affect bladder function.
- Address, on an individual basis, the suitability of diagnostic physical investigations. Consent from the patient must be obtained before the physical examination, which should be done by a suitably qualified health professional.
- Always check post-void residuals in incontinent older patients.
- Consider risk factors for falling related to incontinence, along with the symptoms and signs of bladder and bowel dysfunction.
- Assess and address functional considerations, such as reduced dexterity or mobility, which can affect toileting.
- Assess the toilet for accessibility (especially if the patient uses a walking aid), and adjust the toilet height if the patient has any hip joint dysfunction.

# 8.2.2 Strategies for promoting continence

Appropriate management of incontinence may improve overall care. However, it is difficult to make strong recommendations, because specific continence-promotion strategies have not been part of successful falls prevention programs in any health care setting.<sup>112</sup> A practical, stepwise management approach for mobile and nonmobile patients, as well as patients with and without cognitive impairment, should be considered. Such an approach could be based on recommendations made by the United States Government relating to quality management of urinary incontinence in residential aged care facilities.<sup>156</sup>

The following strategies, adapted from those recommended by the Third International Consultation on Incontinence 2005,<sup>133</sup> can be used to promote continence:

- Make sure the patient has access to a comprehensive and individualised continence assessment that identifies and treats reversible causes, including constipation and medication side effects.
- Use an adequate trial of conservative therapy as the first line of management.
- Establish treatment strategies as soon as incontinence has been diagnosed. The aim of managing urinary incontinence is to alter the factors causing incontinence and to improve the continence status of the patient. Management of incontinence is a multidisciplinary task that ideally involves doctors, nurse continence advisers, physiotherapists, occupational therapists and other suitably qualified health professionals.
- Address all comorbidities that can be modified.
- Make sure toileting protocols and practices are in place for patients at risk of falling.<sup>43,151</sup>
- Offer toileting assistance during frequent nursing rounds (every one to two hours), because this can prevent falls in hospital patients.<sup>135</sup>
- Encourage habit retraining, prompted voiding or timed voiding programs to help improve the patient's control over their toileting regime, and reduce the likelihood of incontinence episodes

   timed voiding is characterised by a fixed schedule of toileting
  - habit retraining is based on identifying a pattern of voiding and tailoring the toileting schedule to the patient
  - prompted voiding aims to increase continence by increasing the patient's ability to identify their own continence status and to respond appropriately.
- Minimise environmental risk factors as follows
  - keep the pathway to the toilet obstacle free and (where relevant) leave a light on in the toilet at night
  - ensure the patient is wearing suitable clothes that can be easily removed or undone
  - recommend appropriate footwear to reduce slipping in urine
  - use a nonslip mat on the floor beside the bed for patients who experience incontinence on rising from the bed, particularly if on a noncarpeted floor in the bedroom; however, care must be taken when using mats to ensure the person does not trip on the mat
  - check the height of the toilet and the need for rails to assist the patient sitting and standing from the toilet (reduced range of motion in hip joints, which is common after total hip replacement or surgery for fractured neck of femur, might mean the height of the toilet seat should be raised).
- Where possible, consult with a continence adviser if usual continence management methods, as described above, are not working or the patient is keen to learn simple exercises to improve their bladder or bowel control. Some men are resistant to the idea of doing pelvic floor exercises. This should be recognised and the benefits explained.
- Consider the use of continence aids as a trial management strategy.



#### Case study

Mrs U is an 85-year-old woman who was admitted to hospital after falling and breaking her arm. When the nurse asked why she fell, she said she was rushing to the toilet. A urinalysis done by the nurse showed leucocytes and nitrites. The sample was sent for culture and sensitivity. Mrs U had a confirmed urinary tract infection, which was then treated with a short course of antibiotics. Her urinary frequency and urgency settled with the treatment. Having sustained a low-trauma fracture, she was referred on discharge for a bone mineral density scan and formal assessment of bone health.

# 8.3 Special considerations

#### 8.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Acute delirium can be caused by both urinary and gastrointestinal problems. Cognitive impairment and dementia can also lead to problems with both urinary and fecal continence. In patients with cognitive impairment, regular toileting is recommended. Patients with cognitive impairment may benefit from prompted voiding,<sup>144</sup> scheduled toileting and attention to behaviour signals indicating the desire to void. Aim to identify each patient's toileting times and prompt them to go around those times. Patients with severe dementia may need to be reminded where the bathroom is.

#### 8.3.2 Rural and remote settings

It is important that the strategies outlined above are also in place in rural and remote locations. If access to specialist continence assessment and advice is difficult, additional strategies, such as teleconferencing, may support health practitioners to implement best practice. Resources (such as leaflets) providing advice on managing incontinence are available.

## 8.3.3 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

Hospital staff and all members of the health care team need to be aware of cultural and religious requirements with respect to toileting. Generic signage for toileting facilities and requirements could be used. In some cultures, incontinence is a taboo topic. Specific information on dealing with these issues may be obtained from the person, their carers or the Continence Foundation of Australia.

Incontinence is not a condition that is well understood by Indigenous Australians, and it causes shame for many. When discussing incontinence, it is important to be aware that Indigenous men will frequently discuss this matter only with a male health worker and women only with a female health worker.

Specific Indigenous resources may be accessed from the Continence Foundation of Australia.

# 8.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were found that examined the cost effectiveness of continence management in the hospital setting.



- Additional information
- The Continence Foundation of Australia and the National Continence Helpline have leaflets and booklets on different continence-related topics, Indigenous-specific resources and information leaflets translated into 14 community languages: http://www.continence.org.au
- The Continence Foundation of Australia manages the National Continence Helpline for the Australian Government. This free service, staffed by nurse continence advisers, provides confidential information on incontinence, continence products and local services: National Continence Helpline: 1800 33 00 66
- The National Public Toilet Map gives information on toilet facilities along travel routes throughout Australia. Access the map via their website, or by contacting the National Continence Helpline, which can mail out copies of toilets along your planned journey: http://www.toiletmap.gov.au
- The fact sheet, 'Continence: caring for someone with dementia', can be found on the Alzheimer's Australia website:
  - http://www.alzheimers.org.au/content.cfm?infopageid=83#co
- The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, based in the United Kingdom, provides guidance on promoting good health and preventing and treating ill health.
   See its evidence based guidelines on managing urinary incontinence: http://www.nice.org.uk/

# 9 Feet and footwear



## Recommendations

#### Assessment

• In addition to using standard falls risk assessments, screen patients for ill-fitting or inappropriate footwear upon admission to hospital.

#### Intervention

- Include an assessment of footwear and foot problems as part of an individualised, multifactorial intervention for preventing falls in older people in hospital. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>
- Hospital staff should educate patients and provide information about footwear features that may reduce the risk of falls. (Level II)<sup>37</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Safe footwear characteristics include
  - soles: shoes with thinner, firmer soles appear to improve foot position sense; a tread sole may further prevent slips on slippery surfaces
  - heels: a low, square heel improves stability
  - collar: shoes with a supporting collar improve stability.
- As part of discharge planning, refer patients to a podiatrist, if needed.

# 9.1 Background and evidence

#### 9.1.1 Footwear associated with increased falls risk

The use of inappropriate footwear by older people in hospital settings is a significant issue. One study of 65 older patients admitted to a hospital rehabilitation ward found that 72% wore ill-fitting footwear.<sup>157</sup> Footwear is a contributing factor to falls<sup>158</sup> and fractures in older people.<sup>159</sup> Studies (of varying design and quality) have reported the following results:

- Poorly fitting footwear or footwear inappropriate for the environmental conditions impairs foot position sense in both younger and older men.<sup>160</sup>
- Wearing shoes with inadequate fixation (ie shoes without laces, buckles or velcro fastening) has been associated with an increased risk of tripping.<sup>159</sup>
- Wearing high-heeled shoes impairs balance compared with low-heeled shoes or being barefoot.<sup>161</sup>
- Medium-high-heeled shoes and shoes with a narrow heel significantly increase the likelihood of sustaining all types of fracture, while slip-on shoes and sandals increase the risk of foot fractures as a result of a fall.<sup>162</sup>
- Slippers are often the indoor footwear of choice for many older people, but have been associated with an increased risk of injurious falls.<sup>163</sup>
- Walking barefoot or in socks is associated with a 10–13-fold increased risk of falling, and athletic shoes are associated with the lowest risk.<sup>164</sup>

A retrospective observational study showed that three-quarters of people who suffered a fall-related hip fracture in the community were wearing footwear with at least one suboptimal feature at the time of the fall.<sup>159</sup>

Older people should wear appropriately fitted shoes, both inside and outside the house. However, many older people wearing inappropriate footwear believe it to be adequate.<sup>165</sup> A review of the best footwear for preventing falls identified the following shoe characteristics as safe for older people:<sup>166</sup>

- Soles: shoes with thinner, firmer soles appear to improve foot position sense; a tread sole may further prevent slips on slippery surfaces.
- Heels: a low, square heel improves balance.
- Collar: shoes with a supporting collar improve balance.

Figure 9.1 shows an optimal 'safe' shoe, and a theoretical 'unsafe' shoe. However, the level of evidence for these recommendations is very low, since there are no experimental studies of footwear that have examined falls as an outcome.

# What makes a shoe safe?



# What makes a shoe unsafe?



Source: Lord (2007)135

Figure 9.1 The theoretical optimal 'safe' shoe, and 'unsafe' shoe

#### 9.1.2 Foot problems and increased falls risk

Foot problems are common in older people, affecting 60–80% of older people who live in the community.<sup>167,168</sup> Women report a higher prevalence of foot problems than men, which might be influenced by fashion footwear.<sup>169</sup> The most commonly reported foot problems reported are:<sup>168,170,171</sup>

- pain from corns, calluses and bunions
- foot deformities, such as hallux valgus, hammer toes and nail conditions.

Foot problems are well recognised as contributing to mobility impairment in older people. Older people with foot pain walk more slowly than those without and have more difficulty performing daily tasks.<sup>167</sup> The presence of foot problems, such as pain, toe deformities, toe muscle weakness and reduced ankle flexibility, can alter the pressure distribution beneath the feet, impairing balance and functional ability.<sup>172,173</sup> Additionally, these foot problems are associated with increased falls risk,<sup>174</sup> and the risk rises as the number of foot problems increases.<sup>175</sup>

Ageing is associated with reduced peripheral sensation, and several prospective studies have found that people who fall perform worse in tests of lower limb proprioception,<sup>176</sup> vibration sense<sup>177</sup> and tactile sensitivity.<sup>178</sup> Reduced plantar tactile sensitivity has also been mentioned as a risk factor for falls,<sup>173</sup> because it might influence the ability to maintain postural control when walking, particularly on irregular surfaces.<sup>179</sup> This is particularly relevant in people with diabetes.<sup>180</sup> People with diabetic neuropathy have impaired standing stability<sup>181</sup> and are at increased risk for falls and fractures.<sup>182</sup> Podiatry may help manage these conditions.<sup>183-185</sup>

# 9.2 Principles of care

#### 9.2.1 Assessing feet and footwear

Hospital staff should arrange for the patient's feet and footwear to be assessed upon admission to hospital. As part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, this assessment should be done by a health professional skilled in the assessment of feet and footwear, such as a podiatrist. The following components of the assessment are most relevant:

- Footwear
  - Use the safe shoe checklist to assess footwear. This checklist is a reliable tool for evaluating specific shoe features that could potentially improve postural stability in patients<sup>186</sup> (see Appendix 3).
  - Discourage patients from walking in socks, because this is associated with a 10-fold increased risk of falling.<sup>164</sup> This is particularly relevant in the hospital setting: patients should not walk in antiembolism stockings without appropriate footwear on their feet.
- Foot problems
  - Assess foot pain and other foot problems regularly. A patient with an undiagnosed peripheral neuropathy should be assessed for potentially reversible or modifiable causes of the neuropathy.
     Some of the more common causes of a peripheral neuropathy include diabetes, vitamin B12 deficiency, peripheral vascular disease, alcohol misuse and side effects of some drugs.<sup>182</sup>
- Refer the patient to a health professional who is skilled in the assessment of feet and footwear (eg a podiatrist) for additional investigations and management, as required.<sup>187</sup>

A detailed assessment by a podiatrist for a falls-specific examination of feet and footwear should include:188

- fall history: including foot pain and footwear
- dermatological assessment: skin and nail problems, infection
- vascular assessment: peripheral vascular status
- neurological assessment: proprioception; balance and stability; sensory, motor and autonomic function
- *biomechanical assessment:* posture, foot and lower limb joint range of motion testing, evaluation of foot deformity (eg hallux valgus), gait analysis
- footwear assessment: stability and balance features; prescription of footwear, footwear modifications
  or foot orthoses, based on assessment of gait in shoes
- education: foot care and footwear, link between footwear or foot problems and falls risk.

## 9.2.2 Improving foot condition and footwear

All health care professionals can play an important role in:

- identifying ill-fitting or inappropriate footwear<sup>37,43</sup>
  - providing information about footwear to patients and carers<sup>37</sup>
  - ensuring shoes are repaired as needed, and cleaned regularly
  - recognising that patients who have a shuffling gait may be at higher risk of falling if they wear nonslip shoes on certain carpeted floors
  - ensuring that patients with urinary incontinence have dry, clean footwear
  - ensuring that patients have more than one pair of shoes, in case shoes are soiled or damaged
  - discouraging walking while wearing slippery socks and stockings
  - discouraging the use of talcum powders, which may make floors slippery
- screening patients for foot pain or foot problems
- educating patients and carers about basic foot care
- referring a patient to a podiatrist for further assessment and management, as appropriate, if any of the following conditions or clinical signs are evident
  - foot pain
  - foot problems, such as swelling, arthritis, bunions, toe deformities, skin and nail problems (especially corns and calluses) or other foot abnormalities (eg collapsed arch or high-arched foot)
  - conditions affecting balance, posture or proprioception in the lower limbs, such as diabetes, peripheral neuropathy or peripheral vascular disease
  - unsteady or abnormal gait
  - inappropriate or ill-fitting footwear or a requirement for foot orthoses.

#### Case study

Mr R is in hospital for management of his diabetes. He has a recent history of falls. As part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, nursing staff ran a basic foot screening and found that Mr R had poor sensation and some calluses and lesions on his feet. As a result of the assessment findings, they organised a podiatry assessment. The podiatrist found that Mr R had mild peripheral neuropathy and was unsteady on his feet because he wore oversized sports shoes with a thick, cushioned sole to 'help' his calluses. The podiatrist treated his lesions and referred him to a community podiatry service on discharge. The podiatrist also taught Mr R how to buy better fitting footwear that will improve his stability, but that is still safe for his neuropathic feet. Mr R found that his balance improved after he bought more appropriate footwear.

# 9.3 Special considerations

#### 9.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Patients with cognitive impairment may not report discomfort reliably. Therefore, when they have their footwear checked, hospital staff should check their feet for lesions, deformity and pressure areas. Footwear and foot care issues should also be discussed in detail with carers.

#### 9.3.2 Rural and remote settings

The Australasian Podiatry Council<sup>+</sup> in each state can provide details of practitioners visiting rural and remote areas. In areas where podiatry services are infrequent or unavailable, other health care providers will need to screen feet and footwear. Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health<sup>+</sup> are developing resources that may help rural and remote practitioners (see the website for more information).

#### 9.3.3 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

Culturally appropriate resources are currently being developed by Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health as part of an Indigenous Diabetic Foot Program (see the box containing additional information, below).

# 9.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were found that examined the cost effectiveness of a program related to feet and footwear assessment in the hospital setting. Some multiple-intervention approaches to falls prevention in the community have included feet and footwear assessments; however, it is unclear whether the results of these analyses are applicable in the hospital setting (see Section 4.4 in the community guidelines for details).



Additional information

 Australasian Podiatry Council: http://www.apodc.com.au

Footwear:

- Safe shoe checklist (See Appendix 3)
- Queensland Government 'Stay on Your Feet' falls prevention resources: http://www.health.qld.gov.au/stayonyourfeet

Foot care and ageing feet:

- American Podiatric Medical Association has brochures, fact sheets and other information on topics such as ageing feet: http://www.apma.org/MainMenu/Foot-Health/FootHealthBrochures/
- GeneralFootHealthBrochures.aspx
- Indigenous Diabetic Foot Program, Services for Australian Rural and Remote Allied Health: http://www.sarrah.org.au/site/index.cfm?display=65940
- Society of Chiropodists and Podiatrists: http://www.feetforlife.org

+ http://www.apodc.com.au

+ http://www.sarrah.org.au

# Part C Management strategies for common falls risk factors

# 10 Syncope



# Recommendations

Assessment

• Patients who report unexplained falls or episodes of collapse should be assessed for the underlying cause.

Intervention

- Patients with unexplained falls or episodes of collapse who are diagnosed with the cardioinhibitory form of carotid sinus hypersensitivity should be treated by inserting a dual-chamber cardiac pacemaker. (Level II)<sup>189</sup>
- Assessment and management of postural hypotension and review of medications, including medications associated with presyncope and syncope, should form part of a multifactorial assessment and management plan for falls prevention in hospitalised older people (this can also be part of discharge planning). (Level I)<sup>31</sup>

# 10.1 Background and evidence

Syncope is defined as a transient and self-limiting loss of consciousness. It is commonly described as *blacking out* or *fainting*. Presyncope describes the sensation of feeling faint or dizzy and can precede an episode of loss of consciousness. A number of conditions can present with syncope, and all share the final common pathway of cerebral hypoperfusion, leading to an alteration in consciousness. Older people are more predisposed to syncopal events due to age-related physiological changes that affect ability to adapt to changes in cerebral perfusion.

The overall incidence of syncope in older people who live in the community has been reported as 6.2 per 1000 person years.<sup>190</sup> Some of the more common causes of syncope in older people are vasovagal syncope, orthostatic hypotension, carotid sinus hypersensitivity, cardiac arrhythmias, aortic stenosis and transient ischaemic events. Epilepsy may present as a syncopal-like event. Less common causes of syncope include micturition, defecation, cough and postprandial syncope.

#### 10.1.1 Vasovagal syncope

Vasovagal syncope (usually described as fainting) is the most common cause of syncope and has been reported to be the cause of up to 66% of syncopal episodes presenting to an emergency department.<sup>190</sup> Vasovagal syncope is often preceded by pallor, sweatiness, dizziness and abdominal discomfort, although these features are not always seen in the older person.<sup>190</sup> Commonly reported precipitants of vasovagal syncope include prolonged standing (particularly in hot or confined conditions), fasting, dehydration, fatigue, alcohol, acute febrile illnesses, pain, venepuncture and hyperventilation.

The diagnosis of vasovagal syncope is usually made clinically, although formal assessment with noninvasive cardiac monitoring and prolonged tilting is possible.

Treatment is largely nonpharmacological and is targeted at avoiding the cause. This may include avoiding prolonged standing in hot weather and ensuring that the patient drinks enough to maintain hydration. People also need to be reassured that vasovagal syncope is a benign condition.

# 10.1.2 Orthostatic hypotension (postural hypotension)

Orthostatic hypotension (also called postural hypotension) refers to a drop in blood pressure on standing, from either the sitting or the lying position. The drop in blood pressure can be enough to cause symptoms of dizziness or precipitate a syncopal event.<sup>135,191</sup> Orthostatic hypotension is associated with an increased risk of falls.<sup>135,190</sup>

A formal diagnosis of postural hypotension is made by recording a drop in systolic blood pressure of at least 20 mm Hg, or a drop in diastolic blood pressure of at least 10 mm Hg, within three minutes of standing. The patient should be lying still for at least five minutes before blood pressure is measured (while the patient remains lying down). Multiple measurements may be required to definitively identify the presence of postural hypotension.

Medications and volume depletion are the two most common causes of postural hypotension in older people. Medications commonly associated with postural hypotension include the antihypertensive agents, antianginals, antidepressants, antipsychotics, antiparkinsonian medications and diuretics. Diuretics can have a direct effect on blood pressure and can also cause volume depletion, which in itself can cause postural hypotension. Certain diseases (eg Parkinson's disease, stroke and diabetes) can directly affect autonomic function and interfere with blood pressure regulation. Prolonged periods of immobility can also disrupt postural control of blood pressure.

Treatment involves identifying the precipitating cause and drug modification, where possible. Maintaining adequate hydration, particularly during hot weather, is important in the patient (see the point of interest box on maintaining hydration in Section 7.2.2). Pharmacological intervention is needed to treat postural hypotension in a small number of cases. Drugs that might be used include fludrocortisone and midodrine (an alpha-agonist).

#### 10.1.3 Carotid sinus hypersensitivity

Carotid sinus hypersensitivity is an abnormal haemodynamic response to carotid sinus stimulation. When associated with symptoms, it is referred to as a carotid sinus syndrome.

Carotid sinus hypersensitivity may occur when the head is rotated or turned, or when pressure is placed on the carotid sinus. Triggers might include carotid massage, shaving, wearing tight collars or neckwear, or tumour compression.<sup>192</sup>

Three abnormal responses can be noted on direct massage of the carotid sinus. A cardioinhibitory response is defined as a three-second period of asystole following massage of the carotid sinus. The vasodepressor response is defined by a 50 mm Hg drop in blood pressure in the absence of significant cardioinhibition. A combination of the vasodepressor and cardioinhibitory responses defines the mixed form of carotid sinus hypersensitivity.

Carotid sinus hypersensitivity is the cause of a small percentage of falls in older people, and is potentially amenable to intervention.<sup>189,193-195</sup> A randomised controlled trial showed that detailed cardiovascular assessment, including carotid sinus massage of older people attending an emergency department after an unexplained fall, led to a subsequent reduction in further falls.<sup>189</sup>

#### 10.1.4 Cardiac arrhythmias

Abnormal heart rhythms can lead to dizziness and syncope. Sick sinus syndrome is an abnormal slowing of the heart caused by degeneration of the cardiac conducting system. It is associated with advanced age. Sick sinus syndrome is managed with the insertion of a cardiac pacemaker. Slowing of the heart rate can also be associated with certain medications (beta-blockers and digoxin), and treatment in these cases is reducing or stopping these medications.

Rapid heart rates from abnormal cardiac rhythms can also cause dizziness and syncope. Diagnosis of an abnormal heart rate requires a person to be monitored at the time of the abnormal heart rate and can often be challenging. Treatment depends on the nature of the abnormal rhythm.

# 10.2 Principles of care

It is important to ensure that patients reporting dizziness, presyncope or syncope undergo appropriate assessment and intervention. Depending on the history and results of the clinical examination, a number of tests and further investigations may be warranted. These may include an electrocardiogram, echocardiography, Holter monitoring, tilt table testing and carotid sinus massage, or insertion of an implantable loop recorder. The European Taskforce on Syncope has produced a simple algorithm for investigating syncope (see the box containing additional information, below).<sup>191</sup>

Two randomised controlled trials have taken a multifactorial approach to falls prevention in hospitalised older people to prevent falls. The trials included blood pressure and medication reviews as part of the assessment and intervention.<sup>37,39</sup>

Permanent cardiac pacing is successful in treating certain types of syncope. Pacemakers prevent falls by 70% in people with accurately diagnosed cardioinhibitory carotid sinus hypersensitivity.<sup>189</sup>

Most older people who are in hospital are discharged home. A number of successful multifactorial falls prevention strategies in the community setting have included assessments of blood pressure and orthostatic hypotension, and medication review and modification.<sup>57,58,196,197</sup>

The symptoms of orthostatic hypotension can be reduced using the following strategies:

- Ensure good hydration is maintained, particularly in hot weather.<sup>4,198,199</sup>
- Encourage the patient to sit up slowly from lying, stand up slowly from sitting, and wait a short time before walking.<sup>198,199</sup>
- Minimise exposure to high temperatures or other conditions that cause peripheral vasodilation, including hot baths.<sup>199</sup>
- Minimise periods of prolonged bedrest and immobilisation.
- Encourage patients to rest with the head of the bed raised.
- Increase salt intake in the diet if not contraindicated.
- Where possible, avoid prescribing medications that may cause hypotension.
- Identify any need for using appropriate peripheral compression devices, such as antiembolic stockings.<sup>199</sup>
- Monitor and record postural blood pressure.<sup>4</sup>

#### Case study

Mr L is an 82-year-old man who was brought to the emergency department with acute pulmonary oedema secondary to his ischaemic heart disease. He was admitted and given diuretics to off-load the excess fluid. During the admission, he was also started on an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor and beta-blocker. However, he started to report symptoms of dizziness on standing and almost blacked out on the way to the bathroom. Mr L's lying and standing blood pressures were checked, and he was found to have significant and symptomatic postural hypotension. His medications were reviewed, and his diuretic dose was reduced. Over the next few days, Mr L's lying and standing blood pressures were check regularly to ensure resolution of the postural changes, and his chest was examined to ensure that the oedema did not recur.

# 10.3 Special considerations

#### 10.3.1 Cognitive impairment

People with cognitive impairment may have problems recalling the events surrounding a fall. Postural hypotension is common in people with vascular dementia, and many people with cognitive impairment and dementia may be taking medications that are associated with postural hypotension and cardiac arrhythmias (eg antihypertensives, antidepressants and antipsychotics).

# 10.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were found that examined the cost effectiveness of interventions for syncope in the hospital setting.



#### Additional information

- The following reference may be useful:
- Brignole M, Alboni P, Benditt D, Bergfeldt L, Blanc JJ, Thomsen PE, et al (Task Force on Syncope, European Society of Cardiology) (2004). Guidelines on management (diagnosis and treatment) of syncope – update 2004. *European Heart Journal* 25(22):2054-2072. Also available at: http://eurheartj.oxfordjournals.org/cgi/content/full/25/22/2054

# 11 Dizziness and vertigo



## Recommendations

#### Assessment

- Vestibular dysfunction as a cause of dizziness, vertigo and imbalance needs to be identified in the hospital setting. A history of vertigo or a sensation of spinning is highly characteristic of vestibular pathology.
- Use the Dix-Hallpike test to diagnose benign paroxysmal positional vertigo, which is the most common cause of vertigo in older people and can be identified in the hospital setting. This is the only cause of vertigo that can be treated easily.

Note: there is no evidence from randomised controlled trials that treating vestibular disorders will reduce the rate of falls.



#### Good practice points

- Use the Epley manoeuvre to manage benign paroxysmal positional vertigo.
- Use vestibular rehabilitation to treat dizziness and balance problems, where indicated.
- Screen patients complaining of dizziness for gait and balance problems, as well as for postural hypotension. (Patients who complain of 'dizziness' may have presyncope, postural dysequilibrium, or gait or balance disorders.)
- All manoeuvres should only be done by an experienced person.

# 11.1 Background and evidence

Dizziness and vertigo are common presenting symptoms in hospital emergency departments.<sup>200</sup> The conditions are seen in people of all ages, but are more prevalent in those older than 50 years.<sup>201</sup> The National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Survey identified that patient visits to emergency departments in the United States for vertigo or dizziness accounted for 2.5% of all emergency department presentations over a 10-year period.<sup>200</sup> However, dizziness in the hospital setting remains a difficult diagnostic problem because it has many potential causes and may result from disease in multiple systems.<sup>202</sup> A population-based study of people presenting with dizziness symptoms to an emergency department, or directly admitted to hospital, found that stroke or transient ischaemic attack was diagnosed in only 3.2% of all patients and that the most common cause of vertigo and dizziness in this population was a benign peripheral vestibular dysfunction (33%).<sup>203</sup> In the community setting, benign paroxysmal positional vertigo (BPPV) is one of the most common vestibular conditions, accounting for up to 50% of patients with a peripheral vestibular disorder.<sup>204</sup> This is likely to be the case in the hospital setting as well.

When patients describe being 'dizzy', 'giddy' or 'faint', this may mean anything from an anxiety or fear of falling, to postural dysequilibrium, vertigo or presyncope. Therefore, a detailed history is crucial.

#### 11.1.1 Vestibular disorders associated with an increased risk of falling

Vestibular dysfunction is a common cause of dizziness in the older population;<sup>204</sup> however, the association between vestibular dysfunction and falls remains unclear.<sup>205</sup> There is limited research in this area in the hospital setting.

A case-series study looked at approximately 3000 patients who presented to a hospital emergency department after a fall. A portion (16%) of these patients had no known cause for the fall. A vestibular symptom scale questionnaire completed by this group showed a high incidence of the symptoms of vestibular impairment (eg nausea, vomiting, dizziness).<sup>206</sup>

Age-related changes in the vestibular system can be identified in people older than 70 years.<sup>207</sup> These changes include asymmetrical degenerative changes, which may contribute to falls and falls injury by providing inaccurate information about the direction and magnitude of head or body movements, and impairing balance control. A study of 66 adults found that older people who lived in the community and who had fractured their wrist because of an accidental fall were more likely to have vestibular asymmetry on testing than an age-matched group of nonfallers.<sup>208</sup>

It is not clear whether BPPV is a risk factor for falling in older people; however, almost one in 10 older people presenting to an outpatient clinic with a range of chronic medical conditions had undiagnosed BPPV. These people are more likely to have sustained a fall in the previous three months.<sup>209</sup>

# 11.2 Principles of care

#### 11.2.1 Assessing vestibular function

An important step in minimising the risk from falls associated with dizziness is to assess vestibular function. This can be done using the following steps and tests (these tests should only be done by an experienced person):

- Ask the patient about their symptoms. *Dizziness* is a general term that is used to describe a range of symptoms that imply a sense of disorientation.<sup>210</sup> Dizziness may be used as a term by a patient to describe poor balance. *Vertigo*, a subtype of dizziness, is highly characteristic of vestibular dysfunction and is generally described as a sensation of spinning.<sup>211</sup>
- Assess peripheral vestibular function using the Halmagyi head-thrust test.<sup>212</sup> This test should only be done by an experienced person. It has good sensitivity only if the vestibular dysfunction is severe or complete.<sup>213</sup>
- Use audiology testing to quantify the degree of hearing loss. The auditory and vestibular systems are closely connected, and therefore auditory symptoms (hearing loss, tinnitus) commonly occur in conjunction with symptoms of dizziness and vertigo.<sup>214</sup>
- Use hospitalisation as an opportunity to request computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging to identify an acoustic neuroma or central pathology, if clinically indicated.<sup>211</sup>
- Use the Dix-Hallpike manoeuvre to diagnose BPPV in the hospital setting. This manoeuvre is considered mandatory in all patients with dizziness and vertigo after head trauma.<sup>215</sup> BPPV should be strongly considered as part of the differential diagnosis in older people who report symptoms of dizziness or vertigo following a fall that involved some degree of head trauma.

## 11.2.2 Choosing interventions to reduce symptoms of dizziness

The following strategies can be used in the hospital setting to treat dizziness and balance problems caused by vestibular dysfunction. They can be used as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program to reduce the risk of falls related to dizziness.

#### Medical management

A randomised controlled trial showed that treatment in the hospital emergency department with methylprednisolone within three days of acute onset of vestibular neuritis (viral infection of inner ear structures) improves vestibular function at 12-month follow-up, with complete or almost complete recovery of vestibular function in 76% of the study population.<sup>216</sup>

Based on clinical experience, treatment in the acute hospital setting with antiemetics and vestibular suppression medication may be required to treat the unpleasant associated symptoms of nausea and vomiting. These medications should only be used for a short duration (one to two weeks) because they adversely affect the process of central compensation following acute vestibular disease.<sup>217</sup>

#### **Treating BPPV**

A range of options for the treatment of BPPV have been described in the literature. These include:

- Brandt and Daroff exercises these can be done regularly at home<sup>218</sup>
- the Epley manoeuvre this is used commonly by clinicians and involves taking the patient slowly through a range of positions that aim to move the freely mobile otoconia back into the vestibule;<sup>219</sup> a meta-analysis showed that this manoeuvre is highly successful for treating BPPV.<sup>220</sup>

Older people with diagnosed BPPV respond as well to treatment as the general population; therefore, no special approaches are needed in this older group.<sup>221</sup> It is important to diagnose and treat BPPV as soon as possible, because treatment improves dizziness and general wellbeing.<sup>221</sup>

#### Vestibular rehabilitation

Vestibular rehabilitation (VR) is a multidisciplinary approach to treating stable vestibular dysfunction. The physiotherapy intervention component focuses on minimising a person's complaints of dizziness and balance problems through a series of exercises, which are tailored to each person.<sup>222</sup> The occupational therapy intervention component involves incorporating the movements required to do these exercises into daily activities.<sup>223</sup> Psychology input addresses the emotional impact of vestibular dysfunction.<sup>224</sup>

The literature emphasises the following characteristics of VR:

- VR is highly successful in treating stable vestibular problems in people of all ages.<sup>225</sup>
- Starting VR early is recommended in the hospital setting after surgical removal of an acoustic neuroma<sup>226</sup> and vestibular ablation surgery.<sup>227</sup> Delayed initiation of VR is a significant factor in predicting unsuccessful outcomes over time.<sup>228</sup>
- VR can improve measures of balance performance in people living in the community who are older than 65 years.<sup>229</sup> No research has been done on specific vestibular interventions for preventing falls in the hospital setting. However, in the first six weeks after acoustic neuroma surgery, older people receiving VR had greater improvements in balance than those who received general instructions only.<sup>230</sup> This may translate to reduced risk of falling.

Regular training courses in VR are held across Australia, and an increasing number of physiotherapists working in acute and subacute hospital systems are now trained to assess and manage dizziness. These physiotherapists can be found by contacting the Australian Physiotherapy Association<sup>†</sup> or the Australian Vestibular Association.<sup>‡</sup>

#### **Discharge planning**

Discharge planning (or 'post-hospital care planning') is a critical part of an integrated program of patient care, and should ensure that interventions started in hospital continue in the home, as necessary and possible. Older people who are discharged from hospital may still need care and support to manage dizziness when they return to their own homes or residential aged care facilities. Discharge planning may include the following:

- Use a vestibular function test to evaluate the integrity of the peripheral (inner ear) and central vestibular structures. These tests are available at some specialised audiology clinics and may be recommended following discharge from hospital.<sup>231</sup>
- Refer the patient to a specialist, such as an ear, nose and throat specialist or a neurologist.<sup>211</sup>
- Arrange ongoing management of BPPV; this can be done on an outpatient basis.



#### Case study

Ms T is a 75-year-old woman who was admitted to the orthopaedic ward with a Colles' fracture of her left wrist after a fall at home. Since her admission, Ms T has been reporting an intense sensation of spinning and nausea when lying flat in bed and now sleeps with the head of her bed elevated. The sensation of spinning is so severe when she lies down that Ms T has become very anxious and feels that she will be unable to manage by herself at home. The orthopaedic physiotherapist on the ward was trained to assess and manage benign paroxysmal positional vertigo (BPPV) and identified this condition in Ms T's right inner ear using the Dix-Hallpike test. Ms T was subsequently treated with an Epley manoeuvre, and felt much better within 24 hours. Repeat Dix-Hallpike testing identified that the BPPV had resolved.

Ms T was discharged one day later and can now lie flat in bed with no symptoms of spinning. She was taught Brandt-Daroff exercises to do at home should the symptoms return.

<sup>+</sup> http://members.physiotherapy.asn.au

http://www.dizzyday.com/avesta.html

# 11.3 Special considerations

Dix-Hallpike testing should not be done on patients with an unstable cardiac condition or a history of severe neck disease,<sup>232</sup> but can be modified in older people with other comorbidities.<sup>233</sup>

Patients with symptoms of dizziness should be medically reviewed before starting a rehabilitation program as outlined above.

# 11.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were found that examined the cost effectiveness of interventions for dizziness and vertigo in the hospital setting.



Additional information

The following reference may be useful:

• Herdman S (2007). *Vestibular Rehabilitation (Contemporary Perspectives in Rehabilitation)*, FA Davis Company, Philadelphia.<sup>234</sup>

More information on noncardiac dizziness and a video demonstration of the Dix-Hallpike manoeuvre can be found at: http://www.profane.eu.org/CAT/





# 12 Medications



#### Recommendations

Intervention

- Older people admitted to hospital should have their medications (prescribed and nonprescribed) reviewed and modified appropriately (and particularly in cases of multiple drug use) as a component of a multifactorial approach to reducing the risk of falls in a hospital setting. (Level I)<sup>31</sup>
- As part of a multifactorial intervention, patients on psychoactive medication should have their medication reviewed and, where possible, discontinued gradually to minimise side effects and to reduce their risk of falling. (Level II-\*)<sup>37,235</sup>

# 12.1 Background and evidence

A number of epidemiological studies have shown an association between medication use and falls in older people. The risk of falls can be increased by medication interaction, unwanted side effects (such as dizziness) and even the desired effects of medications (such as sedation). It is important that the health care team recognises that pharmacological changes with ageing can lead to potentially avoidable events in older people, including falls and fractures.

## 12.1.1 Medication use and increased falls risk

A number of factors affect an older person's ability to deal with and respond to medications, which can lead to an increased risk of falls.<sup>135</sup> These factors include the following:

- The ageing process, as well as disease, can result in changes in pharmacokinetics (the time course by which the body absorbs, distributes, metabolises and excretes drugs) and pharmacodynamics (the effect of drugs on cellular and organ function).
- Nonadherence with drug therapy, including medication misuse and overuse, and inappropriate prescribing, can increase the risk of adverse effects.

Certain classes of medication are more likely to increase the risk of falls in older people; for example:

- Central nervous system drugs, especially psychoactive drugs, are associated with an increased risk
  of falls.<sup>236</sup> In hospital, psychoactive medications are associated with an increased risk of falls due
  to their side effects, such as sedation, postural hypotension and impaired balance and mobility.<sup>114,115,237-240</sup>
- Benzodiazepine use is a consistently reported risk factor for falls and fractures in older people, both after a new prescription and over the long term. These drugs also affect cognition, gait and balance.<sup>236</sup>
- Antidepressants are associated with higher fall risk;<sup>241</sup> in particular, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and tricyclic antidepressants.<sup>242</sup>
- Antiepileptic drugs and drugs that lower blood pressure are weakly associated with an increased risk of falls.<sup>236</sup>
- Cardiovascular medications (diuretics, digoxin<sup>238,243</sup> and type IQ anti-arrhythmic drugs) are weakly associated with an increased risk of falls.<sup>243</sup>

Other types of cardiac drugs, and analgesic agents, are not associated with an increased risk of falls.<sup>243</sup>

Taking more than one medication is associated with an increased risk of falls.<sup>57,236,244</sup> This may be a result of adverse reactions to one or more of the medications, detrimental drug interactions, or incorrect use of some or all of the medications. According to one study, the relative risk of falling for people using only one medication (compared with people not taking any medication) is 1.4, increasing to 2.2 for people using two medications, and to 2.4 for people using three or more medications.<sup>244</sup>

For each drug, the potential falls risk modification should be balanced against the benefit of the drug.

## 12.1.2 Evidence for interventions

Review of medication should be a core part of the assessment of an older person while in hospital.

A randomised controlled trial reviewed medications as part of a multifactorial intervention for hospital patients with a history of falls.<sup>37</sup> As part of the intervention, suspect medications (including sedatives, antidepressants and diuretics) were evaluated, as well as multiple drug use. The intervention included a medical review of prescribed drugs associated with increased falls risk. Compared with a control group, patients who were screened using the multifactorial risk-factor prevention plan had a significant reduction in the risk of falls. Therefore, addressing medication history is effective when combined with other risk-reducing interventions. However, more research is needed to see what effect it has when used alone.
## 12.2 Principles of care

## 12.2.1 Assessing medications

Appropriateness of medication should be reviewed routinely in all hospitalised older people. Each hospital should take a proactive organisational approach to medication review, which should include the following:

- reviewing the patient's medications on admission to, and discharge from, hospital<sup>47,245-247</sup>
- reviewing medication charts regularly during the patient's stay in hospital (because medical conditions can change quickly in the hospital setting).<sup>245</sup>

Given that changes are often made to a patient's medication during a hospital stay, it is important to ensure that all changes made are conveyed to the local prescribing practitioner. A home medicines review may also be suggested where substantial changes have been made to medications or where there are concerns about adherence following discharge.

Older people who live in the community are eligible for a home medicines review, which is a service that encourages collaboration between the older person, their general practitioner and their pharmacist to review medication use. The home medicines review is available following a referral from a general practitioner; see the Pharmacy Guild of Australia website.<sup>†</sup>

## 12.2.2 Providing in-hospital interventions

The following interventions can be used as part of a multifactorial falls risk prevention program:

- Withdraw psychoactive medication gradually and under supervision to prevent falls significantly.<sup>235</sup> The National Prescribing Service has guidelines on withdrawing benzodiazepines.<sup>†</sup>
- Limit multiple drug use to reduce side effects and interactions and the tendency towards proliferation of medication use.<sup>37</sup>
- If centrally acting medications such as benzodiazepines are prescribed, increase surveillance and support mechanisms for older people during the first few weeks of taking these drugs, because the risk of falling is greatest during this period.<sup>248</sup>
- Drugs that act on the central nervous system, especially psychoactive drugs, are associated with an increased risk of falls; therefore, they should be used with caution and only after weighing up their risks and benefits.<sup>242</sup>

In addition, the following strategies help to ensure quality use of medicines, and are good practice for minimising falls in older people in the hospital setting:

- Prescribe the lowest effective dosage of a medication specific to the symptoms.
- Provide support and reassurance to patients who are gradually stopping the use of psychoactive medication(s).
- If the patient needs to take medications known to be implicated in increasing the risk of falls, try to minimise the adverse effects (drowsiness, dizziness, confusion and gait disturbance).
- Provide the patient (and their carer) with an explanation of newly prescribed medications or changes to prescriptions.
- Avoid initiating psychoactive medications in an older person while they are in hospital. Alternative approaches (eg behavioural and psychosocial treatments) to manage sleep disorders, anxiety and depression should be tried before pharmacological treatment. This may avoid the longer term problems associated with side effects and difficulties with withdrawal from the medications.
- Educate the whole multidisciplinary team, patients and their carers to improve their awareness of the medications associated with an increased risk of falls.
- Document information when implementing, evaluating, intervening in, reviewing, educating and making recommendations about the patient's medication use.

<sup>+</sup> http://www.guild.org.au/mmr/content.asp?id=421

<sup>+</sup> http://www.nps.org.au/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0004/16915/ppr04.pdf

## 12.2.3 Providing post-hospital interventions

Patients who have complex medication regimes should be considered for a home medications review when they are discharged from hospital.



## Case study

Mrs C is a 90-year-old woman who was admitted to hospital after falling at home and fracturing her hip. During admission, hospital staff reviewed Mrs C's medications, and noticed that she had been taking a benzodiazepine for a number of years. After discussion with Mrs C, the health care team agreed that a withdrawal program be instituted. By the time Mrs C had undergone a period of inpatient rehabilitation, she had managed to successfully stop her benzodiazepine. Because of her recent hip fracture, she was also started on calcium, vitamin D and a bisphosphonate while in hospital. The cessation of the benzodiazepine was communicated to the general practitioner on Mrs C's discharge from hospital.

## 12.3 Special considerations

#### 12.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Adherence with medication can be a problem in older people with cognitive impairment. Blister packs and other technical prompts can be used to aid adherence. Some people will require medication supervision. Prescribers should aim to keep drug regimens simple and, where possible, keep frequency of medication intake to a maximum of daily or twice daily.

Where there is concern about cognition and the ability of a patient to take medications, the health care team should consider a trial of self medication, including trialling a blister pack, while the older person is in hospital, to identify potential problems.

Possible communication difficulties experienced by older people with cognitive impairment can make subjective assessments unreliable. Special attention needs to be given to altered behaviours and nonverbal cues in this population.

## 12.3.2 Rural and remote settings

The health care team may need to seek further professional advice in a remote facility. The websites of the National Prescribing Service<sup>+</sup> and the Therapeutic Advice and Information Service<sup>+</sup> may be useful.

## 12.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were found that specifically considered a medication-related intervention in the hospital setting. Some interventions have been found to be effective or cost effective in other settings; however, it is unclear whether the results are applicable to the hospital setting (see Chapter 12 in the community guidelines, and Chapter 12 in the residential aged care guidelines for details).

+ http://www.nps.org.au/

http://www.nps.org.au/health\_professionals/consult\_a\_drug\_information\_pharmacist

## H Pr

#### Additional information

Physician and pharmacist roles in assessment and evaluation procedures are governed by the relevant professional practice standards and guidelines:

- Australian Pharmaceutical Formulary
- Pharmaceutical Society of Australia: http://www.psa.org.au
- Society for Hospital Pharmacists (SHPA): http://www.shpa.org.au

#### Useful resources for staff

- Australian Medicines Handbook, 5th edition (2004), produced by Australian Health Consumers Forum, the Australasian Society of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacologists and Toxicologists, the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia, and the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners.
- Australian Medicines Handbook: Drug Choice Companion: Aged Care 2001 includes a falls prevention section.
- National Medicines Policy: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/National+Medicines+Policy-1
- National Strategy for Quality Use of Medicines: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/nmp-pdf-natstrateng-cnt.htm
   Australian December 2011
- Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory Council: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/nmp-advisory-apac\_mem.htm
- National Prescribing Service incorporates a drug information service for health professionals: http://www.nps.org.au
- Therapeutic Advice and Information Service can be contacted on 1300 138 677
- Relevant state and territory drug information centres
- Relevant state and territory pharmaceutical advisory services
- SHPA Committee of Speciality Practice in Drug Use Evaluation (2004). SHPA Standards
  of Practice for Drug Use Evaluation in Australian Hospitals, J Pharm Pract Res 34(3):220-223.
- Australian Pharmaceutical Formulary and Handbook, 19th edition (2004), published by the Pharmaceutical Society of Australia, includes guidelines and practice standards for medication management review: http://www.psa.org.au
- MIMS medicines database includes full and abbreviated information and over-the-counter information Contact: CMPMedica Australia
  - Phone: 02 9902 7700

http://www.mims.com.au

 Pharmaceutical Health and Rational Use of Medicines Committee: http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/nmp-advisory-apac-pharm

#### Useful resources for patients

- Adverse Medicine Events Line Phone: 1300 134 237
- National Prescribing Service incorporates a drug information service for patients on the Medicines Line
  - Phone: 1300 888 763
- Pharmaceutical Society of Australia (PSA) self-care health information cards entitled 'Preventing falls' and 'Wise use of medicines' are available from the PSA, local pharmacy or at: http://www.psa.org.au
- Pharmacy Guild of Australia
   Phone: 02 6270 1888
   Fax: 02 6270 1800
   Email: guild.nat@guild.org.au
   http://www.guild.org.au/index.asp



## 13 Vision



## Recommendations

#### Assessment

- Use hospitalisation as an opportunity to screen systematically for visual problems that can have an effect both in the hospital setting and after discharge.
- For a rough estimate of the patient's visual function, assess their ability to read a standard eye chart (eg a Snellen chart) or to recognise an everyday object (eg pen, key, watch) from a distance of two metres.

#### Intervention

- As part of a multidisciplinary intervention for reducing falls in hospitals, provide adequate lighting, contrast and other environmental factors to help maximise visual clues; for example, prevent falls by using luminous commode seats, luminous toilet signs and night sensor lights. (Level III-3)<sup>43</sup>
- Where a previously undiagnosed visual problem is identified, refer the patient to an optometrist, orthoptist or ophthalmologist for further evaluation (this also forms part of discharge planning). (Level II)<sup>37</sup>
- When correcting other visual impairment (eg prescription of new glasses), explain to the patient and their carers that extra care is needed while the patient gets used to the new visual information. (Level II-\*)<sup>249</sup>
- Advise patients with a history of falls or an increased risk of falls to avoid bifocals or multifocals and to use single-lens distance glasses when walking especially when negotiating steps or walking in unfamiliar surroundings. (Level III-2-\*)<sup>250</sup>
- As part of good discharge planning, make sure that older people with cataracts have cataract surgery as soon as practicable. (Level II-\*)<sup>251,252</sup>

Note: there have not been enough studies to form strong, evidence based recommendations about correcting visual impairment to prevent falls in any setting (community, hospital, residential aged care facility), particularly when used as single interventions. However, considerable research has linked falls with visual impairment in the community setting, and these results may also apply to the hospital setting.



#### Good practice points

- If a patient uses spectacles, make sure that they wear them, and that they are clean (use a soft, clean cloth), unscratched and fitted correctly. If the patient has a pair of glasses for reading and a pair for distance, make sure they are labelled accordingly, and that they wear distance glasses when mobilising.
- Encourage patients with impaired vision to seek help when moving away from their immediate bed surrounds.

## 13.1 Background and evidence

Vision plays a major role in falls risk in the community setting, but there is limited research on specific visual interventions for preventing falls in hospitals. A systematic review<sup>71</sup> identified two studies using crude assessments of vision that reported visual impairment as an independent risk factor for falls<sup>69</sup> and in-hospital hip fracture.<sup>115</sup>

A study indicated that the prevalence of visual impairment is high (45%) in hospital inpatients, with cataracts and refractive errors being the main causes of visual impairment.<sup>253</sup> Detection and specialist referral led to improved visual outcomes in only 2% of cases. The biggest predictor of nonattendance was being discharged before eye specialist review.

A 2004 Cochrane review found that there have not been enough studies to form evidence based recommendations about correcting visual impairment to prevent falls in any setting (community, hospital, residential aged care facility).<sup>7</sup> Furthermore, studies have shown that multidisciplinary interventions are the most effective for falls prevention; little evidence showed that single interventions are effective, indicating that interventions to improve vision should form part of a multidisciplinary approach to falls prevention.

Considerable research in the community setting has linked reduced vision (including visual acuity, as well as depth-of-field and contrast sensitivity) with an increased risk of falls or fractures. These findings may be applicable to the hospital setting and highly relevant to this high-risk group, given their higher rate of visual impairment and increased frailty. This chapter outlines interventions that can be considered good practice, despite limited data to evaluate their effectiveness when used in isolation.



#### Point of interest

Much of the information in this chapter is based on research in older people living in the community. In most cases, the findings and recommendations can be extrapolated to the hospital setting; however, recommendations should be followed with due caution.

## 13.1.1 Visual functions associated with increased fall risk

A retrospective observational study showed that the risk of multiple falls increases 2.6 times if visual acuity is worse than 6/7.5.<sup>254</sup> Similarly, a prospective observational study showed that visual acuity of 6/15 or worse almost doubles the risk of hip fracture, and this risk is greater with even lower visual acuity levels.<sup>255</sup> Other visual functions have also been associated with an increased risk of falling in prospective cohort studies. These visual functions include reduced contrast sensitivity,<sup>205,256</sup> poor depth perception (measured in the community setting)<sup>205,257</sup> and reduced visual field size.<sup>254,258-261</sup>

## 13.1.2 Eye diseases associated with an increased risk of falling

Visual changes resulting from cataracts (see Figure 13.2) are associated with increased postural instability<sup>262</sup> and falls risk in older people who live in the community.<sup>263</sup> People with glaucoma can present with a range of loss of peripheral visual fields (side vision), depending on disease severity, which can affect a person's postural stability<sup>264</sup> and their ability to detect obstacles and navigate through cluttered environments (see Figure 13.3).<sup>259,265</sup> Macular degeneration can cause loss of central vision, depending upon disease severity (see Figure 13.4) and is associated with impaired balance<sup>266,267</sup> and an increased risk of falls.<sup>266</sup> Figure 13.1 shows normal vision, as a comparison.



Source: Vision 2020 Australia Figure 13.1 Normal vision



Source: Vision 2020 Australia Figure 13.2 Visual changes resulting from cataracts



Source: Vision 2020 Australia Figure 13.3 Visual changes resulting from glaucoma



Source: Vision 2020 Australia Figure 13.4 Visual changes resulting from macular degeneration

## 13.2 Principles of care

## 13.2.1 Screening vision

Hospitalisation provides an opportunity for systematic screening for visual problems that have an impact both in the hospital setting and after discharge.

Methods of screening vision include the following:

- Visual function can be screened as part of the St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY): 'Is the patient visually impaired to the extent that everyday function is affected?'<sup>75</sup> (See Chapter 5 on screening and assessment for more information.)
- A randomised controlled trial of falls risk factor prevention included a vision test as part of a multifactorial intervention. The trial concluded that vision could be tested in a quick and simple way, by checking a patient's ability to recognise an everyday object (eg a pen, key or watch) from a distance of two metres.<sup>37</sup> However, this test will only pick up major vision problems.

The following additional visual function assessments can also be used as good practice:

- Ask the patient about their vision and record any visual complaints and history of eye problems and eye disease.
- Check for signs of visual deterioration. These can include an inability to see detail in objects, read (including avoiding reading) or watch television; a propensity to spill drinks; or a propensity to bump into objects.
- Measure visual acuity or contrast sensitivity quantitatively using a standard eye chart (eg a Snellen eye chart) or the Melbourne Edge Test (MET), respectively (see Table 13.1).
- Check for signs of visual field loss using a confrontation test (see Table 13.1) and refer for a full automated perimetry test by an optometrist or ophthalmologist if any defects are found. Large prospective studies found that an increase in falls occurred when there was a loss of field sensitivity, rather than loss of visual acuity and contrast sensitivity.<sup>259</sup>

Table 13.1 summarises the characteristics of eye-screening tests.

#### Table 13.1 Characteristics of eye-screening tests

#### Snellen eye chart (for testing visual acuity)

Description	Standardised eye test of visual acuity. Comprises a series of symbols (usually letters) in lines of gradually decreasing sizes. Participant is asked to read the chart from a distance of 6 m for standard charts (charts designed for shorter test distances are available; the examiner should check that they are using the correct working distance for the chart). Visual acuity is stated as a fraction, with 6 being the numerator and the last line read the denominator (the larger the denominator, the worse the visual acuity). Pocket versions of Snellen charts are available for a clinical screen of visual acuity (these smaller charts can be used at a shorter distance than the standard 6 m to test visual acuity).
Time needed	5 minutes
Criterion	A score of 6/12 indicates visual impairment; however, this depends on the age of the person (the cut-off score will decrease with increasing age).

Melbourne Edge Test (MET) (for testing contrast sensitivity)97		
Description	The test presents 20 circular patches containing edges with reducing contrast. Correct identification of the orientation of the edges on the patches provides a measure of contrast sensitivity in decibel units, where $dB = -10\log_{10}$ contrast, where contrast defines the ratio of luminance levels of the two halves of the circular patch.	
Time needed	5 minutes	
Criterion	Score of less than 18/24 indicates visual impairment; however, the results are age dependent. <sup>268</sup>	
Confrontation Visual Field Test <sup>269</sup>		
Description	Crude test of visual fields. Participant and examiner sit between 66 cm and 1 m apart at the same height, with the examiner's back towards a blank wall. To test the right eye, the participant covers the left eye with the palm of their hand and stares at the examiner's nose. The examiner holds up both hands in the upper half of the field, one either side of the vertical, and each with either 1 or 2 fingers extended, and asks the participant, 'What is the total number of fingers I am holding up?' The procedure is repeated for the lower half of the field but changing the number of fingers extended in each hand. The procedure is repeated for the left eye. If the participant incorrectly counts the number of fingers in the upper or lower field, the test should be repeated and then recorded. If the participant moves fixation to view the peripheral targets, repeat the presentation. Results are recorded as finger counting fields R√ and L√ if the patient correctly reports the number of fingers presented. For those who fail this screening, a diagram should be drawn to indicate the part of the field in which the participant made an error.	
Time needed	4 minutes	
Criterion	If the participant incorrectly reports the number of fingers held up in either eye, they should be referred for a full visual field test.	

If more detailed visual assessment is needed once the patient has been assessed using the crude visual screening methods described above, or if the patient scores poorly on these tests, hospital staff should refer them to an optometrist, orthoptist or ophthalmologist for a full vision assessment.

## 13.2.2 Providing interventions

The following interventions should be applied:

- Make sure that patients have their prescription spectacles with them in hospital.<sup>37</sup>
- Where a previously undiagnosed visual problem is identified, refer the patient to an optometrist or ophthalmologist for further evaluation.<sup>37</sup>
- Provide adequate lighting, contrast and other environmental factors to help maximise visual cues.43

Additionally, make sure that if the person wears spectacles, they are clean, in good repair, and fitted properly. Encourage people with impaired vision to seek help when moving away from their immediate bed surrounds.

## 13.2.3 Discharge planning

If an undiagnosed visual problem is detected, encourage the patient to see an eye specialist when they are discharged from hospital. Healey et al (2004) suggested referral to an optometrist if the patient has lost their glasses, and to an ophthalmologist if there is no known reason for poor vision.<sup>37</sup>

When a visual deficit is identified, the health care team should seek a diagnosis and offer an intervention. Several visual improvement interventions should be considered after discharge from the hospital:

- *Expedited cataract surgery*. This is the only evidence based intervention to date that has been shown to be effective in reducing both falls and fractures in older people.<sup>251,252</sup>
- Occupational therapy interventions in people with moderate to severe visual impairment, to manage the function and safety aspects of visual impairment. Home safety should be assessed by an occupational therapist to identify potential hazards, lack of equipment, and risky behaviour that might lead to falls. Interventions that help to maximise visual cues and reduce visual hazards should also be used. These include providing adequate lighting and contrast (eg painting white strips along the edges of stairs and pathways)<sup>270,271</sup> (see Chapter 14 on environmental considerations for more information).
- Prescription of optimal spectacle correction, with caution. Make sure the patient's prescription is correct, and refer them to an optometrist if necessary. However, caution is required in frail older people: a randomised controlled trial found that comprehensive vision assessment with appropriate treatment does not reduce and may even increase the risk of falls.<sup>249</sup> The authors speculated that large changes in visual correction may have increased the risk of falls, and that more time may be needed to adapt to updated prescriptions or new glasses.
- Advice on the most appropriate type of spectacle correction. Wearing bifocal or multifocal spectacle lenses
  when walking outside the home and on stairs has been associated with increased falls in older people
  who live in the community, doubling the risk of falls.<sup>250</sup> These results may also apply to older people
  in a hospital setting. The health care team should advise patients with a history of falls or identified
  increased falls risk to use single-vision spectacles (instead of bifocals or multifocals) when walking,
  especially when negotiating steps or moving about in unfamiliar surroundings. A study also suggested
  telling older people who wear multifocals and distance single-vision spectacles to flex their heads rather
  than just lowering their eyes to look downwards to avoid postural instability.<sup>272</sup>
- Education. Educating health care workers on how to manage patients with reduced visual function may help to reduce the risk of falls.



#### Point of interest: mobility training

Vision Australia<sup>+</sup> specialises in safe mobility training for visually impaired people.



#### Case study

Mrs J is a 75-year-old hospital inpatient who fell while walking over a step in a doorway. On admission to the ward, Mrs J was assessed by an ophthalmologist, who found that Mrs J had severe visual impairment caused by macular degeneration. Hospital staff inspected Mrs J's spectacles for scratches, and made sure that they were clean and fitted her correctly. Staff also made sure that there was adequate lighting in her room at all times. Mrs J was given clear instructions about how to move around and was encouraged to call for help when walking in unfamiliar surroundings. On discharge, she was advised to have a full eye examination to ensure optimal spectacle correction. Given her severe visual impairment, Mrs J was also referred for an occupational therapy home assessment.

## 13.3 Special considerations

## 13.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Where possible, patients with cognitive impairment should have their vision tested using standard testing procedures. Where this is not possible, visual acuity can be assessed using a Landolt C or Tumbling E chart. These tests contains near-vision, distance and reduced Snellen tests, and can be used to measure and record visual acuity in the same way as standard letter charts.

The Landolt C is a standardised symbol (a ring with a gap, similar to a capital C) used to test vision. The symbol is displayed with the gap in various orientations (top, bottom, left, right), and the person being tested must say which direction it faces. The Tumbling E chart is similar, but uses the letter E in different orientations.

## 13.3.2 Rural and remote settings

Health care practitioners or carers can contact their local Optometric Association Australia in their state or territory for an up-to-date list of optometrists providing services in rural and remote areas. The patient's general practitioner or optometrist can provide a referral to a local ophthalmologist. Alternatively, contact the Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists on +61 2 9690 1001. The strategies outlined earlier in this chapter should be implemented before a referral to an ophthalmologist is made.

## 13.3.3 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

Where appropriate, visual acuity can be measured for Indigenous patients using a culturally appropriate chart known as the 'Turtle Chart',<sup>273</sup> which has a series of turtles of different sizes and orientations. Similarly, there is a series of culturally appropriate brochures and posters that describe different eye diseases and conditions, and different types of spectacle corrections.

## 13.3.4 Patients with limited mobility

Home visits by optometrists or ophthalmologists may be necessary for housebound older people. The Optometric Association Australia in each state or territory will provide a current list of optometrists willing to provide such services.

## 13.4 Economic evaluation

No economic evaluations were identified that specifically considered interventions for vision in the hospital setting. Some community interventions have been found to be effective and cost effective; however, it is unclear whether the results are applicable to the hospital setting (see Chapter 13 in the community guidelines for more information).



#### Additional information

The following organisations may be helpful:

- Optometrists Association Australia: Phone: 03 9668 8500
   Fax: 03 9663 7478
   Email: oaanat@optometrists.asn.au
   http://www.optometrists.asn.au (contains details for state and territory divisions)
- Vision Australia provides services for people with low vision and blindness across Australia: http://www.visionaustralia.org.au
- Macular Degeneration Foundation promotes awareness of macular degeneration and provides resources and information:

http://www.mdfoundation.com.au

• Guide dog associations in Australia help people with visual impairment to gain freedom and independence to move safely and confidently around the community and to fulfil their potential:

http://www.guidedogsaustralia.com



# 14 Environmental considerations

#### Recommendations

#### Assessment

 Regular environmental reviews are advisable; procedures should be in place to document environmental causes of falls; and staff should be educated in environmental risk factors for falls in hospitals.

#### Intervention

- Environmental modifications should be included as part of a multifactorial intervention. (Level II)<sup>37,38</sup>
- As part of a multifactorial intervention, falls can be reduced by using luminous toilet signs and night sensor lights. (Level III-3)<sup>43</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Make sure that the patient's personal belongings and equipment are easy and safe for them to access.
- Check all aspects of the environment and modify as necessary to reduce the risk of falls (eg furniture, lighting, floor surfaces, clutter and spills, and mobilisation aids).
- Conduct environmental reviews regularly (consider combining them with occupational health and safety reviews).

## 14.1 Background and evidence

For older people, the risk of falling while in hospital may be greater than in other settings, because of risk factors such as acute conditions (stroke, hip fractures, illness, etc) or unfamiliar surroundings.<sup>31</sup> Those identified as having the highest risk for falls in hospital are people with unsteady gait, confusion, urinary incontinence or frequency of using the toilet, or a history of falls, and those taking sedatives.<sup>81</sup> The consequences of falls in hospitals are great, with a high associated mortality and morbidity: older people who fracture their hip while staying in hospital have poorer outcomes than older people who fracture their hip in the community.<sup>81</sup> The cost of acute public hospital care for fallers accounts for 24% of total costs but only 11% of total fall injuries.<sup>274</sup>

Falls prevention programs in hospitals have trialled different ways of reducing falls, including modifying the hospital room or environment to reduce obvious risk factors. Environmental review and modification refers to checking the hospital room for hazards that might cause people to fall, and then modifying or rearranging the environment to remove or minimise these hazards. For example, this could include removing clutter, improving lighting and installing handrails.

A Cochrane review looked at the effectiveness of different interventions for preventing falls in older people in hospitals or nursing care facilities. The review found that multifactorial interventions targeting several different risk factors (eg falls prevention programs that include environmental modification in a suite of interventions) may help to prevent falls in hospitals.<sup>31</sup> However, these multifactorial interventions seemed to be more effective for long-term patients (that is, people who were in hospital for more than three weeks). Also, interventions are most effective for people who already have an increased risk of falls (eg those with cognitive impairment or heart conditions, or those who have suffered a stroke).<sup>7</sup>

It is difficult to analyse rates of falls in hospitals because there have been few randomised controlled trials. As well, these trials have looked at different types of hospitals settings (eg acute wards, longer-term wards, geriatric wards), which greatly affects the falls rates because they contain different populations who have varying risk factors for falls. Also, there is a difference between short-term and long-term patients.<sup>2</sup>

## 14.2 Principles of care

## 14.2.1 Targeting environment interventions

Environmental modification interventions are most likely to be effective in patients who already have an increased risk of falls.<sup>7</sup> Various tools are available for screening older people for falls risk in hospitals (see Chapter 5).

## 14.2.2 Designing multifactorial interventions that include environmental modifications

As mentioned earlier, there are not enough data to make recommendations about single interventions used alone to prevent falls and injuries in hospitals. However, multifactorial interventions should incorporate environmental modifications, such as:<sup>2,21,274-276</sup>

- ensuring chairs and beds are at the correct height (ie when the patient's feet are flat on the ground, their hips are slightly higher than their knees)
- installing even lighting at stairs and way-finding night lighting to the toilet; making sure night lighting is used consistently and safely
- installing slip-resistant floor surfaces
- cleaning spills and urine promptly
- reducing clutter and other trip hazards in patients' rooms and wards
- providing and repairing walking aids
- providing stable furniture for handhold distances between furniture, beds, chairs and toilets
- ensuring bed, wheelchair and commode brakes are on when a patient is transferring
- using a flooring pattern that does not create an illusion of slope or steps for patients with impaired eyesight or cognitive impairment
- making sure the patient wears safe footwear and avoids ill-fitting footwear with slippery soles
- moving patients who have a high risk of falling closer to the nurses' station
- reducing the unnecessary use of physical restraints, and reviewing the use of restraints regularly
- using electronic warning devices.

## 14.2.3 Incorporating capital works planning and design

When hospitals or hospital wards are being built or renovated, the following issues should be considered:

- Safety and practicality are just as important as aesthetics.
- Facilities should conform to legislated safety requirements.<sup>274,277</sup>
- A design that allows observation or surveillance of people is important for safety.<sup>277</sup>
- Lighting and handrails at steps and stairs, and design of stairs to allow safer descent are important.<sup>274</sup>
- Slip-resistant flooring or products should be used in all wet areas.<sup>274</sup>
- Impact-absorbent flooring (or underlay) should be used.

## 14.2.4 Providing storage and equipment

The risk of falls needs to be considered when new equipment is acquired, or when equipment arrangements are being designed or modified (eg new seating or shower chairs).<sup>277</sup> Health professionals and hospital staff should be involved in decisions about buying equipment.

Clutter should be reduced by providing adequate storage space for equipment,<sup>277</sup> and equipment should be reviewed at least monthly.<sup>135</sup>

#### 14.2.5 Conducting environmental reviews

Regular environmental reviews should be done with the following points in mind:

- Make modifications based on the findings of the review.
- Prioritise reviews by considering the following environments
  - high-risk environments (bedrooms, dining areas, bathrooms and toilets)
  - environments identified through incident monitoring, hazard identification or near-miss reporting
  - environments identified through environmental checklists (Appendix 4 contains a general environmental checklist that may be useful when reviewing the environment).
- Include external environments in environmental reviewing.<sup>277</sup>
- Consider how environmental reviews may fit in with existing workplace health and safety reviews.
- Involve a range of disciplines in environmental reviews and interventions, including health professionals such as occupational therapists, workplace health and safety personnel, infection-control personnel,<sup>277</sup> staff working in that particular environment, specialists in geriatric assessment or ergonomics, technical advisers, and older people's carers, where appropriate.
- Ensure a mechanism is in place for reporting environmental hazards.

When considering environmental change, hospital staff should explore a range of products, equipment and solutions. Keep in mind that changing a person's environment could have a negative impact. For example, reorganising furniture may be contraindicated for people who are visually impaired or have dementia.

Appendix 4 contains useful information on modifying flooring, lighting, bathrooms and toilets, hallways, stairways and steps, furniture, beds, chairs, alert or call systems, and external environments.

#### 14.2.6 Orientating new residents

Many falls occur during a person's first few days in a new setting.<sup>278</sup> Therefore, hospital staff should help patients to become familiar with new environments and teach them to use equipment.<sup>279</sup> This orientation could include teaching the patient to transfer themselves between furniture or equipment that they are unfamiliar with.

## 14.2.7 Review and monitoring

Environmental strategies are likely to be done in conjunction with other interventions. As discussed earlier, their effectiveness in isolation from other risk factors is difficult to measure. The effectiveness of environmental interventions is likely to be reflected in falls indicators, such as a change in the location of falls and a reduction in falls associated with particular environmental hazards.

Staff should review and assess environments in hospitals regularly (particularly high-risk environments, such as bedrooms, bathrooms and dining areas). A floor plan of the hospital is a useful tool for mapping falls locations and for showing the number of falls and near misses in particular environmental hotspots. Such mapping before and after environmental modification can provide feedback on the effectiveness of environmental adjustments.

#### Case study

Mr B has been hospitalised in a subacute rehabilitation ward following a recent stroke. He has regained most movement; however, he finds it difficult to get out of bed and into his armchair, and to go to the toilet. His geriatrician undertook a medical review, and occupational therapy staff assessed his activities of daily living. His chair and bed height were adjusted; his family replaced his slippers with safer footwear; and LED night lights were provided in the toilet and as a way-finding guide to the bathroom. The staff were instructed on how to best help him with transfers, given his condition. Mr B now attends regular group sessions with the physiotherapist. As a result of this process, Mr B is now safer in his activities of daily living and has a lower risk of falling.

## 14.3 Special considerations

#### 14.3.1 Cognitive impairment

The physical environment takes on greater significance for people with diminished physical, sensory or cognitive capacity.<sup>279</sup> The unique characteristics of people who are cognitively impaired may adversely affect their interaction with the environment. As well as reviewing the environmental factors noted in Appendix 4, staff in hospitals should make sure that residents who are agitated or show behavioural disturbances are monitored adequately.

Specific environmental changes can help patients with cognitive impairment to be more comfortable and independent, and reduce confusion and the risk of falls. For example, consider positioning the patient close to nursing staff, using bed or chair alarms, or using electronic surveillance systems.<sup>280</sup> Other things that may help include:

- using calming colour schemes to reduce agitation<sup>2</sup>
- making sure the hospital layout supports improved continence (toilet close by, easy to find, clearly marked)<sup>279</sup>
- providing a predictable, consistent environment
- using suitable furniture without sharp edges<sup>247</sup>
- providing adequate lighting with enough coverage to ensure clear vision and to prevent casting shadows.<sup>247</sup>

## 14.3.2 Rural and remote settings

Many of the environmental strategies suggest multidisciplinary involvement, and this may not be readily available in rural and remote settings. Videoconferencing, teleconferencing and interagency collaboration may be beneficial.

In facilities where only a visiting occupational therapist is available, it would be useful to conduct an environmental review (see Appendix 4) and an equipment review (see Appendix 5) and take corrective action before the therapist's visit. This would help to identify key areas requiring specialist advice.

#### 14.3.3 Nonambulatory patients

Falls occurring in nonambulatory patients are more likely to involve equipment and occur while the patient is seated or during transfers.<sup>281</sup> Therefore, interventions to reduce the risk of falls for these patients should consider transfer and equipment safety.

## 14.4 Economic evaluation

Some community interventions have been found to be effective and cost effective; however, it is unclear whether the results are applicable to the hospital setting (see Chapter 14 in the community guidelines for more information).



Additional information

- The following associations and organisations may be helpful:
  - OT AUSTRALIA Phone: 03 9415 2900 Fax: 03 9416 1421 Email: info@ausot.com.au http://www.ausot.com.au
  - Independent living centres, which are available in most states and territories, provide independent information and advice on the ranges of equipment, floor surfacing products, etc. See Independent Living Centres Australia: http://www.ilcaustralia.org/home/default.asp
  - Home Modification Information Clearinghouse collects and distributes information on home maintenance and modifications and has a number of useful environmental reviews: http://www.homemods.info/





# 15 Individual surveillance and observation



#### Recommendations

#### Intervention

- Include individual observation and surveillance as components of a multifactorial falls prevention program, but take care not to infringe on people's privacy. (Level III-2)<sup>43</sup>
- Falls risk alert cards and symbols can be used to flag high-risk patients as part of a multifactorial falls prevention program, as long as they are followed up with appropriate interventions. (Level II)<sup>39</sup>
- Consider using a volunteer sitter program for patients who have a high risk of falling, and define the volunteer roles clearly. (Level IV)<sup>42,64</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Most falls in hospitals are unwitnessed. Therefore, the key to reducing falls is to raise awareness among staff of the patient's individual risk factors, and reasons why improved surveillance may reduce the risk of falling.
- If appropriate, hospital staff should discuss with carers, family or friends the patient's risk of falling and their need for close monitoring.
- Family members or carers can be given an information brochure to use in discussions with the patient about falls in hospitals.
- Encourage family members or carers to spend time sitting with the patient, particularly in waking hours, and encourage them to notify staff if the patient requires assistance.
- A range of alarm systems and alert devices are available, including motion sensors, video surveillance and pressure sensors. They should be tested for suitability before purchase, and appropriate training and response mechanisms should be offered to staff. Alternatively, find another hospital that already has an effective alarm system, see what their program includes, and try their system.
- Patients who have a high risk of falling should be checked regularly.
- A staff member should stay with patients with cognitive impairment and a high risk of falls while the patient is in the bathroom.

## 15.1 Background and evidence

Many falls that occur in hospitals are unwitnessed.<sup>24,25</sup> A range of approaches have been reported for identifying when a person at high risk of falling is getting out of a bed or chair unsupervised (particularly for patients with cognitive impairment). These include:

- locating the patient in an area of higher visibility<sup>24,37</sup>
- flagging those at high risk (eg by using falls risk alert cards or symbols)<sup>39</sup>
- observing high-risk patients frequently<sup>48</sup>
- using sitter programs<sup>24,64,282</sup>
- using alarm systems and alert devices.<sup>2,283,284</sup>

Observational studies have looked at technologies for reducing falls, such as infrared movement detectors, fall alarms (which sound when the patient is already on the floor), bed and chair alarms, and movement alarms. However, these studies are generally of poor quality. A systematic review concluded that trials in hospitals and care homes that investigate specific interventions, such as alarms, are lacking.<sup>36</sup>

The use of surveillance can have ethical and legal considerations (deprivation of liberty, mental capacity and infringement of autonomy). Care must be taken that surveillance does not infringe on the patient's autonomy or dignity. Hospitals must have clear policies and procedures in place for using surveillance. See also Chapter 16 on the use of restraints and associated ethical and legal considerations.

## 15.2 Principles of care

The following general principles of observation and surveillance represent expert opinion of best practice in the hospital setting, in the absence of trials testing their effectiveness.

The choice of surveillance and observation approaches will depend on a combination of the findings from the assessment of each patient, clinical reasoning and access to resources and technology. More than one surveillance and observation approach should be used, thereby avoiding dependence on a single approach.

An important strategy to consider for improving surveillance is to review staff practices, such as staff handover practices and timing of tea and lunch breaks, to ensure that adequate supervision is available when required. Personal preference for the frequency of showers or personal hygiene needs to be considered on an individual basis and balanced against existing routines in the hospital.<sup>43</sup>

Where possible, high-visibility beds or rooms (such as near nurses' stations) should be allocated to patients who require more attention and supervision, including patients who have a high risk of falling.<sup>24</sup> Positioning patients with a history of falls close to nurses' stations was an intervention in a randomised controlled trial that investigated a targeted risk factor care plan. Overall, the trial significantly reduced falls in the intervention group compared with the control group. However, the individual contribution of bed positioning was not clear, nor was the number of patients who were repositioned.<sup>37</sup>

## 15.2.1 Flagging

Patients who have a high risk of falling should be told about their risk. In hospitals, the patient's risk of falling should be identified ('flagged') in such a way that considers the person's privacy, yet is recognised easily by staff and the patient's family and carers. A range of methods other than verbal and written communication may be used to ensure ongoing communication of high-risk status (flagging), including:

- coloured stickers or markers (positioned on case notes, walking aids, bed heads)<sup>285</sup>
- signs, pictures or graphics on or near the bed head. 39,285

Flagging reminds staff that a person has a high risk of falling, and should trigger interventions that may prevent a fall. These interventions must be available; otherwise, the flagging may not be beneficial. Flagging may also improve a patient's own awareness of their potential to fall.<sup>247</sup> A multifactorial trial in three Australian subacute hospital wards included a risk alert card by the bedside.<sup>39</sup> The researchers deliberately used a symbol, rather than words, on the A4-sized card, to minimise violating patient privacy or causing distress to patients or their families. Across the study duration, no official complaints were made about the alert card being displayed. Other components of the intervention included an information brochure, an exercise program, an education program and hip protectors. The incidence of falls in the intervention group was reduced compared with the control group.

## 15.2.2 Colours for stickers and bedside notices

The Australia-wide consultation process that facilitated the production of these guidelines found that green or orange were frequently used colours for stickers and bedside notices to signify high risk of falling. Although some falls prevention studies have used 'high-risk' alert stickers, the results are conflicting. In the absence of data to the contrary, it may be beneficial for staff to flag high-risk patients, using colours or symbols consistently. Ongoing staff education about the purpose and importance of flagging is essential.

Ideally, in the hospital setting, patients who have a high risk of falling should be checked regularly and offered assistance.<sup>48</sup> A staff member should remain with the high-risk patient while they are in the bathroom.<sup>48</sup>

#### 15.2.3 Sitter programs

Some hospitals have introduced sitter programs. These programs use volunteers, families or paid staff to sit with patients who have a high risk of falling.<sup>286</sup> A pretest–post-test comparative study in two South Australian hospitals evaluated the effectiveness of using volunteer sitters in reducing falls.<sup>282</sup> Volunteers worked four-hour shifts between the hours of 9 am and 5 pm. No falls were reported at either hospital during the hours that volunteers were present. Volunteers maintained journals throughout the study, and the journals indicated high satisfaction with their roles. Semistructured interviews with family members indicated high satisfaction with the volunteers. However, some nurses (n = 7; 29%) reported that volunteers could be demanding of their time and required too much supervision.

A second Australian study looked at the effect of volunteer companion-observers in preventing falls in an acute aged care ward.<sup>64</sup> Patients were situated in a four-bed room if they were identified to have a high falls risk. Volunteers completed a minimum shift of two hours, between 8 am and 8 pm on weekdays. The key role of the volunteers was to alert nursing staff if patients showed high-risk behaviours, such as becoming agitated or attempting to climb out of bed. After 20 months, no falls were reported in the observation room, and falls in the ward were reduced by 51%. Family members expressed satisfaction with the volunteers; however, the volunteers' role needed clarification, because nurses sometimes asked volunteers to walk or feed patients, and volunteers sometimes became frustrated if nurses were slow to respond to patient call bells.

A limitation of volunteer sitters is that they are typically only available in 'business' hours.<sup>64</sup> Providing 24/7 surveillance coverage by volunteers would require an additional 15 volunteers per week in a hospital ward.<sup>282</sup>

## 15.2.4 Response systems

Response systems are usually a form of monitor, incorporating an alarm that sounds when a patient moves. A number of response systems are commercially available. In some systems, an alarm is activated by a pressure sensor when a patient starts to move from a bed or chair. A randomised controlled trial of residents of a geriatric evaluation and treatment unit did not find any statistically significant difference between an intervention group (who received a bed alarm system) and a control group (who did not).<sup>287</sup> However, the authors concluded that bed alarm systems may still be beneficial in guarding against bed falls and may be an acceptable method of preventing falls. Therefore, it is difficult to make recommendations about using bed alarm systems in the hospital setting.

An Australian study conducted in 12 hospitals included alarms in a multifactorial falls prevention intervention.<sup>42</sup> Adherence was high: 40 of the 49 participants who were given the recommendation complied with wearing the alarm. The alarm was a pressure switch under the heel that, when stood on, activated a high-pitched sound, amplified by a speaker concealed in a pocket in the wearer's sock. The intervention had no effect on fall rates, and the authors suggested that the median length of stay (seven days) was too short for interventions to take effect.

In other alarm systems, an alarm sounds when any part of a patient's body moves within a space monitored by the alarm. Yet another style of alarm activates when a patient falls but does not get up. Response systems require capital investment and rely on a third party (eg hospital staff or the patient's carer) to respond when the alarm sounds. The issues of who responds and how, and what impact this has on ward practice – including what it may take away from other areas of care – need to be considered before any system is implemented.

Alarms may perceivably pose risk-management problems for hospitals, in that failure to respond to an alarm because of lack of staffing could be seen as a failure in care. Moreover, it is not necessarily correct to assume that if someone lacks mental capacity due to dementia, they should be subjected to intrusive surveillance to prevent falls.<sup>288</sup> Care should be taken that alarms do not infringe autonomy. The lack of clear research results (probably due to the difficulties in researching this area), and the ethical and legal considerations of monitoring people should be factored into decisions.

## 15.2.5 Review and monitoring

Evaluation of the effectiveness of surveillance and observation systems will depend on the range and mix of systems that are used. Indicators of the acceptance of these systems may include:<sup>64,282</sup>

- frequency of use of surveillance and observation methods
- satisfaction of staff, patients, their family, carers or friends with surveillance and observation methods.

An indicator of the effectiveness of surveillance and observation systems may include the number of falls after an improved surveillance program has been introduced, compared with the number of falls before it was introduced.



#### Case study

Mr P is 81 years old and normally lives alone at home. He was admitted to the medical ward because he was malnourished, dehydrated and falling over on a weekly basis. He was delirious on admission and wandered frequently out of the ward and into other patients' rooms, sometimes getting into the wrong bed. Medical assessment indicated the presence of an acute delirium, and appropriate medical and nursing management was instituted. He became quite agitated if made to sit by his bed and remain in the ward all day. Staff decided to place a chair near the nurses' station for him to sit on when he wanted. The physiotherapist assessed his mobility and arranged for family and available staff to take Mr P for a walk outside when possible. Hospital volunteers, trained in the facility's patient sitter program, were also recruited to sit with Mr P and alert staff if he attempted to walk without supervision. As the delirium settled with medical and nursing management, Mr P became safer with his mobility and orientation, and the observation strategies were gradually withdrawn.

## 15.3 Special considerations

#### 15.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Surveillance and observation approaches are particularly useful for patients who forget or do not realise their limitations. Improved surveillance and observation may be preferable to the use of restraints as an injury minimisation strategy.<sup>2</sup>

## 15.3.2 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

In some cultures, it is accepted practice to sit for long periods with ill relatives and elders. This may afford a greater role to carers, family members and friends in supervising the person's activity to reduce the risk of falls.

## 15.4 Economic evaluation

Three studies have examined the costs and effects of hospital-based individual surveillance programs.

Spetz et al (2007) reported an economic evaluation of a medical vigilance system (LG1) that incorporated a bed exit alert module.<sup>286</sup> The evaluation was based on a small, nonrandomised study in a postneurosurgery ward, and ran for eight weeks. The medical vigilance system was compared with the ad hoc use of patient sitters (sitters were not used for all patients, or on all shifts). An average fall rate of 1.94% in the LG1 group was reported, compared with 3.23% in the control group. There was a mean incremental cost per fall prevented of between US\$5959 and US\$6301 for the LG1 system, compared with usual care by ad hoc patient sitters.

Giles et al (2006) conducted a pretest-post-test feasibility study that looked at the effect of volunteer companions on preventing falls among patients in two four-bed 'safety bays' in medical wards in Australian hospitals.<sup>282</sup> Volunteers observed patients in safety bays from 9 am to 5 pm, Monday to Friday, and for four hours on Saturday. No falls occurred when volunteers were present. During the baseline (pre-) period, there was a fall rate of 14.5 falls per 1000 occupied bed days, compared with 15.5 falls per 1000 occupied bed days during the implementation period. Volunteers donated a total of 2345 hours over the trial period. If this labour had to be paid for (at a rate of A\$24.25 per hour), the total cost would have been A\$56866 (excluding travel time and travel costs). A cost per fall prevented was not calculated, because the fall rate was higher during the intervention period. Similarly, Boswell et al (2001)<sup>289</sup> also reported that patient falls increased slightly for each sitter shift, and thus a cost-effectiveness ratio was not calculated.

#### Additional information

Successful observation practices have targeted changes in nursing practice, so that nurses are able to observe patients for longer periods during the course of their shift by modifying long-established practices related to nurse documentation, nursing handover, patient hygiene practices, staff meal breaks and patient eating times, and creation of a high-observation bay.<sup>43</sup> The Australian Resource Centre for Health Care Innovations provides information and resources for health care professionals, including information on preventing falls: http://www.archi.net.au/e-library/safety/falls



## 16 Restraints



#### Recommendations

Assessment

• Causes of agitation, wandering and other behaviours should be investigated, and reversible causes of these behaviours (eg delirium) should be treated, before restraint use is considered.

Note: there is no evidence that physical restraints reduce the incidence of falls or serious injuries in older people.<sup>290-293</sup> However, there is evidence that they can cause death, injury or infringement of autonomy.<sup>294,295</sup> Therefore, restraints should be considered the last option for patients who are at risk of falling.<sup>296</sup>



#### Good practice points

- The focus of caring for patients with behavioural issues should be on responding to the patient's behaviour and understanding its cause, rather than attempting to control it.
- All alternatives to restraint should be considered and trialled for patients with cognitive impairment, including delirium.
- If all alternatives are exhausted, the rationale for using restraints must be documented and an anticipated duration agreed on by the health care team.
- If drugs are used specifically to restrain a patient, the minimal dose should be used and the patient should be reviewed and monitored to ensure their safety. Importantly, chemical restraint must not be a substitute for quality care. See the alternative methods of restraint outlined in this chapter.
- Follow hospital protocol if physical restraints must be used.
- Any restraint use should not only be agreed on by the health team, but also discussed with family or carers.

## 16.1 Background and evidence

A restraint is a mechanism used to control or modify a person's behaviour. Physical restraints include lap belts, table tops, meal trays and backwards-leaning chairs (or 'stroke chairs') that are difficult to get out of, and possibly bed alarm devices. Covert restraint practices may occur, such as tucking bed clothes in too tight, wedging cupboards against beds or locking doors. Drugs, such as sedatives, have sometimes been used as chemical restraints. In most situations, this is regarded as an inappropriate form of restraint. However, when a patient's behaviour is disturbed and their risk of falling is increased, there may be a case for chemical restraint. Bed rails are also sometimes used as a type of restraint.

Physical restraint of patients during admission to hospital has been common practice for many years.<sup>291</sup> The prevention of falls is cited as the most common reason for the use of physical restraints.<sup>297</sup> Studies have shown that some health care workers believe that restraining patients will prevent a fall;<sup>298</sup> however, evidence suggests that restraints may have the opposite effect and that patients who are restrained are more likely to fall.<sup>247,297</sup> In some instances, reducing the use of restraints may actually decrease the risk of falling.<sup>284</sup>

An observational study from Finland recorded the use of psychoactive and other drugs as chemical restraints in long-term hospital care. They found that, out of 154 participants, 33% received three or more psychoactive drugs regularly, and 24% received two or more benzodiazepine derivatives or related drugs regularly. The authors concluded that psychoactive drugs were used as chemical restraints in these long-term care wards.<sup>299</sup>

If used, restraints should be the last option considered.<sup>300</sup> A systematic review of use of physical restraint and injuries found an association between restraint use and increased risk of injury and death.<sup>291</sup>

If drugs are used specifically to restrain a patient, the minimal dose should be used, and the patient should be reviewed and monitored to ensure their safety. Importantly, chemical restraint must not be a substitute for alternative methods of restraint outlined in this chapter.

## 16.2 Principles of care

## 16.2.1 Assessing the need for restraints and considering alternatives

Hospitals should have clear policies and procedures on the use of restraints, in line with state or territory legislation and guidelines. Causes of agitation, wandering or other behaviours should be investigated, and reversible causes of these behaviours (eg delirium) should be treated before restraint use is considered.<sup>4,301</sup> Restraints should not be used at all for patients who can walk safely and who wander or disturb other patients.<sup>247</sup> Wandering behaviour warrants urgent exploration of other management strategies, including behavioural and environmental alternatives to restraint use. These alternatives may include:<sup>300</sup>

- using strategies to increase observation or surveillance
- providing companionship
- providing physical and diversionary activity
- meeting the patient's physical and comfort needs (according to individual routines as much as possible, rather than facility routines)
- using low beds
- decreasing environmental noise and activity
- exploring previous routines, likes and dislikes, and attempting to incorporate these into the care plan.

Hospital staff should be provided with appropriate and adequate education about alternatives to restraints. Education can reduce the perceived need to use restraints, as well as minimise the risk of injury when restraints are used.

## 16.2.2 Using restraints

When the patient's health care team has considered all alternatives to restraints, and agreed that the alternatives are inappropriate or ineffective, restraints could be considered. In such cases, restraints should only be used temporarily to:

- prevent or minimise harm to the patient
- prevent harm to others
- optimise the patient's health status.

The health care team must also take into account the rights and wishes of the patient, their carers and family.<sup>4</sup> Any decision to use restraints should be made by discussing their use and possible alternatives with the patient, their carers and family.

When the use of restraints is unavoidable, the type of restraint chosen should always be the least restrictive to achieve the desired outcome. Furthermore, restraint use should be monitored and evaluated continually. Restraints should not be a substitution for supervision, or used to compensate for inadequate staffing or lack of equipment,<sup>45,300</sup> and they should not be applied without the support of a written order.<sup>300</sup> The minimum standard of documentation for restraint use includes:<sup>296</sup>

- date and time of application
- name of the person ordering the restraint
- type of restraint
- reasons for the restraint
- alternatives considered and trialled
- discussion with the patient, carers or substitute decision makers
- any restrictions on the circumstances in which the restraint may be applied
- intervals at which the patient must be observed
- any special measures necessary to ensure the patient's proper treatment while the restraint is applied
- duration of the restraint.

#### 16.2.3 Review and monitoring

Hospitals should have a restraint policy, which should be reviewed regularly. Staff should also be assessed on their knowledge and skill in using alternatives to restraints, as well as their knowledge of the hospital's restraint policy. Trends in the use of restraints should also be monitored; for example, why a restraint is used, for how long, and what alternatives were considered.<sup>300</sup> A restraint-use form may be useful for this purpose.



#### Case study

Mr M is 70 years old and was recently admitted to hospital for a routine hernia operation. He had no history of confusion but had recently fallen a number of times at home and suffered minor injuries. Immediately after the operation, Mr M became very confused, agitated and restless. He tried several times to get out of bed. Medical review indicated acute delirium, and medical management was instituted to address the cause. Given Mr M's current lack of awareness of his potential high risk of falling, he was allocated a bed in an area of high supervision and checked more frequently by nursing staff, and his family was contacted and asked to help by sitting with him. The family preferred this option rather than using restraints, when Mr M's cognitive impairment and risk of falling were explained to them.

## 16.3 Special considerations

## 16.3.1 Cognitive impairment

For patients with cognitive impairment who cannot stand or mobilise safely on their own, restraints should be used only after their falls risk has been evaluated and alternatives to restraint have been considered. If restraints are applied, they should be used only for limited periods and should be reviewed regularly. The use of physical restraints has been associated with delirium, and therefore their use should be kept to a minimum.<sup>301</sup> See Chapter 7 for more information on delirium.

## 16.4 Economic evaluation

in South Australia:

No economic evaluations were found that examined the cost effectiveness of restraints in the hospital setting.

*	Additional information
	Below are some useful guidelines, policy statements and tools for the use of restraints and alternatives:
	• Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing (2004). <i>Decision-Making Tool:</i> <i>Responding to Issues of Restraint in Aged Care</i> . This is a comprehensive resource that includes useful tools and flow charts:
	http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/ageing-decision-restraint.htm
	<ul> <li>Nursing Board of Tasmania (2008). Standards for the Use of Restraint for Nurses and Midwives 2008:</li> </ul>
	http://www.nursingboardtas.org.au/domino/nbt/nbtonline.nsf/\$LookupDocName/publications (and click on <i>Standards for the Use of Restraint for Nurses and Midwives 2008</i> )
	<ul> <li>Australian Medical Association (2001). Restraint in the Care of Older People 2001, position statement:</li> </ul>
	http://www.ama.com.au/node/1293
	• Nurses Board of South Australia (2008). Restraints: Guidelines for Nurses and Midwives

http://www.nmbsa.sa.gov.au/documents/Restraints-GuidelineforNursesandMidwives.pdf





## Part D Minimising injuries from falls



# 17 Hip protectors



#### Recommendations

#### Assessment

- When assessing a patient's need for hip protectors in hospital, staff should consider the patient's recent falls history, age, mobility and steadiness of gait, disability status, and whether they have osteoporosis or a low body mass index.
- Assessing the patient's cognition and independence in daily living skills (eg dexterity in dressing) may also help determine whether the patient will be able to use hip protectors.

#### Intervention

- Hip protectors must be worn correctly for any protective effect, and the hospital should introduce education and training for staff in the correct application of hip protectors. (Level II-\*)<sup>302</sup>
- When using hip protectors as part of a falls prevention strategy, hospital staff should check regularly that the patient is wearing their protectors, and ensure that the hip protectors are comfortable and the patient can put them on easily. (Level I-\*)<sup>303</sup>



#### Good practice points

- Although there is no evidence of the effectiveness of hip protectors in the hospital setting, their use can be considered in individual cases where the patient is able to tolerate wearing them, and has a high risk of injurious falls.
- If hip protectors are to be used, they must be fitted correctly and worn at all times.
- The use of hip protectors in hospitals is challenging but feasible in subacute wards. In hospital wards where patients are acutely ill (acute wards), effective use of hip protectors has not been shown to be possible.
- Hip protectors are a personal garment and should not be shared between patients.

## 17.1 Background and evidence

Hip fractures are fractures to the top of the femur (thigh bone) immediately below the hip joint, and are usually the result of a fall.<sup>303</sup> Hip fractures occur in approximately 1.65% of falls<sup>304</sup> and are one of the more severe injuries associated with a fall. They usually require surgery and lengthy rehabilitation, and many patients do not regain their previous level of mobility even after 12 months.<sup>122</sup> Pelvic fractures can also occur, although these are less common.

Hip protectors are one approach to reducing the risk of hip fracture. They come in various styles, and are designed to absorb or dissipate forces at the hip if a fall onto the hip area occurs. Hip protectors consist of undergarments with protective material inserted over the hip regions. They are sometimes called 'hip protector pads', 'protector shields' or 'external hip protector pads'. These guidelines refer to them all as hip protectors.

## 17.1.1 Studies on hip protector use

Early studies (up to 2001) on hip protectors seemed to show that they reduced the incidence of hip fractures in institutional settings, and so they were introduced widely into practice. However, design flaws in these studies limit the strength of their conclusions.<sup>303</sup> Nevertheless, there is some evidence that, when worn correctly, hip protectors may prevent hip fractures in older people in hospitals or residential aged care facilities – although more recent research indicates that their benefits may be less than originally thought.<sup>303</sup> Hip protectors can therefore be used as part of a multifactorial falls and injury prevention intervention in hospitals, although they will not prevent falls or protect other parts of the body.<sup>305</sup>

Whatever their effectiveness, hip protectors must be worn – and worn correctly – if they are to have any benefit. An Australian study looked at the feasibility of introducing hip protectors into the hospital ward environment.<sup>306</sup> Patients with the highest risk of falling were identified, using a falls risk assessment tool, and then encouraged to wear hip protectors for the rest of their time in hospital (n=30). Of these 30 patients, 29 wore the hip protectors for their remaining time in hospital, and 27 still wore the hip protectors two weeks after discharge. A questionnaire showed that nursing staff had high acceptance of hip protectors and only experienced minor problems with adherence and wearing hip protectors during the day. This study indicates that the use of hip protectors in the hospital setting may be useful; however, larger studies are needed.

## 17.1.2 Types of hip protectors

There are three types of hip protectors:

- Soft hip protectors (type A) are available in a variety of designs. Their common feature is that they are made from a soft material, rather than a rigid plastic shell.
- Hard hip protectors (type B) consist of a firmer, curved shell, sewn or slipped into a pocket in a lycra undergarment similar to underpants or bike pants. Most research on hip protectors has evaluated hard hip protectors.
- Adhesive hip protectors (type C) are stuck directly to the skin of the wearer. Few studies investigate this type of hip protector.

As a general observation, type A is preferred in hospitals, because type B is difficult to use due to laundering difficulties. The key factor for success appears to be the commitment of staff to patient care and quality improvement, particularly when this is supported by senior staff. Adherence of both the patient and staff is an issue in all environments and is lower in warmer climates (see Section 17.3.3).

## 17.1.3 How hip protectors work

Hip protectors work by absorbing the energy created by a fall or dispersing it away from the hip joint, so that the soft tissues and muscles of the surrounding thigh absorb the energy instead. The hard plastic hip protector shields divert the force of the fall from the bones of the hip to the surrounding muscles of the thigh. The soft hip protectors seem to work mainly by absorbing the energy of the fall. Hip protectors must be worn over the greater trochanter of the femur to be effective.

More than 95% of hip fractures occur from a fall with direct impact on the hip,<sup>235</sup> with only a small number of spontaneous fractures caused by osteoporosis or other bone pathology. Other hip fractures may occur if a person falls onto their buttock or if a rotational force through the neck of the femur is applied.<sup>307</sup>

The force generated by a fall from a standing height is large and has the potential to break the hip of a person of almost any age. The force applied to the femur near the hip in a fall from standing height is approximately 6000 newtons. The most effective padding system can reduce this to approximately 2000 newtons in a laboratory test.<sup>308</sup>

It is not necessary to wear a hip protector over a hip that has been surgically repaired with internal fixation or hip replacement, because the neck of the femur has been either replaced or reinforced (by hemiarthroplasty, or a pin and plate, etc).<sup>307</sup>

A randomised controlled trial of hip protectors noted adverse effects in 5% of people.<sup>309</sup> Hip protectors can cause bruising if the person falls onto the hip protector. Skin infections and pressure ulcers (bedsores) can develop under or around the area where a hip protector is worn.

Hip protectors can make toileting difficult for frail, older people. For example, older people can become less independent in everyday activities because of the extra time and effort needed to put on and take off the hip protectors (this can also cause incontinence in some people; see Chapter 8 on continence for more information).

## 17.1.4 Adherence with use of hip protectors

A disadvantage of hip protectors is a low level of adherence because of discomfort, practicality,<sup>310</sup> the extra effort needed to put them on, or urinary incontinence.<sup>311-314</sup> In some settings, cost might also be a barrier to hip protector use.<sup>315</sup>

Adherence with use of hip protectors is crucial to their effectiveness.<sup>316</sup> In the first reported randomised trial of hip protectors, only 24% of a subgroup of participants were wearing hip protectors when they fell.<sup>317</sup> This trial was included in a 2005 Cochrane review of hip protectors, and the other trials included also reported low adherence rates, which may have influenced the outcome.<sup>303</sup>

To help patients to keep wearing their hip protectors, the patient's needs and preferences must be matched with the availability of different types of undergarment material, removable or sewn-in hip protector shields and different styles of undergarments, including those allowing use of continence aids.<sup>318</sup> In many cases, adherence is most affected by the patient's motivation to wear the hip protectors,<sup>318</sup> and by the type of hip protector (eg hard, soft).<sup>303</sup> In other cases, wearing hip protectors may be a visual reminder of the consequences of falling, and cause the patient or their carer to modify their behaviour to minimise risk.<sup>303</sup>

The attitudes of staff in hospitals may have a substantial effect on whether a patient wears hip protection.<sup>319</sup>

Queensland Health developed a set of best practice guidelines for residential aged care facilities (which may also be useful for the hospital setting) that included the following feedback from focus groups and health professionals on why hip protectors were difficult to introduce as standard practice:<sup>247</sup>

- They caused skin rashes and increased perspiration.
- They were uncomfortable to sleep in and had the potential to cause pressure sores.
- They were difficult to launder, particularly for people with incontinence.
- Replacing hip protectors was costly.
- There were infection-control issues.
- Some older people refused to wear, or pulled out, hip protectors.
- They were considered too big or bulky, particularly with incontinence pads, catheters and dressings.
- They moved and could become uncomfortable.
- There was not enough information on how to fit hip protectors.
- Some staff did not always support older people to use hip protectors, or were sceptical about their efficacy.
- There were problems with price, style and comfort for the wearer, including image perception.



Point of interest: Cochrane review of hip protector use and adherence The 2005 Cochrane Collaboration review of hip protectors<sup>303</sup> contains tables that summarise the randomised trials of hip protectors.<sup>†</sup>

## 17.2 Principles of care

Because of the diversity of patients, service settings and climates, patients should have a choice of types and sizes of hip protectors. Soft, energy-absorbing shields are often reported as more comfortable for wearing in bed. A choice of underwear styles and materials means that problems with hot weather, discomfort and appearance can be addressed.

## 17.2.1 Assessing the use of hip protectors

When assessing a patient's need for hip protectors, hospital staff should consider the patient's recent history of falls, their age, their mobility, whether they have a disability, whether they are unsteady on their feet, and whether they have osteoporosis or osteomalacia. Assessing the patient's cognition and independence in daily living skills (eg dexterity in dressing) may also help determine whether they will be able to use hip protectors. Hospital staff can use a falls risk assessment tool (see Chapter 5) to help decide whether someone has a high risk of falling and therefore may be considered for the use of hip protectors.

## 17.2.2 Using hip protectors at night

Older patients' risk of falling can increase during the evening and night. Therefore, patients who have a high risk of falling, or osteoporosis, or a history of falling at night, may benefit from wearing hip protectors when they go to bed. The soft pads (type A) are relatively comfortable when correctly positioned and can be worn more easily in bed than the hard shell protectors (type B) because they are less obtrusive.<sup>247</sup>

## 17.2.3 Cost of hip protectors

Cost of hip protectors appears to be a factor influencing uptake, particularly where they are supplied by the facility. Reimbursement by private health funds or by appliance supply schemes may improve this problem. It is unclear to what degree cost affects adherence with longer term use of hip protectors (see Section 17.4 on economic evaluation).

## 17.2.4 Training in hip protector use

Fitting and managing hip protectors are often the responsibilities of a particular member of the health team. Nurses and other care staff are in a key position to encourage adherence with use of hip protectors, because they often help frail older people with dressing, bathing and toileting. Nurses and other care staff should have education and support in developing strategies to encourage adherence with, and correct application of, hip protectors.

Two studies have researched the benefits of training staff in the correct application, rationale for use, and importance of encouraging the use of hip protectors.<sup>302,320</sup> Training the individual wearer may also improve adherence, by addressing any barriers that the person sees in wearing hip protectors and providing precise instructions and demonstration on how to wear them.

Before the patient starts wearing hip protectors, health care staff and carers should discuss arrangements for cleaning the hip protectors. Washing in domestic washing machines and dryers is feasible, but some hip protectors will not withstand commercial laundering. Although self-adhesive hip protectors may be appealing in some respects (eg the patient can use their own undergarments), it is unclear whether they can be safely used in the long term.
#### 17.2.5 Review and monitoring

Currently, the design and production of hip protectors is unregulated, and there are no national or international testing procedures for their effectiveness.<sup>303</sup>

A standard definition of adherence with use of hip protectors should be used when reviewing and monitoring their use.<sup>321</sup> The most easily measured marker of adherence is the number of 'protected falls', which is the proportion of falls in which a hip protector is worn.



#### Case study

Mrs J was hospitalised after a fall in which she sustained a fractured pelvis. In the rehabilitation ward, she agreed to use hip protectors. The ward nurses showed her how to use the hip protectors and encouraged their use in hospital. She continued to wear them at home after discharge from hospital. Mrs J's adherence with use of the hip protectors was checked when she attended the clinic for a follow-up visit. While watering her garden, Mrs J fell onto the hip protectors. It is likely that a fracture was prevented as she had a bruise on her upper thigh under the hip protector.

#### 17.3 Special considerations

#### 17.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Patients with cognitive impairment have a higher prevalence of falls and fractures<sup>322</sup> and should be considered for hip protector use. These patients often need help to use hip protectors in the first instance, and then to continue wearing them. Hip protectors may need to be used with an additional risk management strategy for patients known to have balance difficulties and who wander.

#### 17.3.2 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

The use of hip protectors in people from Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups has not been researched specifically. Firmly fitting underwear may be unfamiliar in some cultures, but the extent to which this may influence adherence with use of hip protectors is unknown.

#### 17.3.3 Climate

Much of the research in relation to hip protectors has been done in cooler climates. Adherence in warmer and more humid areas may be problematic.

#### 17.4 Economic evaluation

The effectiveness of hip protectors in hospitals is uncertain. No economic evaluations have examined the cost effectiveness of hip protectors in the hospital setting. A number of analyses considered the use of hip protectors in other settings (such as residential care or mixed residential care/community settings); however, it is uncertain whether the results of these analyses are applicable in the hospital setting because of differences in patient characteristics and likely resource use across the settings. In addition, many of the analyses conducted in a mixed or residential care setting have methodological limitations, such as the use of optimistic estimates of efficacy, adherence, and quality of life impacts of wearing hip protectors (see Chapter 16 in the community guidelines and Chapter 17 in the residential aged care guidelines for more information).

#### Additional information

- The following appendices and website provide additional information:
- Appendix 6 contains a checklist of issues to consider before using hip protectors.<sup>318</sup>
- Appendix 7 is a sample hip protector care plan.
- Appendix 8 is a sample hip protector observation record.
- The description of the educational program used in the study of Meyer and colleagues<sup>302</sup> provides a guide to hip protector implementation in residential aged care facilities (Appendix 9).
- Cochrane Collaboration website the Cochrane Library: http://www.thecochranelibrary.org (and search for 'hip protectors').



# 18 Vitamin D and calcium supplementation



• As part of discharge planning, any introduction of vitamin D and calcium supplementation should be conveyed to the person's general practitioner or health practitioner.

and vitamin D. This information should be included in discharge recommendations.

#### 18.1 Background and evidence

Low vitamin D levels have been associated with reduced bone mineral density, high bone turnover and increased risk of hip fracture.<sup>323</sup> Furthermore, vitamin D may prevent falls by improving muscle strength and psychomotor performance, independently of any other role in maintaining bone mineral density.<sup>324,325</sup>



Point of interest: how vitamin D reduces the risk of falling

The active vitamin D metabolite (25-hydroxyvitamin D) binds to a highly specific nuclear receptor in muscle tissue. This improves muscle function, which may be the reason that vitamin D reduces the risk of falling.<sup>324</sup> Furthermore, vitamin D deficiency has also been associated with osteoporosis, urinary incontinence, cognitive decline and macular degeneration.<sup>326</sup>

Vitamin D levels are measured by blood 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) levels. The levels of 25(OH)D that were previously recommended for adequate vitamin D stores are now thought to be too low.<sup>323,327</sup> The incidence of vitamin D deficiency (25(OH)D levels less than 25 nmol/L) in Australia has been reported as 22-86% in residential aged care, 67% of geriatric hospital admissions, and 61% of people experiencing hip fractures.<sup>323</sup> Another study found that, in Australia, 86% of women and 68% of men in residential aged care facilities (RACFs) have frank vitamin D deficiency, and virtually all the remainder have a level in the lower half of the reference range.<sup>328</sup>

People at high risk of vitamin D deficiency include older people (particularly in RACFs), those with skin conditions that require them to avoid the sun, dark-skinned people (particularly if veiled), and people with malabsorption.<sup>323</sup> Vitamin D deficiency is significantly more common among people with dementia and people from culturally and linguistically diverse groups.<sup>329</sup>

Intervention to improve levels of vitamin D has used a range of approaches with varying success levels, including vitamin D supplementation alone, vitamin D supplementation with calcium supplementation, and exposure to sunlight. Older people in hospital are discharged to both the community and RACF settings; therefore, the evidence and recommendations for both settings are considered here. These are explained in the following sections.

Nutrition management is an important element of good aged care practice, and can play an important role in some aspects of falls prevention, directly and indirectly (eg good nutrition is required to gain optimal effect from an exercise program). Other than vitamin D and calcium supplementation (and related nutritional involvement in osteoporosis management), nutrition is not included as a separate core falls prevention activity in these guidelines, because it is an area with limited research to guide best practice in falls prevention to date (see Appendix 10 for a chart for monitoring food and fluid intake, and Appendix 11 for food guidelines for calcium intake for preventing falls in older people).

# 18.1.1 Vitamin D supplementation (with or without calcium) in the community setting

A high-quality systematic review (a Cochrane review) analysed 111 randomised controlled trials (RCTs) of various falls prevention interventions for older people living in the community.<sup>31</sup> The review included RCTs that assessed vitamin D supplementation, with or without calcium supplementation (among other interventions, such as exercise and multifactorial falls prevention programs). The review found no evidence for an effect of vitamin D (with or without calcium supplementation) on the rate or risk of falling. However, a subgroup analysis of people with vitamin D deficiency showed a significant reduction in both the rate and risk of falls – although this result must be interpreted with caution and followed up with further research.

A study of the alfacalcidol form of vitamin D supplementation in older people who live in the community, and who are not vitamin D deficient, supports the hypothesis that treatment with vitamin D (or its analogues) requires a minimum daily calcium intake of 500 mg/day to produce clinically significant results.<sup>327</sup> The Australian recommended daily intake (RDI) for calcium in older people is 800 mg for men and 1000 mg for women.<sup>330</sup> However, this level may be too low, with other sources recommending daily intake of 1500 mg for both men and women.<sup>331</sup>

Vitamin D analogues (eg calcitriol – 1,25(OH)2D3) are associated with adverse effects, such as hypercalcaemia. In a position paper on vitamin D and adult bone health, the Australian Working Group of the Australian and New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society, the Endocrine Society of Australia and Osteoporosis Australia state that calcitriol is not appropriate for treating patients with deprivational vitamin D deficiency because it has a narrow therapeutic window, may result in hypercalcaemia or hypercalciuria, and does not increase serum 25(OH)D levels.<sup>332</sup>

#### 18.1.2 Vitamin D combined with calcium supplementation in the RACF setting

A high-quality systematic review (a Cochrane review) looked at interventions — including vitamin D supplementation — for preventing falls in the hospital and RACF settings.<sup>31</sup> The review included five trials in total, two of which were similar enough for the data to be pooled. The pooled results showed that vitamin D with calcium appeared to be effective in preventing falls in long-term residents of RACFs, and that the benefits of supplementation were more certain in people who had low serum vitamin D.

#### 18.1.3 Vitamin D supplementation alone in RACF settings

There is uncertainty about the effect of vitamin D supplementation without calcium. A meta-analysis found that vitamin D supplementation appears to reduce the risk of falls among ambulatory or institutionalised older people with stable health by more than 20%.<sup>324</sup> Although not looking at the same outcome, an earlier Cochrane review of vitamin D for preventing fractures associated with osteoporosis reported uncertainty about the efficacy of regimens.<sup>242</sup> In this review, vitamin D without any calcium cosupplementation was not associated with a reduced risk of hip fracture or other nonvertebral fractures.<sup>242,333</sup> The position paper on vitamin D and adult bone health from the Working Group of the Australian and New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society, the Endocrine Society of Australia and Osteoporosis Australia states that calcium is likely to be needed with vitamin D to reduce fracture rates, because most studies have used a combination of vitamin D and calcium supplementation.<sup>332</sup>

#### 18.1.4 Vitamin D, sunlight and winter in the community setting

The main source of vitamin D is from sunlight.<sup>330</sup> Evidence suggests that sourcing vitamin D from dietary intake alone is not sufficient.<sup>323</sup>

Sun exposure may not work if the skin of older adults does not convert cholesterol precursors to vitamin D efficiently. Additionally, sun exposure recommendations are difficult to implement in frailer people. In the absence of routine fortification of food with vitamin D, sunlight exposure or vitamin D supplementation are the only reasonable options to ensure adequate levels of calcitriol.

The Geelong Osteoporosis Study found that in winter there was reduced serum vitamin D, increased bone resorption and an increase in the proportion of falls resulting in fracture.<sup>334</sup> The role of vitamin D supplementation during the Australian winter has yet to be investigated.



#### Point of interest: vitamin D and latitude

Little vitamin D is produced beyond latitudes of about 35° (ie Victoria and Tasmania) in winter, especially in older people. This is because of an increase in the zenith angle of the sun (angle between directly overhead and a line through the sun), resulting in more photons being absorbed by the stratospheric ozone layer.<sup>335</sup>

#### 18.1.5 Toxicity and dose

Toxicity of vitamin D cannot be caused by prolonged sun exposure; however, it can occur from supplementation with vitamin D.<sup>330</sup> Hypercalcaemia may occur if vitamin D is given, particularly in the form of the vitamin D analogues,<sup>242</sup> and calcitriol is not recommended.<sup>332</sup> However, toxicity with cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) up to 10000 IU daily is rare and occurs predominantly if dietary or oral calcium supplements are high, or if granulomatous disorders are present. There is no RDI for vitamin D, although trials that show benefit from vitamin D have used a minimum of 800 IU daily. The United States Institute of Medicine's Food and Nutrition Board proposes a daily vitamin D intake of 600 IU in people over 71 years of age.<sup>323</sup> In Australia and New Zealand, a minimum daily dose of 400 IU is recommended, with higher doses required for those with vitamin D (25(OH)D) levels lower than 50 nmol/L.<sup>332</sup>

#### 18.2 Principles of care

#### 18.2.1 Assess vitamin D adequacy

Dieticians, nutrition and dietetic support staff, or nursing and medical staff, can collect information on eating habits, food preferences, meal patterns, food intake and sunlight exposure. To do this, they can use:

- food preference records
- food and fluid intake records (see Appendix 10)
- 25(OH)D blood levels.

#### 18.2.2 Ensure minimum sun exposure to prevent vitamin D deficiency

Osteoporosis Australia (in association with the Cancer Council Australia) recommends that, for most older Australians, vitamin D deficiency can be prevented by 5–15 minutes exposure of the face and upper limbs to sunlight four to six times each week, although deliberate exposure to sunlight between 10 am and 3 pm in the summer months for more than 15 minutes is not advised.

If this modest sunlight exposure is not possible, a vitamin D supplement of at least 800 IU per day is recommended.

#### 18.2.3 Consider vitamin D and calcium supplementation

Hospitalisation of an older person provides an opportunity for comprehensive health care assessment and intervention. There is no direct evidence to suggest that calcium and vitamin D supplementation will prevent falls in hospital; however, because most older people will return home or to their RACF, hospitalisation should be viewed as an opportunity to identify and address falls risk factors, including adequacy of calcium and vitamin D.

For confirmed cases of vitamin D deficiency, supplementation with 3000–5000 IU per day for at least one month is required to replenish body stores. Increased availability of larger dose preparations of cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) would be a useful therapy in the case of severe deficiencies.<sup>323,332,336</sup>

For most older adults in long-term care in Australia, it is appropriate to supplement with 1000 IU vitamin D without measuring 25(0H)D blood levels. This is based on the prevalence of deficiency, and the low risk and benefit of supplementing with vitamin D in this untargeted way to prevent hip fractures.<sup>323,337,338</sup>

#### 18.2.4 Encourage patients to include foods high in calcium in their diet

The food guidelines in Appendix 11, which outline calcium and vitamin dietary suggestions and hints, are useful for encouraging people to include more calcium in their diet.<sup>339</sup> Referral to a dietician may be appropriate if a person is having trouble consuming adequate calcium, has lactose intolerance, does not include calcium as a normal part of their diet (culturally) or does not consume dairy foods (eg they follow a vegan diet).

# 18.2.5 Discourage patients from consuming foods that prevent calcium absorption

Oral calcium intake needs to meet the RDI. Patients should be discouraged from consuming too many foodstuffs that lower or prevent calcium absorption (eg caffeine, soft drinks containing phosphoric acid). Instead, they should be encouraged to include foods high in calcium in their diet.

Analysis of food intake records or diet history should show a daily intake of calcium of 800 mg for men and 1000 mg for women.<sup>339</sup>

#### Case study

Mrs F was admitted to hospital following a fall. In keeping with her culture and religious beliefs, she only allows her face, hands and feet to be exposed. Blood tests revealed severe vitamin D deficiency — a vitamin D level of 12 nmol/L. Mrs F's deficiency was initially managed with one month of 3000 IU units of vitamin D each day. This was reduced to 800 IU daily after the initial period of replacement.

Because Mrs F was admitted to hospital after a fall, hospital staff reviewed her medications while she was in hospital, and an occupational therapist undertook a home assessment before she was discharged.

#### 18.3 Special considerations

#### 18.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Cognitive impairment can be associated with nutritional deficiencies, including a reduced calcium and vitamin D intake in the diet. Hospital staff should monitor patients' oral intake closely, and refer them to a dietician if intake is low. Oral calcium and vitamin D supplementation are frequently required to maintain levels of both calcium and vitamin D in this population.

#### 18.3.2 Indigenous and culturally and linguistically diverse groups

Increased skin pigment reduces the amount of vitamin D production after sun exposure, so dark-skinned people are more susceptible to low vitamin D levels. People who are heavily clothed and veiled for religious or cultural reasons are also at increased risk of low vitamin D levels.

#### 18.4 Economic evaluation

A number of vitamin D and calcium-based compounds are publicly funded via the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. See Chapter 19 on osteoporosis management for more information.



#### Additional information

The following useful publications provide information on dietary intake of vitamin D and calcium:

- National Health and Medical Research Council (2003). *Dietary Guidelines for All Australians:* http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/publications/synopses/dietsyn.htm
- Nowson CA, Diamond TH, Pasco JA, Mason RS, Sambrook PN and Eisman JA (2004). Vitamin D in Australia: issues and recommendations. *Australian Family Physician* 33(3):133-138:

http://www.osteoporosis.org.au/files/research/vitamind\_nowson\_2004.pdf

- Osteoporosis Australia (2005). Recommendations from the Vitamin D and Calcium Forum (Melbourne, 28-29 July 2005). *Medicine Today* 6(12):43-50: http://www.osteoporosis.org.au/files/research/Vitdforum\_OA\_2005.pdf
- Working Group of the Australian and New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society, Endocrine Society of Australia and Osteoporosis Australia (2005). Vitamin D and adult bone health in Australia and New Zealand: a position statement. *Medical Journal of Australia* 182:281-285.

Osteoporosis Australia provides information and resources to reduce fractures and improve bone health in the community:

http://www.osteoporosis.org.au/



# 19 Osteoporosis management

#### Recommendations

#### Assessment

• Patients with a history of recurrent falls should be considered for a bone health check. Also, patients who sustain a minimal-trauma fracture should be assessed for their risk of falls.

#### Intervention

- People with diagnosed osteoporosis or a history of low-trauma fracture should be offered treatment for which there is evidence of benefit. (Level I)<sup>283</sup>
- Hospitals should establish protocols to increase the rate of osteoporosis treatment in patients who have sustained their first osteoporotic fracture. (Level IV)<sup>340</sup>



#### Good practice points

- The health care team should consider strategies for minimising unnecessary bedrest (to maintain bone mineral density), protecting bones, improving environmental safety and vitamin D prescription, and this information should be included in discharge recommendations.
- When using osteoporosis treatments, patients should be co-prescribed vitamin D with calcium.

#### 19.1 Background and evidence

#### 19.1.1 Falls and fractures

Only a small proportion of falls result in fractures and most, if not all, fractures occur after falls.<sup>341</sup> Bone mineral density is an important measure in predicting fractures in both men and women, and quadriceps strength and postural sway are of similar importance in predicting fractures.<sup>342</sup> No therapy is likely to normalise bone mineral density, but small improvements can reduce fracture risk.<sup>343</sup>

With this in mind, interventions that prevent falls risk may prevent fractures, even if bone density is not altered. This is of particular relevance to the very old, whose low bone density places them at particular risk, and in whom each additional fall increases the likelihood of a fracture.

#### 19.1.2 Diagnosing osteoporosis

Osteoporosis Australia (a national nongovernment organisation that aims to reduce fractures and improve bone health in the community) states that the presence of osteoporosis can sometimes be recognised by a fracture, usually of the wrist, hip or spine; an increased curve of the thoracic (mid) spine; or loss of height.<sup>344</sup> A 30% loss of anterior vertebral height is sufficient to diagnose osteoporosis for the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS).

Osteoporosis is diagnosed by having a bone mineral density test. There are several methods for testing bone density. The most reliable and accurate test is the DXA test (dual energy X-ray absorptiometry), which is widely available in Australia. All bone mineral density tests measure the amount of mineral in a specific area of bone. The DXA test will give results as the following two scores:<sup>344</sup>

- *Tscore*, which compares bone density with that of an average young adult of the same sex. A T score of zero means that bones are the same density as the average younger population, and no treatment is necessary. A T score above one means that bones are denser than the average younger population. A T score below zero means that bones are less dense than the average younger population. Treatment should be considered if the score is below one (osteopaenia = 1 to -2.5) and there are several clinical risk factors for osteoporosis. T scores below -2.5 indicate osteoporosis, and treatment is strongly recommended to stop further bone loss and fractures.
- *Z score*, which compares bone density with the average for the person's age group and sex. If the Z score is zero, bones are average for the person's age and sex. Below zero indicates that bones are below average density, and above zero indicates that bones are above average density for age. A Z score below –2 means that bone is being lost more rapidly than in matched peers, so treatment needs to be monitored carefully. A Z score below –2 may also indicate that an underlying disease is responsible for the osteoporosis.

Hospital staff (particularly in emergency departments) should be vigilant in detecting anyone who has obvious manifestations of osteoporosis (eg thoracic kyphosis, a new low-trauma fracture). Also, people with multiple risk factors for osteoporosis may be detected opportunistically in hospitals, particularly in general medical inpatients.

# Part D Minimising injuries from falls

#### 19.1.3 Evidence for interventions

A previous fracture is one of the strongest risk factors for future fracture.<sup>340</sup> However, studies suggest that many people who sustain fractures do not undergo investigation or treatment for osteoporosis, or are not treated adequately to reduce future fracture risk, even when a diagnosis of osteoporosis has been made.<sup>345,346</sup>

Despite this, several effective drug treatments are now available. A meta-analysis and various randomised controlled trials have shown beneficial effects of oral or intravenous bisphosphonates in postmenopausal women who have low bone density;<sup>347,348</sup> a systematic review has shown the benefits of selective oestrogen receptor modulators in postmenopausal women with osteoporosis;<sup>349</sup> and a randomised controlled trial has shown the benefits of strontium ranelate for preventing osteoporosis in postmenopausal women.<sup>350</sup> These drugs are now considered the first-line treatments for osteoporosis.

As most of the randomised controlled trials of antiresorptive agents have used concomitant calcium and vitamin D (see Chapter 18), it is appropriate to ensure that vitamin D deficiency is corrected and to add a calcium supplement to these therapies when dietary calcium intake is suboptimal.

#### **Bisphosphonates**

Bisphosphonates are potent inhibitors of bone resorption. They stick to the bone surface and make the cells that destroy bone tissue less effective. This allows bone-rebuilding cells to work more effectively, resulting in increased bone density.<sup>344,348</sup> Currently, four bisphosphonates are available on the PBS to treat osteoporosis. The following three medications are available for men and postmenopausal women with an osteoporotic fracture:<sup>344</sup>

- risedronate (Actonel, Actonel Combi and Actonel Combi D), which increases bone density and reduces the risk or frequency of fractures at the spine and hip in postmenopausal women who have low bone density<sup>348</sup>
- alendronate (Fosamax, Fosamax Plus, Alendro), which increases bone density and reduces frequency of fractures at the hip and spine
- zoledronic acid (Aclasta), which is also used to treat osteoporosis in postmenopausal women or to
  prevent additional fractures in men and women who have recently had a hip fracture; because zoledronic
  acid works for a long time, only a single dose is required each year, making this osteoporosis therapy
  advantageous for frail older people living in the community or residential aged care.

A fourth bisphosponate medication is also available for osteoporosis:

• etidronate (Didrocal), which increases bone density and reduces risk of fractures in the spine, but not the hip.<sup>283,344,351</sup>

An association between bisphosponate use and a rare dental condition termed osteonecrosis of the jaw has been reported.<sup>348</sup> Osteoporosis Australia recommends that the small risk of this condition needs to be considered against the significantly reduced risk of fracture and other skeletal complications in older people with established osteoporosis. One approach is to ensure appropriate oral health and dental treatment before prescription, particularly if high doses or intravenous drugs are prescribed, or if a dental extraction is already planned.<sup>352</sup>

Alendronate and risedronate have been associated with adverse gastrointestinal effects (eg dyspepsia, abdominal pain, oesophageal ulceration).<sup>348</sup> Therefore, patients who have reflux oesophagitis or hiatus hernia should be screened before use.<sup>352</sup> Most studies have shown that the overall risk of adverse gastrointestinal events associated with risedronate or alendronate use is low, although a small number of studies report the opposite.<sup>353</sup> There is also evidence that risedronate is less risky than alendronate.<sup>354</sup> The potential for gastrointestinal side effects from either drug is lowered when the dosing is decreased to once per week.<sup>354</sup>

#### Selective oestrogen receptor modulators

Selective oestrogen receptor modulators (SERMs) are a special class of drug with many features similar to oestrogen used in hormone replacement therapy; however, they do not stimulate the breast and uterus tissues. As a result, SERMs have the positive effect of oestrogens on bone without increasing the risk of breast and uterine cancer. Raloxifene (Evista) increases bone density and reduces the risk of fractures in the spine. Evidence also shows it reduces the incidence of breast cancer.<sup>283,344,351</sup> However, SERMS have been associated with an increased risk of venous thromboembolism.<sup>355</sup>

#### Strontium ranelate

Strontium ranelate has been shown in randomised controlled trials to reduce the risk of both vertebral and peripheral fractures.<sup>350</sup> Strontium ranelate is the only antiosteoporotic agent that both increases bone formation markers and reduces bone resorption markers, resulting in a rebalance of bone turnover in favour of bone formation.

#### 19.2 Principles of care

Screening for osteoporosis is important for minimising falls-related injuries. It is important to recognise that patients sustaining low-trauma fractures after the age of 60 years probably have osteoporosis and an increased risk of subsequent fracture.<sup>356,357</sup> Bone densitometry and specific antiosteoporosis therapy should be considered in these patients. Also, older patients with a history of recurrent falls should be considered for a bone health check.

In both cases (recurrent fallers and those sustaining low-trauma fractures), the health care team should consider strategies for optimising function, minimising a long lie on the floor, protecting bones, improving environmental safety and vitamin D prescription.<sup>358,359</sup>

Postmenopausal women who have low bone density, or who have already had one fracture in their spine or wrist, should be treated with a bisphosphonate (such as risedronate) to reduce their risk of further fractures in the spine or hip.<sup>348</sup> Consider using bisphosphonates, strontium or raloxifene to reduce the risk of vertebral fractures and increase bone density in older men at risk of osteoporosis (ie those with a low body mass index). Bisphosphonates work best in people with adequate vitamin D and calcium levels, and should therefore be co-prescribed.

Hospitals should establish protocols to increase the rate of osteoporosis treatment in patients who have sustained their first osteoporotic fracture.<sup>340</sup>

#### 19.2.1 Review and monitoring

A good practice clinical indicator among hospital populations may be to review medication charts to see whether vitamin D supplements are being ordered and adjust for the number of patients who go outside regularly and for the latitude of the facility. Also, identify whether patients sustaining fractures are reviewed with regard to the possible diagnosis of osteoporosis. Finally, it may be possible to compare fracture rates in patients treated with specific antiosteoporosis therapy with those in patients not receiving therapy, if patients can be matched on a number of other key domains, such as age, sex and falls risk.



#### Case study

Mrs E, who is 75 years old, fell and fractured her humerus (upper arm), and was admitted to her local hospital. Specific questioning revealed that she had an early menopause and that she rarely goes outside because of concern about skin cancer. The orthopaedic surgeon treated her fracture. The nurse at the hospital clinic asked the doctor whether the fracture was related to osteoporosis and whether there was some way to reduce the chance of further similar falls and fractures. As a result of their discussion, the surgeon suggested that Mrs E start taking calcium and vitamin D and referred her to the osteoporosis clinic for a weekly bisphosphonate review, a nutritional review, and strength and balance training.

#### 19.3 Special considerations

#### 19.3.1 Cognitive impairment

Some people with cognitive impairment need to be supervised in the correct and safe manner of taking some oral bisphosphonates. This is because there are restrictions on lying down or eating after taking these medications.

#### 19.4 Economic evaluation

A number of antiresorptive agents (such as bisphosphonates and strontium) and vitamin D analogues (alone or in combination with antiresportive agents) are available on the PBS for treatment of osteoporosis (prevention of fracture) in specific patient populations. The safety, effectiveness and cost effectiveness of these agents have been reviewed by the Pharmaceutical Benefits Advisory Committee. The fact that these agents are subsidised by the PBS indicates that they offer acceptable value for money in the Australian context, for specific patient populations.

Table 19.1 shows specific PBS subsidy details for various agents affecting bone mineral density (current at 27 August 2009).

Drug	Subsidised indications
Alendronate Alendronate + cholecalciferol Risedronate Risedronate + calcium carbonate Risedronate + calcium carbonate + cholecalciferol	Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for osteoporosis in a patient aged 70 years or older with a bone mineral density T-score of –3.0 or less. Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for established osteoporosis in patients with fracture due to minimal trauma.
Etidronate + calcium carbonate	Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for established osteoporosis in patients with fracture due to minimal trauma.
Zoledronic acid	Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for (a) established osteoporosis in women with fracture due to minimal trauma; (b) established osteoporosis in men with hip fracture due to minimal trauma; or (c) osteoporosis in women aged 70 years or older, with a bone mineral density T-score of $-3.0$ or less (only one treatment each year for three consecutive years per patient is subsidised).
Calcitriol	Treatment for established osteoporosis in patients with fracture due to minimal trauma.
Raloxifene	Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for established postmenopausal osteoporosis in patients with fracture due to minimal trauma.
Strontium ranelate	Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for osteoporosis in a woman aged 70 years or older with a bone mineral density T-score of –3.0 or less. Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised antiresorptive agent for established postmenopausal osteoporosis in patients with fracture due to minimal trauma.

#### Table 19.1 Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme details for osteoporosis drugs

Drug	Subsidised indications
Teriparatide	Treatment as the sole PBS-subsidised agent by a specialist or consultant physician, for severe, established osteoporosis in a patient with a very high risk of fracture who (a) has a bone mineral density T-score of $-3.0$ or less; and (b) has had two or more fractures due to minimal trauma; and (c) has experienced at least one symptomatic new fracture after at least 12 months continuous therapy with an antiresorptive agent at adequate doses.

Note: All agents require authority permission for prescription.



#### Additional information

- For readers seeking definitive information on osteoporosis management, particularly related to medication management, the following resources are recommended:
- The National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, an independent organisation in the United Kingdom, produces clinical practice guidelines, including guidelines on osteoporosis management, based on the best available evidence. The guidelines contain recommendations on the appropriate treatment and care of people with specific diseases and conditions: http://www.nice.org.uk/.
- Osteoporosis Australia is a national organisation that aims to reduce fractures and improve bone health in the community. It provides information kits on falls and fractures. Phone: 02 9518 8140
   Fax: 02 9518 6306
   Toll free: 1800 242 141
   http://www.osteoporosis.org.au/html/index.php





# Part E Responding to falls



# 20 Post-fall management



#### Good practice points

- Hospital staff should report and document all falls.
- It is advisable to ask a patient whether they remember the sensation of falling or whether they think that they blacked out, because many patients who have syncope are unsure whether they blacked out.
- Staff should follow the hospital protocol or guidelines for managing patients immediately after a fall.
- After the immediate follow-up of a fall, determine how and why a fall may have occurred, and implement actions to reduce the risk of another fall.
- Analysing falls is one of the key ways to prevent future falls. Organisational learning from this analysis can be used to inform practice and policies, and to prevent future falls. A post-fall analysis should lead to an interdisciplinary care plan to reduce the risk of future falls and injuries, and address any identified comorbidities or falls risk factors.
- An in-depth analysis of the fall (eg a root-cause analysis) is required if there has been a serious injury following a fall, or if a death has resulted from a fall.

#### 20.1 Background

Hospital staff must take all falls seriously, because falls may be the first and main indication of another underlying and treatable problem in a patient.<sup>45</sup> Older people who fall are also more likely to fall again.<sup>360</sup> All hospital staff should be aware of what constitutes a fall (see Section 1.3.1 for a definition), what to do when a patient falls, and what follow-up is necessary (including completing a falls form). This chapter describes the responsibilities of hospital staff after a patient has fallen.

#### 20.2 Responding to falls

Hospital staff should review the circumstances of every patient fall (eg do a root-cause analysis; see below), because doing so may guide the actions taken to reduce the incidence of further falls.<sup>43</sup> Staff should also complete a falls report, including recommendations for the immediate and longer term care required to manage consequences of the falls (injuries, loss of confidence) and to minimise risk of future falls.<sup>4</sup>

The circumstances surrounding a fall are of critical importance. However, this information is often difficult to obtain and may need to be sourced from people other than the patients themselves, including staff, visitors and other patients sharing the same ward. This may be particularly important if the patient does not recall, on direct questioning, the circumstances of the fall or hitting the ground.

Hospitals should have their own falls policy, or follow a clinical practice guideline for preventing and responding to falls. Staff should be made aware of, and have access to, these policies or guidelines. The following checklist for hospital staff is a guide to what should be included in a falls policy.

#### Checklist for managing the patient immediately after a fall

Offer basic life support and provide reassurance

- Check for ongoing danger.
- Check whether the patient is responsive (eg responds to verbal or physical stimulus).
- Check the patient's airways, breathing and circulation.
- Reassure and comfort the patient.45,247

#### Take baseline measurements

 Conduct a preliminary assessment that includes taking baseline measurements of pulse, blood pressure, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation and blood sugar levels. If the patient has hit their head, or if their fall was unwitnessed, record neurological observations (eg using the Glasgow Coma Scale).<sup>45</sup>

#### Check for injuries

- Check for signs of injury, including abrasion, contusion, laceration, fracture and head injury.<sup>45,247,361</sup>
- Observe changes in the level of consciousness, headache, amnesia or vomiting.

#### Move the patient

 Assess whether it is safe to move the patient from their position, and identify any special considerations in moving them. Staff members should use a lifting device rather than trying to lift the person on their own. Follow the hospital's policy or guideline on lifting.<sup>45,362</sup>

#### Monitor the patient

- Observe patients who have fallen and who are taking anticoagulants or antiplatelets (blood-thinning medications) carefully, because they have an increased risk of bleeding and intercranial haemorrhage. Patients with a history of alcohol abuse may be more prone to bleeding.
- Arrange for ongoing monitoring of the patient, because some injuries may not be apparent at the time of the fall.<sup>247</sup> Make sure that hospital staff know the type, frequency and duration of the observations that are required.

#### Report the fall

- Report all falls to a medical officer, even if injuries are not apparent.<sup>361</sup>
   Document all details in the patient's medical record, including their observations, appearance or response; evidence of injury; location of the fall; notification of medical provider; and actions taken.<sup>247,361</sup>
- Complete a falls reporting form according to local policy guidelines for all falls,<sup>45,247,361</sup> regardless of where the fall occurred, or whether the patient was injured.
- Note any details of the fall for reference in reporting the fall, including the patient's description of the fall, if possible.<sup>45,361</sup> As a minimum, this should include the location and time of the fall, what the patient was doing immediately before they fell, the mechanisms of the fall (eg slip, trip, overbalance, dizziness), and whether they lost consciousness or had a conscious collapse.

#### Discuss the fall and future risk management

- Communicate to all relevant staff, family and carers that the patient has fallen and has an increased risk of falling again.<sup>361</sup> At the earliest opportunity, notify the person nominated to be contacted in case of an emergency.<sup>45,361</sup>
- Discuss the circumstances of the fall, its consequences, and actions planned to reduce future falling risk with the patient and their family.
- Assume that once a patient has fallen, they automatically become at high risk of falling again until they have been assessed.<sup>247</sup>
- Follow local guidelines for identifying patients as being at increased risk of falling.

#### 20.2.1 Post-fall follow-up

After the fall, determine how and why a fall may have occurred, and implement actions to reduce the risk of another fall. To do this, complete the following steps:

- Investigate the cause of the fall, including assessing for delirium.
- Review the implementation of existing falls prevention strategies.<sup>247,361</sup>
- Complete a falls risk assessment (see Chapter 5), because new risk factors may be present.<sup>247,361</sup>
- Implement a targeted, individualised plan for daily care, based on the findings of the falls risk assessment tool. Multifactorial interventions should be carried out as appropriate. They may include, but are not limited to, gait assessment, balance and exercise programs, footwear review, medication review, hypotension management, increased observation, environmental modification and treatment of cardiovascular disorders.<sup>363</sup> This will often involve referral to other members of the health care team.
- Encourage the patient to resume their normal level of activity, because many older people are apprehensive after a fall, and the fear of falling is a strong predictor of future falls.<sup>322</sup>
- Consider the use of injury-prevention interventions (see Part D).247,361
- Consider investigations for osteoporosis in the presence of low-trauma fractures.
- Ensure effective communication of assessment and management recommendations to everyone involved.<sup>247,361</sup>

#### 20.3 Analysing the fall

A more in-depth analysis of the fall may be required, particularly where there has been a serious injury or adverse outcome for the patient. A review of a serious fall can address both individual and broader system issues to provide greater understanding of causation and future prevention. This is sometimes known as a root-cause analysis. A root-cause analysis is always required if a fall results in serious injury or death. In some jurisdictions, a fall in hospital that results in death must be reported to the state coroner. Each hospital should have a falls review process in place.

#### 20.4 Reporting and recording falls

Accurate reporting of falls will occur only in a culture that is fair and just – that is, a 'no blame culture'. Staff often feel anxious when having to complete a falls form and can associate the fall with feelings of guilt and blame. For accurate reporting of falls, the leaders in the health service must promote falls reporting as a part of the improvement process, rather than a punitive tool to identify potential staff negligence.<sup>364</sup> This requires a fair and just culture for achieving safe and high-quality health care services.

For high-quality care and risk management, information about falls must be collected and collated to monitor falls incidence, identify falls patterns, identify ways of preventing future falls and provide feedback on the effectiveness of falls prevention programs.<sup>4,45</sup> Feedback should also be provided to staff regularly (eg monthly) so that local trends can be identified at a ward or unit level, and can be addressed as part of the routine continuous quality cycle.

Any data collected should be used to inform changes in hospital practice aimed at reducing patient falls rates. This requires analysing collected data regularly, monitoring trends, comparing falls data with that from other hospitals, and making changes to usual ward care based on findings.

#### 20.4.1 Minimum dataset for reporting and recording falls

A minimum dataset should be collected about all falls to improve the safety and quality of health care. This includes the following information, which is based on expert opinion of best practice:

- What risk factors for falls and injury were present?
- What was the activity at the time of the fall?
- Has the patient had a falls risk assessment?
- What was the mechanism of the fall?
- What interventions were in place at the time of the fall?
- Was it a confirmed or suspected fall?

Based on the *Queensland Health Falls Prevention Guidelines* (2003) and the Australian Incident Monitoring System, a more comprehensive list may include the following additional data about falls:<sup>364</sup>

- type of fall (eg slip, trip, bumping into or falling on an object), and activity at the time of the fall (eg attempting to stand, walking)
- whether the person depends on a carer, aids or hospital staff
- if the person has a high risk of falls, what steps they have taken previously to prevent falls risk and injury risk
- relevant information about clothing, footwear, eyewear and mobility aids used at the time of the fall
- any restraints in use
- any recent change in medications that might be associated with falls risk
- any staff supervision provided at the time of the fall
- factors contributing to the fall, such as environmental conditions (eg floor, lighting, clutter) or staffing levels
- status following the fall (eg baseline observations, injuries)
- interventions to be implemented following the fall, and medical treatment required
- the person's perception of the fall, including description of any preceding sensations or symptoms and what they consider could have prevented the fall
- any witnesses to the fall
- any other comments.

Information should be completed whenever a fall or near miss occurs in a hospital. If information is already being collected, the hospital's current falls monitoring processes may not need to be altered. Hospitals may need to put processes in place to record falls incidences and outcomes if this information is not routinely collected, and this may be incorporated into existing falls reports.

To achieve the most accurate information about the fall, the description of the fall should also allow for free text. There should be room on the falls form for additional comments to be made. Staff should be encouraged to complete all sections of the falls report to minimise missing information when the fall is being reviewed.

#### 20.5 Comprehensive assessment following a fall

Patients who fall repeatedly (eg two or more times per year) and people prone to injurious falls require a comprehensive and detailed assessment.<sup>363</sup> For a more detailed assessment, refer the patient to a specialist (eg geriatrician), where possible, or to a falls clinic.

#### 20.6 Loss of confidence after a fall

A common but often overlooked consequence of a fall is the development of a loss of confidence in walking, or a fear of falling,<sup>365</sup> which can occur even in the absence of any injury. In the period after a fall, staff should observe the patient to note any change in usual activity that might indicate the presence of, or an increase in, fear of falling. Discussion with the patient about any concerns about falling might also be an opportunity to identify a fear of falling.

In community and residential aged care settings, common approaches to improving loss of confidence or fear of falling include participation in a balance and mobility training exercise program, and other falls prevention activities, including use of hip protectors.<sup>365,366</sup> Similar approaches are likely to be beneficial for older patients who fall while in hospital.



#### Additional information

The following are useful resources and websites:

- Department of Human Services (2001). *Falls and Mobility Clinics: Program Guidelines and Performance Indicators*, Department of Human Services, Acute Health Division, Melbourne.
- Victorian Falls Clinic Coalition: http://www.nari.unimelb.edu.au/vic\_falls/vic\_falls\_contact.htm



# Appendices

### Appendix 1 Contributors to the guidelines

#### Chapter authors and reviewers

Chapter	Author(s)	Reviewer		
Preliminaries	Ms Meg Heaslop	Mr Graham Bedford		
Part A – Introduction				
Background	Dr Janet Salisbury	Mr Graham Bedford		
Falls and falls injuries in Australia	Ms Meg Heaslop	Assoc Prof Stephen Lord		
Involving older people in falls prevention	Dr Constance Vogler	Dr Constance Vogler		
Part B – Standard falls prevention strate	gies			
Falls prevention interventions	Ms Meg Heaslop	Dr Constance Vogler		
Falls risk screening and assessment	Dr Kim Delbaere	Prof Keith Hill		
Part C – Management strategies for com	mon falls risk factors			
Balance and mobility limitations	Dr Cathie Sherrington	Dr Cathie Sherrington		
Cognitive impairment	Dr Kim Delbaere	Dr Jeffrey Rowland		
Continence	Dr Kim Delbaere	Assoc Prof Pauline Chiarelli		
Feet and footwear	Dr Kim Delbaere	Assoc Prof Hylton Menz		
Syncope	Dr Janet Salisbury	Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close		
Dizziness and vertigo	Dr Kate Murray	Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close		
Medications	Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close	Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close		
Vision	Assoc Prof Stephen Lord Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close Dr Kim Delbaere	Prof Joanne Wood		
Environmental considerations	Ms Meg Heaslop	Assoc Prof Lindy Clemson		
Individual surveillance and observation	Ms Jacinda Wilson	Assoc Prof David Fonda		
Restraints	Ms Meg Heaslop	Assoc Prof David Fonda		
Part D — Minimising injuries from falls				
Hip protectors	Ms Meg Heaslop	Prof Ian Cameron		
Vitamin D and calcium supplementation	Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close	Prof Terry Diamond		

Chapter	Author(s)	Reviewer
Osteoporosis management	Assoc Prof Stephen Lord	Dr Peter Ebling
Part E – Responding to falls		
Post-fall management	Ms Meg Heaslop	Assoc Prof Michael Dorevitch
Guideline	Australian reviewer	International reviewer
Community	Dr Nancye Peel	Assoc Prof Clare Robertson
Residential aged care facility	Ms Mandy Harden	Assoc Prof Ngaire Kerse
Hospital	Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close	Prof David Oliver
Additional work		
Economic evaluations	Dr Kirsten Howard	
Editors	Ms Meg Heaslop, Biotext Pty Ltd Dr Janet Salisbury, Biotext Pty Ltd	
Design	True Characters Pty Ltd	

#### Contributors

Name	Position
Mr Graham Bedford	Policy Team Manager, Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care
Prof Ian Cameron	Professor of Rehabilitation Medicine, The University of Sydney; Head, Rehabilitation Studies Unit, The University of Sydney
Assoc Prof Pauline Chiarelli	Associate Professor, Convener of Bachelor of Physiotherapy Program, School of Health Sciences, The University of Newcastle
Assoc Prof Lindy Clemson	Associate Professor in Ageing and Thompson Fellow, Faculty of Health Sciences, The University of Sydney
Assoc Prof Jacqueline Close	Senior Staff Specialist, Prince of Wales Hospital and Clinical School, The University of New South Wales; Honorary Senior Fellow, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute, The University of New South Wales
Dr Kim Delbaere	Postdoctoral researcher, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute, The University of New South Wales
Prof Terry Diamond	Senior Endocrinologist, St George Hospital; Associate Professor in Endocrinology, The University of New South Wales
Assoc Prof Michael Dorevitch	Senior Geriatrician, Austin Health
Dr Peter Ebeling	Professor of Medicine, Department of Medicine (RMH/ WH), The University of Melbourne; Head, Endocrinology, Western Health

Name	Position
Assoc Prof David Fonda	Associate Professor of Medicine, Monash University; Consultant Geriatrician, Cabrini Medical Centre
Ms Mandy Harden	CNC Aged Care Education/Community Aged Care Services, Hunter New England Area Health Services, NSW Health
Prof Keith Hill	Professor of Allied Health, LaTrobe University/Northern Health, Senior Researcher, Preventive and Public Health Division, National Ageing Research Institute
Dr Kirsten Howard	Senior Lecturer, Health Economics, School of Public Health, The University of Sydney
Assoc Prof Ngaire Kerse	Associate Professor, General Practice and Primary Health Care, School of Population Health, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, The University of Auckland
Assoc Prof Stephen Lord	Principal Research Fellow, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute, The University of New South Wales
Assoc Prof Hylton Menz	National Health and Medical Research Council Research Fellow; Director, Musculoskeletal Research Centre, Faculty of Health Sciences, La Trobe University
Dr Kate Murray	Principal, Dizzy Day Clinics
Prof David Oliver	Consultant Physician and Clinical Director, Royal Berkshire Hospital, United Kingdom; Visiting Professor of Medicine for Older People, School of Community and Health Science, City University, London
Dr Nancye Peel	Research Fellow, Academic Unit in Geriatric Medicine, School of Medicine, The University of Queensland
Assoc Prof Clare Robertson	Research Associate Professor, Department of Medical and Surgical Sciences, Dunedin School of Medicine, University of Otago
Dr Jeffrey Rowland	Staff Physician, The Prince Charles Hospital
Dr Cathy Sherrington	Senior Research Fellow, Musculoskeletal Division, The George Institute for International Health and Faculty of Medicine, The University of Sydney
Dr Anne Tiedemann	Research Officer, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute, The University of New South Wales
Dr Constance Vogler	Clinical Senior Lecturer, Medicine, Northern Clinical School, The University of Sydney; Staff Specialist Geriatrician, Royal North Shore Hospital
Prof Joanne Wood	Professor, School of Optometry and Institute of Health and Biomedical Innovation, Queensland University of Technology

#### A2.1 The St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY)<sup>69</sup>

STRATIFY risk screen	
1. Did the patient present to hospital with a fall or has he or she fallen in the ward since admission?	Yes = 1 No = 0
Do you think the patient (Questions 2–5):	
2. Is agitated?	Yes = 1 No = 0
3. Is visually impaired to the extent that everyday functioning is affected?	Yes = 1 No = 0
4. Is in need of especially frequent toileting?	Yes = 1 No = 0
5. Has a transfer and mobility score of 3 of 6?	Yes = 1 No = 0

Transfer	Mobility
0 = unable - no sitting balance, mechanical lift	0 = immobile
1 = major help (one strong, skilled helper or two normal people; physical), can sit	1 = wheelchair independent, including corners, etc
2 = minor help (one person easily or needs supervision for safety)	2 = walks with help of one person (verbal or physical)
3 = independent (use of aids to be independent is allowed)	3 = independent (but may use any aid, eg cane)
Total score	/5

#### A2.2 The Ontario Modified STRATIFY

The Ontario Modified STRATIFY<sup>74</sup> was developed to adapt the St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY), which was developed in the United Kingdom, to the Canadian hospital setting.

Ontario Modified	STRATIFY risk screen	
Falls history	<ol> <li>Did the patient present to hospital with a fall or has he or she fallen in the ward since admission?</li> <li>If not, has the patient fallen within the past 2 months?</li> </ol>	Yes = 1 No = 0
	in not, has the patient failen within the past 2 months:	
Mental status	<ul> <li>2. a. Is the patient confused (ie unable to make purposeful decisions, disorganised thinking, and memory impairment)?</li> <li>b. Is the patient disorientated (ie lacking awareness, being mistaken about time, place or person)?</li> <li>c. Is the patient agitated (ie fearful affect, frequent movements, and anxious)?</li> </ul>	Yes = 1 No = 0 (on at least one question)
Vision	<ul><li>3. a. Does the patient require eyeglasses continuously?</li><li>b. Does the patient report blurred vision?</li><li>c. Does the patient have glaucoma, cataracts or macular degeneration?</li></ul>	Yes = 1 No = 0 (on at least one question)
Toileting	4. Are there any alterations in urination (ie frequency, urgency, incontinence, nocturia)?	Yes = 1 No = 0
Transfer and mobility	5. Transfer and mobility score of 3 of 6?	Yes = 1 No = 0

Transfer	Mobility
0 = unable - no sitting balance, mechanical lift	0 = immobile
1 = major help (one strong, skilled helper or two normal people; physical), can sit	1 = wheelchair independent, including corners, etc
2 = minor help (one person easily or needs supervision for safety)	2 = walks with help of one person (verbal or physical)
3 = independent (use of aids to be independent is allowed)	3 = independent (but may use any aid, eg cane)
Total score	/5

For each item, 0 (no risk) or 1 (risk) is substituted in the equation:

R = 6 (falls history) + 14 (mental status) + 1 (vision) + 2 (toileting) + 7 (transfer and mobility)

#### A2.3 Ontario Modified STRATIFY (Sydney Scoring)

The Ontario Modified STRATIFY – Sydney Scoring<sup>74</sup> was developed to adapt the St Thomas Risk Assessment Tool in Falling Elderly In-patients (STRATIFY) to the Australian hospital setting.

#### Ontario Modified Stratify – Sydney Scoring

#### MR Number

Surname

#### Date of birth

Please fill in if no patient label is available

Date: / /

ltem	Falls risk screen		Value	Score
1 History of falls	Did the patient present to hospital with a fall or have they fallen since admission?	🗌 No 🗌 Yes	Yes to any = 6	
	If not, has the patient fallen within the last 2 months?	🗌 No 🗌 Yes		
2 Mental Status	Is the patient confused? (ie unable to make purposeful decisions, disorganised thinking and memory impairment)	🗆 No 🗌 Yes	Yes to any = 14	
	Is the patient disorientated? (ie lacking awareness, being mistaken about time, place or person)	🗌 No 🛄 Yes		
	Is the patient agitated? (ie fearful affect, frequent movements and anxious)	🗆 No 🗌 Yes		
3 Vision	Does the patient require eyeglasses continually?	🗌 No 🗌 Yes	Yes to any $= 1$	
	Does the patient report blurred vision?	🗌 No 🗌 Yes		
	Does the patient have glaucoma, cataracts or macular degeneration?	🗌 No 🗌 Yes		
4 Toileting	Are there any alterations in urination? (ie frequency urgency, incontinence, nocturia)	🗌 No 🗌 Yes	Yes = 2	
5 Transfer score	Independent use of aids to be independent is allowed	0	Add transfer score	
(TS) [means from bed to chair	Minor help, one person easily or needs supervision for safety	1	(TS) and mobility score (MS)	
and back]	Major help – one strong skilled helper or two normal people; physically can sit	2	between 0–3 then score = 0	
	Unable no sitting balance; mechanical lift	3	If values total	
6 Mobility score	Independent (but may use an aid eg cane)	0	between 4–6 then score = 7	
(MS)	Walks with help of one person (verbal or physical)	1		
	Wheelchair independent including corners etc	2		
	Immobile	3		
Action total score a (As validated tool p	nd follow risk recommendations as per level of risk atient at risk if total score ≥9)		0–5 Low risk 6–16 Medium risk 17–30 High risk	Total score

Medication check	list			
If one or more of the below medications are taken please refer for medication review.				
These can increase fa	alls risk:			
Antihypertensives Aperients Opioids				
Anticonvulsants	i de la construcción de la constru	Antiparkinsonians	Diuretic	
Benzodiazepines	5	Psychotropics	Hypoglycaemics	
Chuckening for mo		ak a ku sa a		
Strategies for ma	naging patients risk s	status:		
Low risk	1. Orientation to the	bed area and ward facilities, ward routine and	staff.	
0-5 points	2. Lower bed if possib	ble. Ensure brakes are on.		
	3. Place call bell and	side table within reach, and instruct patient to	o call for assistance as required.	
	4. Ensure safe footwe	ear when mobilising ie well-fitted shoes.		
	5. Provide safe footw	ear brochure to patient and carer.		
6. Clothing to fit well and of appropriate length.				
	7. Clear area of hazards-spills, clutter, unstable furniture.			
8. Fall prevention brochure provided to patient/carer.				
<ol> <li>9. Ensure patient has access to adequate nutrition and hydration.</li> <li>10. Mediaction review</li> </ol>				
10. Medication review				
11. Bone protection medication review: consider vitamin D and calcium supplementation.				
Medium rick All of the above plus (if available).				
6–16 points	6–16 points 12. Falls identifiers used (sign & sticker).			
13. Supervise patient during mobilisation.				
13. Supervise patient during mobilisation.				
	15. Supervise patient	with nutrition and hydration.		
	16. Regular toileting	regimen, and prior to settling for the evening.		
	17. Use non-slip matt	ing by the bed.		
	18. Referral to physiotherapy and/or occupational therapy for assessment.			
High risk	All of the above plus	(if available):		
17–30 Points	19. Do not leave patie	ent unattended during planned toileting, self o	are or mobilising.	
	20. Locate patient clo	se to the nurses station.		
	21. Ensure bed height	is appropriate to the needs of the patient.		
	22. Consider constan	t observation – particularly if confused/delirio	ous.	
23. Consider use of hip protectors.				

#### Acknowledgments:

Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service Greater Southern Area Health Service Sydney West Area Health Service Clinical Excellence Commission Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute

#### A2.4 Peninsula Health FRAT (screening component)

The Peninsula Health Falls Risk Assessment Tool (FRAT) has several parts. It is part of a comprehensive falls prevention package called the FRAT Pack (available for purchase), which includes detailed guidelines for use of the full Peninsula Health FRAT. The first part of the Peninsula Health FRAT can be used as a falls risk screen, and is provided below.

Permission to use this tool was provided by the Peninsula Health Falls Prevention Service. The tool was developed through funding from the Victorian Department of Human Services.

#### Acknowledgment is required if the tool is used by your organisation. Contact details for further information:

Ms Vicki Davies and Ms Carolyn Stapleton Peninsula Health Falls Prevention Service Jackson's Road (PO Box 192) Mt Eliza VIC 3930 Email: VDavies@phcn.vic.gov.au or CStapleton@phcn.vic.gov.au

#### Peninsula Health FRAT (screening component)

Patient's name:

Date:

Risk factor	Level	Risk score	
Recent falls	None in the past 12 months	2	
	One or more between 3 and 12 mon	4	
	One or more in the past 3 months		6
	One or more in the past 3 months while inpatient/resident		8
Medications	Not taking any of these		1
Sedatives, antidepressants, antiparkinsons, diuretics, antihypertensives, hypnotics	Taking one		2
	Taking two		3
	Taking more than two		4
Psychological	Does not appear to have any of these		1
Anxiety, depression, $\psi$ cooperation, $\psi$ insight or $\psi$ judgment, especially regarding mobility	Appears mildly affected by one or more		2
	Appears moderately affected by one or more		3
	Appears severely affected by one or more		4
Cognitive status	m-m score 9–10/10 OR	intact	1
m-m: Hodkinson Abbreviated Mental Test Score	m-m score 7–8	mildly impaired	2
	m-m score 5–6	moderately impaired	3
	m-m score 4 or less	severely impaired	4
		Total score	/20
	Low risk: 5–11 Medium risk: 12–15		

High risk: 16-20

Risk category

	Falls Risk for Hospitalised Older People (FRHOP)					
MELBOURNE AXTENDED CARLE KENADILITATION	(To be completed on patient admission acute episode) Date of Assessment: / /	on and after an	Place UR sticker here or add patient details: Name: UR number:			
General (do r	not score, but ensure appropriate	actions)		Nursing:		
• Has the patient been oriented to the ward & routines, and a patient information brochure/booklet provided?			Yes	No		
<ul> <li>Patient's environment assessed and safe? (seating type and height, bed height and assistive equipment eg monkeybar/bedstick)</li> </ul>					No	
• Is English the	patient's preferred language?			Yes	No	
Madical staff						
Recent falls (0-	3)			SCI	ORF	
• Has the natio	oj	Nil in 12 mont	ac (0)	<u>ارم</u>	1	
• has the patter	nt ranen recentiy:	1 in the last 12     2 or more in 12     1 or more duri	no (0) months (1) 2 months (2) ng their current hospitalisation (3)	l	J	
• Did they sust	ain an injury?	<ul> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Minor injury, did not require medical attention (1)</li> <li>Minor injury, did require medical attention (2)</li> <li>Severe injury (fracture, etc) (3)</li> </ul>		[	]	
Medications (0-	-3)					
• Is the patient	on any medication?	<ul> <li>No medication (0)</li> <li>1-2 medications (1)</li> <li>3 medications (2)</li> <li>4 or more medications (3)</li> </ul>		[	]	
<ul> <li>Does the pation</li> <li>sedative</li> <li>antihyper</li> <li>diuretics</li> <li>antidepre</li> <li>anticonversion</li> </ul>	ent take any of the following type an? analgesic psychotropic rtensive vasodilator/cardiac antiparkinsonian essants vestibular supressant ulsants	<ul> <li>None apply (0)</li> <li>1-2 apply (1)</li> <li>3 apply (2)</li> <li>4 or more apply (3)</li> </ul>		[	]	
		Sub total for this p	age	[	]	
		Falls Risk Classifica	tion (please circle): Low / Medium	n / High		
Patient Name:		UR Number:				
Medical staff						
--	--	-------------	-------------			
	Sub total from previous page	[	]			
Medical conditions (0-3)						
<ul> <li>Does the patient have a chronic medical condition/s affecting their balance &amp; mobility?</li> <li>Arthritis Respiratory condition</li> <li>Parkinson's Disease Diabetes*</li> <li>Dementia Peripheral neuropathy</li> <li>Cardiac condition Stroke/TIA</li> <li>Other neurological conditions</li> <li>Lower limb amputation.</li> <li>Vestibular disorder (dizziness, postural dizziness, Meniere's disease)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>None apply (0)</li> <li>1-2 apply (1)</li> <li>3-4 apply (2)</li> <li>5 or more apply (3)</li> </ul>	[	]			
Sensory loss & communications						
• Does the patient have an uncorrected sensory deficit/s that limits their functional ability?	Vision         Hearing         Somato sensory           No (0)         No (0)         No (0)           Yes (1)         Yes (1)         Yes (1)	[	]			
Is there a problem with communication (eg NESB or dysphasia)?	<ul> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Yes (1)</li> </ul>	[	]			
Cognitive status: (score 0-3 points)						
• AMTS score	<ul> <li>9-10 (0 point)</li> <li>7-8 (1 point)</li> <li>5-6 (2 points)</li> <li>4 or less (3 points)</li> </ul>	]	]			
Nursing staff						
Continence						
<ul> <li>Is the patient incontinent?</li> <li>Do they require frequent toileting or prompting to toilet?</li> <li>Do they require nocturnal toileting?</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Yes (1)</li> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Yes (1)</li> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Yes (1)</li> </ul>	[ [ [	] ] ]			
Nutritional conditions (score 0-3 points)	·					
• Has the patient's food intake declined in the past three months due to a loss of appetite, digestive problems, chewing or swallowing difficulties?	<ul> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Small change, but intake remains good (1)</li> <li>Moderate loss of appetite (2)</li> <li>Severe loss of appetite / poor oral intake (3)</li> </ul>	[	]			
• Weight loss during the last 3–12 months.	<ul> <li>Nil (0)</li> <li>Minimal (&lt;1 kg) (1)</li> <li>Moderate (1-3 kg) (2)</li> <li>Marked (&gt;3 kg) (3)</li> </ul>	[	]			
	Sub total for this page	[	]			

Falls Risk Classification (please circle): Low / Medium / High

Occupational Therapist			
Patient Name:	UR Number:		
	Sub total from previous page	]	]
Functional behaviour (score 0-3)			
<ul> <li>Observed behaviours in activities of daily living Et mobility indicate:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Consistently aware of current abilities/ seeks appropriate assistance as required (0)</li> <li>Generally aware of current abilities/ occasional risk-taking behaviour (1)</li> <li>Under-estimates abilities/ inappropriately fearful of activity (2)</li> <li>Over-estimates abilities/ frequent risk-taking behaviour (3)</li> </ul>	[	]
Feet & footwear and clothing			
• Does the patient have foot problems, eg corns, bunions etc.	<ul> <li>No (0)</li> <li>Yes (1) (specify):</li> </ul>	[	]
<ul> <li>The patient's main footwear are/have:-</li> <li>an inaccurate fit</li> <li>poor grip on soles</li> <li>in-flexible soles across the ball of foot</li> <li>heels greater than 2 cm high/less than 3 cm wide</li> <li>flexible heel counter**</li> <li>without fastening mechanism (ie lace, velcro or buckle.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>None apply (0)</li> <li>One applies (1)</li> <li>2 apply (2)</li> <li>3 or more apply (3)</li> </ul>	]	]
□ slippers or other inappropriate footwear?	at back of shoe)		
• Does the patient's clothing fit well (not too long or loose fitting)?	☐ Yes (0) ☐ No (1)	[	]
Physiotherapist			
Balance (score 0-3 points)			
<ul> <li>Were the patient's scores on the Timed Up and Go test and the Functional Reach test within normal limits?</li> <li>Normal limits:— Timed up and Go — less than 18 seconds</li> <li>Functional Reach — 23 cm or more</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Both within normal limits (0)</li> <li>One within normal limits (1)</li> <li>Both outside normal limits (2)</li> <li>Requires assistance to perform (3)</li> </ul>	[	]
Transfers & mobility (score 0–3 points)			
• Is the patient independent in transferring and in their gait? (Includes wheelchair mobility)	<ul> <li>Independent, no gait aid needed (0)</li> <li>Independent with a gait aid (1)</li> <li>Supervision needed (2)</li> <li>Physical assistance needed (3)</li> </ul>	]	]
	Total risk score	[	]

Score legend: 0 to 5 = Low risk; 6 to 20 = medium risk; 21 to 45 = high risk

# A2.6 Falls Risk for Older People in the Community Screen (FROP-Com Screen)<sup>60</sup>

Falls Risk for Older Peo	ple in the Commun	ity (FROP-Com) Sc	reen			
Screen all people 65 years and older (50 years and older Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander people)		(Affix Patie UR No Surname	(Affix Patient ID Label) UR No			
Date of screen: /	1		Given Nam	e		
FALLS HISTORY					SCC	RE
1. Number of falls in the pa	ast 12 months?	<ul> <li>None (0)</li> <li>1 fall (1)</li> <li>2 falls (2)</li> <li>3 or more (</li> </ul>	3)		[	]
FUNCTION: ADL status		1				
<ul> <li>2. Prior to this fall, how muindividual requiring for i daily living (eg cooking,</li> <li>If no fall in last 12 mor function</li> </ul>	uch assistance was the nstrumental activities housework, laundry)? nths, rate current	e Done (com of Supervision Some assis Completely	pletely independent) ( n (1) tance required (2) r dependent (3)	0)	[	]
BALANCE						
<ul> <li>3. When walking and turnin appear unsteady or at ris</li> <li>Observe the person stametres, turning and sit an aid observe the person self-report.</li> <li>If level fluctuates, tick rating. If the person is injury, score as 3.</li> </ul>	ng, does the person ik of losing their baland anding, walking a few iting. If the person use son with the aid. Do n the most unsteady unable to walk due to	<ul> <li>No unstead</li> <li>Yes, minima</li> <li>Yes, modera</li> <li>Yes, consist</li> <li>(needs constant)</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>No unsteadiness observed (0)</li> <li>Yes, minimally unsteady (1)</li> <li>Yes, moderately unsteady (needs supervision) (2)</li> <li>Yes, consistently and severely unsteady (needs constant hands on assistance) (3)</li> </ul>			
		Total risk score			[	]
Total score	0 1	2 3	4 5	6 7	8	9
Risk of being a faller	0.25	0.7	1.4	4.0	7	7.7
Grading of falls risk	0-3 Lo	ow risk		4–9 High risk		
Recommended actions	Further assessment functional/balance (score of or	er assessment and management if Perform the Full FF tional/balance problem identified an (score of one or higher) corresponding manag		the Full FROP-Com a: and / or ng management reco	ssessment ommendatio	ons
Date: / /						
Name	Signat	ure	D	esignation		

## A2.7 Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool (PJC-FRAT): risk assessment tool for the subacute rehabilitation setting

The Peter James Centre Fall Risk Assessment Tool (PJC-FRAT) is a multidisciplinary falls risk assessment tool. It was used as the basis for developing intervention programs in a randomised controlled trial in the subacute hospital setting that successfully reduced patient/resident falls. Permission to reproduce this tool was granted by Peter James Centre and BMJ Publishing Group.

Acknowledgment is required if the tool is used by your organisation. Contact details for further information:

Peter James Centre Mahoney's Road Burwood East VIC 3151 Phone: 03 9881 1888 Fax: 03 9881 1801

Falls Risk Assessment Tool	
(To be completed on admission)	Name: UR/MR number: Ward/Unit: Date of birth: Gender: Admission Date:
Tick box or add number as appropriate	Place UR sticker here or add patient details:
Medical	
Does the patient suffer from frequent falls with no diagnosed cause?	$\Box$ $\rightarrow$ Refer for hip protector.
Is the patient suffering from an established medical condition that is currently unable to be adequately managed, that may cause a fall during their Inpatient stay (e.g. drop attacks due to vertebro-basilar artery insufficiency?	$\Box$ $\rightarrow$ Refer for hip protector.
Is the patient taking any medications/medication amounts/ medication combinations that you anticipate may directly contribute to a fall (e.g. sedatives)?	$\Box$ $\rightarrow$ Refer for hip protector.
	Signature: Date:
Nursing	Signature: Date:
Nursing Toileting (day) F.I.M.	Signature: Date: □ → Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.
Nursing Toileting (day) F.I.M. Toileting (night) F.I.M.	Signature:       Date:         □ → Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         □ → Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.
Nursing         Toileting (day) F.I.M.         Toileting (night) F.I.M.         Would this patient benefit from a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure?	Signature:       Date:         Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         →       Refer for a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure
Nursing         Toileting (day) F.I.M.         Toileting (night) F.I.M.         Would this patient benefit from a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure?	Signature:       Date:         Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         →       Refer for a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure         Signature:       Date:
Nursing         Toileting (day) F.I.M.         Toileting (night) F.I.M.         Would this patient benefit from a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure?         Physiotherapy	Signature:       Date:         □ →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         □ →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         □ →       Refer for a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure         Signature:       Date:
Nursing         Toileting (day) F.I.M.         Toileting (night) F.I.M.         Would this patient benefit from a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure?         Physiotherapy         Gait F.I.M. (Gait aid + distance)	Signature:       Date:         Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         Refer for a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure         Signature:       Date:         Date:
Nursing         Toileting (day) F.I.M.         Toileting (night) F.I.M.         Would this patient benefit from a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure?         Physiotherapy         Gait F.I.M. (Gait aid + distance)         Transfer (bed <> chair F.I.M)	Signature:       Date:         □ →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         □ →       Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.         □ →       Refer for a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure         Signature:       Date:         □ →       ()         □ →       ()
Nursing         Toileting (day) F.I.M.         Toileting (night) F.I.M.         Would this patient benefit from a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls         Prevention Information Brochure?         Physiotherapy         Gait F.I.M. (Gait aid + distance)         Transfer (bed <-> chair F.I.M)         Would this patient benefit from attending a Balance Exercise Class?	Signature: Date:     Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.     Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.   Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.   Document level of assistance required in patient/ resident record/file.   Pate:   Signature: Date:   Date:      Date:   Refer for a Falls Risk Alert Card and a Falls Prevention Information Brochure   Date:   Signature: Date:  Date:

Falls Risk Assessment Tool					
Occupational Therapy					
Bathing F.I.M					
Dressing F.I.M.					
Would this patient benefit from attending a Falls Prevention Education Program?	ightarrow Refer for Falls Prevention Education Program.				
	Signature: Date:				
All disciplines					
Has the patient demonstrated non-compliance or do you strongly anticipate non-compliance with the above prescribed level of aids/ assistance/supervision such that the patient becomes unsafe?	$\Box \rightarrow \text{Refer for hip protector.}$ Signature: Date:				
The Modified Functional Independence Measure (F.I.M.)					
<ul> <li>(7) Independent with nil aids.</li> <li>(3) Moderate assistance required</li> <li>(b) Independent with aids.</li> <li>(c) Supervision/prompting</li> <li>(c) Maximal assistance required</li> <l< td=""></l<></ul>					
Falls Risk Assessment Tool – Amendment sheet					
	Name: UR/MR number: Ward/Unit: Date of birth: Gender: Admission Date: Place UR sticker here or add patient details:				
This amendment section of the Falls Risk Assessment Tool is to be use of interventions is now indicated or now no longer indicated. For exar they may no longer require a hip protector.	d when a patient's condition changes such that the employment nple, if a patient's confusion due to a UTI is now resolved,				
Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:					
Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient: • Does now require a hip protector:	□ $\rightarrow$ Refer for hip protector.				
Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:         • Does now require a hip protector:         • Does no longer require a hip protector:	<ul> <li>→ Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> </ul>				
Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:         • Does now require a hip protector:         • Does no longer require a hip protector:         • Would now benefit from balance exercise class:	<ul> <li>→ Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> </ul>				
Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:         • Does now require a hip protector:         • Does no longer require a hip protector:         • Would now benefit from balance exercise class:         • Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:	<ul> <li>→ Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls prevention education.</li> </ul>				
Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:         • Does now require a hip protector:         • Does no longer require a hip protector:         • Would now benefit from balance exercise class:         • Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:         • Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:	<ul> <li>→ Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls prevention education.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls alert card.</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> </ul>	→       Refer for hip protector.         →       Note in record and make appropriate change         →       Refer for balance exercise.         →       Refer for falls prevention education.         →       Refer for falls alert card.         Signature:       Date:				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> </ul> Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:	<ul> <li>→ Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls prevention education.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls alert card.</li> </ul>				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> </ul> Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient: Does now require a hip protector:	→ Refer for hip protector.   → Note in record and make appropriate change   → Refer for balance exercise.   → Refer for falls prevention education.   → Refer for falls alert card.   Signature: Date:				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> </ul> Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient: <ul> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> </ul>	→ Refer for hip protector.   → Note in record and make appropriate change   → Refer for balance exercise.   → Refer for falls prevention education.   → Refer for falls alert card.   Signature: Date:   Date:   Particular Note in record and make appropriate change				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>A Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls prevention education.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls alert card.</li> </ul> Signature: Date: Date: A Refer for hip protector. → Refer for hip protector. → Note in record and make appropriate change → Refer for balance exercise.				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>A Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls prevention education.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls alert card.</li> </ul> Signature: Date: Date: Date: A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for balance exercise. A Refer for balance exercise. A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for balance exercise. A Refer for balance exercise. A Refer for balance exercise. A Refer for falls prevention education.				
<ul> <li>Has the patient's condition changed such that the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information brochure:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Does no longer require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls risk alert card and information the patient:</li> <li>Does now require a hip protector:</li> <li>Would now benefit from balance exercise class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> <li>Would now benefit from a falls prevention education class:</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>A Refer for hip protector.</li> <li>→ Note in record and make appropriate change</li> <li>→ Refer for balance exercise.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls prevention education.</li> <li>→ Refer for falls alert card.</li> </ul> Signature: Date: Date: Date: A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for hip protector. A Refer for balance exercise. A Refer for falls prevention education. A Refer for falls prevention education. A Refer for falls prevention education. A Refer for falls alert card.				

### A2.8 Falls Assessment Proforma – Emergency Department and Department of Health Care of the Elderly

Falls Assessment Proforma

Emergency Department & Department of Health Care of the Elderly

Name:		Hosp No	Attending Dr	
Date of attendance:			Time:	
Fall History				
First fall:	Yes / No	• No of falls in previous year	:	(>1 = high risk)
		• Location of fall: Indoors /	Outdoors	(indoors = high risk)
Was fall witnessed:	Yes / No			
Definite slip/trip:	Yes / No	Associated dizziness:	Yes / No	
LOC:	Yes / No	Palpitations:	Yes / No	
*Able to get self off floor:	Yes / No (N=high risk)	Time on floor (mins):		
Medical History		*Full Drug History (4+ meds =	= high risk)	
Heart disease				
Stroke				
COPD/Asthma				
Hypertension				
Diabetes				
Degenerative joint disease				
Cognitive impairment				
Visual impairment				
Syncope				
Epilepsy				
Incontinence				
Other – (please state)			Smoking:	no/week
			Alcohol:	units/week
Social Circumstances				
Lives in: Flat / House /	Bungalow / Maisonette	/ WCF / Residential Home /	Nursing Home	
Lives alone: Yes / No		Stairs: Yes / No		
Lambeth / Southwark / Oth	er	Usually able to go out: Yes	/ No	
Mobility: Independent Stick Frame Wheelchair	t Services: M H Pe Di Di	OW H ersonal Care istrict Nurse ay Centre ay Hospital	Carer: None Spouse Other family Friend/neighbo	ur

Examination			
GCS:		BM	
Temp:	Pulse:	BP; Lying /	Standing /
AMT		Injuries Sustained	
Age Time (to nearest hour) Address for recall Year Location Becognition of two pe Date of Birth WW2 Present monarch Count backwards 20 - Score: / 10 Relevant Systems Examinat	ersons - 1 ion	<ul> <li>Head injury - no laceration</li> <li>Head injury - laceration</li> <li>Fracture</li> <li>Laceration requiring stitches</li> <li>Laceration but no stitches</li> <li>Superficial bruising</li> <li>No injury</li> </ul>	sure areas
Current Level of Function			
<ul> <li>No change from pre-f</li> <li>Decreased mobility / f</li> <li>Decreased mobility / f</li> </ul>	all level of function function but able to go hor function — unable to discha	ne arge	
Results			
Conclusions			
Likely cause of fall:	imple slip/trip, 🗌 acute	illness, 🗌 multifactorial, 🗌 u	nexplained
Comments			
* High risk - recommend re	eferral to Falls Clinic if Falls	Nurse not available to access	
Outcome:	<ul> <li>Home with GP letter</li> <li>Refer to Falls Clinic</li> <li>Refer to Rapid Response</li> <li>Refer to Geriatric Ou</li> <li>Refer for hospital action</li> </ul>	onse team it-Patients Imission	
Signature	Print N	ame	Date / /

## Appendix 3 Safe shoe checklist<sup>247</sup>

The requirement for safe, well-fitting shoes varies, depending on the individual and their level of activity. The features outlined below may help in the selection of an appropriate shoe. The shoe should:

Heel	Have a low heel (ie less than 2.5 cm) to ensure stability and better pressure distribution on the foot. A straight-through sole is also recommended.
	Have a broad heel with good ground contact.
	Have a firm heel counter to provide support for the shoe.
Sole	Have a cushioned, flexible, nonslip sole. Rubber soles provide better stability and shock absorption than leather soles. However, rubber soles do have a tendency to stick on some surfaces.
Weight	Be lightweight.
Toe box	Have adequate width, depth and height in the toe box to allow for natural spread of toes.
	Have approximately 1 cm space between the longest toe and the end of the shoe when standing.
Fastenings	Have laces, buckles, elastic or velcro to hold the shoe securely onto the foot.
Uppers	Be made from accommodating material. Leather holds its shape and breathes well; however, many people find walking shoes with soft material uppers are more comfortable.
	Have smooth and seam-free interiors.
Safety	Protect feet from injury
Shape	Be the same shape as the feet, without causing pressure or friction to the foot.
Purpose	Be appropriate for the activity being undertaken during their use. Sports or walking shoes may be ideal for daily wear. Slippers generally provide poor foot support and may only be appropriate when sitting.
Orthoses	Comfortably accommodating orthoses, such as ankle foot orthoses or other supports, if required. The podiatrist, orthotist or physiotherapist can advise the best style of shoe if orthoses are used.

This is a general guide only. Some people may require the specialist advice of a podiatrist for the prescription of appropriate footwear for their individual needs.

## Appendix 4 Environmental checklist<sup>45</sup>

This tool was adapted from CERA – '*Putting your Best Foot Forward'* – *Preventing and Managing Falls in Aged Care Facilities*', by staff at the rehabilitation unit, Bundaberg Base Hospital Health Service District, as part of Queensland Health's Quality Improvement and Enhancement Program.

General environment checklist	
	Surname
	First name
	U.R. No
	Date of birth / /
	(Please affix patient ID label here if available)

Client location:	Bed/roo	m No:			
Bathroom and toilets	Please 🗸	appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Grab rails are appropriately positioned and secured in the toilet, shower and bath					
Floors are nonslip					
Baths/showers have nonslip treatment and/or mats					
Are areas immediately around the bath and sink marked in contrasting colours?					
Raised toilet seats are available					
Toilet surrounds and/or grab rails are available in toilets					
Soap, shampoo and washers are within easy reach and do not require bending to re	each				
Do all shower chairs have adjustable legs, arms and rubber stoppers on the legs?					
Is there room for a seat in AND near the shower?					
Is the shower base without steps? (not necessary for most patients)					
Are call buttons accessible from sitting position in shower area?					
Are doors lightweight and easy to use?					
Furniture	Please 🗸	appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Is furniture secure enough to support a client should they lean on or grab for balar	nce?				
Are bedside lockers or tables available to clients so they can put things on safely w and twisting?	ithout und	ue stretching			
Are footstools in good repair and stoppers in good condition?					
Is space available for footstool when required?					

Client location:	Bed/room No:			
Floor surfaces	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Are carpets low pile, firmly attached and a constant colour rather than patterned?				
Are walls a contrasting colour to the floor?				
Is non-skid wax used on wooden and vinyl floors?				
Do floors have a matted finish which is not glary?				
Are 'Wet Floor' signs readily available and used promptly in the event of a spillage?				
Do steps have a non-slip edging in contrasting colour to make it easier to see?				
Is routine cleaning of floors done in a way to minimise risk to residents eg. well sign	ned, out of hours?			
Lighting	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Is lighting in all areas at a consistent level so that patients are not moving from dar and vice versa?	rker to lighter areas			
Do staircases have light switches at the top and bottom of them?				
Do patients have easy access to night lights?				
Are the hallways and rooms well lit (75 watts)?				
There is minimal glow from furniture/floorings				
Are all switches marked with luminous tape for easy visibility?				
Passageways	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Are all passageways kept clear of clutter and hazards?				
Are firm and colour contrasted handrails provided in passageways and stairwells?				
Is there adequate space for mobility aids?				
Is there adequate storage space for equipment?				
Are ramps/lifts available as an alternative to stairs?				
Do steps have a nonslip edging in contrasting colour?				
Is there enough room for two people with frames/wheelchairs to pass each other s	afely?			
Passageways	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Are all passageways kept clear of clutter and hazards?				
Are firm and colour contrasted handrails provided in passageways and stairwells?				
Is there adequate space for mobility aids?				
Is there adequate storage space for equipment?				
Are ramps/lifts available as an alternative to stairs?				
Do steps have a nonslip edging in contrasting colour?				
Is there enough room for two people with frames/wheelchairs to pass each other s	afely?			

Client location:	Bed/room No:			
Lifts	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Do doors close slowly?				
Are buttons easily accessible to avoid excessive reaching?				
Are floor signs at eye level to prevent stretching the neck?				
Are handrails available?				
External areas	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Are pathways even and with a nonslip surface?				
Are pathways clear of weeds, moss and leaves?				
Are steps marked with a contrasting colour and nonslip surface?				
Are there handrails beside external steps and pathways?				
Are there any overhanging trees, branches and shrubs?				
Are sensor lights installed?				
Are there sufficient numbers of outdoor seats for regular rests?				
Security of environment	Please 🗸 appropriate box	Yes	No	N/A
Are all exits from the facility secured to prevent confused patients leaving?				
Are there clear walking routes both inside and outside where patients can wander becoming lost?	safely without			
Does the layout of the facility, or allocation of rooms, allow staff to monitor high r	isk patients?			
Remedial actions that need to be taken:				

## Appendix 5 Equipment safety checklist<sup>361</sup>

Reproduced with permission from VA National Centre for Patient Safety 2004 Falls Toolkit, page 43.

Equip	Equipment safety checklist: Please 🗸					
Wheelchairs						
	Brakes	Secure chair when applied				
	Arm rest	Detaches easily for transfers				
	Leg rest	Adjust easily				
	Foot pedals	Fold easily so that patient may stand				
	Wheels	Are not bent or warped				
	Anti-tip devices	Installed, placed in proper position				
Electr	ic wheelchairs/scoote	rs				
	Speed	Set at the lowest setting				
	Horn	Works properly				
	Electrical	Wires are not exposed				
Beds						
	Side rails	Raise and lower easily				
		Secure when up				
		Used for mobility purposes only				
	Wheels	Roll/turn easily, do not stick				
	Brakes	Secures the bed firmly when applied				
	Mechanics	Height adjusts easily (if applicable)				
	Transfer bars	Sturdy, attached properly				
	Over-bed table	Wheels firmly locked				
		Positioned on wall-side of bed				
IV po	les/stand					
	Pole	Raises/lowers easily				
	Wheels	Roll easily and turn freely, do not stick				
	Stand	Stable, does not tip easily (should be five-point base)				
Foots	tools					
	Legs	Rubber skid protectors on all feet				
		Steady-does not rock				
	Тор	Non-skid surface				

Equipment safety checklist: Please					
Call bells/lights					
Operational	Outside door light				
	Sounds at nursing station				
	Room number appears on the monitor				
	Intercom				
	Room panel signals				
Accessible	Accessible in bathroom				
	Within reach while patient is in bed				
Walkers/canes					
Secure	Rubber tips in good condition				
	Unit is stable				
Commode					
Wheels	Roll/turn easily, do not stick				
	Are weighted and not 'top heavy' when a person is sitting on it				
Brakes	Secure commode when applied				
Chairs					
Chair	Located on level surface to minimize risk of tipping				
Wheels	Roll/turn easily, do not stick				
Brakes	Applied when chair is stationary				
	Secure chair firmly when applied				
Footplate	Removed when chair is placed in a non-tilt or non-reclined position				
	Removed during transfers				
Positioning	Chair is positioned in proper amount of tilt to prevent sliding or falling forward				
Tray	Secure				
Completed by:	Date: / /				

## Appendix 6 Checklist of issues to consider before using hip protectors<sup>318</sup>

A checklist of issues to consider before using hip protectors is as follows:

- Is the risk of hip fracture high enough to justify their use?
- Will the user wear them as directed?
- Will the user be able to put them on and pull them down for toileting; if not, is assistance available?
- How will they be laundered?
- Who will encourage their use?
- Who will pay for them?
- Is the potential wearer aware of the different types of hip protector available?

Additionally a checklist of issues when using hip protectors is as follows:

- Is the fit adequate?
- Are they being worn in the correct position?
- Are they being worn at the correct times and should they be worn at night?
- Are continence pads worn if needed?
- Should other underwear be worn under the hip protectors?
- Is additional encouragement needed to improve compliance?
- When should the hip protectors be replaced?
- Has education been provided to care staff?

## Appendix 7 Hip protector care plan<sup>247</sup>

This chart was developed by staff at Eventide Nursing Home, Sandgate, Prince Charles Health Service District, as part of Queensland Health's Quality Improvement and Enhancement Program.

Hip protector pad care plan					
Date:	1	1	Affix ID label		
	,				

Identified/expressed needs	Negotiated outcome	S
Total of hip protector pads (type).	To allow independer due to protective de	nt mobility with less associated risks vice
Management plan	Review date	Signature
Hip protector pads to be individually marked and stored with incontinence aids.		
Two pairs of hip protector pads per person.		
Removable cover can be changed if soiled or wet (these are washable).		
Stretch pants secure hip protector pads in place. For those people who already wear stretch pants for incontinence pads, a second pair of stretch pants may be needed and worn over the first pair.		
For type A hip protector pads, position just below the person's waist with Velcro closure at the top. This allows cover for the entire hip region.		
Please choose clothing with a loose fit to allow for hip protector pad insertion.		
Please complete hip protector pad observation form with time applied and removed. Comment on compliance, fit, comfort etc. and any problems.		

Please contact

if any problems

## Appendix 8 Hip protector observation record<sup>247</sup>

This chart was developed by staff at Eventide Nursing Home, Sandgate, Prince Charles Health Service District, as part of Queensland Health's Quality Improvement and Enhancement Program.

Hip protector pad observations						
Observations (ple	ase specify):			Affix ID label		
Date	Time applied	Time removed	Hours in use	Comment	Initials	

## Appendix 9 Hip protector education plan<sup>302</sup>

The following information is taken from Meyer G, Warnke A, Bender R, Muhlhauser I. (2003). Effect of hip fractures on increased use of hip protectors in nursing homes: cluster randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal*; 326: 76–80.

'The education session lasted for 60–90 minutes, took place in small groups (average 12 members of staff from each cluster), and was delivered by two investigators. It covered: information about the risk of hip fracture and related morbidity; strategies to prevent falls and fractures; effectiveness of hip protectors; relevant aspects known to interfere with the use of protectors, such as aesthetics, comfort, fit, and handling; and strategies for successful implementation. The session included experience based, theoretical, and practical aspects. Staff members were encouraged to try wearing the hip protector. Apart from the printed curriculum we also developed and provided 16 coloured flip charts illustrating the main objectives and leaflets for residents, relatives, and physicians.

At least one nurse from each intervention cluster was then responsible for delivering the same education programme to residents individually or in small groups. Nursing staff were encouraged to wear a hip protector during these sessions and to include residents who readily accepted the hip protector as activating group members.

About two weeks later we visited the intervention clusters again to encourage the administration of the programme. Otherwise frequency and intensity of contacts were similar for intervention and control groups.'

# Appendices

## Appendix 10 Food and fluid intake chart

Reproduced with permission of Toowoomba Health Services District, Queensland Health.

Food and fluid intake chart

Please affix client identification label here

### What is the patient eating?

(please write down all foods and fluids this patient is consuming - specify amounts)

Day:	Consum	ed (pleas	e circle)			Fluid (mL)	Comments
Breakfast juice	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Fruit	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Cereal	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Yoghurt	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Bread/toast	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Drink	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Other (specify fluid type and volume)							
Morning tea							
Food	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Drink	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Other							
Midday meal							
Soup	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Meat	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Vegetables	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Bread	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Fruit	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Dessert	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Drink	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Other (specify fluid type and volume)							

#### What is the patient eating?

Afternoon tea							
Food	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Drink	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Other (specify)							
Evening meal	Consum	ed (pleas	e circle)			Fluid (mL)	Comments
Soup	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Meat	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Vegetables	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Bread	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Fruit	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Dessert	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Drink	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Other (specify fluid type and volume)							
Supper							
Food	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Drink	None	1/4	1/2	3/4	All		
Other (specify fluid type and volume)							

NB: Extra fluids ie from taking medications, swallow tests, sips of water etc must be recorded in the above chart as 'other' with a volume provided (eg Medication-20 mL).

## **Appendix 11** Food guidelines for calcium intake for preventing falls in older people<sup>339</sup>

Guidelines	More information and hints
<ul> <li>Men: provide 3 serves of dairy products every week.</li> <li>Women: provide 4 serves of dairy products every week.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>One serve of dairy products is equal to:</li> <li>250 mL milk (whole, reduced fat, skim, fortified soy)</li> <li>250 mL custard</li> <li>200 mL high-calcium milk</li> <li>200 g yoghurt</li> <li>45 g cheese.</li> <li>Soft cheeses (eg cottage and ricotta cheeses) have less calcium.</li> <li>Encourage some high-calcium foods (eg a glass of milk) before bed, because calcium is best absorbed overnight.</li> <li>Soy milk, oat milk and rice milk are not naturally high in calcium, so check for supplementation with calcium of at least 100 mg of calcium per 100 mL milk.</li> </ul>
• Provide a menu low in salt and advise limiting salt use.	<ul> <li>Sodium chloride (salt) can increase calcium loss.</li> <li>Provide lower salt versions of processed foods, canned foods and margarines.</li> <li>Low-salt foods contain 120 mg or less of sodium per 100 g of food.</li> <li>Do not add salt to cooking.</li> <li>Discourage addition of salt at meal times.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Avoid providing large amounts of caffeine-containing drinks and alcohol.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Keep coffee intake to 3-4 cups of weak coffee a day.</li> <li>Lower intake of other drinks that contain caffeine (eg tea, cola, soft drinks).</li> <li>Provide no more than 1-2 standard drinks per day.</li> <li>Have at least 2 alcohol-free days a week.</li> </ul>

## Appendix 12 Post-fall assessment and management

Post-fall assessment and management							
Falls and hits head	Falls and does not hit head	Unwitnessed fall					
SPECIAL CONSIDERATION – Patients on anticoagulant and/or antiplatelet therapy and patients with a known coagulopathy are at an increased risk of intracranial haemorrhage. Anticoagulants include: Warfarin, Heparin, Enoxaparin (Clexane), Dalteparin (Fragmin). Antiplatelet drugs include: Aspirin, Clopidogrel, Aspirin+Dipyridamole (Asasantin). Alcohol dependent persons are considered coagulopathic.							
<ul> <li>Do not move initially</li> <li>Call for assistance</li> <li>Immobilise Cervical Spine if head and neck pain is reported</li> <li>Baseline Vital signs (BP, heart rate, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, Blood Sugar Level (BSL))</li> <li>Neurological Observations – initial Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS)</li> <li>Observe for change in the level of consciousness, headache, amnesia or vomiting</li> <li>Clean and dress any wounds</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Potential Injuries: fracture, soft tissue injury or no observable injury.</li> <li>Do not move initially</li> <li>Call for assistance</li> <li>Baseline Vital signs (BP, heart rate, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, BSL)</li> <li>Clean and dress any wounds</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Potential Injuries: Head or neck injury, fracture, soft tissue injury or no observable injury.</li> <li>Do not move initially</li> <li>Call for assistance</li> <li>Immobilise Cervical Spine if head and neck pain is reported</li> <li>Baseline Vital signs (BP, heart rate, respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, BSL)</li> <li>Neurological Observations – initial Glasgow Coma Scale (GCS)</li> <li>Observe for change in the level of consciousness, headache, amnesia or vomiting</li> <li>Clean and dress any wounds</li> </ul>					
Contact Medical Officer for review	Contact Medical Officer for review	Contact Medical Officer for review					
Consider need for analgesia	Consider need for analgesia	Consider need for analgesia					
Liaise for appropriate test (consider CT Scan if patient has any high risk factors, see Section 6 of <i>NSW Health PD2008_0081 Head Injury</i> )	Liaise for appropriate test (eg X rays)	Liaise for appropriate test (eg CT Scan if patient has any high risk factors, see Section 6 of <i>NSW Health PD2008_0081 Head Injury</i> )					
Notify registrar/consultant (if required)	Notify registrar/consultant (if required)	Notify registrar/consultant (if required)					
<ul> <li>Observations</li> <li>Record vital signs and neurological observations hourly for 4 hours then review</li> <li>Continue observations at least 4 hourly for 24 hours or as required</li> <li>Notify MO immediately if any change in observations</li> </ul>	Observations Monitor vital signs for 24 hours	<ul> <li>Observations</li> <li>Record vital signs and neurological observations hourly for 4 hours then review</li> <li>Continue observations at least 4 hourly for 24 hours or as required</li> <li>Notify MO immediately if any change in observations</li> </ul>					
Notify family	Notify family	Notify family					
If not already flagged as high risk of fall injury, flag as per hospital protocol	If not already flagged as high risk of fall injury, flag as per hospital protocol	If not already flagged as high risk of fall injury, flag as per hospital protocol					
IIMS report	IIMS report	IIMS report					
Post Fall review	Post Fall Review	Post Fall review					
Document in medical record strategies implemented	Document in medical record strategies implemented	Document in medical record strategies implemented					
Reassess Falls Risk Status - Refer to relevant	staff to review, update care plan and implement F	alls prevention strategies					

Communication - All staff involved in the care of the patient to be informed of incident outcome and revised care plan

### Acknowledgments:

- 1. Adapted From RNS and RHS Policy Per RNS2005/46
- 2. Hook, ML., Winchel, S (2006) Fall Related Injuries in Acute Care: Reducing the Risk of Harm, MEDSURG Nursing, Vol 15/No.6
- 3. NSW Department of Health, Policy Directive: Initial Management of Closed Health Injury in Adults, PD2008\_0081 Head Injury, 2008.
- 4. NSW Institute of Trauma and Injury Management http://www.itim.nsw.gov.au





## Glossary

Cognitive impairment	Impairment in one or more domains of normal brain function (eg memory, perception, calculation).
Cognitively intact	Suffering no form of cognitive impairment.
Comorbidity	Two or more health conditions or disorders occurring at the same time.
Consumer	Refers to patients, clients and carers in acute and subacute settings. It also refers to people receiving care in residential aged care settings and their carers.
Delirium	An acute change in cognitive function characterised by fluctuating confusion, impaired concentration and attention.
Dementia	Impairment in more than one cognitive domain that impacts on a person's ability to function, and that progresses over time.
Extrinsic factors	Factors that relate to a person's environment or their interaction with the environment.
Facility	Used to refer to both hospitals and residential aged care facilities.
Fall	A standard definition of a fall should be used in Australian facilities, so that a nationally consistent approach to falls prevention can be applied. For these guidelines, the expert panel and taskforce agreed on the following definition: 'A fall is an event which results in a person coming to rest inadvertently on the ground or floor or other lower level'. World Health Organization: http://www.who.int/ageing/publications/Falls_prevention7March.pdf
Falls Guidelines	Used in place of the full title of the three guidelines, Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Hospitals 2009, Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls In Older People: Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Residential Aged Care Facilities 2009 and Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People: Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Community Care 2009.
Falls risk assessment	Falls risk assessment is a more detailed and systematic process than a falls risk screen and is used to identify a person's risk factors for falling.
Falls risk screen	Falls risk screening is the minimum process for identifying older people at greatest risk of falling. It is also an efficient process, because fewer than five risk factors are usually required to identify who should be assessed more comprehensively for falls risk.
Hip protector	A device worn over the greater trochanter of the femur, designed to absorb and deflect the energy created by a fall away from the hip joint. The soft tissues of the surrounding thigh absorb the energy instead.
Hospital	Refers to both acute and subacute settings.
Hypotension, orthostatic	A drop in blood pressure resulting from a change in position from lying to standing.
Hypotension, postprandial	A drop in blood pressure experienced after eating.
Incremental cost- effectiveness ratio (ICER)	A measure of the cost effectiveness of an intervention, which is calculated by comparing the costs and health outcomes of the new program with the costs and health outcomes of an alternative health care program. Interventions with lower ICERs are better value for money.

Injurious fall	These guidelines use the Prevention of Falls Network Europe (ProFaNE) panel definition of an injurious fall. They consider that the only injuries that could be confirmed accurately using current data sources were peripheral fractures (defined as any fracture of the limb girdles and of the limbs). Head injuries, maxillo-facial injuries, abdominal, soft tissue and other injuries are not included in the recommendation for a core dataset. However, other definitions of an injurious fall include traumatic brain injuries (TBIs) as a falls-related injury, particularly as falls are the leading cause of TBIs in Australia.
Intervention	A therapeutic procedure or treatment strategy designed to cure, alleviate or improve a certain condition.
Intrinsic factors	Factors that relate to a person's behaviour or condition.
Life years saved or life years generated (LYS)	A measure of the gain in health outcomes from an intervention.
Multifactorial interventions	Where people receive multiple interventions, but the combination of these interventions is tailored to the individual, based on an individual assessment.
Multiple interventions	Where everyone receives the same, fixed combination of interventions.
Older person or older people	The guidelines define older people as 65 years of age and over. When considering Indigenous Australians, the term 'older people' refers to people 50 years of age and over.
Patient	Refers to both patients and clients in acute and subacute settings.
Pharmacodynamics	The study of the biochemical and physiological effects that medications have on the body.
Pharmacokinetics	The study of the way in which the body handles medications, including the processes of absorption, distribution, excretion and localisation in tissues and chemical breakdown.
Psychoactive medication	A medication that affects the mental state. Psychoactive medications include antidepressants, anticonvulsants, antipsychotics, mood stabilisers, anxiolytics, hypnotics, antiparkinsonian drugs, psychostimulants and dementia medications.
Quality-adjusted life year (QALY)	A summary measure used in assessing the value for money of an intervention. It is based on the number of years of life that would be added by an intervention, and combines survival and quality of life in a single composite measure.
Resident	Refers to people receiving care in residential aged care settings.
Residential aged care facility (RACF)	Refers to both high-care and low-care settings.
Root-cause analysis	An in-depth analysis of an event, including individual and broader system issues, to provide greater understanding of causes and future prevention.
Single interventions	Interventions targeted at single risk factors.
Syncope	A temporary loss of consciousness with spontaneous recovery, which occurs when there is a transient decrease in cerebral blood flow.
Vision	The ability of the unaided eye to see fine detail.
Visual acuity	A measure of the ability of the eye to see fine detail when the best spectacle or contact lens prescription is worn. Visual acuity (VA) = $d/D$ (written as a fraction) where d = the viewing distance (usually 6 metres), and D = the number under or beside the smallest line of letters that the person is able to see. Normal visual acuity is 6/6 or better. If someone can only see the '60' line at the top of the chart, the acuity is recorded as being 6/60. Some people can see better than 6/6 (eg 6/5, 6/3); however, 6/6 has been established as the standard for good vision.

## References

- 1 ACSQHC (Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care) (2005). *Preventing Falls and Harm From Falls in Older People – Best Practice Guidelines for Australian Hospitals and Residential Aged Care Facilities 2005*, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 2 NARI (National Ageing and Research Institute) (2004). *An Analysis of Research on Preventing Falls and Falls Injury in Older People: Community, Residential Care and Hospital Settings (2004 update),* Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, Department of Health and Ageing, Injury Prevention Section, Canberra.
- 3 Aged Care Act 1997. http://scaletext.law.gov.au (Accessed July 2007)
- 4 VQC (Victorian Quality Council) (2004). *Minimising the risk of falls and fall-related injuries. Guidelines for acute, sub-acute and residential care settings*, Department of Human Services Metropolitan Health and Aged Care Services Division, Victorian Government, Melbourne.
- 5 WHO (World Health Organization). *Definition of a fall*. http://www.who.int/violence\_injury\_prevention/ other\_injury/falls/links/en/index.html
- 6 Rushworth N (2009). Brain Injury Australia Policy Paper: Falls-Related Traumatic Brain Injury. http://www.bia.net.au/reports\_factsheets/BIA%20Paper\_Falls%20related%20TBI.pdf (Accessed 29 July 2009)
- Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Lamb SE, Gates S, Cumming RG and Rowe BH (2009).
   Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (2) Art. No.: CD007146. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD007146.pub2.
- 8 NHMRC (National Health and Medical Research Council) (2007). *NHMRC additional levels of evidence and grades for recommendations for developers of guidelines. Stage 2 consultation.* http://www.nhmrc. gov.au/guidelines/\_files/Stage%202%20Consultation%20Levels%20and%20Grades.pdf (Accessed 20 May 2009)
- 9 Glasziou P, Del Mar C and Salisbury J (2007). Evidence-based Practice Workbook, Blackwell, Melbourne.
- 10 NHMRC (National Health and Medical Research Council) (1999). *A Guide to the Development, Implementation and Evaluation of Clinical Practice Guidelines,* Australian Government, Canberra.
- 11 Kannus P, Khan K and Lord S (2006). Preventing falls among elderly people in the hospital environment. *Medical Journal of Australia* 184(8):372–373.
- 12 Oliver D, Hopper A and Seed P (2000). Do hospital fall prevention programs work? A systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 48(12):1679–1689.
- 13 Oliver D (2004). Prevention of falls in hospital inpatients: agendas for research and practice. *Age and Ageing* 33(4):328–330.
- 14 AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) (2008). *A Picture of Osteoporosis in Australia*, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 15 Pointer S, Harrison J and Bradley C (2003). *National Injury Prevention Plan Priorities for 2004 and Beyond: discussion paper*, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Canberra
- 16 AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) (2007). *Older Australians in Hospital*, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 17 ABS (Australian Bureau of Statistics) (2004). *The Health of Older People*, Australia 2001. http://www.abs.gov.au.
- 18 AIHW (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare) (2008). *Hospitalisations due to falls by older people, Australia 2005–06*, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, Australian Government, Canberra.

- Sutton J, Standen P and Wallace A (1994). Unreported accidents to patients in hospital. Nursing Times 90(39):46–49.
- 20 DoHA (Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing) (2003). *Projected Costs of Fall Related Injury to Older Persons Due to Demographic Change in Australia*, Department of Health and Ageing, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 21 NPSA (National Patient Safety Agency) (2007). *Slips, trips and falls in hospital*, NHS. http://www.npsa. nhs.uk/nrls/alerts-and-directives/directives-guidance/slips-trips-falls/
- 22 Kerzman H, Chetrit A, Brin L and Toren O (2004). Characteristics of falls in hospitalized patients. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 47(2):223–229.
- 23 Brandis S (1999). A collaborative occupational therapy and nursing approach to falls prevention in hospital inpatients. *Journal of Quality in Clinical Practice* 19(4):215–220.
- Hitcho E, Krauss M, Birge S, Dunagan W, Fischer I, Johnson S, Nast P, Costantinou E and Fraser V (2004).
   Characteristics and circumstances of falls in a hospital setting: a prospective analysis. *Journal of Geriatric Internal Medicine* 19(7):732–739.
- 25 Butler M, Kerse N and Todd M (2004). Circumstances and consequences of falls in residential care: the New Zealand story. *The New Zealand Medical Journal* 117(1202):1076–1088.
- 26 Nyberg L and Gustafson Y (1995). Patient falls in stroke rehabilitation: a challenge to rehabilitation strategies. *Stroke* 26(5):838–842.
- 27 Vassallo M, Amersey R, Sharma J and Allen S (2000). Falls on integrated medical wards. *Gerontology* 46(3):158–162.
- 28 Kuehn A and Sendelweck S (1995). Acute health status and its relationship to falls in the nursing home. Journal of Gerontological Nursing 21(7):41–49.
- 29 Vassallo M, Sharma J and Allen S (2002). Characteristics of single fallers and recurrent fallers among hospital inpatients. *Gerontology* 48(3):147–150.
- 30 Forster A and Young J (1995). Incidence and consequences of falls due to stroke: a systematic inquiry. *British Medical Journal* 311(6997):83–86.
- 31 Cameron I, Murray G, Gillespie L, Cumming R, Robertson M, Hill K and Kerse N (2008). Interventions for preventing falls in older people in nursing care facilities and hospitals. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (3) Art. No.: CD005465. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005465.
- 32 Mahoney J, Palta M, Johnson J, Jalaluddin M, Gray S, Park S and Sager M (2000). Temporal association between hospitalization and rate of falls after discharge. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 160(18):2788–2795.
- 33 National Falls Prevention for Older People Initiative (2000). Step Out With Confidence: A Study into the Information Needs and Perceptions of Older Australians Concerning Falls and their Prevention, Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, Canberra. http://www.health.gov.au/internet/ wcms/publishing.nsf/content/health-publith-strateg-injury-fall-documents.htm
- 34 NCC-NSC (National Collaborating Centre for Nursing and Supportive Care) (2004). *Clinical Practice Guideline for the Assessment and Prevention of Falls in Older People*. http://www.nice.org.uk/pdf/CG021NICEguideline.pdf (Accessed July 2007).
- 35 Clemson L, Cumming RG, Kendig H, Swann M, Heard R and Taylor K (2004). The effectiveness of a community-based program for reducing the incidence of falls in the elderly: a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 52(9):1487–1494.
- Oliver D, Connelly J, Victor C, Shaw F, Whitehead A, Genc Y, Vanoli A, Martin F and Gosney M (2007).
   Strategies to prevent falls and fractures in hospitals and care homes and effect of cognitive impairment: systematic review and meta-analyses. *British Medical Journal* 334(7584):82.
- 37 Healey F, Monro A, Cockram A, Adams V and Heseltine D (2004). Using targeted risk factor reduction to prevent falls in older in-patients: a randomised controlled trial. *Age and Ageing* 33(4):390–395.
- 38 Stenvall M, Olofsson B, Lundström M, Englund U, Borssén B, Svensson O, Nyberg L and Gustafson Y (2007). A multidisciplinary, multifactorial intervention program reduces postoperative falls and injuries after femoral neck fracture. Osteoporosis International 18(2):167–175.
- 39 Haines T, Bennell K, Osborne R and Hill K (2004). Effectiveness of targeted falls prevention programme in subacute hospital setting: randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 328:676.

- 40 Cumming R, Thomas M, Szonyi G, Salkeld G, O'Neill E, Westbury C and Frampton G (1999). Home visits by an occupational therapist for assessment and modification of environmental hazards: a randomized trial of falls prevention. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 47(12):1397–1402.
- 41 Clemson L, Mackenzie L, Ballinger C, Close J and Cumming R (2008). Environmental interventions to prevent falls in community-dwelling older people. *Journal of Aging and Health* 20(8):954–971.
- 42 Cumming R, Sherrington C, Lord S, Simpson M, Vogler C, Cameron I and Naganathan V (2008). Cluster randomised trial of a targeted multifactorial intervention to prevent falls among older people in hospital. *British Medical Journal* 336:758–760.
- 43 Fonda D, Cook J, Sandler V and Bailey M (2006). Sustained reduction in serious fall-related injuries in older people in hospital. *Medical Journal of Australia* 184(8):379–382.
- 44 Falls Injury Prevention Collaborative Education and Resource Working Group (2008). *Queensland How* to Stay On Your Feet Checklist, Queensland Health, Brisbane.
- 45 CERA (Centre for Education and Research on Ageing) (1998). *Putting Your Best Foot Forward: Preventing* and Managing Falls in Aged Care Facilities, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 46 Resnick B (2003). Preventing Falls in Acute Care. In: *Geriatric Nursing Protocols for Best Practice*, Mezey M, Fulmer T, Abraham I and Zwicker D (eds), Springer Publishing Company Inc, New York, 141–164.
- 47 Conforti D (2004). *The Assessment, Management and Prevention of Falls in the Elderly in the South Western Sydney Area Health Service*, South West Sydney Area Health Service, Liverpool, NSW.
- 48 Szumlas S, Groszek J, Kitt S, Payson C and Stack K (2004). Take a second glance: a novel approach to inpatient fall prevention. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Safety* 30(6):295–302.
- 49 Healey F (2007). *Bedrails Reviewing the Evidence: A Systematic Literature Review*, National Patient Safety Agency, London.
- 50 Blackberry I, Galvin P, Bingham A, Hill K, Russell M, Liaw T and Taylor J (2007). *A literature review on falls* prevention for older people presenting to emergency departments following a fall: effective approaches and barriers to best practice, Report by the National Ageing Research Institute (NARI) to the Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing.
- 51 Hegney D, Buikstra E, Chamberlain C, March J, McKay M, Cope G and Fallon T (2006). Nurse discharge planning in the emergency department: a Toowoomba, Australia study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 15(8):1033–1044.
- 52 Bell A, Talbot-Stern J and Hennessy A (2000). Characteristics and outcomes of older patients presenting to the emergency department after a fall: a retrospective analysis. *Medical Journal of Australia* 173(4):179-182.
- 53 Snooks H, Halter M, Close J, Cheung W, Moore F and Roberts S (2006). Emergency care of older people who fall: a missed opportunity. *Quality and Safety in Health Care* 15:390–392.
- 54 NARI (National Ageing and Research Institute) (2007). *Falls Prevention Guideline for the Emergency Department*, Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, National Ageing Research Institute (NARI).
- 55 Shapiro M, Partridge R, Jenouri I, Micalone M and Gifford D (2001). Functional decline in independent elders after a minor traumatic injury. *Academic Emergency Medicine* 8:78–81.
- 56 Close J, Hooper R, Glucksman E, Jackson S and Swift C (2003). Predictors of falls in a high risk population: results from the prevention of falls in the elderly trial (PROFET). *Emergency Medical Journal* 20(5):421–425.
- 57 Close J, Ellis M, Hooper R, Glucksman E, Jackson S and Swift C (1999). Prevention of falls in the elderly trial (PROFET): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 353(9147):93–97.
- 58 Davison J, Bond J, Dawson P, Steen I and Kenny R (2005). Patients with recurrent falls attending Accident & Emergency benefit from multifactorial intervention – a randomised controlled trial. Age and Ageing 34(2):162–168.
- 59 ANZSGM (Australian and New Zealand Society for Geriatric Medicine) (2008). Australian and New Zealand Society for Geriatric Medicine Position Statement 14: The Management of Older Patients in the Emergency Department. http://www.anzsgm.org/ ManagementofOlderPatientsintheEmergencyDepartment.pdf.pdf (Accessed 17 August 2009).

- 60 Russell M, Hill K, Day L, Blackberry I, Gurrin L and Dharmage S (2009). Development of the Falls Risk for Older People in the Community (FROP-Com) screening tool. Age and Ageing 38(1):40–46.
- 61 NARI (National Ageing and Research Institute) (2008). *Implementation of an evidence based falls risk* screening and assessment for older people presenting to Emergency Departments after a fall, Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing, National Ageing Research Institute (NARI), Melbourne.
- 62 Hill K, Moore K, Dorevitch M and Day L (2008). Effectiveness of falls clinics: an evaluation of outcomes and client adherence to recommended interventions. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 56(4):600–608.
- 63 Nordin E, Lindelof N, Rosendahl E, Jensen J and Lundin-Olsson L (2008). Prognostic validity of the Timed Up-and-Go test, a modified Get-Up-and-Go test, staff's global judgement and fall history in evaluating fall risk in residential care facilities. *Age and Ageing* 37(4):442–448.
- 64 Donoghue J, Graham J, Mitten-Lewis S, Murphy M and Gibbs J (2005). A volunteer companion-observer intervention reduces falls on an acute aged care ward. *International Journal of Health Care Quality Assurance Incorporating Leadership in Health Services* 18(1):24–31.
- Ellis A and Trent R (2001). Hospitalised fall injuries and race in California. *Injury Prevention* 7:316–320.
- 66 Hill K and Vrantsidis F (2003). *Evaluation of falls prevention projects for older people in the acute hospital setting*, Report to the Department of Human Services (Victoria), NARI, Melbourne.
- 67 Milisen K, Staelens N, Schwendimann R, de Paepe L, Verhaeghe J, Braes T, Boonen S, Pelemans W, Kressig R and Dejaeger E (2007). Fall prediction in inpatients by bedside nurses using the St. Thomas's Risk Assessment Tool in falling elderly inpatients (STRATIFY) instrument: a multicenter study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55(5):725–733.
- 68 Myers H (2003). Hospital fall risk assessment tools: a critique of the literature. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 9(4):223–235.
- 69 Oliver D, Britton M, Seed P, Martin F and Hopper A (1997). Development and evaluation of evidence based risk assessment tool (STRATIFY) to predict which elderly inpatients will fall: case-control and cohort studies. *British Medical Journal* 315(7115):1049–1053.
- 70 Haines T, Hill K, Walsh W and Osborne R (2007). Design-related bias in hospital fall risk screening tool predictive accuracy evaluations: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 62(6):664–672.
- 71 Oliver D, Daly F, Martin F and McMurdo M (2004). Risk factors and risk assessment tools for falls in hospital in-patients: a systematic review. *Age and Ageing* 33(2):122–130.
- 72 Oliver D and Morse J (2006). Assessing the risk of falls in hospitals: time for a rethink? *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research* 38(2):89–96.
- 73 Vassallo M, Stockdale R, Sharma J, Briggs R and Allen S (2005). A comparative study of the use of four fall risk assessment tools on acute medical wards. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 53(6):1034–1038.
- 74 Papaioannou A, Parkinson W, Cook R, Ferko N, Coker E and Adachi J (2004). Prediction of falls using a risk assessment tool in the acute care setting. *BMC Medicine* 2(1) doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-2-1.
- 75 Oliver D, Papaioannou A, Giangregorio L, Thabane L, Reizgys K and Foster G (2008). A systematic review and meta-analysis of studies using the STRATFY tool for prediction of falls in hospital patients: how well does it work? *Age and Ageing* 37:621–627.
- 76 Haines T, Bennell KO, R and Hill K (2006). A new instrument for targeting falls prevention interventions was accurate and clinically applicable in a hospital setting. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 59(2):168–175.
- 77 Hill K, Vrantsidis F, Jessup R, McGaan A, Pearce J and Collins T (2004). Validation of a falls risk assessment tool in the sub-acute hospital setting: a pilot study. *Australasian Journal of Podiatric Medicine* 38(4):99–108.
- 78 Morse J, Morse R and Tylko S (1989). Development of a scale to identify the falls prone patient. *Canadian Journal of Aging* 8:366–377.
- 79 Nyberg L and Gustafson L (1996). Using the Downton index to predict those prone to falls in stroke rehabilitation. *Stroke* 27(10):1821–1824.
- Stapleton C, Hough P, Oldmeadow L, Bull K, Hill K and Greenwood K (2009). Four item falls risk screening tool for sub-acute and residential aged care: the first step in falls prevention. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 28(3):139–143.
- 81 Evans D, Hodgkinson B, Lambert L and Wood J (2001). Falls risk factors in the hospital setting: a systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Practice* 7(1):38–45.
- 82 Scott V, Votova K, Scanlan A and Close J (2007). Multifactorial and functional mobility assessment tools for fall risk among older adults in community, home-support, long-term and acute care setting. *Age and Ageing* 36(2):130–139.
- 83 Shaw F (2007). Prevention of falls in older people with dementia. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 114(10):1259–1264.
- 84 Lord S and Ward J (1994). Age-associated differences in sensori-motor function and balance in community dwelling women. *Age and Ageing* 23:452–460.
- 85 Mahoney J, Sager M, Dunham N and Johnson J (1994). Risk of falls after hospital discharge. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 42(3):269–274.
- 86 Haines T, Kuys S, Morrison G, Clarke J and Bew P (2008). Balance impairment not predictive of falls in geriatric rehabilitation wards. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 63(5):523–528.
- 87 van Peppen R, Hendriks H, van Meeteren N, Helders P and Kwakkel G (2007). The development of a clinical practice stroke guideline for physiotherapists in the Netherlands: a systematic review of available evidence. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 29(10):767–783.
- 88 Halbert J, Crotty M, Whitehead C, Cameron I, Kurrle S, Graham S, Handoll H, Finnegan T, Jones T, Foley A and Shanahan M (2007). Multi-disciplinary rehabilitation after hip fracture is associated with improved outcome: a systematic review. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine* 39(7):507–512.
- 89 Barreca S, Sigouin C, Lambert C and Ansley B (2004). Effects of extra training on the ability of stroke survivors to perform an independent Sit-to-Stand: a randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Geriatric Physical Therapy* 27(2):59–64.
- 90 Donald I, Pitt K, Armstrong E and Shuttleworth H (2000). Preventing falls on an elderly care rehabilitation ward. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 14(2):178–185.
- 91 de Morton N, Keating J and Jeffs K (2007). Exercise for acutely hospitalised older medical patients. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD005955. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005955. pub2.
- de Morton N, Jones C, Keating J, Berlowitz D, MacGregor L, Lim W, Jackson B and Brand C (2007).
  The effect of exercise on outcomes for hospitalised older acute medical patients: an individual patient data meta-analysis. *Age and Ageing* 36(2):219–222.
- 93 Sherrington C, Whitney J, Lord S, Herbert R, Cumming R and Close J (2008). Effective exercise for the prevention of falls: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 56(12):2234–2243.
- 94 Perera S, Mody S, Woodman R and Studenski S (2006). Meaningful change and responsiveness in common physical performance measures in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 54(5):743–749.
- 95 de Morton N, Berlowitz D and Keating J (2008). A systematic review of mobility instruments and their measurement properties for older acute medical patients. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 6:44.
- 96 Moe-Nilssen R, Nordin E and Lundin-Olsson L (2008). Criteria for evaluation of measurement properties of clinical balance measures for use in fall prevention studies. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice* 14(2):236–240.
- 97 Lord S, Menz H and Tiedemann A (2003). A physiological profile approach to falls risk assessment and prevention. *Physical Therapy* 83:237.
- 98 Duncan P, Studenski S, Chandler J and Prescott B (1992). Functional reach: predictive validity in a sample of elderly male veterans. *Journal of Gerontology* 47:M93–98.
- 99 Tiedemann A, Shimada H, Sherrington C, Murray S and Lord S (2008). The comparative ability of eight functional mobility tests for predicting falls in community-dwelling older people. *Age and Ageing* 37(4):430–435.

- 100 Robertson M, Gardner M, Devlin N, McGee R and Campbell A (2001). Effectiveness and economic evaluation of a nurse delivered home exercise programme to prevent falls. 1: Randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 322:697–701.
- 101 Thorbahn L and Newton R (1996). Use of the Berg Balance Test to predict falls in elderly persons. *Physical Therapy* 76(6):576–583.
- 102 Tinetti M (1986). Performance-oriented assessment of mobility problems in elderly patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 34(2):119–126.
- 103 Yardley L, Beyer N, Hauer K, Kempen G, Piot-Ziegler C and Todd C (2005). Development and initial validation of the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I). *Age and Ageing* 34(6):614–619.
- Schnelle J, Kapur K, Alessi C, Osterweil D, Beck J, Al-Samarrai N, Ouslander J and Schnelle J (2003).
  Does an exercise and incontinence intervention save healthcare costs in a nursing home population? Journal of the American Geriatrics Society 51(2):161–168.
- 105 Visser H (1983). Gait and balance in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. Age and Ageing 12(4):296–301.
- 106 Hendrie H (1998). Epidemiology of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 62(suppl. 1):S3–18.
- 107 Inouye S, van Dyck C, Alessi C, Balkin S, Siegal A and Horwitz R (2006). Delirium in older persons. *New England Journal of Medicine* 354(11):1157–1165.
- 108 Holmes J and House A (2000). Psychiatric illness in hip fracture. Age and Ageing 29(6):537–546.
- 109 Santos F, Velasco I and Fráguas RJ (2004). Risk factors for delirium in the elderly after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *International Psychogeriatrics* 16(2):175–193.
- 110 Hill K, Vu M and Walsh W (2007). Falls in the acute hospital setting impact on resource utilisation. *Australian Health Reviews* 31(3):471–477.
- 111 Bates D, Pruess K, Souney P and Platt R (1995). Serious falls in hospitalized patients: correlates and resource utilization. *American Journal of Medicine* 99(2):137–143.
- 112 Gluck T, Wientjes H and Rai G (1996). An evaluation of risk factors for in-patient falls in acute and rehabilitation elderly care wards. *Gerontology* 42(2):104–107.
- 113 Janken J, Reynolds B and Swiech K (1986). Patient falls in the acute care setting: identifying risk factors. *Nursing Research* 35(4):215–219.
- 114 Schmid N (1990). Reducing patient falls: a research-based comprehensive fall prevention program. *Military Medicine* 155(5):202–207.
- 115 Lichtenstein M, Griffin M, Cornell J, Malcolm E and Ray W (1994). Risk factors for hip fractures occurring in the hospital. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 140(9):830–838.
- 116 Thapa P, Gideon P, Fought R and Ray W (1995). Psychotropic drugs and risk of recurrent falls in ambulatory nursing home residents. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 142(2):202–211.
- 117 Tinetti M, Speechley M and Ginter S (1988). Risk factors for falls among elderly persons living in the community. *New England Journal of Medicine* 319(26):1701–1707.
- 118 Passant U, Warkentin S and Gustafson L (1997). Orthostatic hypotension and low blood pressure in organic dementia: a study of prevalence and related clinical characteristics. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 12(3):395–403.
- 119 Mossey J (1985). Social and psychologic factors related to falls among the elderly. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine* 1(3):541–553.
- 120 Nakamura T, Meguro K and Sasaki H (1996). Relationship between falls and stride length variability in senile dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Gerontology* 42(2):108–113.
- 121 Buchner D and Larson E (1987). Falls and fractures in patients with Alzheimer-type dementia. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 257(11):1492–1495.
- 122 van Doorn C, Gruber-Baldini A, Zimmerman S, Hebel J, Port C, Baumgarten M, Quinn C, Taler G, May C and Magaziner J (2003). Dementia as a risk factor for falls and fall injuries among nursing home residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 51(9):1213–1218.
- 123 Shaw F (2002). Falls in cognitive impairment and dementia. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine 18(2):159–173.
- 124 Weber J, Coverdale J and Kunik M (2004). Delirium: current trends in prevention and treatment. Internal Medicine Journal 34(3):115–121.

- 125 Folstein M, Folstein S and McHugh P (1975). 'Mini-Mental state': a practical method for grading the cognitive status of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 12:189–198.
- 126 Rowland J, Basic D, Storey J and Conforti D (2006). The Rowland Universal Dementia Assessment Scale (RUDAS) and the Folstein MMSE in a multicultural cohort of elderly persons. *International Psychogeriatrics* 18(1):111–120.
- 127 Storey J, Rowland J, Basic D, Conforti D and Dickson H (2004). The Rowland Universal Dementia Assessment Scale (RUDAS): a multicultural cognitive assessment scale. *International Psychogeriatrics* 16(1):13–31.
- 128 Inouye S (1990). Clarifying confusion: the confusion assessment method: a new method for detection of delirium. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 113(12):941–948.
- 129 Wei L, Fearing M, Sternberg E and Inouye S (2008). The confusion assessment method: a systematic review of current usage. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 56(5):823–830.
- 130 Cohen-Mansfield J (2001). Nonpharmacologic interventions for inappropriate behaviors in dementia: a review, summary, and critique. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 9(4):361–381.
- 131 Joanna Briggs Institute (2001). Maintaining oral hydration in older people. Best Practice 5:1–5.
- 132 Keller N (2006). Maintaining oral hydration in older adults living in residential aged care facilities. International Journal of Evidence Based Healthcare 4:68–73.
- 133 Bakarich A, McMillan V and Prosser R (1997). The effect of a nursing intervention on the incidence of older patient falls. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing* 15(1):26–31.
- 134 Mommen S and Foldspang A (1994). Body mass index and adult female urinary incontinence. *World Journal of Urology* 12:319–322.
- 135 Lord S, Sherrington C and Menz H (2007). *Falls in Older People: Risk Factors and Strategies for Prevention*, Cambridge University Press, New York.
- 136 Peet S, Castleden C and McGrother C (1995). Prevalence of urinary and faecal incontinence in hospitals and residential and nursing homes for older people. *British Medical Journal* 311(7012):1063–1064.
- 137 Resnick N (1995). Urinary incontinence. Lancet 346(8967):94–99.
- 138 Hampel C, Weinhold D, Benken N, Eggersmann C and Thüroff J (1997). Prevalence and natural history of female incontinence. *European Urology* 32(suppl. 2):3–12.
- 139 Delbaere K, Close J, Menz H, Cumming R, Cameron I, Sambrook P, March L and Lord S (2008). Development and validation of falls risk screening tools for use in residential aged care facilities in Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia* 189(4):193–196.
- 140 Pils K, Neumann F, Meisner W, Schano W, Vavrovsky G and Van der Cammen T (2003). Predictors of falls in elderly people during rehabilitation after hip fracture—who is at risk of a second one? *Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie und Geriatrie* 36(1):16–22.
- 141 Hay-Smith E and Dumoulin C (2006). Pelvic floor muscle training versus no treatment, or inactive control treatments, for urinary incontinence in women. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD005654. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005654.
- 142 Brown J, Vittinghoff E, Wyman J, Stone K, Nevitt M, Ensrud K and Grady D (2000). Urinary incontinence: does it increase risk for falls and fractures? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 48(7):721–725.
- 143 Ostaszkiewicz J and Chestney T (2004). Habit retraining for the management of urinary incontinence in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (2) Art. No.: CD002801. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD002801.pub2.
- 144 Eustice S and Roe B (2000). Prompted voiding for the management of urinary incontinence in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD002113. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002113.
- 145 Bliwise D, Foley D, Vitiello M, Ansari F, Ancoli-Israel S and Walsh J (2009). Nocturia and disturbed sleep in the elderly. *Sleep Medicine* 10(5):540–548.
- 146 de Lillo A and Rose S (2000). Functional bowel disorders in the geriatric patient: constipation, fecal impaction, and fecal incontinence. *American Journal of Gastroenterology* 95(4):901–905.
- 147 Bhargava S, Canda A and Chapple C (2004). A rational approach to benign prostatic hyperplasia evaluation: recent advances. *Current Opinion in Urology* 14(1):1–6.

- 148 Abrams P, Cardozo L, Fall M, Griffiths D, Rosier P, Ulmsten U, van Kerrebroeck P, Victor A and Wein A (2002). The standardisation of terminology of lower urinary tract function: report from the Standardisation Sub-committee of the International Continence Society. *American Journal of Obstetrics* and Gynecology 187(1):116–126.
- 149 Bouwen A, Lepeleire J and Buntix F (2008). Rate of accidental falls in institutionalised older people with and without cognitive impairment halved as a result of a staff-oriented intervention. *Age and Ageing* 37:306–310.
- 150 Tinetti M and Williams C (1997). Falls, injuries due to falls and risk of admission to a nursing home. *New England Journal of Medicine* 337:1279–1284.
- 151 Meade C, Bursell A and Ketelsen L (2006). Effects of nursing rounds on patients' call light use, satisfaction, and safety. *Australian Journal of Nursing* 106(9):58–70.
- 152 Sahlin Y and Berner E (2008). Fecal Incontinence. In: *Evidence-Based Physical Therapy For The Pelvic Floor*, Berghmans B, Morkved S and Kampen M (eds), Butterworth Heinemann Elsevier Edinburgh.
- 153 Ostaszkiewicz J and Roe B (2004). Timed voiding for the management of urinary incontinence in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD002802. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002802. pub2.
- 154 Aditya B, Sharma J, Allen S and Vassallo M (2003). Predictors of a nursing home placement from a non-acute geriatric hospital. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 17(1):108–113.
- 155 Gardner J and Fonda D (1994). Urinary incontinence in the elderly. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 16(3):140–148.
- 156 Holroyd-Leduc J, Lyder C and Tannenbaum C (2006). Practical management of urinary incontinence in the long-term setting. *Annals of Long-Term Care* 14(2):30–37.
- 157 Burns S, Leese G and McMurdo M (2002). Older people and ill fitting shoes. *Postgraduate Medical Journal* 78(920):344–346.
- 158 Berg W, Alessio H, Mills E and Tong C (2002). Circumstances and consequences of falls in independent community-dwelling older adults. *Age and Ageing* 26(4):261–268.
- 159 Sherrington C and Menz H (2003). An evaluation of footwear worn at the time of fall-related hip fracture. *Age and Ageing* 32(3):310–314.
- 160 Robbins S, Waked E and McClaran J (1995). Proprioception and stability: foot position awareness as a function of age and footwear. *Age and Ageing* 24:67–72.
- 161 Lord S and Bashford G (1996). Shoe characteristics and balance in older women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 44(4):429–433.
- 162 Keegan T, Kelsey J, King A, Quesenberry C and Sidney S (2004). Characteristics of fallers who fracture at the foot, distal forearm, proximal humerus, pelvis, and shaft of the tibia/fibula compared with fallers who do not fracture. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 159(2):192–203.
- 163 Kerse N, Butler M, Robinson E and Todd M (2004). Wearing slippers, falls and injury in residential care. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 28(2):180–187.
- 164 Koepsell T, Wolf M, Buchner D, Kukull W, LaCroix A, Tencer A, Frankenfeld C, Tautvydas M and Larson E (2004). Footwear style and risk of falls in older adults. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 52(9):1495–1501.
- 165 Dunne R, Bergman A, Rogers L, Inglin B and Rivara F (1993). Elderly persons' attitudes towards footwear—a factor in preventing falls. *Public Health Reports* 108(2):245–248.
- 166 Menant J, Steele J, Menz H, Munro B and Lord S (2008). Optimizing footwear for older people at risk of falls. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development* 45(8):1167–1182.
- 167 Benvenutti F, Ferrucci L, Guralnik J, Gangemi S and Baroni A (1995). Foot pain and disability in older persons: an epidemiologic survey. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 43:479–484.
- 168 Dunn J, Link C, Felson D, Crincoli M, Keysor J and McKinlay J (2004). Prevalence of food and ankle conditions in a multiethnic community sample of older adults. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 159(5):491–498.
- 169 Menz H and Morris M (2005). Footwear characteristics and foot problems in older people. *Gerontology* 51(5):346–351.

- 170 Brodie B, Rees C, Robins D and Wilson A (1988). Wessex Feet: a regional foot health survey, volume I: the survey. *The Chiropodist* 43:152–165.
- 171 Gorter K, Kuyvenhoven M and deMelker R (2000). Nontraumatic foot complaints in older people. A population-based survey of risk factors, mobility, and well-being. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association* 90:397–402.
- 172 Menz H and Lord S (2001). Foot pain impairs balance and functional ability in community-dwelling older people. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association* 91:222–229.
- 173 Menz H, Lord S and Morris M (2005). Foot and ankle characteristics associated with impaired balance and functional ability in older people. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 60(12):1546–1552.
- 174 Menz H, Lord S and Morris M (2006). Foot and ankle risk factors for falls in older people: a prospective study. *Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 61(8):866–870.
- 175 Menz H and Lord S (2001). The contribution of foot problems to mobility impairment and falls in older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 49:1651–1656.
- 176 Lord S, Ward J, Williams P and Anstey K (1994). Physiological factors associated with falls in older community-dwelling women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 42:1110–1117.
- 177 Koski K, Luukinen H, Laippala P and Kivelä S (1998). Risk factors for major injurious falls among the home-dwelling elderly by functional abilities. *Gerontology* 44:232–238.
- 178 Lord S, Lloyd D and Li S (1996). Sensori-motor function, gait patterns and falls in community-dwelling women. *Age and Ageing* 25(4):292–299.
- 179 Menz H, Lord S, St George R and Fitzpatrick R (2003). Walking stability and sensori-motor function in older people with diabetic peripheral neuropathy. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 85(2):245–252.
- 180 Wallace C, Reiber G, LeMaster J, Smith D, Sullivan K, Hayes S and Vath C (2002). Incidence of falls, risk factors for falls, and fall-related fractures in individuals with diabetes and a prior foot ulcer. Diabetes Care 25(11):1983–1986.
- 181 Richardson J, Ashton-Miller J, Lee S and Jacobs K (1996). Moderate peripheral neuropathy impairs weight transfer and unipedal balance in the elderly. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 77(11):1152–1156.
- 182 Richardson J and Hurvitz E (1995). Peripheral neuropathy: a true risk factor for falls. *Journal of Gerontology* 50(4):M211–215.
- 183 Balanowski K and Flynn L (2005). Effect of painful keratoses debridement on foot pain, balance and function in older adults. *Gait and Posture* 22(4):302–307.
- 184 Menz H and Hill K (2007). Podiatric involvement in multidisciplinary fall-prevention clinics in Australia. *Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association* 97(5):377–384.
- 185 Munro B and Steele J (1998). Foot-care awareness a survey of persons aged 65 years and older. Journal of the American Podiatric Medical Association 88(5):242–248.
- 186 Menz H and Sherrington C (2000). The footwear assessment form: a reliable clinical tool to assess footwear characteristics of relevance to postural stability in older adults. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 14(6):657.
- 187 Menz H (2008). *Foot Problems in Older People: Assessment and Management*, Churchill Livingstone/ Elsevier, London.
- 188 Menz H (2009). Assessment of the older person. In: *Merriman's Assessment of the Lower Limb*, Yates B (ed), Churchill Livingstone / Elsevier, London.
- 189 Kenny R, Richardson D, Steen N, Bexton R, Shanahan M, Shaw F and Bond J (2001). Carotid sinus syndrome: a modifiable risk factor for non-accidental falls in older adults. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 38:1491–1496.
- 190 Tan M and Parry S (2008). Vasovagal syncope in the older patient. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 51(6):599–606.
- 191 Brignole M, Alboni P, Benditt D, Bergfeldt L, Blanc J and Thomsen P (2004). Guidelines on management (diagnosis and treatment) of syncope (update 2004). *European Heart Journal* 25(22):2054–2072.

- 192 Chen-Scarabelli C and Scarabelli T (2004). Neurocardiogenic syncope. *British Medical Journal* 329(7461):336–341.
- 193 Davies AJ, Steen N and Kenny RA (2001). Carotid sinus hypersensitivity is common in older patients presenting to an accident and emergency department with unexplained falls. *Age and Ageing* 30(4):289–293.
- 194 Kenny RA (2002). Neurally mediated syncope. Clinics in Geriatric Medicine 18(2):191–210, vi.
- 195 Richardson DA, Bexton RS, Shaw FE and Kenny RA (1997). Prevalence of cardioinhibitory carotid sinus hypersensitivity in patients 50 years or over presenting to the accident and emergency department with "unexplained" or "recurrent" falls. *Pacing and Clinical Electrophysiology* 20(3 Pt 2):820–823.
- 196 Spice C, Morotti W, George S, Dent T, Rose J, Harris S and Gordon C (2009). The Winchester Falls Project: a randomised controlled trial of secondary prevention of falls in older people. *Age and Ageing* 38(1):33–40.
- 197 Tinetti M, Baker D, McAvay G, Claus E, Garrett P, Gottschalk M, Koch M, Trainor K and Horwitz R (1994). A multifactorial intervention to reduce the risk of falling among elderly people living in the community. New England Journal of Medicine 331(13):821–827.
- 198 Gupta V and Lipsitz L (2007). Orthostatic hypotension in the elderly: diagnosis and treatment. *American Journal of Medicine* 120(10):841–847.
- 199 Maule S, Papotti C, Nason D, Magnino C, Testa E and Veglio F (2008). Cognitive decline and low blood pressure: the other side of the coin. *Clinical and Experimental Hypertension* 38(8):711–719.
- 200 Kerber K, Brown D, Lisabeth L, Smith M and Morgenstern L (2006). Stroke among patients with dizziness, vertigo, and imbalance in the emergency department: a population-based study. *Stroke* 37:2484–2487.
- 201 Koelliker P, Summers R and Hawkins B (2001). Benign paroxysmal positional vertigo: diagnosis and treatment in the emergency department a review of the literature and discussion of canalith-repositioning maneuvers. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 37(4):392–398.
- 202 Tinetti M, Williams C and Gill T (2000). Dizziness among older adults: a possible geriatric syndrome. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 132(5):337–344.
- 203 Newman-Toker D, Hsieh Y, Camargo C, Pelletier A, Butchy G and Edlow J (2008). Spectrum of dizziness visits to US emergency departments: cross-sectional analysis from a nationally representative sample. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* 83(7):765–775.
- 204 Sloane P, Blazer D and George L (1989). Dizziness in a community elderly population. *Journal of American Geriatrics Society* 37:101–108.
- 205 Lord S and Dayhew J (2001). Visual risk factors for falls in older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 49(5):508.
- 206 Pothula V, Chew F, Lesser T and Sharma A (2004). Falls and vestibular impairment. *Clinics Otolaryngology Allied Science* 29(2):179–182.
- 207 Baloh R, Jacobson K and Socotch T (1993). The effect of ageing on visual-vestibulo-ocular responses. *Experimental Brain Research* 95:509–516.
- 208 Kristinsdottir E, Nordell E, Jarnlo G, Tjader R, Thorngren K and Magnusson M (2001). Observation of vestibular asymmetry in a majority of patients over 50 years with fall related wrist fractures. *Acta Otolaryngology* 121:481–485.
- 209 Oghalai J, Manolidis S, Barth J, Stewart M and Jenkins H (2000). Unrecognised benign paroxysmal positional vertigo in elderly patients. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery* 122(5):630–634.
- 210 Morse J (1996). Preventing Patient Falls, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California.
- 211 Waterston J (2000). Dizziness. Medical Journal of Australia 172:506–511.
- 212 Hamalgyi M and Curthoys I (1988). A sign of canal paresis. Archives of Neurology 45:737–739.
- 213 Schubert M, Tusa R, Grine L and Herdman S (2004). Optimizing the sensitivity of the head thrust test for identifying vestibular hypofunction. *Physical Therapy* 84:151–158.
- 214 Maarsingh O, Dros J, van Weert H, Schellevis F, Bindels P and van der Horst H (2009). Development of a diagnostic protocol for dizziness in elderly patients in general practice: a Delphi procedure. *BMC Family Practice* 10:1–33.

- 215 Gordon C, Levite R, Joffe V and Gadoth J (2004). Is posttraumatic benign paroxysmal positional vertigo different from the idiopathic form? *Archives of Neurology* 61:1590–1593.
- 216 Strupp M, Zingler V, Arbusow V, Niklas D, Maag K, Dieterich M, Bense S, Theil D, Jahn K and Brandt T (2004). Methylprednisolone, valacyclovir, or the combination for vestibular neuritis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 351:354–361.
- 217 Lalwani A, (ed) (2004). The aging inner ear. In: *Current Diagnosis and Treatment in Otolaryngology* -*Head and Neck Surgery*, McGraw Hill Professional.
- 218 Brandt T and Daroff R (1980). Physical therapy for benign paroxysmal positional vertigo. *Archives of Otolaryngology* 106:484–485.
- 219 Epley J (1992). The canalith repositioning procedure for treatment of benign paroxysmal positional vertigo. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery* 107:399–404.
- 220 Woodworth B, Gillespie M, Boyd M and Lambert P (2004). The canalith repositioning procedure for benign positional vertigo: a meta-analysis. *Laryngoscope* 114(7):1143–1146.
- 221 Lea P, Kushnir M, Shpirer Y, Zomer Y and Flechter S (2005). Approach to benign paroxysmal positional vertigo in old age. *Israeli Medical Association Journal* 7:447–450.
- 222 Whitney S and Rossi M (2000). Efficacy of vestibular rehabilitation. *Otolayrngology Clinics* of North America 33:659–673.
- 223 Cohen H (1992). Vestibular rehabilitation reduces functional disability. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery* 107:638–643.
- 224 Swan L (2003). Facilitating psychological intervention for a patient with unilateral vestibular hypofunction. *Neurology Report* 27:54–60.
- Hillier S and Hollahan V (2007). Vestibular rehabilitation for unilateral peripheral vestibular dysfunction.
  *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (4) Art. No.: CD005397. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD005397.
  pub2.
- 226 Herdman S, Clendaniel R, Mattox D, Holliday M and Niparko J (1995). Vestibular adaptation exercises and recovery: acute stage after acoustic neuroma resection. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery* 113(1):77–87.
- 227 Mruzek L, Barin K, Nichols D, Burnett C and Welling D (1995). Effects of vestibular rehabilitation and social reinforcement on recovery following ablative vestibular surgery. *Laryngoscope* 105:686–692.
- 228 Bamiou D, Davies R, McKee M and Luxon L (2000). Symptoms, disability and handicap in unilateral peripheral vestibular disorders. *Scandinavian Audiology* 29:238–244.
- 229 Hall C, Schubert M and Herdman S (2004). Prediction of falls risk reduction as measured by dynamic gait index in individuals with unilateral vestibular hypofunction. *Otology Neurotology* 25:746–751.
- 230 Vereeck L, Wuyts F, Truijen S, de Valck C and van der Heyning P (2008). The effect of early customized vestibular rehabilitation on balance after acoustic neuroma resection. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 22(8):698–713.
- 231 Fife T, Tusa R, Furman J, Zee D, Frohman E, Baloh R, Hain T, Goebel J, Demer J and Eviatar L (2000). Assessment: vestibular testing techniques in adults and children: report of the Neurology Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 55:1431–1441.
- 232 Whitney S (2000). Management of the elderly person with vestibular dysfunction. In: *Vestibular Rehabilitation*, Herdman S (ed), FA Davis Company, Philadelphia, 510–533.
- 233 Angeli S, Hawley R and Gomez O (2003). Systematic approach to benign paroxysmal positional vertigo in the elderly. *Otolaryngology Head and Neck Surgery* 128:719–725.
- 234 Herdman S (ed) (2007). Vestibular Rehabilitation, FA Davis Company, Philadelphia.
- 235 Campbell A, Robertson M, Gardner M, Norton R and Buchner D (1999). Psychotropic medication withdrawal and a home based exercise programme to prevent falls: results of a randomised controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 47:850–853.
- 236 Hartikainen S, Lönnroos E and Louhivuori K (2007). Medication as a risk factor for falls: critical systematic review. *Journal of Gerontology* 62A(10):1172–1181.
- 237 Chu L, Pei C, Chiu A, Liu K, Chu M, Wong S and Wong A (1999). Risk factors for falls in hospitalized older medical patients. *Journal of Gerontology* 54A(1):M38–43.

- 238 Gales B and Menard S (1995). Relationship between the administration of selected medications and falls in hospitalized elderly patients. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy* 29(4):354–358.
- 239 Passaro A, Volpato S, Romagnoni F, Manzoli N, Zuliani G and Fellin R (2000). Benzodiazepines with different half-life and falling in a hospitalized population: the GIFA study. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 53:1222–1229.
- 240 Salgado R, Lord S, Packer J and Ehrlich F (1994). Factors associated with falling in elderly hospital patients. *Gerontology* 40(6):325–331.
- 241 Day L, Hoareau E, Finch C, Harrison J, Segal L, Bolton T, Bradley C, Boufous S, Ullah S and the National Injury Prevention Working Group (2009). *Modelling the impact, costs and benefits of falls prevention measures to support policy-makers and program planners*, Monash University Accident Research Centre, Melbourne.
- 242 Gillespie W, Avenall A, Henry D, O'Connell D and Robertson J (2004). Vitamin D and vitamin D analogues for preventing fractures associated with involutional and post menopausal osteoporosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD000227. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000227.pub3.
- 243 Leipzig R, Cumming R and Tinetti M (1999). Drugs and falls in older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis II. Cardiac and analgesic drugs. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 47(1):40–50.
- 244 Cumming R, Miller J, Kelsey J, Davis P, Arfken C, Birge S and Peck W (1991). Medications and multiple falls in elderly people: the St Louis OASIS study. *Age and Ageing* 20(6):455–461.
- 245 APAC (Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory Council) (2002). *Guidelines for medication management in residential aged care facilities*, Department of Health and Ageing, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 246 APAC (Australian Pharmaceutical Advisory Council) (1998). *National guidelines to achieve the continuum of quality use of medicines between hospital and community*, Department of Health and Ageing, Australian Government, Canberra.
- 247 Queensland Health (2003). Falls Prevention: Best Practice Guidelines for Public Hospitals and State Government Residential Aged Care Facilities Incorporating a Community Integration Supplement, Queensland Health, Brisbane.
- Wagner A, Zhang F, Soumerai S, Walker A, Gurwitz J, Glynn R and Ross-Degnan D (2004).
  Benzodiazepine use and hip fractures in the elderly: who is at greatest risk? *Archives of Internal Medicine* 164:1567–1572.
- 249 Cumming R, Ivers R, Clemson L, Cullen J, Hayes M, Tanzer M and Mitchell P (2007). Improving vision to prevent falls in frail older people: a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55(2):175–181.
- 250 Lord S, Dayhew J and Howland A (2002). Multifocal glasses impair edge-contrast sensitivity and depth perception and increase the risk of falls in older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 50(11):1760–1766.
- 251 Foss A, Harwood R, Osborn F, Gregson R, Zaman A and Masud T (2006). Falls and health status in elderly women following second eye cataract surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *Age and Ageing* 35(1):66–71.
- 252 Harwood R, Foss A, Osborn F, Gregson R, Zaman A and Masud T (2005). Falls and health status in elderly women following first eye cataract surgery: a randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 89(1):53–59.
- 253 Rush K, Dillon L and Scharf S (2007). Visual impairment in an aged care ward. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 26(2):91–93.
- 254 Klein B, Klein R, Lee K and Cruickshanks K (1998). Performance-based and self-assessed measures of visual function as related to history of falls, hip fractures, and measured gait time: the Beaver Dam Eye Study. Ophthalmology 105(1):160–164.
- 255 Dargent-Molina P, Favier F, Grandjean H, Baudoin C, Schott A, Hausherr E, Meunier P and Bréart G (1996). Fall-related factors and risk of hip fracture: the EPIDOS prospective study. *Lancet* 348(9021):145–149.
- 256 de Boer M, Pluijm S, Lips P, Moll A, Volker-Dieben H, Deeg D and Van Rens G (2004). Different aspects of visual impairment as risk factors for falls and fractures in older men and women. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 19:1539–1547.

- 257 Nevitt M, Cummings S, Kidd S and Black D (1989). Risk factors for recurrent non-syncopal falls. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 261:2663–2668.
- 258 Coleman A, Cummings S and Yu F (2007). Binocular visual-field loss increases the risk of future falls in older white women. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55:357–364.
- 259 Freeman E, Muñoz B, Rubin G and West S (2007). Visual field loss increases the risk of falls in older adults: the Salisbury Eye Evaluation. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 48(10):4445–4450.
- 260 Klein B, Moss S, Klein R, Lee K and Cruickshanks K (2003). Associations of visual function with physical outcomes and limitations 5 years later in an older population: the Beaver Dam Eye Study. *Ophthalmology* 110(4):644–650.
- 261 Ramrattan R, Wolfs R and Panda-Jonas S (2001). Prevalence and causes of visual field loss in the elderly and associations with impairment in daily functioning: the Rotterdam Study. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 119:1788–1794.
- 262 Schwartz S and Segal O (2005). The effect of cataract surgery on postural control. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 46(3):920–924.
- 263 Ivers R, Optom B, Cumming R, Mitchell P, Simpson J and Peduto A (2003). Visual risk factors for hip fracture in older people. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 51:356–363.
- 264 Black A and Wood J (2008). Visual impairment and postural sway among older adults with glaucoma. *Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 85(6):489–497.
- 265 Dolinis J, Harrison J and Andrews G (1997). Factors associated with falling in older Adelaide residents. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 21:462–468.
- 266 Szabo S, Janssen P, Khan K, Potter M and Lord S (2008). Older women with age-related macular degeneration have an increased risk of falls: a physiological profile assessment (PPA) study. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 56(5):800–807.
- 267 Wood J (2008). Postural stability and gait among older adults with age-related maculopathy. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 50:482–487.
- 268 Eperjesi F, Wolffsohn J, Bowden J, Napper G and Rubinstein M (2004). Normative contrast sensitivity values for the backlit Melbourne Edge Test and the effect of visual impairment. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics* 24:600–606.
- 269 Anderson A, Shuey N and Wall M (2009). Rapid confrontation screening for peripheral visual field defects and extinction. *Clinical Experimental Optometry* 92(1):45–48.
- 270 Campbell A, Robertson M, La Grow S, Kerse N, Sanderson G, Jacobs R, Sharp D and Hale L (2005). Randomised controlled trial of prevention of falls in people aged >75 with severe visual impairment: the VIP trial. *British Medical Journal* 331(7520):817–820.
- 271 La Grow S, Robertson M, Campbell A, Clarke G and Kerse N (2006). Reducing hazard related falls in people 75 years and older with significant visual impairment: how did a successful program work? *Injury Prevention* 12(5):296–301.
- 272 Johnson L, Elliot D and Buckley J (2009). Effects of gaze strategy on standing postural stability in older multifocal wearers. *Clinical and Experimental Optometry* 92:19–26.
- 273 Wildsoet C, Wood J and Hassan S (1998). Development and validation of a visual acuity chart for Australian Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders. *Optometry and Vision Science* 75:806–812.
- 274 Ozanne-Smith J, Guy J, Kelly M and Clapperton A (2008). *The relationship between slips, trips and falls and the design and construction of buildings*, Report for Australian Building Codes Board by Monash University Accident Research Centre Report #281. http://www.monash.edu.au/muarc/reports/muarc281.pdf
- 275 Hignett S and Masud T (2006). A review of environmental risk factors associated with in-patient falls. *Ergonomics* 49(5):605–616.
- 276 Mitchell A and Jones N (1996). Striving to prevent falls in an acute care setting action to enhance quality. *Journal of Clinical Nursing* 5:312–320.
- 277 New South Wales Health (2003). *NSW Health Management Policy to Reduce Fall Injury Among Older People*, New South Wales Health, Sydney.

- 278 Aronow W and Ahn C (1997). Association of postprandial hypotension with incidence of falls, syncope, coronary events, stroke and total mortality at 29 month follow up in 499 older nursing home residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 45(9):1051-1053.
- 279 Tideiksaar R (2002). Falls in Older People, Health Professions Press Incorporated, Baltimore.
- 280 Hadjuk D and Shellenbarger T (2004). When dementia complicates care. *RN Web*, 67:50–55. http://www.rnweb.com/rnweb/article/articleDetail.jsp?id=112801
- 281 Thapa P, Brockman K, Gideon P, Fought R and Ray W (1996). Injurious falls in non-ambulatory nursing home residents: a comparative study of circumstances, incidence, and risk factors. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 44:273–278.
- 282 Giles L, Bolch D, Rouvray R, McErlean B, Whitehead C, Phillips P and Crotty M (2006). Can volunteer companions prevent falls among inpatients? A feasibility study using a pre-post comparative design. *BMC Geriatrics* 6:11.
- 283 Cranney A, Guyatt G, Griffith L, Wells G, Tugwell P and Rosen C (2002). Meta-analyses of therapies for postmenopausal osteoporosis. IX: summary of meta-analyses of therapies for postmenopausal osteoporosis. *Endocrine Reviews* 23(5):570–578.
- 284 Shojania K, Duncan B and McDonald J (2001). *Making health care safer: a critical analysis of patient safety practices*, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, Maryland
- 285 Kerse N, Butler M, Robinson E and Todd M (2004). Fall prevention in residential care: a clustered, randomized, controlled trial. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 52(4):524–531.
- 286 Boswell D, Ramsay J, Smith M and Wagers B (2001). The cost-effectiveness of a patient-sitter programme in an acute care hospital: a test of the impact of sitters on the incidence of falls and patient satisfaction. *Quality Management in Health Care* 10(1):10–16.
- 287 Tideiksaar R and Feiner C (1993). Falls prevention: the efficacy of a bed alarm system in an acute care setting. *The Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine* 60(6):522–527.
- 288 Fleming J and Brayne C (2008). Inability to get up after falling, subsequent time on floor, and summoning help: prospective cohort study in people over 90. *British Medical Journal* 337:A2227.
- 289 Spetz J, Jacobs J and Hatler C (2007). Cost effectiveness of a medical vigilance system to reduce patient falls. *Nursing Economics* 25(6):333–338, 352.
- 290 ECRI (Emergency Care Research Institute) (2004). Bed exit alarms: a component (but only a component) of fall prevention. *Health Devices* 33(5):157–168.
- 291 Evans D, Wood J and Lambert L (2003). Patient injury and physical restraint devices: a systematic review. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 41(3):274–282.
- 292 Evans D, Wood J, Lambert L and Fitzgerald M (2002). *Physical Restraint in Acute and Residential Care: A Systematic Review*, The Joanna Briggs Institute, Adelaide, South Australia.
- 293 Frengley J and Mion L (1998). Physical restraints in the acute care setting: issues and future direction. *Clinics in Geriatric Medicine* 14(4):727–743.
- 294 Cassel C, Leipzig R, Cohan H, Larson E and Meier D (2003). *Geriatric Medicine: An Evidence-Based Approach*, Springer-Verlag, New York.
- 295 Oliver D (2002). Bed falls and bed rails what should we do? Age and Ageing 31:415–418.
- 296 Park M, Hsiao-Chen Tang J and Ledford L (2005). *Changing the Practice of Physical Restraint Use in Acute Care*, University of Iowa Gerontological Nursing Interventions Research Center, Research Translation and Dissemination Core, Iowa City, Iowa.
- 297 Hamers J, Gulpers M and Strik W (2004). Use of physical restraints with cognitively impaired nursing home residents. *Journal of Advanced Nursing* 45(3):246–251.
- 298 Queensland Health (2003). Restraint and Protective Assistance Guidelines, Queensland Health, Brisbane.
- 299 Nurminen J, Puustinen J, Kukola M and Kivela SL (2009). The use of chemical restraints for older long-term hospital patients: a case report from Finland. *Journal of Elder Abuse and Neglect* 21(2):89–104.
- 300 ASGM (Australian Society for Geriatric Medicine) (2005). Australian Society for Geriatric Medicine Position Statement 2: Physical Restraint Use in Older People. http://www.anzsgm.org/documents/ POSITIONSTATEMENTNO2.PhysicialRestraint-Revision.pdf

- 301 Clinical Epidemiology and Health Service Evaluation Unit, Melbourne Health and the Delirium Clinical Guidelines Expert Working Group, (2006). *Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Management of Delirium in Older People*, Victorian Government Department of Human Services, Melbourne.
- 302 Meyer G, Warnke A, Bender R and Muhlhauser I (2003). Effect on hip fractures of increased use of hip protectors in nursing homes: cluster randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 326(7380):76.
- 303 Parker M, Gillespie W and Gillespie L (2005). Hip protectors for preventing hip fractures in older people. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (3) Art. No.: CD001255. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001255. pub3.
- 304 Chen J, Simpson J, March L, Cameron I, Cumming R, Lord S, Seibel M and Sambrook P (2008). Risk factors for fracture following a fall among older people in residential care facilities in Australia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 56(11):2020–2026.
- 305 ICCWA (Injury Control Council of Western Australia) (2001). *Compliance and the Use of External Hip Protectors in Nursing Homes*, Western Australian Department of Health, Perth.
- 306 Lockwood K, Cameron I, Gladman J, Kurrle S and Lanzarone S (2003). Hip protectors: an implementation trial in two geriatric rehabilitation wards. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 22:39–40.
- 307 Cameron I (2004). Hip protectors: how the evidence says they should be used. Australian Falls Prevention Inaugural Conference, Manly, New South Wales.
- 308 Kannus P, Parkkari J and Poutala J (1999). Comparison of force attenuation properties of four different hip protectors under simulated falling conditions in the elderly: an in vitro biomechanical study. *Bone* 25:229–235.
- 309 Cameron I, Cumming R, Kurrle S, Quine S, Lockwood K, Salkeld G and Finnegan T (2003). A randomised trial of hip protector use by frail older women living in their own homes. *Injury Prevention* 9(2):138–141.
- 310 Parker M, Gillespie L and Gillespie W (2004). *Hip Protectors for Preventing Hip Fractures in the Elderly*, John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.
- 311 Cameron I and Quine S (1994). Likely non compliance with external hip protectors: findings from focus groups. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics* 19:273–281.
- 312 Cryer C, Knox A, Martin D and Barlow J (2002). Hip protector compliance among older people living in residential care homes. *Injury Prevention* 8:202–206.
- 313 Parkkari J, Heikkila J and Kannus P (1998). Acceptability and compliance with wearing energy shunting hip protectors: a 6-month prospective follow-up in a Finnish nursing home. Age and Ageing 27:225–230.
- 314 Villar M, Hill P, Nskip H, Thompson P and Cooper C (1998). Will elderly rest home residents wear hip protectors? *Age and Ageing* 27:195–198.
- 315 Lachman M, Howland J, Tennstedt S, Jette A, Assmann S and Peterson E (1998). Fear of falling and activity restriction: the survey of activities and fear of falling in the elderly (SAFE). *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences* 53(1):43–50.
- 316 Campbell A (2001). Purity, pragmatism and hip protector pads. Age and Ageing 30:431–432.
- 317 Lauritzen J, Petersen M and Lund B (1993). Effect of external hip protectors on hip fractures. *Lancet* 341:11–13.
- 318 Cameron I, Kurrle S, Quine S, Lockwood K and Cumming R (2002). Hip protectors: promising but no panacea. *Australasian Journal on Ageing* 12:4–8.
- 319 Hubacher M and Wettstein A (2001). Acceptance of hip protectors for hip fracture prevention in nursing homes. *Osteoporosis International* 12:794–799.
- 320 van Schoor N, Deville W, Bouter L and Lips P (2002). Acceptance and compliance with external hip protectors: a systematic review of the literature. *Osteoporosis International* 13(12):917–924.
- 321 Kurrle S, Cameron I, Quine S and Cumming R (2004). Adherence with hip protectors: a proposal for standardised definitions. *Osteoporosis International* 15(1):1–4.
- 322 Scheffer A, Schuurmans M, van Dijk N, van der Hooft T and de Rooji S (2008). Fear of falling: measurement strategy, prevalence, risk factors and consequences among older persons. *Age and Ageing* 37:19–24.
- 323 Nowson C, Diamond T, Pasco J, Mason R, Sambrook P and Eisman J (2004). Vitamin D in Australia. Issues and recommendations. *Australian Family Physician* 33(3):133–138.

- Bischoff-Ferrari H, Dawson-Hughes B, Willett W, Staehelin H, Bazemore M and Zee R (2004).
  Effect of vitamin D on falls: a meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Association* 291(16):1999-2006.
- 325 Boland R (1986). Role of vitamin D in skeletal muscle function. Endocrine Reviews 7(4):434-448.
- 326 Binkley N (2007). Does low vitamin D status contribute to "age-related" morbidity? *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 22 (suppl. 2):V55–58.
- 327 Dukas L, Bischoff H, Lindpaintner L, Schacht E, Birkner-Binder D and Damm T (2004). Alfacalcidol reduces the number of fallers in a community dwelling elderly population with a minimum calcium intake of more than 500 mg daily. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 52(2):230–236.
- 328 Sambrook PC, JS, March L, Cameron I, Cumming R and Lord S (2004). Serum parathyroid hormone predicts time to fall independent of vitamin D status in a frail elderly population. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 89(4):1572–1576.
- 329 Zeimer H, Hunter P and Agius S (2000). Association between vitamin D deficiency and dementia, residential care and non English speaking background. Australian Society for Geriatric Medicine Conference, Cairns, Queensland, 2000.
- 330 NHMRC (National Health and Medical Research Council) (1991). *Recommended Dietary Intakes for Use in Australia*, NHMRC, Canberra.
- 331 HHS (US Department of Health and Human Services) (1994). *Consensus Development Conference Statement. Optimal Calcium Intake*, National Institute of Health 12:1–31.
- 332 Working Group of the Australian and New Zealand Bone and Mineral Society, Endocrine Society of Australia and Osteoporosis Australia (2005). Vitamin D and adult bone health in Australia and New Zealand: a position statement. *Medical Journal of Australia* 182(6):281–285.
- 333 Lips P, Graafmans W, Ooms M, Bezemer P and Bouter L (1996). Vitamin D supplementation and fracture incidence in elderly persons. A randomized, placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 124(4):400–406.
- 334 Pasco J, Henry M, Kotowicz M, Sanders K, Seeman E and Pasco J (2004). Seasonal periodicity of serum vitamin D and parathyroid hormone, bone resorption, and fractures: the Geelong osteoporosis study. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research 19(5):752–758.
- 335 Holick M (2003). Vitamin D: a millennium perspective. Journal of Cellular Biochemistry 88(2):296–307.
- 336 Osteoporosis Australia (2005). Recommendations from the Vitamin D and Calcium Forum. *Medicine Today* 6(12).
- 337 Chapuy M, Arlot M, Duboeuf F, Brun J, Crouzet B and Arnaud S (1992). Vitamin D3 and calcium to prevent hip fractures in elderly women. *New England Journal of Medicine* 327(23):1637–1642.
- 338 Trivedi D, Doll R and Tee Khaw K (2003). Effect of oral four monthly vitamin D3 (cholecalciferol) supplementation on fractures and mortality in men and women living in the community: randomised double blind controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 326:469–474.
- 339 Graham K (1998). *Ask Me About Nutrition Resource for General Practice*, Darling Downs Public Health Unit, Toowoomba, Queensland.
- 340 Klotzbuecher C, Ross P, Landsman P, Abbott T and Berger M (2000). Patients with prior fractures have an increased risk of future fractures: a summary of the literature and statistical synthesis. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research* 14(5):721–739.
- 341 Nevitt M, Cummings S and Hudes E (1991). Risk factors for injurious falls: a prospective study. *Journal of Gerontology* 46(5):M164–M170.
- 342 Nguyen T, Sambrook P, Kelly P, Jones G, Lord S and Freund J (1993). Prediction of osteoporotic fractures by postural instability and bone density. *British Medical Journal* (307):111–1115.
- 343 Ensrud K, Black D, Palermo L, Bauer D, Barrett-Connor E and Quandt S (1997). Treatment with alendronate prevents fractures in women at highest risk: results from the fracture intervention trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 157:2617–2624.
- 344 Osteoporosis Australia. *Treatment for Osteoporosis*. http://osteoporosis.org.au/health\_clinical.php (Accessed July 2007).
- 345 Kamel H, Hussain M, Tariq S, Perry H and Morley J (2000). Failure to diagnose and treat osteoporosis in elderly patients hospitalized with hip fracture. *American Journal of Medicine* 109:326–328.

- 346 Zochling J, Schwarz J, March L and Sambrook P (2001). Is osteoporosis under treated after minimal trauma fracture? *Medical Journal of Australia* 174:663–664.
- 347 Cranney A, Waldegger L, Zytaruk N, Shea B, Weaver B and Papaioannou A (2003). Risedronate for the prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD004523.
- 348 Wells G, Cranney A, Peterson J, Boucher M, Shea B, Robinson V, Coyle D and Tugwell P (2008). Risedronate for the primary and secondary prevention of osteoporotic fractures in postmenopausal women. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1) Art. No.: CD004523. DOI: 10.1002/14651858. CD004523.pub3.
- 349 Stevenson M, Jones M, De Nigris E, Brewer N, Davis S and Oakley J (2005). A systematic review and economic evaluation of alendronate, etidronate, risedronate, raloxifene and teriparatide for the prevention and treatment of postmenopausal osteoporosis. *Health Technology Assessment* 9(22):1–160.
- 350 Meunier P, Roux C and Seeman E (2004). The effects of strontium ranelate on the risk of vertebral fracture in women with postmenopausal osteoporosis. *New England Journal of Medicine* 350:504–506.
- 351 Ebeling P, Phillips S, Sambrook P and Seeman E (2002). Preventing osteoporosis: outcomes of the Australian Fracture Prevention Summit. *Medical Journal of Australia* 176(S8):1–16.
- 352 Sambrook S, Oliver I and Goss A (2006). Biphosposponates and osteonecrosis of the jaw. *Australian Family Physician* 35:801–803.
- 353 Khapra A and Rose S (2006). Drug injury in the upper gastrointestinal tract: effects of alendronate. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy Clinics of North America* 16(1):99–110.
- 354 Baker D (2002). Alendronate and risedronate: what you need to know about their upper gastrointestinal tract toxicity. *Review of Gastroenterological Disorders* 2(1):20–33.
- Barret-Connor E, Mosca L, Collins P, Geiger M, Grady D, Kornitzer M, McNabb M and Wegner N (2006).
  Effects of raloxifene on cardiovascular events and breast cancer in postmenopausal women.
  New England Journal of Medicine 355(2):125–137.
- 356 Ashe M, Khan K and Guy P (2004). Wristwatch-distal radial fracture as a marker for osteoporosis investigation: a controlled trial of patient education and a physician alerting system. *Journal of Hand Therapy* 17:324–328.
- 357 Brown J and Josse R (2002). 2002 Clinical practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of osteoporosis in Canada. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 167:S1–S34.
- 358 Close J and Lord S (2006). How to treat: falls in the elderly Australian Doctor:27-34.
- 359 O'Neill S, MacLennon A and Bass S (2004). Guidelines for the management of post-menopausal osteoporosis for GPS. *Australian Family Physician* 33:910–917.
- 360 New South Wales Health (2005). *Fall Injury Among Older People Management Policy to Reduce in NSW Health*, New South Wales Health, Sydney.
- 361 NCPS (National Center for Patient Safety) (2004). *National Center for Patient Safety Falls Toolkit*, US Department of Veteran Affairs, Washington.
- 362 Queensland Health (2001). Patient handling guidelines, Queensland Health, Brisbane.
- 363 American Geriatrics Society, British Geriatrics Society, and American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons Panel on Falls Prevention (2001). Guideline for the prevention of falls in older persons. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 49(5):664–672.
- 364 Queensland Health (2002). Falls prevention in older people: implementation workbook to accompany the falls prevention best practice guidelines for public hospitals and state government residential aged care facilities, Queensland Government, Brisbane
- 365 Zijlstra G, van Haastregt J, van Rossum E, van Eijk J, Yardley L and Kempen G (2007). Interventions to reduce fear of falling in community-living older people: a systematic review. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55(4):603–615.
- 366 Jung D, Lee J and Lee S (2009). A meta-analysis of fear of falling treatment programs for the elderly. *Western Journal of Nursing Research* 31(1):6–616.

